
BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 8 February 2023 at 10.15 am 

Venue: Committee Room, First Floor, BCP Civic Centre Annex, St Stephen's 
Rd, Bournemouth BH2 6LL 

 

Membership:  

Chairman: 

Cllr D Mellor 

 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr P Broadhead 

 

Cllr M Anderson 
Cllr B Dove 
Cllr B Dunlop 
Cllr M Greene 
 

Cllr N Greene 
Cllr J Kelly 
Cllr K Rampton 
Cllr M White 
 

Lead Members 
Cllr H Allen 
Cllr S Baron 
Cllr N Brooks 

 
Cllr J J Butt 
Cllr L Fear 
Cllr T Johnson 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 

business set out on the agenda below. 
 

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5356 
 

If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 817615) on 01202 096660 or 
email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or 

email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a
ila

b
le

 o
n
lin

e
 a

n
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 
 

GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 31 January 2023 

 



 

 susan.zeiss@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

mailto:susan.zeiss@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 7 - 12 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 11 
January 2023. 

 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in accordance 
with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements for submitting these 
is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info
=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is 4 clear working days before 
the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is midday the working day before 
the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
on items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Setting 2023/24 13 - 60 

 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a separate account within the council’s 
budgets that ring-fences the income and expenditure associated with the council’s 
homes.   

It sets out the proposals regarding the rents, service charges and other charges to 
tenants and leaseholders. Arrangements for increasing rents and service charges 
are separate to arrangements for increasing fees elsewhere in the council and are 
set out in law and regulation. The report also sets out plans for expenditure on 
services to residents, repairs and improvements to homes and provision of new 
homes.  

There are significant challenges facing the HRA including the cost-of-living crisis, 
higher inflation impacting on costs, building safety commitments, increased 
regulation and the need to ensure that homes are energy efficient. 

In July 2022 the management of the council’s homes in Poole was brought in-
house. A new housing management service, BCP Homes, has been created to 
oversee the management of the council’s HRA stock.  

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

The proposals for the delivery of services are set out in the HRA Delivery Plan 
which supports the council’s corporate strategy.    

With inflation high, the government has set a cap of 7 per cent on rent increases 
that prevents rents rising in line with inflation as would normally be expected from 
April 2023/24. There are exceptions for sheltered housing or on re-lets where the 
normal inflationary increase is allowed. However, a 7 per cent increase will also be 
applied to sheltered housing.  

Although significant increases for some service charges such as heating and 
electric charges are unavoidable, measures have been put in place to limit the 
increase in these charges. 

 

7.   Mainstream Schools and Early Years Funding Formulae 2023/24 61 - 74 

 The council receives the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) to fund the 
separate early years and mainstream schools funding formulae. The contents of 
each formula are highly regulated by the Department for Education (DfE). 
Consultations have been undertaken with each sector, with the School’s Forum 
considering the outcomes on 16 January 2022 and making recommendations to 
the council. 

The early years formula (for ages 2, 3 and 4) funds private, voluntary, and 
independent settings with a small number of nursery classes in mainstream 
schools and academies. The DSG funding rates have increased by 5.2% overall 
for 2023/24.  

The mainstream schools formula (for reception to year 11) is applicable equally for 
maintained schools and academies. Funding for the for 2023/24 formula has 
increased by 2.4% from a combination of higher funding values, data changes and 
rising pupil numbers. There is an additional grant for mainstream schools with 
national allocation criteria worth a further 3.5%. There is surplus funding, 
estimated at only £0.185m, in the DSG schools block available to transfer to high 
needs. A higher level of transfer was proposed to the Schools Forum to be funded 
by capping the per pupil increases in school allocations, but this was not 
supported.    

 

 

8.   Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 2023/24 75 - 342 

 To set out for Cabinet consideration and recommendation to Council the proposed 
2023/24 budget and council tax based on.  

 Increasing Council Tax by 2.99% in 2023/24 in line with the government’s 
annual basic threshold. 

 Collecting the full additional 2% Adult Social Care (ASC) precept in 2023/24.  

 The implementation of £32.9m of savings and efficiencies from 1 April 2023 
onwards (List 1). 

 The implementation of £2.2m of additional savings and efficiencies from 1 July 
2023 onwards (List 2). 

 

 

9.   Transforming Cities Fund End of Year Report 343 - 486 

 To inform Cabinet of progress to date regarding the Department for Transport 
(DfT) based Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) award 

To inform Cabinet of the DfT Year End Report for 2021/22 submitted in April 2022. 

 

 

 



 
 

 

10.   BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Outline Business Case for Chapel Lane 487 - 586 

 BCP FuturePlaces Ltd, (“FuturePlaces”) a wholly owned Urban Regeneration 
Company (URC) was set up with the fundamental purpose to drive “Place 
Making”, regeneration, and property market transformation both across key sites 
owned by the Council and the wider area to support the aspirations set out in the 
Council’s Big Plan.  

The FuturePlaces business plan approved by Cabinet in June 2022 lists the key 
sites the company has been tasked with progressing the regeneration of including 
part of the Chapel Lane Car Park.  

This report sets out the outline business case (OBC) and highlights that 
FuturePlaces’ recommended use for this site is that it is retained and developed 
out by the Council as a build to rent mixed-use residential scheme comprising 
ground floor commercial space and up to 27 new homes.  

This option meets the Council’s strategic objectives and delivers against the 
Big Plan: Rejuvenate Poole and Act at Scale by delivering new homes for local 
people and providing new ground floor commercial space to support the 
regeneration and revival of Poole Town Centre and High Street by securing 
additional flexible contemporary space to support employment.   

Whilst the OBC considers the overall viability of the recommended option based 
on high level assumptions, the FBC will confirm the exact design, time, cost, and 
quality expectations as well as the proposed delivery pathway and overall 
affordability. It is only at FBC stage that firm consideration can be given as to 
whether it is still best to progress with the redevelopment proposal and the 
necessary commitment and funding approvals sought from the Council. 

It is anticipated that upon completion of the scheme the new homes will be let by 
the Council’s wholly owned company Seascape Homes and Property Ltd. 

Cabinet is required to review the options outlined in the OBC and consider if the 
recommended option is the most appropriate and affordable in order to approve 
the progression of the regeneration of this site in accordance with the 
recommended use identified and progress with the preparation of an FBC. 

 
 

 

11.   Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: Reforms to National Planning 
Policy and Implications for the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole Local Plan 

587 - 608 

 Government is currently consulting on changes to national planning policy to 
incentivise the preparation of local plans as the means to deliver more homes to 
meet its national targets. Government is aware that local plans delayed by 
contentious issues such as housing targets and allocations within the Green Belt 
are delaying plan making and resulting in less homes being built. 

The implications for the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local 
Plan are significant. The proposals strengthen the Council’s position in 
demonstrating that the government’s standard methodology figure of 2,800 homes 
per year is not achievable. The proposed changes to national policy suggest that a 
lower housing target can be found sound at examination, where local constraints 
and circumstances are considered. This allows the Council to prepare a draft plan 
without having to release Green Belt for housing development or plan for densities 
out of character with the current built environment. 

In accordance with the Local Development Scheme the intention remains to 

publish a draft local plan in Autumn 2023, test it through examination and adopt it 
in late 2024. 

 



 
 

 

There is new emphasis too on place making and protecting the character of 

places. An up-to-date local plan will provide greater protections to 
residential areas at risk from speculative high density flatted development 

as the Council will not be required to demonstrate a five-year land supply. 
 

12.   Options to support the health of those facing homelessness 609 - 616 

 The Cost-of-Living Crisis means that for many the risk of homelessness is 
increasing, the most vulnerable in our society are balancing heating vs food vs 
rental payments.   The most devastating outcome is for those that lose their 
homes to end up sleeping rough.  These individuals often have complex needs 
sometimes leading to entrenched negative behaviours and health issues. 

At this time of crisis BCP Council wants to ensure we are supporting the most in 
need in our communities.   We know that homeless individuals find it easier to 
work with and trust voluntary sector organisations.  As a Council we want to 
enable our communities to do more to support those that are homeless. 

This report sets out options for Cabinet to consider in order to increase the level of 
funding available to support homelessness charities in the BCP area.   The aim of 
this funding is to increase the support those facing homelessness receive with a 
particular focus on health. 
These options require a £50,000 annual revenue grant for 5 years and a one-off 
Capital grant of £250,000. The grants will be outcome based and the recipients 
would need to demonstrate each year that their work directly reduces the number 
of people rough sleeping in the BCP area and the health issues they experience. 

 
 

 

13.   UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 617 - 634 

 The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a central pillar of the UK 
Government’s Levelling Up agenda. BCP Council has been allocated nearly £4.2m 
for the ‘main’ UKSPF, and a further £1.7m for the Multiply programme. 

On 5 December 2022 the Government approved the BCP Council Investment Plan 
(IP). Now that the IP has been approved, this report seeks Cabinet approval to 
formally accept the funding and deliver the 17 proposed interventions of the 
UKSPF. 

 

 

14.   Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive in accordance with the 
Constitution 

 

 The Chief Executive to report on any decisions taken under urgency provisions in 

accordance with the Constitution. 
 

 

15.   Cabinet Forward Plan To Follow 

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 

 
 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.  

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 

 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 January 2023 at 10.15 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr D Mellor – Chairman 

Cllr P Broadhead – Vice-Chairman 

 

Present: Cllr M Anderson, Cllr M Greene, Cllr N Greene and Cllr J Kelly 
  

Present 
virtually: 

Cllr B Dunlop and Cllr M White 
Lead Members: Cllr H Allen, Cllr N Brooks and Cllr J J Butt,   

 

Also in 
attendance: 

 Lead Member: Cllr T Johnson 

  

Also in 
attendance 
virtually: 

Cllr R Burton (Chairman of the Childrens Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee), Cllr P Hiliiard and Cllr S Moore 

  

Apologies:  Councillor B Dove and Councillor K Rampton 
Lead Member: Councillor S Baron 

     
101. Declarations of Interests  

 

There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

102. Confirmation of Minutes  
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 December were confirmed and 
signed as a correct record. 
 

103. Public Issues  
 

The Leader advised there had been no questions, statements or petitions 

received from members of the public on this occasion. 
 

104. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

Cabinet was advised that there were no additional recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees on items not otherwise indicated on 
the Cabinet Agenda on this occasion. 

 
105. Council Tax - Tax base 2023/24  

 

The Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Finance and 

Transformation presented a report, a copy of which had been circulated to 
each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to these 

Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the report calculated and presented the proposed 

7

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
11 January 2023 

 
council tax base for council tax setting purposes in line with current 

legislation and guidance. 

RECOMMENDED that: - 

(a) Cabinet approves the report for the calculation of the council’s 

tax base for the year 2023/24 and recommends the tax base to 
Full Council; and 

(b) Pursuant to the report, and in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992, 
as amended, the amount calculated as the council tax base for 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council for 2023/24 is 
144,839. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
 

106. Bournemouth Towns Fund update  
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Development, 

Growth and Regeneration presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'B' to 

these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that in May 2021 BCP Council was awarded £21.7m 
from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG), now Department for Levelling Up Homes and Communities 
(DLUHC), to support the regeneration of Boscombe, and that the receipt of 

the grant is dependent on project business cases being submitted to and 
approved by DLUHC. 

Cabinet was reminded that they had approved the content of the Towns 

Fund Investment plan detailing the key projects and expenditure in principle 
and had authorised the necessary support to progress the development of 

these business cases for consideration by DLUHC, and that it was 
appropriate that further approvals are sought once the business cases are 
finalised to confirm the allocation of the approved funds for the individual 

Towns Fund projects and seek approval for the Council’s match funding 
contributions. 

Cabinet was advised that the purpose of this report is to provide an update 
on Towns Fund activity to date and to seek approval for the four business 
cases listed below and to allocate the necessary grant funds towards these 

projects: 

1. Phase 1 Masterplan 
2. Royal Arcade  

3. Digital Connectivity 

4. Local Transport Projects. 

In relation to this Cabinet was advised that the report also provided a 

progress update from BCP FuturePlaces on its work to date on the wider 
masterplan (Phase 2) and regeneration of Boscombe Town Centre. 

8



– 3 – 

CABINET 
11 January 2023 

 
Councillor Hilliard addressed the Cabinet requesting that a members 

briefing be held prior to the report being brought to Council.  

In addition, Councillor Hilliard raised the matter of the Kings Park Bowls 
club and highlighted that there was no mention of the club within the report, 

and questioned whether the council should be paying for the refurbishment 
of the Royal Arcade when it is not owned by the Council. 

The Lead Member for High Street Renaissance addressed the Cabinet 
endorsing the paper and in particular the work at the Royal Arcade. In 
addition, the Lead Member urged members to equate themselves with the 

whole report which explains the project in detail.  

The Portfolio Holder in summing up stressed the importance of there being 

a community led approach to this project and advised that ward members 
have been closely involved. Further to this the Portfolio Holder advised that 
he would look to arranging a drop in session to answer any questions 

members may have. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) Agrees to declare part of Hawkwood Road Car Park surplus to 
requirements and appropriate the land for planning purposes to 
facilitate the delivery of Phase 1 of the Masterplan; 

(b) Authorises officers to undertake work to prepare for the 
possible use of compulsory purchase powers for the 
acquisition of the third-party land and interests necessary to 

implement both the Masterplan and the Royal Arcade proposals 
as set out in paragraphs 12–32 and 42-55 of this report. These 

preparatory steps are set out in paragraphs 96 -100 of this 
report. 

(c) Instructs officers to bring a further report to Cabinet, requesting 

a decision to exercise Compulsory Purchase powers together 
with a proposed Statement of Reasons, setting out the 

justification for the use of these powers, if necessary should 
negotiations by private treaty not be possible; 

(d) Authorises officers to enter into a planning performance 

agreement and the submission of planning applications for 
Phase 1 Masterplan and the Royal Arcade projects; 

(e) Agrees that the Council will acquire a high street unit required 
for the Masterplan Phase 1 and delegates authority to the Chief 
Executive to conclude the transaction in consultation with the 

S151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and the Portfolio Holder for 
Development Growth and Regeneration; 

(f) Acknowledges that the Royal Arcade project is dependent on a 
successful bid to the Heritage Fund and should that be 
unsuccessful the project will be brought back to Cabinet for 

further consideration. 

RECOMMENDED that Council: - 

(g) Accepts and approves the remaining allocation of £18.229m 
Towns Fund grant as outlined in Table 1 for the delivery of the 

9



– 4 – 

CABINET 
11 January 2023 

 
following projects; the Town Centre Masterplan Phase 1, the 

Royal Arcade, Digital Connectivity and Local Transport 
projects, subject to the approval of the business cases by 
DLUHC; 

(h) Approves borrowing of £11.784m towards the Phase 1 
Masterplan and Royal Arcade project and adjusts the MTFP to 

reflect the £420k pressure between 2024/25-2028/29;  

(i) 9. Acknowledges the allocation of £2.25m of grant from the 
Local Transport Plan Capital Programme. This funding is 

profiled to be utilised over the 2023/24, 2024/25 and 2025/26 
financial years. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: The Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Development, Growth and Regeneration 

 
107. Family Hubs: Transformation Fund 1  

 

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 

appears as Appendix 'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the purpose of the report was to seek Cabinet 
approval for the Council to accept £883k in grant funding to transform its 

model of delivery for community family help after successfully submitting a 
bid to the Department for Education (DfE). 

The Chairman of the Childrens Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
addressed the Cabinet in support of the report highlighting that the 
committee would welcome the opportunity to scrutinse this as it moves 

forwards. 

The Portfolio Holder advised that scrutiny would be welcome as this 

progresses. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: - 

(a) subscribes to the programme and receive the funding which the 

Council would administer on behalf of the Council and health 
partners;  

(b) delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services in 
consultation with the Director of Public Health Dorset in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 

People to take all the steps necessary to spend the funding up 
to the budget envelope (including procuring and awarding 

contracts) to implement the work as outlined in the bid; and  

(c) notes that a subsequent report shall be brought to Cabinet in 
due course to provide more detail on the transformation project 

and provide an update on progress made against the bid. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Young People 

10



– 5 – 

CABINET 
11 January 2023 

 
 

108. Pan-Dorset Safeguarding Children Partnership  
 

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 

appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet was advised that the Pan-Dorset Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (PDSCP) is the statutory body which oversees multi-agency 

safeguarding services which covers the local Dorset and BCP council 
areas, and that this report contained a background and introduction to the 

functions of the partnership and the council’s responsibilities. 

Cabinet was informed that the annual report of the PDSCP is provided as 
an attachment for consideration by cabinet, and the annual report includes 

reflections on 2021/22; strategic priorities for 2022 to 2024; learning from 
practice; information from the Child Death Overview Panel; summary of 

multi-agency training; achievements from each of the statutory 
safeguarding partner organisations and sub-groups of the partnership. 

The Chairman of the Childrens Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

addressed the Cabinet advising that the report had been presented to the 
the Committee in November and that the Committee had held a good 

discussion on the item and been very much in support.  

RESOLVED that Cabinet note the content of the PDSCP Annual Report 
2021/2022. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Children and Young People 

 
109. Urgent Decisions taken by the Chief Executive in accordance with the 

Constitution  
 

Cabinet was advised that there were no urgent decisions taken by the Chief 
Executive in accordance with the Constitution to report on this occasion. 
 

110. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 

The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website. 

 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 10.53 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



COUNCIL 

 

Report subject  Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Setting 2023/24 

Meeting date  8 February 2023 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a separate account within 
the council’s budgets that ring-fences the income and expenditure 
associated with the council’s homes.   

It sets out the proposals regarding the rents, service charges and 
other charges to tenants and leaseholders. Arrangements for 
increasing rents and service charges are separate to arrangements 
for increasing fees elsewhere in the council and are set out in law 
and regulation. The report also sets out plans for expenditure on 
services to residents, repairs and improvements to homes and 
provision of new homes.  

There are significant challenges facing the HRA including the cost-
of-living crisis, higher inflation impacting on costs, building safety 
commitments, increased regulation and the need to ensure that 
homes are energy efficient. 

In July 2022 the management of the council’s homes in Poole was 
brought in-house. A new housing management service, BCP 
Homes, has been created to oversee the management of the 
council’s HRA stock.  

The proposals for the delivery of services are set out in the HRA 
Delivery Plan which supports the council’s corporate strategy.    

With inflation high, the government has set a cap of 7 per cent on 
rent increases that prevents rents rising in line with inflation as 
would normally be expected from April 2023/24. There are 
exceptions for sheltered housing or on re-lets where the normal 
inflationary increase is allowed. However, a 7 per cent increase will 
also be applied to sheltered housing.  

Although significant increases for some service charges such as 
heating and electric charges are unavoidable, measures have been 
put in place to limit the increase in these charges.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Revenue budgets for 2023/24 and provisionally for 2024/25 
to 2027/28 are set using the following principles:  

13

Agenda Item 6



(i) That rents for general needs, sheltered and shared 
ownership accommodation are increased by 7 per cent 
from 3 April 2023, in line with the national rent cap 
announced by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities.    

(ii) That rents for all accommodation on re-let’s continue to 

be set at the formula rent, increased by 11.1 per cent, 
from 3 April 2023, in line with the Department of Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities Policy statement on rents 
for social housing. 

(iii) That rents for garages, garage bases and parking plots 
are increased by 10 per cent from the 3 April 2023.  

(iv) That leasehold services are charged to leaseholders in 
line with estimated costs from 3 April 2023.  

(v) That the changes to service charges are agreed as set 
out in appendix 2 from 3 April 2023, and that the service 
charge cap for new service charges in Bournemouth 
continues to be set at £5.00 for a further year.  

(vi) That the annual bad debt charge is maintained at £0.4 
million. 

(vii) That the depreciation budget is set at £11.79 million. 

(viii) That HRA reserve should be maintained at a minimum 
level of 5 per cent of total expenditure at £1.98 million in 
line with good practice.  

(b) Capital budgets for 2023/24 and provisionally for 2024/25 
to 2027/28 are set using the following principles: 

(i) That the planned maintenance programme as set out in 
Appendix 5 is agreed. 

(ii) That the major project capital programme as set out in 
Appendix 6 is noted.  

(iii) That 2023/24 budgets of £0.4 million for feasibility works 
and £3 million for the acquisition of individual properties 
(“Acquire and Repair”) are approved.  

(c) The Delivery Plan for BCP Homes to support the key 
principles for the HRA and the Council’s Corporate 
Strategy are agreed as set out in appendix 7. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

HRA rents and other changes along with the HRA Capital 
Programme are subject to review and require Cabinet and Council 
approval for rents and charges to be levied. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Karen Rampton – People and Homes  

14



Corporate Director  Jess Gibbons – Chief Operations Officer  

Report Authors Seamus Doran – Head of BCP Homes  

Richard Sumner – Senior Accountant  

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation   
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. Each year social landlords must set rent levels and budgets for the forthcoming 
financial year and provide each individual tenant with statutory notice of any 
proposed rent change. This report sets out the proposals regarding the rents, service 
charges and other charges to tenants as well as the expenditure plans for the 
2023/24 rent year through to 2027/28.  

2. The Council housing HRA stock is situated within Bournemouth and Poole and as at 
the 31 March 2022, comprised of 9,542 rented properties 1,139 leasehold properties 
and 33 low-cost home ownership properties which are expected to generate a rental 
income of £48.1 million. There is no Council owned housing stock in the Christchurch 
neighbourhood as the stock was transferred to a housing association several years 
ago. 

3. The HRA is a ring-fenced account within the council and records the income and 
expenditure associated with the landlord function in respect of the council’s homes. 
The account is separate from the wider General Fund budget, which is funded by a 
variety of income flows, including council tax.   

4. A new housing management service has been created, BCP Homes, to oversee the 
delivery of services to tenants and leaseholders within the HRA. Most colleagues 
who previously worked for Poole Housing Partnership have transferred into the 
council but not all have moved into the new service and sit elsewhere.  

5. BCP Homes is part of the wider Housing Directorate. This also includes Housing 
Delivery to develop and acquire new homes and Property Maintenance to carry out 
repairs and improvements to homes in Bournemouth. Repairs in Poole are carried 
out by external contractors.  

6. The strategic asset management of the housing stock is undertaken within the 
Customer and Business Directorate. The team is responsible for property 
inspections, stock condition surveys and determining the improvement work that is 
required. 

7. Creating the new service has resulted in savings of just over £0.3 million through 
reductions in senior management. Funding has been made available for additional 
staff through the HRA budget to help deliver a new structure for BCP Homes, 
planned for early in the financial year. This will help meet the many new regulatory 
and statutory requirements that are on the horizon. A contingency fund has been set 
aside which can be used to support harmonisation of the two services.  

15



8. An Advisory Board has been set up to provide oversight of the operational delivery of 
services by BCP Homes and make recommendations on policy and strategic 
matters. It will work in an advisory capacity to the council, working in partnership with 
residents and provide an additional level of assurance. Board membership consists 
of councillors, residents and independents. Arrangements will be put in place to 
ensure that services sitting outside BCP Homes deliver for the HRA as required.   

9. The Council is required by law (Local Government & Housing Act 1989, section 76) 
to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be 
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is 
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies.  
The HRA will maintain reserves above a minimum level of 5 per cent of expenditure. 
In 2023/24 this gives a minimum level of reserve of £1.98 million. 

10. On 29 October 2018 the Government revoked the indebtedness limits that were 
introduced for HRA’s in December 2010 by the Localism Bill under self-financing 
determinations, by lifting the HRA borrowing cap. This means the BCP HRA will not 
be subject to a limit on borrowing. However, borrowing must conform to the 
Prudential Code which requires that it must be affordable and prudent.   

11. HRA major capital project planned spend is included within Appendix 6. This includes 
housing developments approved as part of the BCP Council Newbuild Housing & 
Acquisition Strategy (CHNAS) as well as indicative budgets for other schemes 
previously approved. Further approval through this report is only required for 
feasibility works and acquisition of individual properties for repair. However, major 
project budgets were set in Spring 2022 and are likely to increase to reflect inflation 
as projects move forward. Any further approval required will be through CNHAS or 
individual reports to Cabinet.  

National Policy Context  

12. There are several national policies that will have a significant impact on the HRA over 
the coming years.  

13. White Paper  

14. In November 2020 the government published The Charter for Social Housing 
Residents – Social Housing White Paper. It is a policy document that sets out the 
proposals for future legislation and changes to polices that will impact social housing 
landlords. It states that a home should always be more that a roof and four walls:  

“A home should provide safety, security and dignity. An opportunity to put down 
roots and contribute to our community so we can enjoy social and civic lives. 
Regardless of who you rent from, your landlord should treat you fairly and with 
respect. And if things go wrong there should be a swift and effective means of 
redress.” 

15. The overarching themes of the white paper are building safety and listening to 
residents. Some of changes proposed required legislation, some of which has 
progressed, and others planned.    

16. The Housing Ombudsman now has powers to issue complaint handling failure orders 
to ensure that a landlord’s complaints handling process is accessible, consistent and 
enables the timely progression of complaints for residents in line with the complaint 
handling code. Residents can now refer their complaint directly to the Housing 

16



Ombudsman once they have exhausted their landlords’ complaints procedure as the 
“democratic filter” has been removed.  

17. The Regulator of Social Housing (Regulator) has introduced a new set of Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures which the council must report on from April 2024. All registered 
providers of social housing will be required to collect data from April 2023 and report 
on these measures which will enable tenants to see how well their landlord is 
performing. The measures are a mix of performance data that the council collects to 
perception surveys of tenants’ views.   

18. The Social Housing Regulation Bill will increase the powers of the Regulator making it 
more proactive and able to carry out inspections of landlords to assess performance 
against the regulatory consumer standards. All landlords will also be required to 
ensure that their staff meet competency standards.  

19. A review of the Decent Homes Standard has also commenced. This sets the 
minimum standard of living conditions for those who occupy a social rented home and 
was last updated in 2006. It is highly likely that there will be additional requirements 
around areas such as ventilation and home security.  

20. The Social Housing Regulation Bill also sets out the requirement to appoint a health 
and safety lead person responsible for monitoring compliance with health and safety 
responsibilities as well as assessing risks of failure to comply with these 
requirements.  

21. The restructure of BCP Homes will support the new requirements of the Housing 
Ombudsman and the Regulator and additional resources have been set aside within 
the HRA budget to achieve this. A new single complaints policy will be developed that 
complies with the complaint handling code and allows learning from complaints. Work 
has also commenced to collect performance information to support the new Tenant 
Satisfaction Measures.   

22. Building Safety Act  

23. The Building Safety Act was granted Royal Assent on the 28 April 2022. This new 
legislation was introduced to improve building safety following recommendations from 
an independent review of building regulations and fire safety after the Grenfell Tower 
Fire in 2017. Secondary legislation will be required to set out some timetables, 
provide clarification and guidance before all aspects of the new Act are brought into 
force. BCP Homes will work with the Asset Management team to ensure that all 
aspects of the Act are complied with, in accordance with the prescribed timetables 
and guidance.  

24. The Act no longer has the specific requirement for Building Safety managers to be 
employed to help manage higher-risk buildings. However, the council will still be 
required to comply with the new regulatory regime for these buildings that are 
occupied as well as those being designed and constructed.  

25. There will be a new regulatory regime for the construction and design of higher risk 
buildings. Dutyholders will have clear accountability and statutory responsibilities, 
information about buildings will need to be stored and updated and a new Building 
Safety Regulator to oversee building work of higher risk buildings.  

26. The Act will also create obligations for buildings in occupation and each higher-risk 
building will need to have an Accountable Person. This is the person or entity that 
owns the building and will usually be the landlord. They will need to appoint 
individuals to discharge their duties and obligations as set out below:  

17



 Registering a higher risk building.  

 Applying for a Building Assessment certificate every 5 years.  

 Ongoing obligation to manage and prevent fire safety risks and maintain a safety 
case report for each higher risk building.  

 Providing residents with information and developing an engagement strategy 

27. A safety case report should be provided for each building which will identify major 
hazards associated with fire and structural risks and demonstrate the measures in 
place to manage and control these. It will need to be reviewed and updated to 
provide continued assurance and submitted to the Building Safety Regulator.  

28. The HRA budget ensures that there are enough resources in place to meet these 
additional obligations.  

29. Damp and Mould  

30. In October 2021, the Housing Ombudsman published a spotlight report on Damp and 
Mould based following its investigations of landlords. The report provided 26 
recommendations for landlords to follow to deal more effectively with reports of damp 
and mould within its properties. The Ombudsman’s view is that there should be a 
zero-tolerance approach to damp and mould.  

31. The report provides recommendations to ensure that landlords are more proactive, in 
resolving issues, manage complex cases better and learn from complaints. They 
should evaluate what mitigations they can put in place to support residents in cases 
where structural interventions are not appropriate and satisfy themselves they are 
taking all reasonable steps.  

32. In November 2022 an inquest into the death of a young boy who lived in a social 
housing flat with his parents in Rochdale found that he had died as a result of a 
severe respiratory condition due to prolonged exposure to mould in his home. His 
home had ineffective ventilation which was a direct contributing factor to the 
development of mould growth.  

33. The landlord placed too much emphasis on the cause of the mould being due to the 
parents’ lifestyle and did not identify the lack of an adequate ventilation system as a 
factor in the presence of mould. Because of this the property was not equipped for 
normal day-to-day living.  

34. The government wrote to all local authorities to ask them to provide information on 
the presence of categories 1 and 2 damp and mould hazards in private rented 
properties and what action is being taken. The Regulator of Social Housing has also 
written to all social housing landlords, including the council, to provide details of the 
presence of these hazards in their own housing stock, its approach to dealing with 
damp and mould and the action that has been taken to resolve issues. The council 
has submitted its response to the Regulator.   

35. The Regulator has reminded landlords that where a category 1 hazard exists, they 
are not meeting the Decent Homes Standard and should make a self-referral to the 
Regulator for a breach of the Home Standard.  

36. To ensure an effective response in dealing with damp and mould in council homes 
the council should comply with the recommendations from the Housing Ombudsman 
spotlight report. A strategic liaison group has also been set up to ensure that there is 
a consistent approach to how damp and mould is dealt within the private sector and 

18



council housing. The council will need to know the extent of damp and mould issues 
within its housing stock, be more proactive in identifying issues and place less 
emphasis on the lifestyles of residents as the cause.  

37. Procedures for dealing with damp and mould already exist. The HRA budget will 
continue to provide funding for remedial work to address damp and mould issues and 
help prevent its occurrence in homes. This includes improvements in ventilation, 
insulation, and upgrades to heating systems. It is likely that spending will increase in 
this area due to increased awareness and the high cost of heating homes. A new 
£0.5 million contingency capital budget has been earmarked for investment in damp 
and mould mitigation measures to supplement existing budgets. The council will 
need to invest in its empty homes and ensure that we have the same level of checks 
to bring together a more robust property standard.  

38. The HRA budget will continue to provide funding for remedial work to address damp 
and mould issues and help prevent its occurrence in homes. This will include 
improvements in ventilation, insulation and upgrades to heating systems. It is likely 
that spending will increase in this area due to increased awareness and the high cost 
of heating homes, but this is within allocated budgets. A new £0.5 million capital 
budget has been earmarked for investment in damp and mould mitigation measures 
to supplement existing budgets.  

39. Environment    

40. The government has set its target to achieve net zero for carbon emissions by 2050. 
It has also set in law an ambitious climate change target to cut emissions by 78% by 
2035 compared to 1990 levels.  

41. The council’s Climate and Ecological Emergency Action Plan seeks to eliminate its 
own carbon footprint by 2030. The action plan included proposals for work to council 
retained buildings such as the installation of energy saving measures, use of 
renewable energy and water saving measures. 

42. The impact on the HRA is currently being considered through the thirty-year business 
plan and work is being carried out to determine the Sustainability Strategy for 
meeting these challenges across our council homes. Future planned maintenance 
programmes will be focused on reducing carbon emissions and data is being 
analysed to understand the scale of the challenges across our homes.  

43. The government has provided funding to landlords through the Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund to improve the energy performance of the lowest rated homes. 
The approach through the fund is to improve insulation to increase the energy 
performance levels of homes. The council did not submit a bid under stage two of the 
fund as it was unlikely to be successful due to the already satisfactory levels of 
energy performance. The fund was aimed at supporting the installation of energy 
performance measures to upgrade energy performance certificates (EPC) to a level 
C.    

44. Digital switchover  

45. By 2025 analogue telephone services will be switched off as the UK’s telecom 
structure is upgraded to digital connectivity. This will have major implications for the 
technology enabled care sector and the millions of people who rely on telecare in the 
UK. The transition has already begun in some areas across the country to convert to 
digital.  

19



46. Emergency alarm systems within independent senior living and sheltered housing 
schemes currently connect to BCP Lifeline through an analogue service. In the future 
emergency alarms will need to connect digitally. While some temporary measures 
can be put in place to allow analogue devices to work, emergency alarms systems 
will need to be removed and replaced with either new hard-wired systems or 
dispersed alarms. Work to identify the most appropriate approach has been set as an 
action within the Delivery Plan.  

47. Cost of Living Crisis  

48. Inflation rates are at the highest they have been in 41 years. Despite the introduction 
of the Energy Price Guarantee, gas and electricity prices made the largest upward 
contribution to the increase. Rising food prices also made a large contribution.  

49. The Energy Price Guarantee has been extended and will be set at £2,500 until April 
2023. It will continue to run until April 2024 but will increase to £3,000. The Autumn 
statement confirmed additional payments towards fuel costs for those on means 
tested benefits, disability benefits and pensions. Pensions and benefits will also rise 
by 10.1%, the inflation rate in September.    

50. All households will benefit from the Energy Bills Support scheme providing £400 off 
energy bills throughout the winter. Households on means tested benefits will have 
been eligible for additional cost of living payments. Pensioners are also eligible for 
winter fuel payments and pensioner cost of living payments.  

51. An action plan has been developed in cooperation with other council services, other 
landlords and the voluntary sector to help residents manage the crisis. It will focus on 
a partnership approach, communication to all stakeholders, looking at what work can 
be done during void periods and on planned works, help with accessing funding and 
grants, providing support and identifying need. Support is also available through the 
council’s Household Support Fund.  

52. Support for residents to maintain their tenancies and maximise their income 
continues to be provided through the HRA and additional staff have been employed 
to help. The rent cap protects tenants from higher inflationary rent increases and the 
cap has been applied to the increase for some service charges. Steps have also 
been taken to offer protection from increased costs to those on communal heating 
systems where the Energy Price Guarantee does not apply.  

Long term financial planning  

53. Long term financial planning through the 30-year business plan financial model 
provides assurance that the HRA can meet the challenges presented by the national 
policy changes set out above as well as contribute towards the council’s corporate 
strategy and meet its own strategic objectives.   

54. There will continue to be other long-term spending commitments within the HRA to 
maintain existing homes, build new homes and provide services to residents.  

55. Income to the HRA is primarily through rents and service charges to tenants and 
leaseholders. It is important that this level of income is maintained and maximised to 
ensure support for the 30-year business plan. Any proposals that affect the level of 
income collected can have a significant impact on long term financial planning and it 
is important that this is fully considered when policy decisions are made regarding 
income and expenditure.  

20



56. The 30-year business plan is being progressed and will evolve over time as policy 
options for longer term spending are tested through the plan’s model. Changes to 
council objectives and national policy will help inform future spending decisions. Work 
is ongoing to update data regarding homes to ensure that the business plan is robust.   

BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy  

57. The Council’s Corporate Strategy sets out its priorities, the objectives to achieve 
these, key actions and measures of success. The services delivered within the HRA 
support the strategy and the key priorities that make up the Corporate Strategy in 
many ways as set out below.   

58. Sustainable Environment – Energy efficiency and sustainability will continue to be 

considered when building new homes and carrying out capital improvement works to 
existing properties. This can include: 

 Measures such as heat pumps, use of renewable energy sources and 
high levels of insulation.  

 LED replacement lighting will be used in communal areas and homes 
 Replacement double glazing for existing homes  

 Non-combustible cladding to improve insultation and comfort levels on 
tower blocks 

 New homes that are well insulated and energy efficient. 

59. Each project will be considered individually with consideration of the overall carbon 
savings which can be secured. 

60. PV panels fitted to council homes continue to generate electricity for residents to use 
and to feedback into the national grid creating an additional income for the council’s 
general fund. They also reduce the overall usage of fossil fuels, provide economic 
benefit to the council and residents, as well as supporting carbon reduction.  

61. These measures will help lead towards a sustainable environment and meeting the 
council’s ambitious target to eliminate its own carbon footprint. There will be 
challenges regarding costs and the feasibility of undertaking further work particularly 
to existing properties but there will be very clear benefits for tenants through lower 
energy bills and clear benefits for the wider environment. Robust asset management 
to support the 30-year business plan will ensure that the necessary steps are taken 
to enable the HRA to meet the challenges. 

62. The current cost of living crisis has illustrated the importance of increasing the 
energy efficiency of our homes to reduce the use and reliance on fossil fuels. This 
will not only have a benefit for the environment but also for tenants through lower 
costs.  

63. A strategy for sustainability in council homes is being developed which will feed into 
the 30-year business plan.  

64. Dynamic Places – A key priority within the HRA is to develop new homes for those 

in housing need. The Council Newbuild Housing and Acquisition Strategy sets out 
how the development of homes through the HRA will help meet the council’s priority 
to deliver at least 1,000 homes of mixed tenure types on council owned land across a 
five-year period. These additional homes will add to the overall homes that the BCP 
Council area needs, and the 15,000 new homes target set out in the council’s Big 
Plan. 

21



65. There is an ambitious development programme over coming years as set out below 
and over the last year the following new homes have been completed or acquired: 

 Luckham Road/Charminster Road – 3 x 3 bed houses, 2 x 2 bed flats, 4 x 1 
bed flats for rent 

 Moorside Road, West Howe – 14 x 4 bed houses for rent 

 Mountbatten Gardens, Townsend – 2 x 2 bed house for rent 

66. A specialist housing needs assessment has been completed for the council to inform 
the housing acquisition and development programme for the council and its partners 
over the next five years. The scope of the work related to adults eligible for social care 
and children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities who 
require specialist accommodation as well as people with multiple issues such as 
substance misuse.  

67. The HRA already supports those with specialist housing needs with accommodation. 
This includes young people leaving care who have access to training flats and other 
accommodation to help them learn to manage their own home as well as supported 
accommodation for those with learning difficulties. Adaptations are also carried out to 
properties to meet the complex needs of physically disabled persons and those with 
complex needs leaving prison and care. The HRA also supports the Housing First 
programme to provide accommodation to those who have experienced entrenched 
homelessness often combined with addictions.  

68. Connected Communities – BCP Homes supports activities to build communities in 

which people feel safe and where their views are considered.  

69. A new resident engagement structure has been establishment following the creation 
of BCP Homes. A Residents Committee will be the main body for the discussion of 
resident views and will consider strategic issues and provide a forum from which the 
Advisory Board can draw insight. Four customer panels will be designed to allow 
residents to deliver more detailed scrutiny and involvement in specific areas of work.  

70. BCP Homes works with several charities and other resident groups to deliver services 
that tackle poverty and social isolation. These can range from befriending services to 
supporting wider community engagement to support for lone parents or food delivery 
services. There are strong links with the community development team which 
provides a wider service offer to all residents across the BCP Council area.  

71. Enforcement and preventative measures are undertaken to reduce anti-social 
behaviour and there is close partnership working with the police and other agencies to 
deal with this and to reduce the fear of crime. A large proportion of sheltered 
properties within the housing stock can include support to older tenants to help them 
live independently and reduce social isolation.  

72. The proposals within the social housing white paper will raise expectations on social 
landlords to help deliver more than just a home to live in. It will seek ways for 
residents to have opportunities to contribute to their communities and enjoy social and 
civic lives. The new satisfaction measures from the Regulator will include satisfaction 
with the neighbourhood in which people live how landlords listen and keep residents 
informed.  

73. Brighter Futures – Housing plays an important part in the care of children and young 

people. The provision of the right accommodation can have a significant impact and 
staff are trained to recognise support needs as well as safeguarding issues. As set 

22



out above the HRA supports those younger people leaving care through the provision 
of accommodation.  

74. Fulfilled Lives – The provision of support within sheltered housing enables people to 

lead healthy and independent lives. We will continue to look at new technology which 
also supports this and has the potential to provide more efficient services. Partnership 
work is undertaken with other services within the Council and other agencies to 
provide accommodation where high levels of support can be provided, for example 
adults with a learning disability.  

75. Minimising evictions of existing tenants is also a priority with ongoing work to look at 
how support can be provided to help tenants sustain their tenancies and prevent 
homelessness. We have employed additional staff to support our residents and will 
work with colleagues in the wider housing team to provide pathways to accessing 
appropriate levels of support.  

76. Support is provided to residents not only to maintain their tenancies but to help them 
lead healthy and independent lives.  

77. Modern, Accessible, Accountable Council – BCP Homes is committed to working 

with residents to scrutinise services and seek feedback through formal resident 
engagement, satisfaction surveys and learning from complaints.  

78. Residents have been involved in the creation of BCP Homes and will continue to be 
involved in future service redesign. Our structure around governance through the 
Advisory Board and resident involvement demonstrate a high level of accountability. 
The proposals within the Charter for Social Housing Residents will also increase the 
council’s accountability as a landlord.  

79. The social housing white paper has set out the steps that the government will take to 
ensure that residents are listened to, are safe in their homes and have access to 
redress when things go wrong. This report and delivery plans also set out how we will 
provide an improved, modern and efficient service as well as meeting our obligations 
to ensure the health and safety of residents. 

80. As with all council services BCP Homes is part of the wider transformation 
programme. Work has been completed to set out how the service will align with the 
council’s operating model and ultimately deliver savings. Some initial work began to 
map out processes for customers, but the priority is to deliver service redesign for 
other services first where greater savings can be realised for the general fund budget. 
In the meantime, BCP Homes can give more consideration to the initial work.  

81. The services delivered within the HRA will also support the priorities within the 
Housing Strategy: 

 Meeting future growth needs  

 Preventing homelessness and rough sleeping  

 Improving housing options, opportunities and choice for all 

 Empowering and co-creating neighbourhoods where residents wish to live 

and be part of the community  

 Improving safety and sustainability across our housing stock  
 

 

 

23



Strategic Objectives 

82. The strategic objectives previously agreed for the HRA remain as they were 
previously and are as follows: 

a) Deliver strong financial management of the HRA which maximises the ability to collect 
income, gain efficiencies and service outstanding debt 

b) Ensure HRA stock is adequately and efficiently maintained particularly in relation to 
the Council’s legal obligation to ensure the health, safety and welfare of its tenants as 
well as the need to ensure sustainable homes which meet national and local climate 
emergency targets.  

c) Focus on the delivery of effective housing management services to support 
successful tenancies and strong and sustainable communities     

d) Continue to secure funding opportunities to deliver additional affordable housing 
through new build and acquisitions  

83. These objectives are broadly stated in order of priority. As a landlord, it is important 
that debt is serviced in the first instance, followed by ensuring the effective 
maintenance and management of the properties and support for tenants. Surpluses 
and borrowing will then be maximised to bring forward additional affordable housing. 

84. The approach to HRA budget setting focuses on three key areas and the following 
sections of the report take each of these areas in turn. 

a) Revenue income expected to be achieved and proposals around rent and service 
charge levels for tenants and leaseholders 

b) Revenue expenditure plans that reflect local priorities and service delivery patterns, 
including revenue contributions to capital 

c) Capital expenditure plans that will deliver essential maintenance to the stock as well 
as ensuring the Decent Homes Standard is maintained and support the affordable 
homes new build programme  

85. Financial summaries for the BCP HRA are provided in Appendices 1 - 6. 

86. The delivery plan is provided in Appendix 7. 

87. Rental income  

88. Since 2001 rents for the majority of social housing nationally has been let at a social 
rent using a formula based on the following information and increased annually with 
inflation: 

 The relative property value as at January 1999 

 The relative local earnings as at 1999 levels 

 Size of the property 

89. This is known as the formula rent which cannot be exceeded.  

90. In 2011 the government introduced a new “Affordable Rent” which allowed rents 
(inclusive of service charges) to be set at 80% of market rent levels primarily for new 
or newly acquired homes. This was to improve the viability of housing schemes and 
encourage the development of new homes. 

91. Affordable rents are higher than social rents and can only be charged with the 
agreement of Homes England. They should be re-set before being re-let to ensure 
that the rent charged to tenants is no more than 80 per cent of the market rent.  

24



92. Normally rents increase by CPI in September + 1 per cent each year in line with the 
national policy statement for rents in social housing. CPI was 10.1 per cent in 
September 2022 and this would have resulted in rent increases of up to 11.1 per cent. 
The government has set a cap of 7 per cent on rent increases but a full inflationary 
increase can be applied to supported accommodation, including sheltered, and where 
a social rented property is re-let.  

93. The rent cap also applies to those existing tenants who have an affordable rent.  

94. Social landlords can choose to apply a lesser increase, freeze rents or apply a rent 
reduction.   

95. Decisions to freeze rents or apply a rent increase lower than the 7 per cent cap, 
would have a significant long-term impact on the HRA and its ability to meet its 
strategic objectives, corporate objectives and the changes to national policy set out in 
this report.  

96. Inflation is predicated to fall in the middle of next year but will still be above the 
government’s target of 2 per cent until 2024. Prices and costs will continue to rise but 
at a lower level.  

97. It is estimated that applying a rent freeze this year and with subsequent inflationary 
increases in following years would result in a reduction in income of nearly £10 million 
by 2026/27. Applying a 7 per cent rent increase this year and CPI +1 per cent 
increases over the following three years will still result in reduction in rental income of 
£5.7 million to the end of 2026/27. Other social landlords in the area are proposing to 
increase rents by the full 7 per cent. 

98. Construction material costs have soared over the last two years. This has been 
caused by the war in Ukraine, global sanctions, increased energy costs and the cost-
of-living crisis. The Office for National Statistics estimates that prices in the 
construction industry have increased by 10.1 per cent in the year to September 2022. 
This includes an increase in the price of new works of 11.8 per cent and in repairs 
and maintenance of 6.8 per cent. 

99. The national policy context earlier in this report sets out the challenges that the HRA 
will face over the coming years. These will require greater investment in staff, training, 
resident engagement and compliance with increased levels of building safety. The 
HRA also supports the wider council objectives in many ways particularly in the 
delivery of new homes. 

100. The increase in material costs will obviously have an impact on day-to-day repairs 
and maintenance. However, it will also have a significant impact on planned 
improvement work and the provision of new homes where costs have already 
increased, and contractors will seek to increase costs to cover the risk of inflation. 

101. Applying a 7 per cent increase in line with the rent cap will allow some protection to 
tenants from very high rent increases and allow the council to continue to invest in 
services to tenants and new and existing homes. 

102. Although there are higher costs associated with sheltered accommodation where the 
rent cap does not apply, it is considered equitable that these rents also increase by 7 
per cent. 

103. The rent cap only applies to existing tenants. The government has continued to allow 
an inflationary increase of 11.1 per cent to the formula or social rent. This is the rent 

25



that the council will continue to use when setting rents for new tenants or existing 
tenants who transfer. Rents on re-let’s will therefore increase by 11.1 per cent.    

104. The government believes that this is the right approach as it helps ensure that the 
rent cap is focused on protecting existing tenants from particularly high rent 
increases. It also allows the council to recover income levels and ensure that over 
time rents return to formula rent levels.  

105. Rents charged for council homes remain significantly lower than those charged in the 
private sector. They are also lower than local housing allowances, the maximum 
amount to which help with housing costs through housing benefit and universal credit 
will be paid.  

106. Any income that is available after the cost of servicing debt and managing and 
maintaining the stock is made available to the capital programme and supports the 
delivery of new homes. 

107. Other adjustments that will impact on the level of achievable dwelling rent income 
relate to the number of Right to Buy (RTB) sales expected to occur and the number of 
days properties are empty during a change of tenancy. With regards to the RTB, it is 
assumed there will be 40 sales during the year. The part year income associated from 
these properties has been deducted from the income budget. 

108. The council has a small number of shared ownership properties. Shared owners can 
purchase part of the property and pay a monthly rent on the share that remains in the 
ownership of the Council. Owners can normally purchase the remaining share of the 
property in a process known as “staircasing”.  

109. Rent increases are based on the terms of the lease provided to residents. The lease 
used is based on the model form of lease provided by the Government which is 
widely recognised by lenders and solicitors. Rent increases are based on the increase 
in the Retail Price Index, (RPI), which would result in rent increases of around 19 per 
cent. The government has asked landlords to apply the rent cap of 7 per cent to rent 
increases for shared owners as well. 

110. For 2023/24 it is assumed that 1 per cent of the Poole and Bournemouth 
neighbourhood housing stock will be void at any one time and therefore rent cannot 
be charged. This reduces the total income expected to be achieved by £0.52 million. 

111. Acquisition and new build programmes increase the stock of affordable housing for 
the HRA. The HRA will reflect the additional income expected from the delivery of 77 
new homes from 2023/24. However, there are inherent uncertainties around 
timescales for new build schemes, but an estimate has been accounted for 

Recommendation a(i) –  
That rents for general needs, sheltered and shared ownership accommodation 
are increased by 7 per cent from 3 April 2023, in line with the national rent cap 
announced by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.     

Recommendation a(ii) 
That rents for all accommodation on re-let’s continue to be set at the formula 
rent, increased by 11.1 per cent, from 3 April 2023, in line with the Department 
of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities Policy statement on rents for social 
housing. 
 

112. Garage Rents  
 

26



113. Garage rents cover income received from garages. The majority of garages have 
been transferred from the HRA to the General Fund and those that remain are 
located on sites identified as potential for re-development. The development on 
several has now been completed. In Bournemouth, those garages with potential 
redevelopment will remain in the HRA alongside a further 211 garage plots and 
bases. In Poole, 43 garages remain within the HRA but no plots or bases. 
 

114. In October 2022 Cabinet agreed an approach to increase General Fund fees and 
charges levied by the council by 10 per cent.  In line with that approach, garage rents 
are to be increased in 10 per cent. This will help meet the rise in maintenance costs 
as well as the need to ensure that garage sites are kept clean and tidy.  
 
Recommendation a(iii)  
That rents for garages, garage bases and parking plots are increased by 10 per 
cent from the 3 April 2023. 
 

115. Other rents reflect those charged to tenants occupying commercial space at Trinidad 
Village. These have been budgeted in line with the lease agreements in place and 
will increase by RPI on their agreed rent review dates.  

116. Leasehold service charges cover costs that are recharged to leaseholders in year to 
reflect either the cost of maintaining the fabric of the building or the cost of 
maintaining the communal areas. These charges must reflect the full cost that is 
incurred by the HRA, but no profit must be achieved through the levelling of these 
charges. Given this, the income budgets proposed reflect only an indicative level 
and actual charges will be reconciled during the summer to actual costs incurred.  

117. Costs are estimated for 2023/24 with leaseholders receiving details of actual costs 
at a later date when refunds or additional charges are made.   

118. The cyclical and reactive maintenance income budgets for leaseholders reflect 
actual works undertaken and are charged on a cost per case basis. These budgets 
reflect the works that have been undertaken on a year-on-year basis. Reactive 
maintenance undertaken is also charged on a cost per case basis.  

Recommendation a (iv) 
That leasehold services are charged to leaseholders in line with estimated 
costs from 3 April 2023.   

 
119. Tenant service charges must mirror the charges incurred by the HRA in the same 

way as leasehold charges. The council is expected to set reasonable and 
transparent service charges which reflect the service being provided to tenants. 
Tenants should be supplied with clear information on how service charges are set. In 
the case of social rent properties, providers are expected to identify service charges 
separately from the rent charge. Most service charges are expected to be included in 
affordable rents.   
 

120. Service charges are not governed by the same factors as rent. However, social 
landlords should normally endeavour to keep increases for service charges within the 
limit on rent changes, of CPI + 1 percentage point, or 7 per cent for 2023/24 to help 
keep charges affordable. This is difficult to do for some charges such as gas or 
electricity where costs are set by utility companies and are determined based on 
actual usage. Charges for heating reflect actual personal usage.  

27



121. Tenants should be consulted where new or extended services are introduced where 
this will result in additional charges to tenants.   

122. Service charges are in place for the provision of a sheltered housing service and 
associated support in the Poole neighbourhood. The charges relate to the additional 
work to manage these schemes for example, looking after communal areas and 
health and safety inspections, as well as support for tenants to help them manage 
their tenancies. These will increase by 5.3 per cent. The charges are not applicable 
in the Bournemouth neighbourhood and will be considered during alignment work 
between both neighbourhoods.  

123. Charges for guest rooms on sheltered schemes have been increased by 7 per cent 
and then rounded to the nearest 25 pence.  Charges in both neighbourhoods have 
been aligned.  

124. Charges are made to residents where electricity is used in communal areas. Charges 
are also made for communal heating that includes personal usage within a resident’s 
own accommodation. Bills to energy suppliers are paid directly by the council.  

125. Costs for gas and electricity have increased significantly across the country because 
of several factors: 

 Lack of natural gas being produced and an upsurge in demand as economies 
came out of lockdown 

 The winter of 2020/21 was longer and colder than expected using up 
reserves of gas 

 Lower output from renewable energy sources such as solar power and wind.   
 More recently Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has threatened supplies and 

driven prices up further.  
 

126. Wholesale energy prices have fallen, and this will eventually be passed onto 
customers if other factors do not send prices back up, for example prolonged cold 
weather. Most energy suppliers will have already purchased their gas and electric at 
previously higher prices and this will continue to be reflected in the prices that they 
currently charge.  

127. To help protect consumers from excessive costs the government introduced an 
energy price cap in 2019. This limits the rate a supplier can charge for their default 
(standard variable) tariffs. Energy suppliers cannot charge customers what they want 
while the cap reflects the wholesale market, so suppliers are not buying energy at a 
more expensive rate than they are selling.  

128. The price cap is reviewed and announced four times a year. The changes do not 
actually take effect until around two months after the announcement.  The cap 
increased on 1 October 2022 but to help households the government announced the 
Energy Price Guarantee. This will mean that the typical energy bill will be set at 
£2,500 per year until 31 March 2023. The guarantee has been extended to April 
2024 but will increase to £3,000.  

129. The Ofgem Energy Price Cap has increased to £4,279 from January 2023.     

130. Many tenants will pay their heating costs and communal electricity costs through 
their rent. The price cap and guarantee do not apply to these. The council will have 
benefitted from the Energy Bills Relief scheme, and this must be passed onto tenants 
to reduce their costs. This will be replaced by the Energy Bills Discount Scheme in 
April 2023, which will run until April 2024.  

28



131. Heating charges in the Poole neighbourhood are set at a standard charge for each 
property type and based on usage. In the Bournemouth neighbourhood the charges 
are normally set according to the usage on each scheme. These charges are not 
eligible for housing benefit or universal credit.  

132. Charges for communal power are set according to the electricity used in both 
neighbourhoods and are increased according to usage. These charges are eligible 
for housing benefit and universal credit.  

133. It is recommended that increases in charges relating to gas heating are limited to the 
percentage increase of the energy price cap in October 2022 and the Energy Price 
Guarantee. This means an increase in communal heating charges of 95.8 per cent 
where gas is used.   

134. Communal electricity charges and electric heating charges will increase by 38.7 per 
cent and are broadly in line with the unit price increase that the council pays.     

135. This enables the council to recover some costs while providing protection to those 
tenants who cannot rely on the price cap or price guarantee. All residents will 
experience an increase in energy costs whether they pay their own bills or do so 
through a communal supply.  

136. Scooter charges in the Poole neighbourhood will increase by 7 per cent per cent. In 
Bournemouth the charge will increase by 2 per cent which will allow for alignment 
across both neighbourhoods.  

137. The window cleaning charge in Bournemouth will increase by 100 per cent but this is 
because the service will revert to four cleans a year rather than two. The actual costs 
are low.  

138. Charges for communal cleaning and gardening in Bournemouth are based on time 
spent and the work carried out. Increase have been capped at 7 per cent but any 
reductions will be passed onto tenants. 

139. Water and sewage charges in Bournemouth are based on actual usage and has 
increased by an average of 7 per cent.  

140. Charges for the removal of bulk refuse in Bournemouth varies considerably and is 
dependent on the occasions necessary to remove items. Charges do not always 
apply, and the amount charged can be very low. It is difficult to apply a 7 per cent 
cap and instead a maximum increase of £0.25 has been applied.     

141. A previously agreed service charge policy has been rolled out in the Bournemouth 
neighbourhood since 2018. This policy introduced several new service charges and 
applied a cap that was due to expire in April 2023/24. The cap for these new charges 
will continue to be set at £5.00 per week for a further year. This means that in 
Bournemouth, no tenant will pay more than this per week for communal gardening, 
cleaning, bulk refuse removal and communal electricity combined.   

Recommendation a(vi) –  
That the changes to service charges are agreed as set out in appendix 2 from 
3 April 2023, and that the service charge cap in Bournemouth continues to be 
set at £5.00 for a further year.  
 

Revenue Expenditure  

142. The HRA manages expenditure that covers delivery of the general housing 
management function as well as overhead and capital financing charges. 

29



143. Management and Maintenance  

144. The financial climate is very challenging, and the rent cap will reduce the level of 
funds available to deliver all the priorities for BCP Homes. Levels of costs need to be 
regularly reviewed to ensure that funding is linked to service priorities.  

145. Key current and future changes to service delivery and financial pressures can be 
summarised as follows  

a. Additional resources to help ensure the effective management of 
tenancies involving tenants with complex needs such as substance 
misuse 

b. Additional resources to support the delivery of the building safety 
requirements and compliance approach 

c. Retrofitting to ensure that the homes provided help meet carbon reduction 
targets.  

d. Resource identification to support delivery of the white paper 
requirements to ensure that BCP can deliver effective assurance to the 
Regulator 

e. Additional resources to support the provision of affordable homes.  

146. The use of the revenue resources for day-to-day delivery of services are summarised 
in the Delivery Plan.    

147. In 2020/21 the HRA contributed £2 million to the Councils Transformation 
Programme on the provision that savings would also be delivered to the HRA. Work 
has been completed with the council’s Service Improvement Partners to demonstrate 
how the wider housing service can be aligned with the council’s new operating 
model, but because of the financial pressures and the HRA ringfence, service 
redesign will look at other service areas within the General Fund first before looking 
at processes within the HRA.   

148. Overheads and other expenditure  

149. The HRA holds general budgets that meet the cost of other service areas which 
support the overall delivery of the housing management function. These budgets 
have also been considered as part of the budget setting process. 

150. The HRA recognises recharges for spend directly incurred elsewhere in the Council 
but that relate to delivery of housing services. These include areas such as grounds 
maintenance provision, oversight of CCTV within buildings and corporate support 
costs. These need to be reflected in the HRA in order to ensure the full cost of 
delivering services to tenants is recognised. These charges are to be reviewed 
during 2023/24. 

151. Management of bad debts 

152. One of the main areas of risk for the HRA going forward is arrears and the 
management of debt within the rent account.  

153. One key current risk is Universal Credit (UC) with approximately 20 per cent of 
tenants now receiving this benefit. The system is also more complicated than the 
housing benefit system and requires additional interventions and support from 
landlords. UC is usually paid directly to the tenant monthly in arrears so four- or five-
weeks rent can be owing before the payment is received.  

30



154. BCP Homes will continue to work closely with tenants to assist with financial and 
budgeting skills and continue to undertake proactive work to help with any issues 
around their UC claims.  

155. There are increased pressures on household income because of the current high 
rates of inflation and continued assistance will be offered to those tenants who get 
into difficulty with paying their rent.  

156. The bad debt charge is to be maintained at £0.4 million.   

Recommendation a(vii) – 
That the annual bad debt charge is maintained at £0.4 million. 

157. Under the self-financing regime the HRA holds a depreciation charge that recognises 
the cost of managing and maintaining the Council stock at the current level. This 
funding represents a revenue cost to the HRA that is then used to support the capital 
programme to deliver the required enhancements to the stock to keep it fit for 
purpose. Under these arrangements the council is required to demonstrate the stock 
has been accounted for in line with IAS 16 and follows componentisation accounting 
principles.  

158. Depreciation charges in both neighbourhoods are calculated using components. 
However, the depreciation policy for each neighbourhood is significantly different - 
the Bournemouth neighbourhood uses six components and Poole uses 86. Life 
cycles also vary across the two neighbourhoods. Depreciation policies will be 
harmonised when the council’s new fixed asset register is implemented in April 2023.  

Recommendation a(viii) –  
That the depreciation budget is set at £11.79 million. 
 

159. Reserves 
 

160. The Council is required by law (Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 
76) to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be 
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is 
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies. 
An appropriate level has been determined as 5 per cent of expenditure. This level 
has been reached after carrying out a risk assessment of key items affecting 
income/expenditure and allowing for a contingency for unidentified items. In 2023/24 
this gives a minimum reserve requirement of £1.98 million.  

Recommendation a(ix) –  

That HRA reserves should be maintained at a minimum level of 5 per cent of total 
expenditure at £1.98 million in line with good practice.   

161. Capital Financing 

162. The budget to support interest paid on HRA debt will rise in future years as external 
borrowing is required. For 2023/24 the HRA will require £17.6 million of external 
borrowing to fund its capital programme.   

163. Any surplus generated by the HRA will be used to fund capital expenditure or the 
provision of new homes. Projections show large surpluses in later years but 
expenditure against these has not yet been scheduled. As set out above there are 
several pressures on the HRA, notably carbon reduction, and these surpluses will be 
allocated to support spending.    

31



Capital Expenditure 

164. Financial regulations require capital schemes to be categorised into appropriate 
approvals categories. All Planned Maintenance Programme items within Appendix 5 
are Unconditional. Major Projects (shown in detail in Appendix 6) are categorised as 
No Further Approval, Conditional Approval or requires Further approval, as 
appropriate.   

165. Planned Maintenance Programme 

166. The HRA capital programme aims to ensure first and foremost, that the current 
housing stock is fit for purpose and specific projects that will enhance the delivery of 
social rented and affordable housing across both neighbourhoods are achieved. 
Each year elements of this stock will need to be replaced or updated to meet the 
decent homes standard. The delivery of these enhancements is the first call on 
capital resources 

167. There are new areas of work that need to be delivered as part of the planned 
maintenance programme. Building safety is a key area and as set out above and 
additional work will be required to ensure that the homes provided as safe for 
residents.  

168. As set out above a new £0.5 million budget has been created for investment in damp 
and mould mitigation measures where required. This will include improved 
ventilation, heating, specialist damp surveys and inspections, mould washing and 
installation of monitoring equipment.  

169. To support the Council’s Corporate Strategy there are objectives to ensure that 
sustainability underpins our policies, tackle the climate change emergency and 
promote sustainable resource management. This can be achieved through 
sustainable methods of construction in relation to new homes with high levels of 
thermal insulation and more energy efficient hot water and heating systems.  

170. Energy efficient measures are also provided in the refurbishment of existing homes 
including more efficient gas boilers, consideration of alternative heat sources, 
increased levels of thermal insulation, communal heating systems and low energy 
lighting to communal areas. Such measures often increase development and 
refurbishment costs, but more energy efficient homes can benefit tenants through 
lower energy bills.  There is a clear focus on the overall carbon savings that can be 
achieved with any additional investment.  

171. Technology is changing constantly in this fast-moving sector but it is clear that the 
HRA housing stock will embrace this issue within its programme going forwards. The 
development of the 30-year business plan will help determine how we meet the 
challenges. 

172. The planned maintenance programme is proposed at £15.9 million. A breakdown of 
the programmes is included within appendix 5 and this will deliver a programme of 
work that is safe and meets legislative and other priorities. 

Recommendation b(i) – 

That the planned maintenance programme as set out in Appendix 5 is agreed. 

173. Major works capital programme 

174. The HRA is committed to delivering additional affordable housing and ensuring the 
current HRA land is used as effectively as possible. Whilst the majority of activity is 
new build, existing properties have also been acquired. These are usually via buy 

32



back of RTB properties but may be where other housing providers are looking to 
dispose of suitable stock. Each new build scheme and purchase is subject to both 
financial and managerial due diligence to ensure they deliver value for money. The 
proposals for the provision are approved separately through the annual CHNAS 
report to Cabinet.  

175. The exact tenure mix of this new build programme is be considered in the context of 
overall financial viability.  Each scheme is required to be viable over the duration of 
any borrowing period in line with the Prudential Code.      

176. There are ongoing ambitious new build plans, a requirement to make significant 
changes to the stock to more adequately meet needs and the HRA must continue to 
assist in the management of homelessness. This funding can be achieved in part via 
borrowing additional resource. Since 2018 limits on HRA borrowing were abolished 
which allows for more to be delivered from HRA budgets where additional funding 
can now be raised in accordance with the Prudential Code – removing the HRA 
borrowing cap. This provides an opportunity to expand our new build ambitions to 
help further meet the needs of those on the housing register.   

177. Many schemes will also require additional subsidy alongside rental income to meet 
the borrowing requirements. RTB receipts, HRA reserves, and Section 106 
affordable housing developer contributions are also used to help financially support 
the delivery of new homes, although these funding sources are finite.  

178. The new build and major projects programme total £46.4 million for 2023/24.  

179. New build and major projects –  

180. Alice Gardens, Poole – 22 flats for rent and shared ownership 

181. Herbert Avenue, Poole – 24 flats for temporary family accommodation 

182. Templeman House, Leedham Road, Kinson – 27 flats for rent 

183. Craven Court, Knyveton Road, Boscombe – 24 x 1 and 2 bed flats for rent 

184. Wilkinson Drive, Townsend, Bournemouth – 11 flats for rent 

185. Cabbage Patch Car Park, St Stephens Road, Bournemouth – 11 x 1 and 2 bed flats 

186. Northbourne Day Centre, Wimborne Road, Kinson – 9 homes for rent including 1 and 
2 bed flats and 2 bed houses 

187. Summers Avenue, Kinson – 2 wheelchair bungalows 

188. Hillbourne School, Poole – 110 new homes.  

Recommendation b(ii) 
That the major project capital programme as set out in Appendix 6 is noted. 

189. The 2022/23 capital programme was agreed at £48.5 million (revised to £18.2 
million). Timing of cash flows for large capital projects spanning several financial 
years can be difficult to predict and are re-forecast as the projects progress. These 
projects often require consultation, planning and building control approval and are 
subject to competitive tendering processes. Capital budgets are carried forward 
when timing of cash flows becomes more accurate to predict. 

190. Feasibility works are required to work up scheme plans, employing architects, 
consultants and instructing desktop and site surveys.  These costs can be later 
transferred to specific housing schemes if they continue to gain planning permission 

33



and are built.  Schemes that are unable to continue, for reasons such as viability or 
planning constraints, become abortive. 

191. Acquire & Repair budgets are to allow for purchasing pre-built homes into the HRA.  
These homes may have been built many years ago by the Council and would offer 
benefits such as location to minimise management costs.  This budget can also be 
used for specific needs that are not catered for within our existing stock or offer a 
strategic benefit. 

Recommendation b(iii) 
That 2023/24 budgets of £0.4 million for feasibility works and £3 million for the 
acquisition of individual properties (“Acquire and Repair”) are approved 

  
192. Delivery Plan 

193. The Delivery Plan sets out the key actions for the HRA which support the council’s 
corporate priorities and the Housing Strategy. The Delivery Plan is a live document 
and will be updated as the year progresses.  

Recommendation c –  
That the Delivery Plans for BCP Homes to support the key principles for the 
HRA and the Council’s Corporate Strategy is agreed as set out in appendix 7. 
 

194. Financial modelling 

195. The existing new build programme reflects the ambitious plan to provide much 
needed additional homes for rent and detailed consideration is being given to the 
delivery of new homes through shared ownership as well as affordable and social 
rent. Financial modelling is taking place to look at options to help shape the identified 
new build and retrofitting programme over the next few years. To support this work 
there is an ongoing update of the 30-year business plan for the HRA.    

196. Consultation 

197. There is no legal obligation to consult on the annual rent changes. The rent changes 
noted in this report for 2023/24 are set by government policy.  

198. Residents have been consulted through the BCP Homes Residents Committee as 
well as the BCP Homes Advisory Board. Residents understood the need to increase 
rents to maintain services and homes and to continue to provide new affordable 
homes for those in housing need. Residents stated that they would prefer not to have 
an increase in rents but that this would have an impact on the ability for the council to 
provide new affordable homes for those on the housing register. It would also mean 
that the council may not be able to provide some of the services that residents want. 
The Resident’s Committee was informed that the rent increase was eligible for 
housing benefit and the housing element of universal credit so that those on very low 
incomes would not be impacted.  

199. The Portfolio Holder for People and Homes has been consulted and their feedback 
had been addressed in this report. 

Options Appraisal  

200. This report sets out the proposals for increases in rent and other charges to support 
the planned maintenance programme, new developments and major works. The 
income received is also used to ensure that the council can meet its legal 
responsibilities as a landlord as well as regulatory standards. The proposals also 

34



support the Council’s wider strategic objectives and demonstrates the importance of 
housing revenue account activities in helping to meet these while supporting 
residents. Any decision not to increase charges would have an impact on the ability 
of the Housing Revenue Account to meet the objectives in the delivery plans as well 
as wider strategic objectives.   

Summary of financial implications  

201. The Housing Revenue Account is a separate account within the Council that ring-
fences the income and expenditure associated with BCP Council’s housing stock. 
The estimated income from rent and other charges will be £51.5 million. The income 
from the HRA is used to support the Council’s activities as a landlord and the 
proposed expenditure of £46.4 million on planned maintenance and new homes as 
well as £26.9 million on managing and maintaining the housing stock. Proposed rent 
increases are in line with government policies and the additional income that is 
generated is also used to develop the 30-year business plan. This plan will ensure 
that the Council continues to meet its responsibilities as a landlord and in meeting 
the Council’s wider objectives as well as the national agenda to reduce carbon 
emissions. There are other challenges associated with improvements to building 
safety and it is important that the HRA can meet these.    

Summary of legal implications  

202. Council housing landlords are required to give 28 days’ notice to all tenants of 
changes to the rental and charges for the new financial year. This will be achieved 
should all the recommendations be accepted by Cabinet in February 2022. 

203. The Council is required by law (Local Government & Housing Act 1989, section 76) 
to avoid budgeting for a deficit on the HRA. This means the budget must not be 
based on total HRA revenue reserves falling below zero. In practice the Council is 
expected to maintain a reasonable balance of HRA reserves to cover contingencies.  
The HRA will maintain reserves above a minimum level of 5 per cent of expenditure. 
In 2023/24 this gives a minimum level of reserve of £1.98 million.  

204. Approval from Cabinet and Council is required before changes to rents and other 
charges can be made as well as commitment to the level of expenditure on planned 
maintenance and major works.   

Summary of human resources implications  

205. There are no HR implications for this report. 

Summary of public health implications  

206. HRA properties continue to benefit from photovoltaic and solar panels reducing 
carbon emissions across Bournemouth and Poole. The ongoing maintenance of 
existing stock, such as heating replacement, insulation and low energy LED lighting 
in communal areas also help to increase the energy efficiency of our existing stock. 
Consideration is currently being given to new methods of building construction for 
new homes which would benefit tenants and the local area. 

207. The HRA meets the needs of residents with specialist needs with appropriate 
accommodation, adaptations, tenancy support, affordable rents, well maintained 
homes and secure tenancies. There is also support for residents to be involved in 
decision making and community activities. All of this contributes to the physical and 
mental wellbeing of our residents.  

Summary of equality implications  

35



208. The recommended increase in rents will have a financial impact on residents in all of 
the protected groups. However, there are several mitigations which reduce the 
impact for all protected groups. 

 Rents for all homes will increase by the 7 per cent rent cap.  

 Where appropriate increases in service charges will be capped at 7 per cent. 

 Increases in the charge for communal heating and electricity will be capped at 
the increase between the energy price cap and energy price guarantee.  

 The cap on new service charges introduced in Bournemouth will continue for 
another year.  

 Rent and some service charge increases will be eligible for additional housing 
benefit and universal credit.  

 Pensions and most benefits will increase by 10.1 per cent from April 2023.  

 Support is available through the energy price guarantee, energy bills support 
scheme and household support scheme.  

 Staff can support residents to maximise income and signpost to other 
organisations.  

 Help through the council’s Household Support Fund. 

209. Maintaining increases in income for the HRA meets the needs of those in protected 
groups.  

210. Proposed revenue budgets for 2023/24 onwards should not impact on front line 
service provision, and the level of capital disabled adaptations in the estimated 
Capital Programme should enable us to meet the needs of disabled and older 
residents to have aids and adaptations fitted to support their independence. 

211. Older and disabled residents will be positively affected by investment in dwelling 
insulation, energy efficiency to help reduce charges for heating and other utilities.   

212. There is a clear correlation between effective housing and better health outcomes. 
By ensuring that housing meets minimum maintenance standards respiratory health 
issues can be reduced as well as minimising trips and falls. Income is also used for 
new homes for those in need of affordable housing.  

213. Community development work undertaken seeks to minimise isolation, particularly 
with older people, contributing to improved physical and mental health outcomes and 
more active communities. We will continue to work with community and voluntary 
groups, promoting their services and offering practical help where feasible, for 
example land for community gardens.  

214. There are many reasons why tenants may struggle to maintain their tenancies 
including drug and alcohol problems, mental health and hoarding. We will seek to 
support tenants in their homes to ensure that they are able to maintain successful 
tenancies and to reduce the number of evictions. Staff are available who can provide 
support for tenants including financial advice and work is ongoing to ensure that 
sufficient resources are available. 

215. Support is available to residents to pay for housing costs if on a low income and 
colleagues are available to provide advice and support to help maximise income. 
Residents can also be signposted to other organisations that can help. 

36



Summary of risk assessment  

216. From April 2012 the risk in financing the management and maintenance of the 
housing stock moved from Central Government to Local Government as part of the 
Self-Financing Settlement Agreement. 

217. The risk associated with future rent increases and decreases is no longer a local 
decision. 

218. The following considerations must be made: 

a) As the self-financing valuation and settlement is premised on the Council continuing to 

implement the Government’s Rent Restructuring formula, the deviation from this with 
regards the national government mandated CPI + 1 per cent increase could potentially 

undermine the financial viability of the BCP Council HRA. 

 

b) The HRA will be committed in the first instance to the servicing of new and existing 

debt. 

 

c) Only once debt is serviced (funded) can consideration be given to the maintenance 

standard of the properties and then in turn to the quality of the housing management 
service. 

 
d) The end of automatic payment of housing costs direct to Landlords, could significantly 

reduce rent income levels and increase the level of bad debts within the HRA as universal 

credit. continues to roll out. 
 

e) Compliance with regulatory standards and changes to health and safety legislation 
particularly regarding fire safety will provide additional challenges over the next few years 

and are likely to lead to increased costs.  
 

f) The requirement to have an effective HRA 30-year business plan to help prepare and 
manage future costs and requirements to manage the housing stock.   

219. The recommendations presented here assures compliance with the national rent 
setting policy and the key principles have been approved by the Department of 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. The proposal ensures the appropriate 
maintenance and development of HRA stock across the Bournemouth and Poole 
neighbourhoods. Not approving this report would significantly risk the ability for BCP 
Council to comply with central government and national legislation that govern the 
HRA budget process. 

Background papers 

Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing,   

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/direction-on-the-rent-standard-from-1-april-
2020/policy-statement-on-rents-for-social-housing  

Appendices   

1: The Rent Increase Effect on Residents  

 

2: Service Charges for 2023-24 

37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/direction-on-the-rent-standard-from-1-april-2020/policy-statement-on-rents-for-social-housing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/direction-on-the-rent-standard-from-1-april-2020/policy-statement-on-rents-for-social-housing


 

3: Income and Expenditure Statement for 2023-24 

 

4: HRA Balances for 2023-24 

 

5: Capital Programme for 2023-24 to 2027-28 

 

6: Major Project Capital Programme for 2023-24 

 

7: HRA Delivery Plan for 2023-24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

38



APPENDIX 1
Housing Revenue Account
The Rent Increase Effect on Residents

52 week 48 week 52 week 48 week 52 week 48 week 

Basis Basis Basis Basis
Weekly 
Increase

Weekly 
Increase

Increase
as a %

£ £ £ £ £ £

 Overall Average per Budget Bournemouth Neighbourhood 91.36 97.76 6.40 7.0%
Poole Neighbourhood 91.46 99.08 97.88 106.04 6.42 6.96 7.0%

Examples of Rent Increases
 General Properties

Bournemouth Neighbourhood
  Hamilton Road 1 Bedroom flat 78.39 83.88 5.49 7.0%

  Belle Vue Road 1 Bedroom flat 78.88 84.40 5.52 7.0%

  Turbary Park 1 Bedroom flat 84.13 90.02 5.89 7.0%

  Cunningham Crescent 1 Bedroom flat 76.00 81.32 5.32 7.0%

  Florence Road 2 Bedroom flat 86.53 92.59 6.06 7.0%

  Nothery Road 2 Bedroom House 94.70 101.33 6.63 7.0%

  Ripon Road 3 Bedroom House 113.50 121.45 7.95 7.0%

  Turnbull Lane 3 Bedroom House 166.79 178.47 11.68 7.0%

  Dolphin Avenue 3 Bedroom Bungalow 132.05 141.29 9.24 7.0%

  Cranleigh Road 4 Bedroom House 117.66 125.90 8.24 7.0%

Poole Neighbourhood
  Herbert Court 1 Bedroom flat 80.45 87.15 86.08 93.25 5.63 6.10 7.0%

  Junction Road 1 Bedroom flat 69.12 74.88 73.96 80.12 4.84 5.24 7.0%

  Rockley Road 1 Bedroom flat 77.52 83.98 82.95 89.86 5.43 5.88 7.0%

  Sterte Court 1 Bedroom flat 74.79 81.02 80.02 86.69 5.23 5.67 7.0%

  Cynthia Close 1 Bedroom flat 82.01 88.84 87.75 95.06 5.74 6.22 7.0%

  Rodney Court 2 Bedroom flat 93.90 101.73 100.48 108.85 6.58 7.12 7.0%

  Plumer Road 2 Bedroom house 95.05 102.97 101.70 110.18 6.65 7.21 7.0%

  Christopher Crescent 3 Bedroom house 105.14 113.90 112.50 121.87 7.36 7.97 7.0%

  Egmont Road 3 Bedroom house 95.52 103.48 102.20 110.72 6.68 7.24 7.0%

  Haskells Road 3 Bedroom house 94.59 102.47 101.21 109.64 6.62 7.17 7.0%

  Perry Gardens 4 Bedroom house 118.04 127.88 126.30 136.83 8.26 8.95 7.0%

 Independent Senior Living serviced properties

Bournemouth Neighbourhood

  Cornish Gardens Studio Flat 67.28 71.99 4.71 7.0%

  Castle Dene Court 1 Bedroom flat 78.99 84.52 5.53 7.0%

  Southbourne Road 1 Bedroom flat 80.46 86.09 5.63 7.0%

  Deacon Gardens Bear Cross 1 Bed Bungalow 89.78 96.06 6.28 7.0%

 Sheltered Housing Officer serviced properties

Poole Neighbourhood

  Millfield 1 Bedroom flat 79.13 85.72 84.66 91.72 5.53 6.00 7.0%

  South Road 1 Bedroom flat 81.99 88.82 87.73 95.04 5.74 6.22 7.0%

  Trinidad House 1 Bed Bungalow 80.56 87.27 86.20 93.38 5.64 6.11 7.0%

  Waterloo House 1 Bed Bungalow 88.98 96.40 95.22 103.15 6.24 6.75 7.0%

Poole charges a higher rent level over 48 weeks of the year with 4 "rent free" weeks a year. Bournemouth charges rent each week of the year.

2022/23 2023/24

39



This page is intentionally left blank

40



APPENDIX 2
Housing Revenue Account
Service Charges For 2023/24

2022/23 2023/24

£ Uplift £

1.   Garage Rents
Proposed Charges - Tenants

Bournemouth £11.58 10.0% £12.74
Poole Old Town £12.53 10.0% £13.78
Remainder of Poole £7.12 10.0% £7.83

   Charges - Leaseholders
Bournemouth (excl VAT) £13.64 10.0% £15.00

   Charges - Non-Tenants
Poole Old Town (excl VAT) £17.35 10.0% £19.09
Remainder of Poole (excl VAT) £10.90 10.0% £11.99
Bournemouth (excl VAT) £13.64 10.0% £15.00

2. Garage Bases Bournemouth only
   Charges -Tenants £2.44 10.0% £2.68

Leaseholders £3.95 10.0% £4.35
Private £4.74 10.0% £5.21

3. Garage Plots Bournemouth only
   Charges -Tenants £2.44 10.0% £2.68

Private £2.93 10.0% £3.22

4.   Sheltered Housing Service Charges inc Lifeline
    General - Poole £7.61 5.3% £8.01
    Willow Park - Poole £7.61 5.3% £8.01
    Belmont Court - Poole £18.64 5.3% £19.63

5.  Supporting People Service Charge - Poole
Personal charge £7.70 5.3% £8.11

6.   Guest Bedrooms in Sheltered Accommodation 
1 night 2 nights 3 nights 4-7 nights

Cost per room with no ensuite - includes cleaning £23.00 £32.00 £41.50 £51.50
Cost per room with ensuite - includes cleaning £27.50 £39.00 £50.50 £62.00
7. Heating Charges - Poole
1 bed £11.50 38.7% / 95.8% £15.95 / £22.52
2 bed £13.80 95.8% £27.02
3 bed £16.11 95.8% £31.54
Trinidad Village (combined heating & Communal supply) £15.04 95.8% £29.45
Bournemouth £1.70 - £10.75 38.7% / 95.8% £3.19 - £21.05
8. Communal Supply
Standard Charge - Poole £1.10 - £5.77 38.7% £1.53 - £8.00
Standard Charge - Bournemouth £0.08 - £6.73 38.7% £0.11 - £9.33
10. Laundry
Standard Charge - Bournemouth £0.77 7.0% £0.82
11. Scooter Charges
Scooter Charge point - Bournemouth £1.09 2.0% £1.11
                               - Poole £53.80 p.a. 7.0% £57.57 p.a.
12. Window Cleaning
Standard  Charge - Bournemouth £0.21 100% £0.42
13. Communal Cleaning
Standard  Charge - Bournemouth £0.04 - £1.37 Average 5% £0.04 - £1.47
14. Communal Gardening
Standard  Charge - Bournemouth £0.07 - £4.40 Average -3% £0.03 - £3.45
15. Water and sewage 
Bournemouth £1.30 - £6.05 Average 7.04% £1.02 - £6.39
16. Communal Telephone and Internet Charges
Bournemouth Extra Care only £1.62 -20.0% £1.28
17. Communal bulk refuse removal 
Bournemouth £0.02 - £3.53 n/a £0.03 - £2.38

41



This page is intentionally left blank

42



APPENDIX 3
Housing Revenue Account
Income & Expenditure Statement

Income

Dwelling Rents (gross)

Non-Dwelling Rents (gross)

Charges for Services and Facilities

Contributions to Expenditure

Total Income

Expenditure

Repairs and Maintenance

Supervision and Management

Rent, rates, taxes and other charges

Bad or Doubtful debts

Capital financing costs (debt management costs)

Depreciation - Council Dwellings & Land and Property

Total Expenditure

Net Cost of HRA Services - (Surplus) / Deficit

Capital Charges

 - Interest Payable

 - Interest Receivable

Total Capital Charges

Net Operating Expenditure - (Surplus) / Deficit

Appropriations

Transfer to HRA reserve

Total Appropriations

(Surplus) / Deficit on the HRA for the Year

Forecast
Budget Outturn Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget
2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

(45,043) (45,043) (48,153) (51,723) (53,675) (55,986) (57,665)

(270) (260) (261) (269) (277) (285) (293)

(2,103) (2,243) (2,583) (2,790) (2,874) (2,961) (3,050)

(381) (527) (479) (493) (507) (523) (539)

(47,797) (48,073) (51,476) (55,275) (57,333) (59,755) (61,547)

10,036 10,860 11,543 12,467 12,841 13,227 13,623

13,549 13,051 15,453 16,225 16,711 17,212 17,729

427 439 287 296 305 314 324

400 400 400 400 400 400 400

186 186 191 196 202 208 214

11,791 11,791 11,787 12,120 12,263 12,410 12,561

36,389 36,727 39,661 41,704 42,722 43,771 44,851

(11,408) (11,346) (11,815) (13,571) (14,611) (15,984) (16,696)

5,493 5,493 5,210 6,100 8,990 10,755 11,165

(47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47)

5,446 5,446 5,163 6,053 8,943 10,708 11,118

(5,962) (5,900) (6,652) (7,518) (5,668) (5,276) (5,578)

5,962 5,900 6,652 7,518 5,668 5,276 5,578

5,962 5,900 6,652 7,518 5,668 5,276 5,578

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BCP Council HRA

43



This page is intentionally left blank

44



APPENDIX 4
Housing Revenue Account   
HRA Balances

HRA Reserve
Bought forward balance at 1st April
Surplus for the year
Contribution to capital expenditure (RCCO)

Carried forward balance at 31st March

Major Repairs Reserve
Bought forward balance at 1st April
Depreciation for the year
Utilised to finance capital expenditure

Carried forward balance at 31st March

New-build reserve
Bought forward balance at 1st April
Utilised to finance capital expenditure
Other movements

Carried forward balance at 31st March

RtB receipts for re-provision
Bought forward balance at 1st April
Current year RtB receipts for re-provision
Utilised to finance capital expenditure

Carried forward balance at 31st March

Other capital receipts, grants & S106
Bought forward balance at 1st April

Current year receipts
Utilised to finance capital expenditure

Carried forward balance at 31st March

Closinging reserves and capital receipts
HRA reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
New-build reserve

RtB receipts for re-provision
Other capital receipts

Total closing reserves and capital receipts

Capital expenditure
Planned Maintenance
Major Projects
Total Capital expenditure

Funding of Capital expenditure
HRA Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
New-build reserve
RtB receipts
Other grants, capital receipts & S106 cont'ns
Borrowings
Total Funding

Forecast
Budget Outturn Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget
2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

(7,972) (4,106) (1,983) (2,085) (2,136) (2,189)
(5,900) (6,652) (7,518) (5,668) (5,276) (5,578)

9,766 8,775 7,416 5,617 5,224 5,524

(4,106) (1,983) (2,085) (2,136) (2,189) (2,243)

(761) 0 0 0 0 0
(11,791) (11,787) (12,120) (12,263) (12,410) (12,561)

12,552 11,787 12,120 12,263 12,410 12,290

0 0 0 0 0 (271)

(2,778) 0 0 0 0 0
2,778 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0

(8,354) (6,854) (1,007) 0 0 (790)
(2,200) (2,400) (2,600) (2,600) (2,600) (2,600)

3,700 8,246 3,607 2,600 1,810 1,020

(6,854) (1,007) 0 0 (790) (2,370)

(1,605) (1,203) (3,648) (3,648) (1,203) (1,203)

(1,675) (2,445) 0 0 0 0
2,077 0 0 2,445 0 0

(1,203) (3,648) (3,648) (1,203) (1,203) (1,203)

(4,106) (1,983) (2,085) (2,136) (2,189) (2,243)
0 0 0 0 0 (271)
0 0 0 0 0 0

(6,854) (1,007) 0 0 (790) (2,370)
(1,203) (3,648) (3,648) (1,203) (1,203) (1,203)

(12,163) (6,638) (5,733) (3,339) (4,182) (6,087)

12,710 15,989 14,958 14,732 14,991 15,009
18,163 30,419 65,785 43,439 12,527 3,887
30,873 46,408 80,743 58,171 27,518 18,896

9,766 8,775 7,416 5,617 5,224 5,524
12,552 11,787 12,120 12,263 12,410 12,290

2,778 0 0 0 0 0
3,700 8,246 3,607 2,600 1,810 1,020
2,077 0 0 2,445 0 0

0 17,600 57,600 35,246 8,074 62
30,873 46,408 80,743 58,171 27,518 18,896

45



This page is intentionally left blank

46



APPENDIX 5
Housing Revenue Account
Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2027/28

Planned Maintenance Programme

External Standard Doors

Fire Safety Programmes

Kitchen Replacement Programme

Heating and Hot Water Systems

Bathrooms

Building Envelope  

Electrical and Lighting Works

Door Entry System

Structural Repairs \ Works

Lift Improvements & Replacements

Building External - all schemes

Out buildings (inc. garages)

Asbestos

Insulation / Energy Conservation / Environmental 
improvements
Roofing

Windows

Housing & Health Safety Rating Systems - Category 1 & 2

Plastering

Modifications to Boundaries, Communal Area, Hardscapes 
and Drainage

Bedroom Extensions

Damp & Mould Prevention

Capitalized Salaries

Disabled Adaptations & Stairlifts

Minor Works

Sheltered sites

Contingency

Planned Maintenance Programme Expenditure

Major Projects

Major Projects Expenditure

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Budget Forecast Budget Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

272              272              295              300              300              300              300              

1,248           840              935              906              705              765              765              

1,900           1,660           1,852           1,730           1,820           1,850           1,850           

1,069           1,069           1,262           1,313           1,356           1,389           1,389           

1,005           1,005           1,032           906              885              887              887              

324              324              350              335              343              350              350              

648              407              463              669              450              475              475              

77                77                88                89                90                91                92                

58                30                60                60                60                60                60                

168              125              340              201              212              223              224              

790              710              840              840              840              840              840              

95                75                98                100              102              102              102              

100              110              100              105              105              105              105              

1,250           213              1,300           304              308              310              310              

915              400              890              1,050           1,060           1,100           1,110           

1,800           2,200           1,900           1,900           1,900           1,900           1,900           

138              30                138              138              138              138              138              

81                81                85                88                92                95                95                

200              220              293              293              293              293              293              

50                50                60                60                60                60                60                

-               -               500              500              500              500              500              

952              952              908              941              965              970              975              

950              1,250           1,100           1,050           1,050           1,075           1,075           

350              335              550              501              512              533              534              

50                102              50                50                50                50                50                

500              173              500              500              500              500              500              

14,989         12,710         15,989         14,929         14,696         14,961         14,979         

48,526         18,163         30,419         65,785         43,439         12,527         3,887           

63,515         30,873         46,408         80,714         58,135         27,488         18,866         

BCP HRA

47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



APPENDIX 6
Housing Revenue Account 
Major Project Capital Programme

Bournemouth Neighbourhood

Budget Forecast Budget Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Council Approval Category

2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
No further 
approval

Conditional 
Approval

Further 
approval 
required

Major Projects - Bournemouth

Moorside Road 1,939          1,513          365             -              -              -              -              365             -              -              

Templeman House 3,000          292             2,600          1,997          -              -              -              4,597          -              -              

Craven Court 2,750          750             3,000          1,331          100             -              -              4,431          -              -              

Duck Lane Phase 2 1,400          2                 850             2,234          -              -              -              2,212          -              872             

Wilkinson Drive 1,816          1,289          1,358          -              -              -              -              1,358          -              -              

Cabbage Patch car park 1,790          2,067          305             -              -              -              -              110             -              195             

Godshill Close -              55               300             -              -              -              -              300             -              -              

Luckham Road/Charminster Rd -              1                 -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Northbourne Day Centre 1,141          1,523          -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Princess Road (HRA element) 10,000        432             1,000          12,000        11,870        -              -              21,736        -              3,134          

Mountbatten Gardens 149             41               -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Beaufort Road / Cranleigh Road 600             -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Constitution Hill -              -              66               -              -              -              -              66               -              -              

43 Bingham Road -              14               1,310          -              -              -              -              1,310          -              -              

Summers Avenue -              56               489             -              -              -              -              489             -              -              

CNHAS programme 3 -              4                 4,795          -              -              -              -              4,795          -              -              

CNHAS programme 3b -              -              150             1,280          462             -              -              -              -              1,892          

CNHAS programme 4b -              -              325             16,800        5,753          -              -              -              -              22,878        

CNHAS programme 5a (brown lower) -              -              140             -              2,000          8,640          -              -              -              10,780        

Acquire & Repair 1,500          1                 1,500          1,500          1,500          1,500          1,500          -              -              7,500          

Feasibility Works 200             16               200             200             200             200             200             -              -              1,000          

Capitalised Salaries 433             433             446             459             473             487             487             -              -              446             

Major Projects Expenditure - B'mouth 26,718        8,489          19,199        37,801        22,358        10,827        2,187          41,769        -              48,697        

Poole Neighbourhood

Budget Forecast Budget Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Council Approval Category

2022/23
£000's

2022/23
£000's

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28
No further 
approval

Conditional 
Approval

Further 
approval 
required

Major Projects - Poole

Project Admiral 4,022          3,391          1,554          -              -              -              -              916             -              638             

Sterte Court Cladding 397             610             325             -              -              -              -              325             -              -              

Cynthia House 2,785          2,274          620             -              -              -              -              620             -              -              

Herbert Avenue 2,656          1,542          1,583          -              -              -              -              1,583          -              -              

Hillbourne School site 7,453          775             3,572          13,000        10,714        -              -              24,325        -              2,961          

Sopers Lane / Cavan Crescent 440             1                 140             1,200          255             -              -              1,595          -              -              

Oakdale 1,920          -              490             6,420          7,182          -              -              -              -              14,092        

Egmont Road infill 310             4                 836             1,364          -              -              -              -              2,200          

Redhorn Close infill 70               -              200             1,700          500             -              -              -              -              2,400          

Dale Close infill 25               -              -              650             130             -              -              -              -              780             

Lake Avenue infill 25               -              -              750             400             -              -              -              -              1,150          

Junction Road infill 25               -              200             1,200          200             -              -              -              -              1,600          

Feasibility Works -              62               200             200             200             200             200             -              -              1,000          

Acquire & Repair 1,500          835             1,500          1,500          1,500          1,500          1,500          -              -              7,500          

Information Technology Capital Costs 180             180             -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Major Projects Expenditure - Poole 21,808        9,674          11,220        27,984        21,081        1,700          1,700          29,364        -              34,321        

Total Major Project Expenditure - BCP HRA 48,526        18,163        30,419        65,785        43,439        12,527        3,887          71,133        -              83,018        

49



This page is intentionally left blank

50



 

 1 
 

Appendix 7 – HRA Delivery Plan                                                                                                  

This Delivery Plan sets out the key actions for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for 2023/24. It includes actions to be completed by BCP Homes but also 

by others who deliver services through the HRA for residents.  

The actions are linked to BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy which sets out the following priorities: 

• Sustainable Environment – Leading our communities towards a cleaner, sustainable future that preserves our outstanding environment for 

generations to come.  

• Dynamic Places – Supporting an innovative, successful economy in a great place to live, learn, work and visit.  

• Connected Communities – Empowering our communities so everyone feels safe, engaged, and included.   

• Brighter Futures – Caring for our children and young people; providing a nurturing environment, high quality education and great opportunities to 

grow and flourish.  

• Fulfilled Lives – Helping people lead active, healthy, and independent lives adding years to life and life to years.  

• The council’s strategy also seeks to develop a modern, accessible, and accountable council committed to providing effective community 

leadership. 

The Housing Strategy sets out our vision to provide a safe, secure, and sustainable home where it is needed and thereby enabling people the opportunity to 

live well.  

The Delivery Plan will also support the council’s priorities through the new Housing Strategy: 

1. Meeting future growth needs  

2. Preventing homelessness and rough sleeping  

3. Improving housing options, opportunities, and choice for all 

4. Empowering and co-creating neighbourhoods where residents wish to live and be part of the community  

5. Improving safety and sustainability across Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole’s housing  

The Delivery Plan is a live document and will be updated as progress is achieved, priorities change, or new priorities emerge.  

Rag ratings                                                                                                                Priority  

                                              

 

  completed 

  on track 

  some challenge 

  serious challenge 

  deferred to next financial year 

  not started 

High  Immediate and significant impact on 
compliance, health and safety or essential 
service delivery  

Medium  Significant impact on compliance, health and 
safety or essential service delivery     

Low  Should be done but can be postponed 

51



 

 2 
 

Compliance  

Actions  Responsibility  Priority Lead 
Officer  

Target 
Date 

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update RAG 
Status 

1. Complete the actions set out in the audit 
report of compliance for the Bournemouth 
Neighbourhood.   

Housing 
Compliance 
Operational 
Group 
 

High Beccy 
Brookwell  

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

2. Review property compliance policies, 
procedures and align across Bournemouth and 
Poole.       

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

High  Beccy 
Brookwell  

Sept 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

3. Review and align property compliance Key 
Performance Indicators and definitions  

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

High  Keith 
Meredith/
Simon 
Percival  

May 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

   

4. Ensure that actions are in place to meet 
requirements from the new Building Safety Act 
including an aligned resident’s engagement 
strategy 
 

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

High Keith 
Meredith/
Simon 
Percival 

June 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

5. To ensure compliance with the Fire Safety 
Act 2021 and share information with residents 
in the role that they play in emergencies.  
 

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

High Keith 
Meredith/
Simon 
Percival 

June 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

6. Implement performance measures to 
provide greater assurance that all homes to 
continue to meet the Decent Homes Standard. 
 

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

High Keith 
Meredith/
Simon 
Percival 

June 
2023 

Dynamic Places   

7. Ensure compliance against the Housing 
Ombudsman complaint handling code.  

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team  
 

High  Seamus 
Doran 

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

8. Ensure analysis of all complaints received to 
ensure that lessons are learnt. 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team  
 

High Seamus 
Doran 

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

9. Ensure that a reviewed rent setting policy is 
published and implemented.  

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team  
 

High Seamus 
Doran 

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

52



 

 3 
 

10. Improve the assurance around social and 
affordable rents charged to tenants.  

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team  
 

High Robert 
Chedzoy/
Laura 
Trent  

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

11. Prepare for and implement collection of 
data for tenant satisfaction measures from the 
Regulator of Social Housing 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

High Seamus 
Doran 

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

12. Undertake a gap analysis against the 
current Regulator of Social Housing consumer 
standards.    
      

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team  
 

Medium  Seamus 
Doran  

Dec 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

13. Understand the requirements for a health 
and safety lead as set out in the Social 
Housing Regulation Bill 

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 
 

High Keith 
Meredith/
Simon 
Percival 

August 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

 

Housing Delivery  

Actions  Responsibility  Priority Lead 
Officer  

Target 
Date 

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update  RAG  
Status  

1. Complete construction of 11 homes for rent 
at Wilkinson Drive, Townsend, Bournemouth. 
   

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium   Jonathan 
Thornton   

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

2. Recommence development at Templeman 
House, Leedham Road, Kinson to provide 27 
flats to Passivhaus standards.   
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium  Jonathan 
Thornton   

July 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

3. Re-engage procurement market at 
appropriate time to ensure progression of 
development at Princess Road site, 
Westbourne to provide 119 new homes for 
rent, shared ownership, private rent and a 20-
bed hostel. 
  

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Jonathan 
Thornton   

March 
2024 

Dynamic Places   

4. Complete construction at Cabbage Patch 
car park, St Stephens Road to provide 11 flats 
for rent built to Passivhaus standards. 
  

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Jonathan 
Thornton   

May 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

5. Progress development on Duck Lane, 
Bearcross to provide 12 flats for rent.  

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Jonathan 
Thornton   

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places   

53



 

 4 
 

 

6. Complete construction at Craven Court, 
Knyveton Road site to provide 24 flats built to 
Passivhus standards.  
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Jonathan 
Thornton   

Sept 
2024 

Dynamic Places   

7. Progress development on Godshill Close, 
Throop to provide 2 homes for rent. 
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Jonathan 
Thornton   

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places   

8. Complete construction of the temporary 
accommodation development at Herbert 
Avenue providing 24 flats  
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Trevor 
Roffe    

Sept 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

9. Complete the major works refurbishment of 
the Project Admiral tower blocks. 
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

High  Trevor 
Roffe    

Sept 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

10. Achieve planning permission for a 
selection of small sites across Poole. 
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Trevor 
Roffe    

Nov 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

11. Complete the 2-stage procurement 
process and enter into full D&B contract with 
the construction partner for the Hillbourne 
housing new build project. 
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Trevor 
Roffe    

August
2023 

Dynamic Places    

12. Complete the delivery of a new façade to 
the two high-rise blocks at Sterte Court 
 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

High Trevor 
Roffe    

June 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

13. Progress the development of the Egmont 
Rd site, Turlin Moor to provide 9 flats for rent 

Housing Delivery 
Team     

Medium Trevor 
Roffe    

March 
2024 

Dynamic Places    

14. Progress feasibilities on at least 7 sites for 
Extra care housing and more specialist homes 
for those less independent.     

Housing Delivery 
Team      

High  Nigel 
Ingram  

Dec 
2023  

Dynamic Places & 
Fulfilled Lives  

  

 

Asset Management  

Actions  Responsibility Priority Lead 
Officer 

Target 
Date 

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update  RAG 
Status  

1. Bring forward a new 30-year asset 
management plan to include how we carry out 
retrofitting as set out in a Sustainability 
Strategy for Council Housing.  
 

Sustainability in 
Council Housing 
Group  

Medium Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival  

March 
2024 

Dynamic Places    

54



 

 5 
 

2. Set out key issues within the new 30-year 
asset management plan that require further 
discussions and ensures that the 5-year plan 
is adequately funded, meets wider council 
objectives and supports national delivery 
targets. 
 

Strategic 
Business 
Partnering group 

Medium Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

March 
2024 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council  

  

3. Explore work to deliver net zero carbon 
emissions across the current stock by 2050 
and to eliminate the council’s carbon footprint 
by 2030, setting out timelines and options for 
consideration.  
 

Sustainability in 
Council Housing 
Group 

Medium Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

March 
2024 

Sustainable 
Environment  

  

4. To establish a 5-year rolling stock condition 
survey to support intelligence used within the 
30-year business plan. 
 

Asset 
Management 
Team   

Medium    Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places      

5. Review asset management policies, 
procedures and align across Bournemouth 
and Poole.     
  

Asset 
Management 
Team   

High  Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

Aug 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

6. Review and align asset management Key 
Performance Indicators and definitions  
 

Asset 
Management 
Team   

High  Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

May 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

7. To have performance measures in place to 
provide assurance that all homes meet the 
Decent Homes Standard.  
 

Asset 
Management 
Team   

Medium Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places     

8. Review other Key Performance Indicators 
to around delivery of a repairs service to 
ensure consistency.  
 

Asset 
Management 
Team   

Medium Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

9. To develop a consistent approach to 
tackling damp and mould issues and progress 
actions as set out in the Housing Ombudsman 
spotlight report on damp and mould.  
 

Asset 
Management 
Team   

High  Keith 
Meredith/ 
Simon 
Percival 

May 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

 

 

55



 

 6 
 

Housing Management   

Actions  Responsibility  Priority Lead 
Officer  

Target 
Date 

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update  RAG  
Status  

1. Deliver residents’ magazine in 2023/24. BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 
 

Low  Donna 
Stenner  

May 
2023 

Connected 
Communities  

   

2. Demonstrate support for community 
engagement projects that enable the Council 
to meet its strategic objectives and empower 
residents to contribute to their communities.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Low  Donna 
Stenner  

Dec 
2023 

Connected 
Communities  

  

3. To bring forward a range of choices for 
residents to be involved and have their say in 
how services are delivered. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium  Donna 
Stenner  

Dec 
2023 

Connected 
Communities  

  

4. To review the neighbourhood inspections 
programme to ensure that it is effective in 
maintaining areas as places people want to 
live in and that it informs investment and 
compliance. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium  Neil 
Armstead  

Dec 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

5. Ensure that standards are set for 
communal areas so that they can be enjoyed 
by residents and impact positively on their 
neighbourhood.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium  Neil 
Armstead 

Sept 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

6. To measure success and continue to 
support the Housing First programme 
providing accommodation for those requiring 
high levels of intensive support. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium Kieren 
Johnson  

Dec 
2023  

Connected 
Communities  

  

7. To work with colleagues across the 
Council to agree a tenancy sustainment 
approach. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 
 

High Kieren 
Johnson  

Aug 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

8. To set out approaches regarding the 
provision of suitable accommodation to 
support the Council’s wider approach to 
preventing homelessness.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 
 

Medium  Donna 
Stenner  

Dec 
2023  

Dynamic Places     

56



 

 7 
 

9. To agree how HRA resources can be used 
where appropriate to support the Councils 
homelessness strategy and housing strategy. 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 
 

Medium Seamus 
Doran 

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places   

10. To agree and align performance 
measures to ensure that tenants are 
supported to maintain their tenancies and 
evictions minimised to prevent homelessness 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium  Kieren 
Johnson  

Dec 
2023 

Dynamic Places    

11. To review ASB procedure and 
performance indicators taking into account 
spotlight report from Housing Ombudsman.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium   Dave 
Joicey  

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

12. Review the void management process 
including policies, procedures and align key 
performance indicators  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

High  Donna 
Stenner/ 
Neil 
Armstead  

Aug 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

13. Complete all actions as set out in the 
BCP Homes alignment action plan 
   

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 
 

High  Seamus 
Doran  

Mar 
2024 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

14. Review use of Flexible Fixed Term 
tenancies and renew the Tenancy 
Management Strategy.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

High Seamus 
Doran  

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

15. Maintain regular contact with registered 
providers within the BCP area to share 
issues and good practice regarding housing 
management issues. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Low  Seamus 
Doran  

May 
2023  

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

16. Identify a solution that meets the 
requirements of an emergency alarm system 
in sheltered accommodation. 
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium Kieren 
Johnson 

March 
24 

Connected 
Communities 

  

17. Set out a strategic plan for existing 
sheltered housing based on housing demand 
and asset information.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium Kieren 
Johnson 

March 
24 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

18. Develop a digital inclusion strategy 
across housing, incorporating support, 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team 

Medium Kieren 
Johnson 

March 
24 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

57



 

 8 
 

communications, compliance, and 
maintenance.  

 

Property Maintenance  

Actions  Responsibility  Priority Lead 
Officer  

Target 
Date 

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update  RAG 
Status  

1. Undertake benchmarking to challenge 
performance 

Property 
Maintenance Team  

Medium  Beccy 
Brookwell  

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council  

  

2. Monitor and report on repairs satisfaction 
in relation to repairs carried out by the In-
House team.  
 

 Property 
Maintenance Team   

High  Beccy 
Brookwell  

May 
2023 

Connected 
Communities  

  

3. Deliver a programme of emergency and 
communal lighting testing and maintenance 
through the In-House team in Bournemouth. 
 

Housing 
Compliance 
Strategy Group 

Medium  Beccy 
Brookwell  

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

    

 

 Value for Money  

Actions  Responsibility  Priority  Lead 
Officer  

Target 
Date  

BCP Corporate 
Strategy  

Progress Update  RAG 
Status  

1. To support the Council’s Transformation 
Programme to deliver organisational change 
and smarter structures ensuring that 
customers are better understood and better 
served. 
 

Housing 
Leadership Team  

Medium Ben 
Tomlin  

Mar 
2024  

Connected 
Communities  

  

2. Review recharges to the HRA from other 
services within the council.  

Finance Team  Medium  Michelle 
Matthews 

Mar 
2024 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

3. Ensure effective and regular review of the 
Housing Revenue Account.   

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team/Asset 
Management Team 
   

High  Seamus 
Doran 

May 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

4. Develop an efficiency strategy for the 
HRA.  

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team/Asset 
Management Team  

Medium  Seamus 
Doran  

Dec 
2023 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

58



 

 9 
 

5. Produce commentary around the 30-year 
business plan that sets out priorities for the 
HRA.  
 

BCP Homes 
Management 
Team/Asset 
Management Team  
 

Medium Seamus 
Doran 

March 
2024 

Modern Accessible 
and Accountable 
Council 

  

 

59



T
his page is intentionally left blank

60



 

CABINET 

 

Report subject  Mainstream Schools and Early Years Funding Formulae 
2023/24 

Meeting date  8 February 2023 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The council receives the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) to fund the separate early years and mainstream schools 
funding formulae. The contents of each formula are highly 
regulated by the Department for Education (DfE). Consultations 
have been undertaken with each sector, with the School’s Forum 
considering the outcomes on 16 January 2022 and making 
recommendations to the council. 

The early years formula (for ages 2, 3 and 4) funds private, 
voluntary, and independent settings with a small number of nursery 
classes in mainstream schools and academies. The DSG funding 
rates have increased by 5.2% overall for 2023/24.  

The mainstream schools formula (for reception to year 11) is 
applicable equally for maintained schools and academies. Funding 
for the for 2023/24 formula has increased by 2.4% from a 
combination of higher funding values, data changes and rising pupil 
numbers. There is an additional grant for mainstream schools with 
national allocation criteria worth a further 3.5%. There is surplus 
funding, estimated at only £0.185m, in the DSG schools block 
available to transfer to high needs. A higher level of transfer was 
proposed to the Schools Forum to be funded by capping the per 
pupil increases in school allocations, but this was not supported.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet supports and recommends 
to Council for approval:  

 1. The early years funding formula as set out in table 2 in 
paragraph 44 of this report 

2. The local mainstream formula is to adopt the national 
funding formula (NFF) unit values as set out in the 
appendix to this report.    

3. Surplus school block funding estimated at £0.185m is 
transferred to support the early years high needs 
budget in addition to the formula set out in this report.  

      

61

Agenda Item 7



Reason for 
recommendations 

Recommendation 1 balances the funding available for universal 
provision with amounts needed to provide for those with additional 
needs.     

Recommendations 2 and 3 balance the funding needs of schools 
with the need to reduce the annual high needs funding gap, 
recognising the limitations in achieving a higher level of funding 
transfer from mainstream schools funding.     

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mike White, Children and Young People  
Councillor Nicola Greene, Council Priorities and Delivery  

Corporate Director  Cathi Hadley, Director of Children’s Services    

Report Authors Nicola Webb, Assistant Chief Finance Officer 
nicola.webb@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  
Tanya Smith, Head of School Planning and Admissions  
tanya.smith@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. The DSG is allocated by the DfE through 4 separate funding blocks – early years, 
schools, high needs, and central school services with a total estimated for 2023/24 of 
£343 million provided in the settlement announced on 17 December 2022. This total 
includes the separate mainstream schools additional grant of £8.5m. The main driver of 
funding levels is pupil numbers.  

2. A summary of the schools settlement for 2023/24 is provided in table 1 below.  

Table 1: School Funding Settlement 2023/24 

DSG Funding  
2022-23 

Forecast 
2023-24 

Forecast 
Annual Change Reason for Change  

£000’s £000’s £000’s %  

Early Years  20,784 21,865 1,081 5.2% 
Increase in funding 

rates 

Schools *  245,073 259,573 14,500 5.9% 
Demographic/ 

funding growth  

Central Services   2,036 1,965 (71) (3.5%) 
Demographic growth 

/ funding reduction   

High Needs  54,010 59,240 5,230 9.7% 
Demographic/ 

funding growth  

Total  321,903 342,644 20,741 6.4%   

*The schools total includes the supplementary grant of £8.5 million.  

3. Each funding block has its own national funding formula (NFF) methodology to allocate 
funding to the local authority with the School and Early Years Finance Regulations 2023 
(England) imposing some restrictions in how funding can be allocated to early years 

62

mailto:nicola.webb@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:tanya.smith@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


providers and schools as well as detailing the central expenditure that can be charged to 
the grant within each block.  

Early Years Block 

4. The DSG early years block funding rates have increased by 5.2% for 2023/24. Funding is 
for a sector comprised of private, voluntary, and independent settings with a small 
number of nursery classes in mainstream schools and academies.  

5. Early years funding for 2023/24 has been estimated by the DfE based on the January 
2022 census with the prior year comparative in table 1 adopting the same approach as 
both years remain estimated. Funding is to be finalised in summer 2023 and 2024 for 
each year, respectively. Funding rates have increased for 2 year olds by (5%) per hour 
and for 3 and 4 year olds by (5.2%) per hour.  

6. Included within the DSG but outside the early years funding formula there are prescriptive 
amounts included in the total early years funding in table 1: 

a. early years pupil premium (EYPP) for eligible children with an estimated increase 
of 2.9%.  

b. disability access fund for one off payments to settings for eligible children with an 
increase estimated at 16.8%.  

Schools Block  

7. Funding through the schools block is for mainstream schools and finalised each year in 
the December settlement. The mainstream schools NFF in 2023/24 has increased from a 
combination of higher funding values and data changes (1.5%) and rising pupil numbers 
(1%). This funding is to be supplemented in 2023/24 by a separate grant, mainstream 
school additional grant (MSAG) with the funding increase for mainstream schools 5.9% 
overall.   

8. The July 2022 announcements for the mainstream schools NFF provided the details of 
the updated unit values in the national formula for 2023/24 and the limitations for 
variation in the local formula. This reflects the requirement for all local authorities to move 
their formula towards the NFF. Only limited movement away from the NFF is permitted 
for those, including BCP, that have already adopted the NFF as the local formula.  

9. The school level NFF allocations calculated by the DfE in July use census data from the 
previous year. These allocations are totalled and divided by pupil numbers to derive the 
primary and secondary school phase unit funding levels for 2023/24. These are then 
applied to the October 2022 census pupil numbers to determine the final schools NFF 
funding to the council in December. The separate funding allocation for agreed in-year 
pupil growth is also provided in December. 

Mainstream School Additional Grant (MSAG)  

10. The £8.5m MSAG will be rolled into the DSG from 2024/25. It is to fund additional cost 
pressures for schools from those foreseen at the time of the July 2022 DSG funding 
announcements. The allocation is indicative only, being calculated using preliminary data 
from the October 2022 census. The final data will be available in early 2023 and 
allocations will be confirmed in spring.   

11. The grant is payable only to public sector schools. This means that further education 
colleges, sixth form colleges, independent learning providers, as well as private and 
voluntary sector early years providers are not eligible to receive this funding.  

63



12. Schools have the flexibility to prioritise their spending to best support the needs of their 
pupils and staff and address cost pressures. 

13. The funding consists of three elements, which are based on factors already in the 
schools NFF – basic per pupil rate, lump sum and FMS6 (entitled to free school meals in 
at least one year in the previous six).  

14. There are no decisions for Schools Forum or Council regarding the supplementary grant.  

Central School Services Block 

15. The funding for the central school service block is reducing annually as BCP historic 
funding is protected through the transition to the lower national formula level. Schools 
Forum agreed the council budgets to be funded at the January 2023 meeting. 

High Needs Block     

16. High needs funding has increased by 9.7% for 2023/24 but the Regulations require much 
of this increase to be passed onto state-funded specialist providers.  

17. The high needs block funds the costs of meeting the needs of individual pupils through 
top up funding for those in mainstream schools and funding for pupils in special schools 
and other specialist providers. The pressures on this budget have been identified as a 
national issue following legislative changes in 2014 which significantly increased the 
number of pupils eligible for additional funding through education, health, and care plan 
(EHCP) assessments.    

18. The high needs funding gap has grown each year in BCP with the projection for 2022/23 
being a shortfall in funding of £16.3m. In 2023/24 the funding gap is estimated to 
increase to £27.1m if current trends continue. This is additional to the accumulated 
deficit brought forward of £20.3m at April 2022. Without further mitigating actions the 
total deficit at the end of the 2023/24 financial year is projected at £63.7m.   

19. Fundamental to reducing the funding gap is the need to create more local special school 
places as well as mainstream schools becoming more inclusive to avoid the need to 
place in more expensive specialist settings.  

20. Any transfer of funding from the school block to support high needs is for one year only 
so that the amount is not locked into the budget. It is limited within the regulations to 
0.5% of school block funding. Surplus funding has been reducing each year with 0.5% 
(£1.3m) no longer available due to the impact of school data changes between years.  

21. In 2022/23 the Schools Forum agreed the surplus schools block funding of £0.7m could 
be transferred but with £0.4m allocated to the early years formula with the balance 
allocated to high needs. In 2023/34 surplus schools block funding is only £0.2m (0.07%).   

 Schools Forum  

22. The School’s Forum is a statutory consultation body of the council with its constitution 
and operation regulated by the DfE and its meeting held in public. It has oversight of all 
DSG budgets with a range of decision-making powers.  

23. The forum includes representation from stakeholders across BCP. Members are drawn 
from the early years sector, each phase of school (primary, secondary, special, and 
alternative provision), each status (maintained and academy) plus an age 14-19 
provider. Lead officers and the Cabinet members for children’s services and resources 
can contribute at meetings but are non-voting members of the forum.  

64



24. The Regulations set out the responsibilities for decision-making between the Council and 
the Schools Forum, including any consultation requirements.  

25. The School Forum make recommendations, following consultations with each sector, 
regarding the early years and mainstream formulae with the decisions to be made by 
Council.  

26. The Schools Forum decides the level of central expenditure retained from each funding 
block, except for high needs, for which it has a consultation role only. The forum also 
decides if funding can be transferred away from the schools block up to a maximum of 
0.5%, with any higher level requiring the approval of the DfE.  

27. Schools Forum has been clear that all mainstream schools are to receive their full NFF 
allocations before any level of transfer to high needs can be considered. The DfE has  
also previously been clear that no transfer can take place above the 0.5% limit and have 
rarely agreed transfers not supported by the Schools Form. This means that any level of 
transfer is limited to the surplus available within the schools block and no more than 
0.5% of school block funding. 

28. Some softening of the current DfE approach has been signalled for 2024/25, recognising 
the significant part schools need to play in reducing the costs of supporting pupils with 
high needs. The DfE are undertaking the substantial delivering better value (DBV) 
programme involving collaboration with 55 local authorities. This will evidence the 
pressures in the SEND system and support the development of local action plans with 
the benefit of national experiences and approaches. The programme is still in the initial  
stages with BCP having received in December 2022 the draft outcome of the diagnostic 
tool from the first phase of work. The next stage will be the development of action plans, 
and this could include seeking DfE approval to reduce school allocations below that 
provided through the NFF as part of local DSG deficit management.     

29. The council could decide to transfer funding to high needs from early years or central 
school services, but this could not be at any scale and funding is fully committed 
between early years providers and council services.  

Early Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF) 

30. The council is required to operate an EYSFF for all providers. The formula is applicable 
for the 2, 3 and 4 year old free entitlement for education and childcare in pre-schools, 

day nurseries, independent schools, childminders, and in nursery classes within a small 
number of academies.  

31. The formula for 2-years-olds is a mandatory single base rate (eligibility is restricted to 
children from low income families). 

32. The formula for 3 and 4 year olds is to include a universal base rate for all providers, a 
mandatory deprivation supplement to differentiate funding, with other discretionary 
specific supplements permitted.  

33. There are additional allocations to providers for children with additional needs. The 
formula for 2022/23 provided for a significant increase in the special educational needs 
inclusion fund (SENIF) allocated to providers. As this reduced the amount of funding 
available to increase the base rate for universal provision, the Schools Forum agreed, as 
noted above, to transfer £0.4m from the schools block to limit the impact on providers. 
This will have reduced the increase in funding possible for providers in 2023/24 as any 
transfer of funding is for one year only.    

65



34. SENIF funding is not provided under the statutory framework for EHCPs. Any EHCPs for 
children in the early years age groups are funded by the high needs block following 
statutory processes and is in addition to the inclusion fund within the EYSFF.       

35. Despite the increase in the inclusion fund it is overspending by a further £0.3m in 
2022/23 with the budget needing further adjustment or the eligibility criteria changed in 
future.   

36. The principles of the formula were agreed through consultation in previous years, 
namely:   

 Minimise the amount retained centrally, maximising funding to providers.  

 Deprivation supplement to be at a sufficient level to improve outcomes for 
children with a background of deprivation.   

 Set a formula that enables providers to forecast funding levels and business plan 
(note this principle is aimed at minimising the use of supplements and using a 
measurement for deprivation with a high level of predictability).  

 Special educational needs & disability top up funding is provided for every hour of 
attendance at a level to support improvements in their outcomes.      

Consultation and Recommendation from the Schools Forum for 2023/24    

37. The options presented for consultation considered how the provisional increases in 
funding rates announced in July 2022 could be used and how the projected increased 
demand for SEN inclusion funding could be paid for based on the following: 

 Remove the need to increase the size of the SENIF, either by reducing funding 
rates or changing the criteria so that fewer hours are eligible for the supplement. This 
would allow any DSG hourly funding increase rate to be put into the provider base 
rate. 

 Reducing the deprivation funding rate to release sufficient funding to cover the 
increase of eligible hours expected in SENIF, again allowing any increase in the DSG 
hourly funding to be passed on to the provider base rate but allowing SENIF funding 
rates to be maintained. 

 Limiting the increase in the provider base rate by utilising some of the funding 
increase to cover the increase of eligible hours expected in SENIF whilst maintaining 
the current SENIF rates. 

38. Initial consultation took place with provider representatives in a sub-group of the 
School’s Forum to help shape the wider consultation with the sector. This group 
recommended the three options for consultation. 

Option 1: To reduce the Deprivation Supplement by 13p and remove Tier 1 SEN 

Inclusion Funding. Increase 2 year old funding paid to providers by 8p and increase 3 
and 4 year old funding by 11p. 

Option 2: To reduce the Deprivation Supplement by 20p and remove Tier 1 SEN 

Inclusion Funding. Increase 2 year old funding paid to providers by 8p and increase 3 
and 4 year old funding by 13p. 

Option 3: To Remove Tier 1 SEN Inclusion Funding. Increase 2 year old funding paid to 

providers by 8p and increase 3 and 4 year old funding by 8p. No reduction in the 
deprivation supplement.  

66



39. The Early Years Single Funding Formula consultation paper and online link for response 
was emailed to 301 childcare providers registered for early education funding within BCP 
on 14 November 2022 with responses by 9 December. Several reminders were issued, 
including an article in the Early Years and Childcare News bulletin. A total of 5 briefing 
events were held, 2 in-person on 21 November and 3 virtual briefings thereafter. Virtual 
briefings were extended to improve the engagement and response rate of childminders. 
Overall, 32% of the sector returned feedback on the consultation (96 responses of a total 
301).  

40. The consultation responses showed a clear preference for Option 2 - Reduce the 
Deprivation Supplement by 20p and remove Tier 1 SEN Inclusion Funding. This option 
acknowledges that providers continue to face significant funding pressures and that 
central government funding is considered insufficient by many operating across the 
sector. Therefore, it was recognised that there was not a perfect option. Nonetheless, 
the balance needs to be found between increasing the basic rate for all hours of 
provision and meeting the needs of vulnerable children.  

41. The final hourly rates were confirmed by government on the 16 December 2022 and are 
summarised as follows: 

 3 and 4-year-olds: funding rates to increase by 26p from £4.61 to £4.87 representing 
a one penny uplift from the indicative funding rates.  

 2-year-olds: funding rates to increase to increase by 28p from £5.60 to £5.88 
representing a £0.12 increase from the indicative funding rates in the consultation.  

42. During the consultation and in discussion with sub-group, it was agreed that any 
difference in the amounts from illustrative funding rates and final allocations would be 
split pro-rata across the funding formula. Given the increase to the 3 and 4 year olds rate 
was just 1 penny, this has been added to the base rate. Similarly, the 12 pence increase 
in the 2 year old funding rate has been added to the base rate as there are no other 
supplementary factors in the formula. 

43. The Schools Forum considered the outcome of the consultation at the 16 January 2023 

meeting and recommended that option 2 is implemented. It was also agreed that the 
estimated surplus school block funding is allocated to support early years high needs 

(see paragraph 57 below). These budget allocations will be outside the EYSFF to be 
agreed by Council.  

Proposed EYSFF 2023/24 for Council Decision (option 2)   

44. The table below shows the impact of adopting option 2 for 2023/24 compared with ESFF 
2022/23 funding levels.     

Table 2: Proposed EYSFF - Hourly Funding Rates 2023/24 

Children Aged 2:  

2023/23 

Funding 

Elements 

2023/24 

Allocation 
from 

Funded 
Rate * 

EYSFF 
Provider 

Rate 

Allocation 
from 

Funded 
Rate * 

EYSFF 
Provider Rate 
for approval 

Note 

£5.28 £5.28** Base Rate  £5.57 £5.57 Every child 

£0.16 £2.00 or £6.30 Inclusion Fund  £0.15 £6.30 Per eligible child 

£0.16  Central Functions  £0.16 
 

 

£5.60 DSG Funding Per Hour   £5.88   

   

67



Children Aged 3 and 4:  

2022/23 

Funding 
Elements 

2023/24 

Allocation 
from   

Funded 

Rate * 

EYSFF 
Provider 
Rate for 

approval 

Allocation 
from   

Funded 

Rate * 

EYSFF 

Provider Rate 
for approval 

Note 

£4.26 £4.26** Base Rate  £4.49 £4.49 Every child 

£0.13 £0.53 Deprivation  £0.08 £0.33 Per eligible child 

£0.20 £2.00 or £6.30 Inclusion Fund  £0.27 £6.30 Per eligible child 

£0.02   Central Functions  £0.03 

  

  

£4.61 DSG Funding Per Hour   £4.87   

*The shaded grey allocations from the DSG funding levels are shown for context.  

**Note that in 2023-23 the allocation from the surplus schools block funding equated to an 

additional ££0.09 to the base rates so providers are currently funded at £5.37 per hour for 

2 year olds and £4.35 for those aged 3&4.  

Deprivation eligibility is determined as follows: The supplement is added for those 

children that had formerly accessed 2 year old funding or those that are currently 
eligible for EYPP as a 3 or 4 year old. The supplement is added only to the funding 
rate of the entitled child.  

SEND inclusion is currently funded as follows: Providers are funded per hour for all 

early entitlement hours accessed, based on two levels of need which is determined 
by an early years area special education needs coordinator (SENCO) with currently 

band 1 at £2.00 and band 2 at £6.30. In 2023/24 band 1 is no longer to be used.  

Mainstream School Funding Formula 

45. The schools funding block of £251.1m provides for the mainstream school formula and 
the central growth fund that must be established for agreed in-year pupil growth from 
September 2023. Some pupil growth is provided to schools through the formula 
(circumstances set out in DfE guidance) and there is no expectation that the overall level 
of growth funding should match the related NFF allocation. The Schools Forum agreed 
the policy and resulting level of the growth fund for 2023/24 at the 16 January 2023 
meeting.  

46. After the level of the growth fund is agreed, the balance of funding is available for the 
mainstream formula and any transfer to high needs. A summary of the position is set out 
in table 3.  

Table 3: Schools Funding Allocations 2023/24   

Allocation of Funding  £000’s 

Schools funding allocation– table 1  259,573 

Less supplementary grant  (8,473) 

DSG schools block  251,100 

Growth fund agreed by Schools Forum   (467) 

Transfer to high needs agreed by Schools Forum (0.07%) (185) 

Total for individual school budgets using NFF  250,448 

68



47. The Schools NFF to provide funding for mainstream schools comprises factors as shown 
in Figure 1.  

  

 Note that the PFI factor and area cost adjustment are not applicable to BCP 

48. The detail of the NFF factors and funding values is included in Appendix 1.  

49. The local formula to pass funding on to mainstream schools must be designed to a DfE 
template, the authority pro-forma tool (APT). This must be approved by the DfE prior to 
budgets being notified to schools. The DfE ensure the budget calculations adhere to the 
regulations and any variations (dis-applications of the regulations) have the appropriate 
approvals from the Schools Forum and/or the DfE.  

50. The APT format is aligned to the NFF, but there are some differences in how the local 
formula must operate and the two cannot match exactly. A significant difference is the 
minimum funding guarantee (MFG) which is a mechanism in the local formula to protect 
schools from a significant reduction in per pupil funding compared with the previous year. 
The NFF uses this mechanism but instead compares to the previous year NFF rather 
than the local formula. There is also a possible capping mechanism to limit the 
percentage of per pupil funding gains in the local formula.  

51. The detail of the local formula has become increasingly regulated each year. In 2023/24, 
there remains only local discretion within defined limits in the unit value set for each 
formula factor. Most of the data used in the final local formula is supplied by the DfE in 
mid-December each year and there is no longer discretion in how it can be used.      

52. The impact of adopting the NFF as the local formula for 2023/24 to fund the 91 BCP 
mainstream schools is as follows:  

a) Minimum per pupil funding level (MPPFL) impacts on 33 schools (36%). Budgets 

are increased to the MPPFL where the NFF allocations otherwise would provide 
less funding than national mandatory minimum levels (typically for schools with high 

performing pupils from more affluent backgrounds). Continuing the trend from last 
year the MPPFL is increasing by only 0.5% with most formula factors increasing by 

between 2 and over 4.8%.          

b) Minimum funding guarantee (MFG) per pupil funding protection of an 

increase of 0.5% for 6 schools (6%) where the NFF provides less than a 0.5% 

69



increase from the previous year allocation (typically schools with higher levels of 
deprivation).   

c) The remaining 52 schools (last year only 32) are fully formula funded with 

changes in NFF allocations compared with 2022/23 driven by the uplift in most NFF 
formula factor unit values and data changes from the October 2022 school census.  

35. Surplus funding in the schools block has reduced from £1.3 million in 2021/22, £0.8 
million in 2022/23 to only £0.185 million in 2023/24. As the proportion of schools funded 
by the NFF (rather than through the fixed MPPFL or MFG) has been increasing, data 
movements between years have a greater impact on the level of funding provided to 
schools through the local formula. The DSG schools block allocation will not reflect 
these data changes until 2024/25 as it uses data lagged by one year to calculate the 
primary and secondary units of DSG funding.  

Consultation and Recommendation from the Schools Forum     

53. The consultation with schools was undertaken over 3 weeks, closing on 2 December 
2022. A consultation paper and link to the online survey were sent out to all schools by 
e-mail. A virtual consultation meeting was held on 24 November, aided by a 
presentation, which was well-attended by schools.   

54. Responses were received from all categories of schools (mainstream and special, 
academy and maintained) representing 46 schools (51%). Some multi academy trusts 
responded on behalf of all their schools in BCP with the response rate and data taking 
this into account. The two largest academy trusts with 23 schools between them account 
for half of all responses.  

55. Only 3 responses (but representing 24 schools) disagreed that surplus school block 
funding should be transferred to high needs up to the limit of 0.5%. Note that at the time 
of most responses, the £8.5 million MSAG funding announced in the Autumn Statement 
was unknown. Reasons for disagreeing include: 

a. It should be the responsibility of the government to support the local authorities in 
the recovery of the high needs block deficit and that these have arisen through no 
fault of the schools 

b. Schools are underfunded so no money should be moved out of the schools 
block. 

56. The Schools Forum meeting on 16 January 2023 received details of the DSG settlement 
in December, mainstream school budget calculations using the NFF as the local formula, 
alternatives to release funding through capping various levels of per pupil increases and 
feedback from the consultation with schools.  

57. The Schools Forum recommended that the local formula adopt the NFF in full and 
agreed that surplus school’s block funding, estimated at £0.185 million, could be 
transferred to support high needs in early years.    

2023/24 Proposed mainstream formula and transfer to high needs       

58. The mainstream formula for 2023/24 in the appendix for Council approval is equivalent 
to the NFF for all schools.      

59. The surplus school block funding estimated at £0.185m is to be transferred to support 
early years high needs rather than be available to reduce the annual funding gap.   

70



Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) for Maintained and Academy Specialist Providers   

60. The MFG for specialist providers in 2023/24 has been set by the regulations at a 3% 

uplift from the 2021/22 funding level. The DfE need to agree any disapplication of the 

regulations and the individual school must be consulted.  

61. In December 2022 supplementary funding of £2.4m was allocated to the high needs 

block of the DSG from the Autumn Spending Review (on top of £2.8m growth in 
funding from the high needs NFF to provide the £5.2m increase overall shown in table 

1). The regulations have stipulated how the supplementary funding is to be allocated 
to state-funded specialist providers, with any disapplication of the regulations for 

individual schools to be agreed by the DfE     

62. Consultation with specialist providers is underway and there are no decisions required 

of Council.       

Options Appraisal 

63. Options were considered in the consultation processes with the early years sector, 
schools, and Schools Forum.  

Summary of financial implications 

64. The early years and mainstream formulae are set within the funding envelope of the 
DSG and therefore have no impact on the general fund. 

65. The 0.07% transfer of funding from the schools block to high needs is the maximum 
affordable with all schools receiving their full NFF allocations and able to be agreed 
by the Schools Forum. However, as the amount is to be allocated for early years 
expenditure it is not available to reduce the high needs deficit. The impact of the 
growing accumulated DSG deficit is considered further in the Budget and Medium 
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2023/24 report on the agenda.  

66. A higher level of transfer from the school block up to the maximum permitted level of 
0.5% requires the approval of the DfE as it does not have the support of the Schools 
Forum. The DfE if approached would not be expected to override the decision of the 
Schools Forum.  

Summary of legal implications 

67. The consultations undertaken and the formulae recommendations are compliant with the 
School Funding Statutory Framework for 2023/24.   

68. Funding rates for early years in 2023/24 must be provided to the sector by 31 March 
2023.  

69. School budgets must be finalised and notified to maintained schools by 28 February 
2023 with the DfE timetable the same for academy budgets  

Summary of human resources implications 

70. There are no human resources implications for the council. Any implications from   
funding levels are for early years providers and schools.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

71. None.  

71



Summary of public health implications 

72. Should appropriate funding not be allocated to meet the needs of pupils with SEND 

within BCP, there may be health and well-being implications for this group of the 

population leading to reduced health equalities locally.  

Summary of equality implications 

73. An equalities impact assessment has not been undertaken. The DfE have 

undertaken equality impact assessments in determining the structure of the funding 
formulae and how funding is to be allocated. The local formulae are aligned with the 

national schemes.  

Summary of risk assessment 

74. There are no risks to the council from the implementation of the funding formula within 

the Regulations and published guidance. However, the main risk relates to the high 
needs funding gap in the longer term.  

Background papers 

Schools Funding Consultation Paper 2023/24  

http://ced-pri-cms-
02.ced.local/documents/s38914/Appendix%201%20School%20Fundng%20Consultation
%202023-24.pdf?$LO$=1 

Schools Forum Meeting – 16 January 2022 

http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5558/Public%20reports%20pack%2016th-
Jan-2023%2010.00%20Schools%20Forum.pdf?T=10 

Appendix   

National (and proposed local) mainstream schools funding formula 2023/24  

  

72

http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s38914/Appendix%201%20School%20Fundng%20Consultation%202023-24.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s38914/Appendix%201%20School%20Fundng%20Consultation%202023-24.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s38914/Appendix%201%20School%20Fundng%20Consultation%202023-24.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5558/Public%20reports%20pack%2016th-Jan-2023%2010.00%20Schools%20Forum.pdf?T=10
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5558/Public%20reports%20pack%2016th-Jan-2023%2010.00%20Schools%20Forum.pdf?T=10


   Appendix  

National and Proposed Local Mainstream School Funding Formula 2023/24  

Funding Factor 
22/23 
NFF 

23/24 
NFF Increase 

 
unit rate unit rate 

 Primary (Years R-6) £3,314 £3,394 2.4% 

Key Stage 3 (Years 7-9) £4,673 £4,785 2.4% 

Key Stage 4 (Years 10-11) £5,267 £5,393 2.4% 

Primary - FSM £470 £480 2.1% 

Primary - FSM6 £675 £705 4.4% 

Primary - IDACI Band F £220 £230 4.5% 

Primary - IDACI Band E £270 £280 3.7% 

Primary - IDACI Band D £420 £440 4.8% 

Primary - IDACI Band C £460 £480 4.3% 

Primary - IDACI Band B £490 £510 4.1% 

Primary - IDACI Band A £640 £670 4.7% 

Secondary – FSM £470 £480 2.1% 

Secondary - FSM6 £989 £1,030 4.1% 

Secondary - IDACI Band F £320 £335 4.7% 

Secondary - IDACI Band E £425 £445 4.7% 

Secondary - IDACI Band D £595 £620 4.2% 

Secondary - IDACI Band C £650 £680 4.6% 

Secondary - IDACI Band B £700 £730 4.3% 

Secondary - IDACI Band A £890 £930 4.5% 

Primary - EAL £565 £580 2.7% 

Secondary - EAL £1,530 £1,565 2.3% 

Primary - LPA £1,130 £1,155 2.2% 

Secondary - LPA £1,710 £1,750 2.3% 

Primary - Mobility £925 £945 2.2% 

Secondary - Mobility £1,330 £1,330 0.0% 

Lump Sum £124,980 £128,000 2.4% 

Primary MPPFL £4,384 £4,405 0.5% 

KS3 MPPFL £5,476 £5,503 0.5% 

KS4 MPPFL £6,004 £6,033 0.5% 

Business Rates    At cost At cost  

Joint use agreements * £111,460 £111,460  

Split sites * £230,288 £230,288  

MFG 2% 0.5%  

Cap on per pupil increase – local only N/A no cap  

*Exceptional premises and split sites factors are funded by the ESFA at historic levels 

outside the NFF for 2 schools (split site) and 2 different schools (joint use). Their use has 

previously been agreed by the ESFA based on evidence provided of additional costs of 

operating over a split site or from the provision of joint use with the community of sports 

facilities.  

 

73



This page is intentionally left blank

74



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 2023/24 

Meeting date  8 February 2023 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  To set out for Cabinet consideration and recommendation to 
Council the proposed 2023/24 budget and council tax based on.  

 Increasing Council Tax by 2.99% in 2023/24 in line with the 
government’s annual basic threshold. 

 Collecting the full additional 2% Adult Social Care (ASC) 
precept in 2023/24.  

 The implementation of £32.9m of savings and efficiencies from 
1 April 2023 onwards (List 1). 

 The implementation of £2.2m of additional savings and 
efficiencies from 1 July 2023 onwards (List 2).  

Recommendations Cabinet recommends that Council:  

 1) undertakes a recorded vote in relation to the following items as 
required by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendments) Regulations 2014. 

a) agrees that a net budget of £308.831m, resulting in a total 
council tax requirement of £243.797m, is set for 2023/24 based on 
the draft local government settlement figures published by 
government in December 2022. 

b) agrees an increase in council tax of 2.99% for 2023/24 in respect 
of the basic annual threshold and the collection of the additional 
social care precept of 2%. 

c) confirms the key assumptions and provisions made in the budget 
as proposed and set out in paragraph 48 to 65. 

d) approves the 2022/23 capital budget virement to accept the 
£18.2m Levelling Up Fund (Round 2) capital grant as set out in 
Appendix 5 

e) agrees the allocations to service areas in the budget as set out in 
Appendix 6. 

f) agrees the implementation of £32.9m of List 1 savings as set out 
at Appendix 6a from 1 April 2023. 

75

Agenda Item 8



g) agrees the implementation of £2.2m in annualised List 2 savings 
as set out at Appendix 6a from 1 July 2023. 

h) approves the continuation of the current Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme (LCTSS) into 2023/24 as set out in sections 64.  

i) continues the discretionary local scheme for war pensioners in 
which the Council disregards all prescribed War Disablement 
Pension or prescribed War Widow’s/War Widower’s Pensions 
income over and above the statutory limits for both Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Support. 

j) recognises that via the governments Council Tax Support Fund, 

and for 2023/24 only, LCTSS claimants’ bills will be reduced by up 
to £25.  

k) implements a control to strengthen commissioning, procurement, 
and contract management arrangements in support of the delivery 

third party spend transformation savings.  

l)  approves the flexible use of capital receipts efficiency strategy as 
set out in paragraphs 75 to 83. 

m) approves the capital investment programme (CIP) as set out in 
paragraphs 116 to 142 and Appendix 7.  

n) approves the capitalisation of £0.9m of highway neighbourhood 

expenditure each year for the period of the MTFP, funded from 
prudential borrowing. 

o) agrees capital investment of £5m in seafront infrastructure 

assets funded by borrowing supported by revisions to beach hut 

fees. 

p) agrees capital investment of £0.3m in the council’s IT & IS 

capital infrastructure investment plan as set out in Appendix 7c and 
as funded from borrowing. 

q) confirms the previously approved budget of £12.5 million for 
Roeshot Hill and Crescent Road to be repurposed and used under 
the CNHAS Programme. 

r) agrees the capitalisation of the council’s waste bin replacement 
strategy at £0.4 million per annum funded by borrowing. 

s) approves Cabinet’s recommendation 7 September 2022 to 
increase the acquisition programme 4a (street acquisitions) budget 
originally approved by Council in February 2022 from £47.9 million 
to £68.8 million. 

t) approves the asset management plan as set out as Appendix 8. 

u) agrees the treasury management strategy (TMS) and prudential 
indicators as set out in paragraphs 164 to 176 and Appendix 9.  

v) accepts and supports the formal advice of the chief finance 
officer on the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the 
reserves as set out in paragraphs 177 to 182 and Appendix 10. 

76



w) approves the chief officers’ pay policy statement for 
consideration and approval by the council in accordance with the 
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 as set out in paragraphs 184 to 
186 and Appendix 10. 

x) requests that the chief finance officer provides Council with a 
schedule setting out the rate of council tax for each category of 
dwelling further to councillor’s consideration of the decision 
required in respect of (1) above and after taking account of the 
precepts to be levied by the local police and fire authorities, 
neighbourhood, town and parish councils, and chartered trustees 
once these have been determined prior to the Council meeting on 
the 21 February 2023. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The council is required to set an annual balanced budget 
presenting how its financial resources, both income and 
expenditure, are to be allocated and utilised.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Drew Mellor – Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Transformation 

Report Authors Adam Richens 

Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance 

01202 123027  

adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

Graham Farrant 

Chief Executive 

01202 127976 

graham.farrant@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

Nicola Webb, Assistant Chief Finance Officer 

Matthew Filmer, Assistant Chief Finance Officer 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation 
Ti t l e:   

Overview of the proposed 2023/24 budget 

1. The 2023/24 budget as presented is one which moves the council onto a more 
sustainable financial footing by the following measures. 

a) In line with the government threshold increases council tax by 2.99% for the basic 
element and 2% for the social care precept. This does mean that across the 4-year 
period since BCP Council was formed the average increase in across the BCP area 
has been below that of a majority of upper tier authorities.  

77

mailto:adam.richens@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:graham.farrant@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


b) continues to work to ensure consistent standards of service and charges are delivered 
across the BCP area. 

c) invests £14.6m extra in the council’s highest priority area, children’s services 
(excluding council pay base changes). This takes the total cumulative annual increase 
in revenue spending on children’s services to £32.4m over the last three years. 

d) prioritises investment in services to the most vulnerable members of our community 
with an extra £25.5m allocated for adult services (excluding council pay base 
changes). 

e) has due regard to the ongoing cost of living crisis and ongoing economic uncertainty 
and the need to support the integrity of the council’s financial position and its future 
sustainability. This includes increasing the council unearmarked reserves by £1.934m 
in 2023/24 to ensure they are in line with the minimum 5% of Net Revenue Expenditure 
threshold recommended by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA). 

f) is based on the delivery of a further £34.5m in assumed 2023/24 service-based and 
transformation-based savings and efficiencies in addition to the £47.9m identified in 
support of the 2019/20, 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23 budgets, bringing the total 
budgeted service-based annual savings and efficiencies following local government 
review (LGR) to £82.4m. These savings have prevented some of the more severe cuts 
to services implemented by other local authorities over this period.  

g) continues the transformation of the council and our journey to create a vibrant new 
entity which re-imagines and creates a modern and efficient organisation.  

h) continues to protect and invest in vital frontline services as far as is possible. 

Background Detail 

2. In considering the development of the 2023/24 budget for BCP Council it will be within 
the context of having been formed in 2019 as the most complex piece of Local 
Government Reorganisation in a generation. It will be in the context of a unitary 
authority which is currently only in its fourth year of operation, with annual gross 
turnover of around £0.8 billion, and an annual net revenue budget which for 2022/23 
was £272m per annum. It is also critical that consideration is given to the ambition and 
purpose of the council as expressed through the Counc il’s Big Plan and the approved 
Corporate Strategy as well as the legacy impact on the organisation’s financial and 
non-financial resources of the global Covid-19 public health emergency and the 
ongoing cost of living crisis. 

3. Our Big Plan is our vision that the BCP region will be one of the best coastal places in 
the world in which to live, work, invest and play. This vision picks up many of the 
aspirational themes for the place from the original Local Government Reorganisation 
planning papers. 

4. Our Big Plan is supported by five major concepts which have been developed to deliver 
significant changes across our whole area over the next five to ten years. It is expected 
that these will support the creation of 13,000 jobs across all sectors of our economy, 
creating wealth for our businesses and livelihoods for our families. The five concepts 
are. 

 Investing in an iconic place. Demonstrating our pride through a positive and 

innovative image recognising the clean and green quality of both our urban and 
natural environments. 

78



 Investing in our seafront. Enhancing what is already recognised as amongst the 

cleanest and most beautiful region coasts in the world. 

 Rejuvenating Poole. Bringing a vibrant, attractive, and sustainable mix of 

residency, business, hospitality, retail, culture, and green spaces to the heart of 
Poole, the Quay, and the area between the two bridges. 

 Investing in our physical and digital infrastructure. Designed to ensure that 

BCP has the best connectivity in the country, whether through superfast broadband 
and digital connectivity or through land, air, and sea transport. 

 Aim to deliver more than 15,000 new homes. For all incomes and tenures, 

through both our own civic investment and by supporting and enabling developers 
to build homes with a mix of affordable and high-end apartments and houses. 

5. These reflect the scale of the council’s ambition for the area and enable the articulation 
of our vision with key regional and sub-regional partners and with government. These 
projects are underpinned by the work we will do to develop vibrant communities, to 
promote our culture and our leisure and entertainment offer, and to ensure the BCP 
city region becomes one of the best places in which children can live, learn, grow up 

and succeed. 

6. The Big Plan is further supported by the BCP Corporate Strategy which was adopted by 
the Council on 5 November 2020 and was updated in February 2022. The vision is to 
create “vibrant communities with outstanding quality of life where everyone plays an 
active role”.  The high-level strategy sets out five council priorities and a commitment to 
become a modern, accessible, and accountable council committed to providing 
effective community leadership. These priorities are: 

 Sustainable Environment - leading our communities towards a cleaner, sustainable future 

that preserves our outstanding environment for generations to come. 
 

 Dynamic Places - supporting an innovative, successful economy in a great place to live, 

learn, work and visit. 
 

 Connected Communities - empowering our communities so everyone feels safe, engaged, 

and included. 
 

 Brighter Futures - caring for our children and young people; providing a nurturing 

environment, high quality education and great opportunities to grow and flourish. 
 

 Fulfilled Lives - helping people lead active, healthy, and independent lives, adding years to 

life and life to years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79



Figure 1: BCP Corporate Strategy 

 

7. The Corporate Strategy is supported by an agreed set of core values and delivery plans 
which lay out how the council will achieve the priorities. 

8. In support of the Corporate Plan and Corporate Strategy the council has identified the 
policy and strategy documents required to ensure the vision and priorities of the council 
are clear and that they are achieved through robust practice which aligns with the 
council’s culture and behaviours. The ongoing process of policy harmonisation and 
creation has ensured 149 policy documents are in place across the Council and a 
further 18, as set out in Appendix 1 will be in place within the next 12 months. 

9. Despite the challenging financial environment faced by all (see Cost of living, below), 
the Council still made an impact on residents and businesses as it pursued its 
ambitions set out in the Big Plan and Corporate Strategy. Over the last year the Council 
used one-off investment into key areas to make local communities cleaner, greener and 
safer. This has had a really positive impact – from working with partners to reduce anti-
social behaviour by 11.3% between April and December 2022, to tackling fly-tipping 
and investing £1.69M in improving the summer experience on the seafront. Commercial 
seafront activities are forecast to generate over £6M in profit to support our budget and 
council services this year – more than ever before. The Council has also supported 
over 100 community groups and projects, and its ASPIRE project has helped residents 
make healthier lifestyle choices and find employment. The Council’s house-building 
programme has gone from a standing start to identify a pipeline of 1,400 potential new 
council homes, which will contribute towards a BCP-wide target of 15,000 we and our 
partners have committed to. 

80



10. Furthermore, due to the hard work of Cabinet and Officers, early work to mitigate the 
impacts of the inflationary related pressures this year have resulted in the Council 
avoiding the need for the widescale cuts to services and provisions which have been 
seen by many local authorities in the past six months. 

11. As with the 2021/22 and 2022/23 budgets, the 2023/24 budget needs to take account of 
the legacy impact of the world’s biggest public health emergency for a generation. 
Since March 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic has required urgent, ongoing, and decisive 
action to support our community and maintain the integrity of the council’s financial 
position and future sustainability. In addition, this budget needs to reflect on material 
changes to the council’s financial position caused by the impact of the cost-of-living 
crisis which has seen rapidly increasing inflation driven by the post pandemic economic 
environment, the war in Ukraine, and government’s fiscal policies. 

12. The 2022/23 budget as presented to Council in February 2022 was described as a 
bold, confident, and dynamic budget, which included several risks that were set out and 
assessed in detail in that year’s budget report.  

13. These included a commitment to bring forward a proposal to create a Special Purpose 
Vehicle (SPV) that would enable the commercialisation of the council’s beach hut 
assets and incidentally generate a capital receipt which could be used to fund the 
council’s transformation investment programme using the Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts (FUCR). This flexibility allows councils to fund revenue expenditure from 
capital receipts which can normally only be used to fund capital expenditure, and this 
plan would have replaced the need to fund these transformation costs via disposal of 
some of the Council’s assets. 

Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 

14. Following unseen representations made directly to DLUHC and both subsequent 
dialogue and correspondence with the Council, government confirmed on the 2 August 
2022 that they had changed the FUCR statutory guidance. These changes would not 
prevent the council from setting up a SPV to commercialise its beach hut assets but 
would prevent the use of any capital receipt generated from such an arrangement to 
fund the transformation investment programme. As part of the announcement the Rt 
Hon Greg Clark, Secretary of State for Levelling Up Housing & Communities, wrote to 
all Council Leaders. This correspondence emphasised that Government was carefully 
monitoring the sector and will strengthen the Prudential Capital Framework where they 
believe local taxpayers are being put at unacceptable risk. It also emphasised that 
councils should not be expending valuable time and resources on exploring novel 
practices and ways to circumvent the rules set by government and advised commercial 
firms and companies who design and encourage these schemes to pay close attention 
to the amended direction.  

15. In addition, the Secretary of State then wrote to firms offering council commercial 
advice to seek their help in not supporting councils to pursue strategies that engage in 
risky financial practices. 

16. Post the change in guidance to the FUCR the Council needed to consider other 
methods for funding the transformation programme. As such the proposals included. 

 Determining if the council had sufficient base revenue budgetary resources to cover 
its cost. 

 Working with DHLUC to consider methods that are compliant with the letter and spirit 
of the FUCR statutory guidance such as asset sales. 

81



 Exploring the option to apply under the governments Exceptional Finance Support 
(EFS) programme for a capitalisation direction. A capitalisation direction provides the 
ability to borrow to fund revenue expenditure which is normally disallowed by 
legislation and for the cost to be spread over a 20-year period. 

Request for a Capitalisation Direction 

17. Consequentially, an application to DLUHC for a capitalisation direction was submitted 
on 15 July 2022 to fund the following potential costs of the Council, which had arisen 
following the change in government guidance:  

Figure 2: July 2022 - Submitted Capitalisation Direction 

 

18. After an intensive period of detailed and extensive information exchange over the 
summer period on 2 September 2022 the council received a letter from Paul Scully MP, 
the then Minister of State at DLUHC. In response to our Exceptional Financial Support 
application, it offered a minded to, in principle, £20m capitalisation direction for 2022/23 
subject to the following conditions. 

 An external review of the council’s finances and governance arrangements to take 
place in the autumn of 2022. 

 The production of a plan for addressing its budget gap in 2023/24 and beyond by the 
end of September 2022. This plan should seek to use all the resources available to 
the council to close the budget gap, be fully within the spirit and intent of all local 
government guidance and aim to eliminate any amount of exceptional financial 
support required going forward. 

19. The letter also emphasised that no decision in respect of 2023/24 or 2024/25 
capitalisation directions will be made until after the above reviews have been completed 
and even then, not before the Local Government Finance Settlements for those years 
are known. The external reviews will also enable a final decision on any total amount of 
EFS for 2022/23 as well as any further conditions that may be imposed.  

20. The position of the DLUHC to the council’s budget setting process for 2023/24 is set out 
in a letter to the Council Leader from Lee Rowley MP Parliamentary Under-Secretary of 
State for Local Government and Building Safety, received on the 25 January 2023 
(Appendix 2). In this letter he encourages the council to consider its long-term 
sustainability, plan for a secure future and that if the budget were to include further 
commercial opportunities to procced with caution, ensuring it is fully compliant with 
statutory guidance and that the advice of the statutory officers is fully considered 
alongside advice from relevant bodies such as CIPFA. The letter ends by emphasising 
that it is a condition of the ESF support that the council’s budget must be fully within the 
spirit and intent of all local government guidance. 

22/23 23/24 24/25 Total

£m £m £m £m

Transformation Investment Programme 25.3 21.6 10.0 56.9

Children's services transformation programme (not budgeted) 2.0 5.0 5.0 12.0

Adult Services transformation programme (not budgeted) 2.0 5.0 5.0 12.0

Capital Receipts - already delivered (1.9) 0.0 0.0 (1.9)

Capital Receipts - scheduled and assumed deliverable (7.4) (3.7) (1.1) (12.2)

Net Position on the transformation programme 20.0 27.9 18.9 66.8

Pay and Reward project - Implementation cost 9.1 9.1

Capitalisation Direction 20.0 27.9 28.0 75.9

82



Cost of Living Crisis 

21. As referenced earlier another material change to the risk profile of the council’s budget 
is rapidly increasing inflation driven by the post pandemic economic environment, the 
war in Ukraine, and government fiscal policies. Cost of living inflationary pressures (with 
the consumer price index currently at 10.1%), have previously been estimated to be 
around £25m in 22/23 and £30m for 2023/24. Inflation has been increasing at its fast 
rate for 40 years. These pressures are similar to those consistently being reported by 
other local authorities nationally and they are creating high levels of financial planning 
uncertainty due constant changes and variations to the costs of goods, materials and 
services required to deliver council operations. 

22. To stress the point the latest indications are that inflation in 2022 will be 10.1% 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) and 13% as measured by the Retail Price Index (RPI). 
This compares to the 3.7% CPI forecast for 2022 assumed in the government’s 2021 
Autumn Budget. It should be borne in mind that a number of the council’s contracts 
have annual price adjustments linked to either CPI or RPI and the rate of inflation is 
normally a significant factor in discussions around any annual pay awards. Besides 
these the other area the council is particularly exposed to is in respect of rising energy 
costs, especially electricity (street lighting / leisure centres / owned building) and gas. 
To emphasise the volatility, the price of electricity and gas increased by 80% within a 
single 24-hour period during the period after February 2022. Clearly the resultant 
financial challenge is being felt by both our community, be those residents or 
businesses, and directly by the council with costs significantly above those assumed in 
the 2022/23 budget. 

23. Recognising the severity of the impact of the cost-of-living crisis early action was taken 
to manage its impact. This included a series of Budget Challenge meetings in April and 
May 2022 between the councillors who form the Cabinet and senior officers. These 
were established based on the expectation that Portfolio Holders and Service 
Managers would take all reasonable steps to manage within their delegated budgets 
with an overall expectation of collective responsibility across the council.  
 

Updated Financial Strategy 

24. Acknowledging the requirement to address the overall changes to the financial risk 
profile of the council Cabinet meet with Senior Officers and developed a revised 
financial strategy for 2023/24 which focuses on traditional local government financial 
management processes and revenue sources. This strategy was adopted by Cabinet at 
its meeting on 28 September 2022 with workstreams which can be summarised as. 

a) Financial Outturn 

The aim being to deliver a surplus in 2022/23 which can be used to create resources 
(via an earmarked reserve) which then can be drawn down in support of the 2023/24 
budget. 

b) Transformation Programme 

Review proposed expenditure to ensure it is absolutely necessary to deliver the key 
essential elements of the programme, costs associated with service enhancement 
are avoided, and processes are adopted to avoid or reduce redundancy costs. 

c) Non-Strategic Asset Disposals 

83



Establish a schedule of non-strategic assets disposals which can be used, via the 
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (FUCR) statutory guidance, to fund transformation 
costs as a potential alternative to the capitalisation direction. 

d) Accommodation Strategy 

Fundamental review of buildings occupied by BCP Council with a view to further 
consolidating the staff in the civic centre and considering future options for owned 
buildings or passing back leasehold properties as soon as practical. 

e) Commercial Opportunities 

In line with the approved recommendation of Cabinet on 7 September 2022, explore 
options across the council to deliver revenue through further commercialisation. 

f) Staff Cost Base 

Consider several proposals designed to reduce the employee cost basis of the 
authority either temporary or permanently, including. 

 Increasing the percentage of the employee establishment not budgeted (vacancy 
drag) for 2023/24 from 2% to 5%. 

 Determine extent to which vacant posts can be held or permanently removed. 

 Limit the use of agency employees to essential cover only. 

 Bring forward at pace a council wide apprenticeship programme. 

It should be noted that any savings in staff or third party spend will, in the first 
instance, be considered as part of the programmed transformation savings which is 
focused on reducing the head count of the authority and reducing the amount spent 
externally. 

g) An Enabling Council – Strength Based Approach 

Consider the extent to which the community would be better placed to manage 
council assets and the services delivered within them through volunteers and other 
sources of funding. 

h) Invest to Save  

Consider robust self-financing business cases that use the council’s ability to borrow 
to invest in capital infrastructure which additionally will drive down operational costs 
or avoid demand pressures.  

i) Harmonisation of Services 

The Council has ambitions to harmonise all services across the conurbation 
following on from Local Government Reorganisation. Good progress has been 
made. The proposal now is to review all outstanding areas of harmonisation with an 
intent to eliminate as many areas of difference as possible, within the budget 
parameters 

j) Integrated Care System 

Advance ongoing discussions with the representatives of the new Integrated Care 
System (who represent the delivery of National Health Services across Dorset) with 
a view to determining how the two organisations can more effectively work together 
with a view to driving down the overall costs of the system. 

k) Review of Earmarked Reserves and Company/Third Party Balances 

84



Annual review of earmarked reserves to ensure funds are not being tied up 
unnecessarily and where appropriate are being released to support the proposed 
budgets of the council.  

l) Capitalisation – Recharges 

Further review of any costs currently charged to revenue which in line with the Local 
Authority Accounting Code of Practice can legitimately be charged to capital. 
Similarly, consideration should be undertaken to ensure robust arrangements are in 
place regarding costs apportioned/charged against government grants and the 
housing revenue account. 

m) Review of the Council’s Collection Funds 

A fundamental and detailed review of the collection funds, both Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as the position starts to stabilise in a post pandemic environment. 
 

n) Influence and Lobbying 

This includes requesting government support the council in managing the financial 
consequences of the cost-of living crisis as well as changing legislation or allowing 
local authorities to increase appropriate statutorily set fees (such as penalty charge 
notices for car park enforcement), or where the fee does not cover the cost of the 
service provided, and charges in reflection of previous and future forecast rates of 
inflation. 

o) Service Rationalisations 

Consideration of services that the local authority is not required to provide and any 
expenditure on services that it is required to provide which is above the statutory 
minimum 

25. In addition, and in support of the revised financial strategy Cabinet agreed to place an 
update on the financial strategy as a standing item on its agenda. They also agreed that 
no new financial commitments will be made until such time as there is a balanced 
budget for 2023/24 other than with the specific agreement of the Chief Finance Officer 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance. The reports have been provided to 
all meetings of the Cabinet other than the January meeting when the settlement figures 
were being worked on in preparation for this report. The expenditure controls have 
been maintained which has had a demonstrable positive impact on the availability of 
resources for next year as set out in the proposed budget. 

26. This process and associated work enabled the council to respond to DLUHC and 
provide the detailed plan for addressing the 2023/23 budget. This position was set out 
in the October financial strategy update report to Cabinet. 

Public Engagement 

27. In support of the process for setting a budget for 2023/24 the Council undertook an 
extensive budget engagement exercise asking residents and stakeholders to tell us 
what council services are most important to them and to share their ideas as to how we 
can work together to continue to provide services. The online survey 
haveyoursay.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/budget was open between the 14 November 2022 and 
23 December 2022 with paper copies also available in libraries. The engagement was 
promoted widely through a variety of channels including local media coverage, the 
council’s social media channels, community and resident group Facebook pages and 
the council’s e-newsletter. We held 3 drop-in events in Bournemouth, Christchurch and 

85

file://///artemis/%23ARTEMIS/Finance/Team%20Data/Accountancy/Accountancy%20General/Accountancy/BCP%202023-24/Februray%202023%20-%20Budget%20Report%20for%202023-24/haveyoursay.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/budget


Poole which included handing out postcards promoting the engagement in each of the 
town centres. All council colleagues were encouraged to share the engagement with 
their networks.  

28. The outcome of this consultation was 1,473 responses to the survey with 249 ideas 
submitted to the ideas wall and 112 associated comments. A full analysis is presented 
as appendix 3 to this report 

Autumn Statement 

29. On 17 November 2022, the Chancellor of the Exchequer delivered his Autumn 
Statement, alongside the Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR’s) new set of 
economic and fiscal outlook forecasts. The Autumn Statement responded to the OBR 
forecasts and set out the medium-term path for public finances nationally. This follows 
the previous Chancellor’s Growth Plan announcements in late September 2022, the 
majority of which were subsequently rolled back, with the notable exception that the 
Health and Social Care Levy which has been, and remains, cancelled. As part of the 
statement the Chancellor set two new fiscal policy rules. 

 Public sector net debt (excluding the Bank of England) needs to be falling as a 
percentage of GDP by the fifth year of the rolling forecast; and 
 

 Public sector net borrowing (the deficit) needs to be below 3% of GDP by the fifth 
year of the rolling forecast. 

30. To meet both of those rules, the Autumn Statement delivered public finance measures 
related to tax and spending worth £55bn by 2027/28. Of this, around £30bn is related to 
spending policy decisions and £24bn through tax policy decisions. Most of the 
decisions on spending will make an impact after this Spending Review period (with 
extra spending committed in this Spending Review period) and the extra tax revenues 
phased in gradually over the forecast period. 

31. Specifically, in respect of issues salient to local government, the Autumn Statement 
made the following announcements 

a) Local authorities have been given additional flexibility in setting council tax for both 
2023/24 and 2024/25, by increasing the referendum limit for increases in council tax 
to 3% per year. In addition, local authorities with social care responsibilities will be 
able to increase the adult social care precept by up to 2% per year. The previous 
policy, set at the 2021 Spending Review, was for a general limit of 2%, with an extra 
1% for adult social care. 
 

b) Government will limit the increases in social rents in 2023/24. Under current rules, 
rents could have risen by up to 11.1% as they tracked inflation, but now they will only 
be able to rise by a maximum of 7%. This reduction will impact on spending power 
on the council’s housing stock as maintenance and construction prices have 
continued to rise quickly. 
 

c) Following the recommendations of the independent Low Pay Commission (LPC), the 
National Living Wage (NLW) for individuals aged 23 and over will be increased by 
9.7% to £10.42 an hour from 1 April 2023. This will impact on the cost of many of the 
councils externally procured contracts most notably those associated with the 
provision of care services. 
 

d) The national rollout of social care charging reforms has been delayed from October 
2023 to October 2025. The funding has been retained in local authority budgets to 
meet current pressures as set out below. 

86



 

e) Additional social care grant funding. 
 

 £1.3 billion in 2023/24 and £1.9 billion in 2024/25 will be distributed to local 
authorities through the Social Care Grant for adult and children’s social care. 
 

 £600 million will be distributed in 2023/24 and £1 billion in 2024/25 through the 
Better Care Fund, with the intention of getting people out of hospital on time into 
care settings and freeing up NHS beds. 
 

 £400 million in 2023/24 and £680 million in 2024/25 will be distributed through a 
grant ringfenced for adult social care which is also intended to help to support 
hospital discharge. 

 

f) A further year-long extension to the Household Support Fund. 
 

g) From 1 April 2023, a revaluation will update rateable values for business rates with a 
£13.6m support package put in place to protect ratepayers facing increases 
including. 
 

 The business rates multipliers for 2023/24, will be frozen. 
 

 A new Transitional Relief scheme limiting the rate at which bills can increase 
due to the revaluation. 

 

 A more generous Retail, Hospitality and Leisure relief for eligible properties in 
2023/24. 

 

 A Supporting Small Business scheme to cap bill increases for businesses that 
lose other relief due to the revaluation. 
 

 The Autumn Statement commits to protect Local Authorities for any loss of 
income from these business rate measures, and Local Authorities will receive 
new burdens funding for any additional administrative and IT costs. 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2023/24 

32. On 19 December 2022, the Secretary of State for the DLUHC, Rt. Hon. Michael Gove 
MP, announced the 2023/24 provisional local government finance settlement. This was 
preceded on the 12 December 2022 by a local government finance policy statement 
which set out some detailed assumptions in advance of the settlement. For BCP this 
policy statement included notification that government will be extending for another 3-
years to 31 March 2026 the statutory override which allows the council to ignore, for the 
purposes of determining its solvency, the accumulating deficit of the dedicated school’s 
grant. This policy statement also confirmed that the review of relative needs and 
resources (‘Fair Funding Review’) and a reset of business rates growth will not be 
implemented in the next two years. 

33. It regards to the provisional settlement, it confirmed that the next two years will 
essentially be two rollover settlements based on the overall funding envelope set out in 
the Autumn Statement. It provided provisional figures for 2023/24 and principles for 
2024/25. Key elements of the settlement not previously included in either the Autumn 
Statement or policy statement include: 

 A new grant has been created to ensure every authority has an increase in Core 
Spending Power (CSP) of at least 3%. This guarantee will be funded from the 
removal of the previous Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG) and the reduced cost of 
the New Homes Bonus. 
 

87



 Three grants have been rolled into the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) calculation 
namely the Local Council Tax Support Administration grant (£469k), the Family 
Annex Council Tax Discount Grant (£43k), and the Food Safety Enforcement grant. 
As such this will mean these grants are not protected in the way they were as 
specific grants.  
 

 A further grant, the Independent Living Fund (£937k) has been rolled into the Social 
Care Grant. 
 

 Confirmation that it was the fifth consecutive one-year financial settlement. 

34. Figure 3 below sets out the impact of the provisional 2023/24 local government finance 
settlement as it pertains to BCP Council. 

Figure 3: Provisional LG 2023/24 Finance Settlement - Unringfenced grants 

 2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

Change 
£m 

Business Rates 56.8 58.9 +2.1 

Unringfenced Grants 

Revenue Support Grant 3.1 3.9 +0.8 

LSCT Administration Grant 0.5 0.0 -0.5 

Service Grant 3.8 2.1 -1.7 

Lower Tier Services Grant 0.5 0.0 -0.5 

New Homes Bonus 1.0 0.3 -0.7 

Specific Grants 

Social Care Grant 15.3 25.5 +10.2 

Independent Living Fund 0.9 0.0 -0.9 

Improved Better Care Fund 13.4 13.4 0.0 

 95.3 104.1 +8.8 

 

35. It should be highlight in addition to the above un-ringfenced grants the council will also 
receive. 

 £4.1m Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund 

 £1.9m Adult Social Care Discharge Fund 

The expectation is that each of these will be matched by equivalent expenditure, with 
the ASC Discharge Fund expected to form part of the Better Care Fund plans with the 
NHS. 

2022/23 In-year – Quarter 3 - Budget Monitoring Position 

36. The December projection for the 2022/23 revenue budget outturn is a forecast surplus 
of £10.1m overall. There is an overspend within services offset by a central budget 
surplus.  

37. This position demonstrates the positive impact that expenditure controls implemented 
by Cabinet as part of a Finance Update report to its 29 September 2022 meeting, are 
forecast to have on the budget outturn. These controls have been implemented as part 

88



of the endorsed financial strategy (further details of which were set out in section 22 of 
this report), and which focuses on traditional financial management processes to 
enable the council to set a balanced budget for 2023/24 and beyond. It is possible that 
this outturn position will continue to improve as these expenditure controls continue to 
bear down on service expenditure and as officers continue to reduce costs. 

38. The intent is to lift this expenditure control once Council agrees the budget for 2023/24 
on 21 February 2023. That said, services will need to be mindful of the underspend and 
savings commitments made by way of contributions towards the 2022/23 forecast 
outturn therefore spend arrangements are not expected to return to standard operating 
expenditure levels until the new 2023/24 financial year. Even then it is suggested that a 
Corporate Management Team and Portfolio Holder process is put in place to consider if 
stopped activity is indeed required rather than it being automatically restarted. Such a 
process would also help the delivery of the transformation 3rd party spend savings 
through more robust procurement and contract management arrangements. 

39. To that effect, and as set out later in this report at section 72, to mitigate the inclusion in 
the 2023/24 budget of un-itemised third party spend savings this report includes a 
recommendation to put in place of a control on third party spend. 
 

40. Full details of the December 2022 forecast outturn for the year are set out in Appendix 
5 and Appendices 5a to 5d. 

 
2023/24 Proposed Budget 

 

41. The budget for 2023/24 and the MTFP should be seen in the context of a rolling, 
evolving process structured to enable the ongoing proactive management and 
prioritisation of the council’s resources and as such the Leader of the Council has been 
clear that work will remain ongoing in relation to efforts to materially improve this budget 
position for the remainder of this financial year. 

42. As a relatively new council, setting the budgets in the first four years has been a 
challenge due to the lack of complete historic data and trend information for the council 
as a single entity. There will also be ongoing uncertainty around any information that is 
available due to the impact and long-term consequences of Covid-19 alongside that 
caused by the cost-of-living crisis. 

43. The key dates in the 2023/24 budget setting process can be set out as follows. 
 

22 June 2022 Cabinet (MTFP update, financial strategy, 21/22 financial outturn) 
 

7 September 2022 Cabinet (Finance Update including Quarter 1 22/23 budget monitoring) 
 

28 September 2022 Cabinet (Finance Strategy Update report) 
 

26 October 2022 Cabinet (Finance Strategy Update report) 
 

23 November 2022 Cabinet (Finance Strategy Update report) 
 

7 December 2022 Budget Café (all councillor presentations) 
  

14 December 2022 Cabinet (Finance Update including Quarter 2 2022/23 budget monitoring) 
 

23 December 2022 Budget Engagement Exercise closes 
  

11 January 2023        Cabinet (Council Tax – 2022/23 tax-base report) 
 

12 January 2023 Audit & Governance (Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24) 
 

89



18 January 2023 Budget Café 2 (all councillor presentation) 
 

3 February 2023 Presentation to representatives from Commerce & Industry 
  

8 February 2023 Cabinet (2023/24 Budget, MTFP update, Quarter 3 22/23 budget 
monitoring) 

  

21 February 2023       Council (2023/24 Budget & MTFP update report) 
 

44. Figure 4 below sets out the budget for 2023/24 and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) to 2027. As a reminder to councillors, the following table sets out changes in 
the revenue budgets, on an annual basis, either positive numbers which represent 
additional costs to be met, or negative numbers which represent forecast cost 
reductions or additional income. The variances are shown in the year in which they are 
expected to be first seen and are then assumed to recur on an ongoing basis in each of 
the following years. One-off changes will be seen as an entry in one year and will then 
being reversed out in a following year. For example, it is currently assumed to use 
£10.1m from the forecast outturn for 2022/23 in support of the 2023/24 budget. 

45. Key features of the 2023/24 budget as presented include. 

 £25.5m investment in adult social care services (excluding pay, pensions, and national 
insurance uplifts). 

 

 £14.6m investment in children’s services (excluding pay, pensions, and national insurance 
uplifts). 

 

 4.25% assumed pay award for 2023/24 based on a survey undertaken by the Chief Financial 
Officer with other upper tier treasurers. 
 

 £32.9m of list one savings with an implementation date 1 April 2023 and £2.592m of list two 
savings which will be implemented on the 1 July 2023. 

 

 4.99% increase in council tax for 2023/24 made up off 2.99% for the basic amount and 2% 
for the social care precept. The financial planning assumption for future years will be 4.99% 
in 2024/25 and 2.99% annually thereafter. Increases in the council’s council tax base. 
 

 Provision for the social care grants announced by government as part of the November 2022 
Autumn Statement and as set out in detail as part of the provisional local government finance 
settlement for 2023/24.  
 

 Utilising the £10.1m forecast financial outturn for the current 2022/23 financial year which will 
be carried forward via an earmarked reserve. 
 

 Utilising £5.3m in reprovisioned earmarked reserves to support the 2023/24 budget. 
 

 Utilising the £14.2m cost of living mitigation resources set aside based on the 2021/22 
financial outturn to support the 2023/24 budget. These will be carried forward via an 
earmarked reserve. 

 

 Investment of an addition £1.234m on a one-off bases into unearmarked reserves to move 
the councils unearmarked reserves to the 5% of net revenue expenditure threshold often 
used as a barometer of good practice. 

  

90



Figure 4: 4-year Medium Term Financial Plan 2023 to 2027 
 

 

Adjustments to the cost of services 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Adult social care and public health 25.4 15.0 8.1 8.7 57.2

Adult social care reforms 0.0 0.0 5.8 10.2 16.0

Children’s services 14.6 8.4 9.0 9.6 41.6

Operations 8.2 3.4 1.8 1.1 14.4

Reversal of securitisation of income stream proposal (3.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (3.7)

Resource services 1.6 1.4 0.5 0.5 4.0

Staff costs being charged to transformation prior 25/26 3.5 0.0 3.2 0.0 6.7

Capitalisation direction 22/23 cost of capital & interest repayments 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2

Transformation base revenue budget costs 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1

Transformation redundancy costs that cannot be charged against FUCR 2.1 (1.9) (0.1) 0.0 0.1

Corporate priorities one-offs for 2022/23 (9.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (9.7)

Pay related costs 10.6 7.8 3.7 3.6 25.7

Pay and grading project 1.0 1.1 (1.0) 1.9 3.0

Debt and capital adjustments 0.2 0.4 (0.3) (0.1) 0.2

Treasury Management & Investment income adjusted disposals (1.5) 1.3 (0.1) 0.0 (0.3)

Total adjustments in respect of cost of services 53.6 36.9 30.6 35.5 156.5

Adjustments in respect of resource levels

Council tax – revenue - 5% 23/24 & 24/25, 2.99% per annum thereafter (11.3) (12.0) (7.7) (8.0) (39.0)

Council tax - taxbase (3.4) (1.4) (1.2) (1.3) (7.3)

Council tax - single person discount (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2)

Council tax - second homes 100% premium 0.0 0.0 (5.3) 0.0 (5.3)

Council tax - empty homes premium after 1st rather than 2nd year 0.0 0.0 (0.9) 0.0 (0.9)

Business Rates (2.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (2.3)

Collection fund – (surplus) / deficit distribution net of S31 grant 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9

Government core grant funding changes 2.0 0.0 2.5 0.0 4.5

Assumed social care reforms funding 0.0 0.0 (5.8) (10.2) (16.0)

Assumed additional social care grant funding (14.5) (8.0) (2.7) (2.7) (27.9)

Reserve Funding - One-off funding supporting 2022/23 budget 36.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 36.1

Reserve Funding - Removal of COMF contribution 2022/23 priorities 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0

Reserve Funding - Improved outturn 2021/22 to support 23/24 budget (14.2) 14.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reserve Funding - Redirect earmarked reserve to support 23/24 budget (5.3) 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reserve Funding - Assumed surplus 2022/23 to support 23/24 budget (10.1) 10.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reserve Funding - Contribution to unearmarked reserves 1.2 (1.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total previously assumed adjustments in resource levels (19.1) 7.0 (21.1) (22.2) (55.4)

Assumed additional savings, and efficiencies

Unitemised Transformation savings (9.0) (15.9) 0.0 0.0 (24.9)

Scheduled service based savings (include. Adults, Children's, Transformation) (25.5) (7.5) (2.6) (2.6) (38.1)

Roundings (0.1) 0.1 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Unidentified Adult Social Care savings (2.99% growth restriction) 0.0 (1.5) (3.1) (3.5) (8.1)

Unidentified Children's savings (2.99% growth restriction) 0.0 (4.5) (6.5) (7.0) (18.0)

Total assumed annual extra savings and efficiencies (34.6) (29.3) (12.3) (13.0) (89.2)

Annual – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 14.7 (2.8) 0.2 12.0

Cumulative MTFP – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 14.6 11.9 12.0

91



46. Key changes from the position as set out in the 14 December 2022/23 Budget 
Monitoring and Financial Strategy Update report to Cabinet can be articulated as 
follows. 

a) Implications of the provisional 2023/24 local government finance settlement. 

b) Refinement of several detailed items with the latest available information and the 
ongoing assessment to evaluate the robustness of the budget 

c) Reprofile of various savings proposals between 2023/34 and 2024/25 

d) Remove some (previously referred to as below the line) savings proposals 
completely from the MTFP 

47. Based on the assumptions within the MTFP, the Council will need to identify a further 
£14.9m of ongoing revenue savings to balance the 2024/25 budget. This is in addition 
to delivering. 

i. £23.1m of additional annual savings including £15.9m currently un-itemised but 
committed to as part of the corporate transformation investment programme 

ii. £4.5m of currently unidentified savings in Children’s services which it is assumed 
will flow from their service specific transformation programme 

iii. £1.5m of currently unidentified savings in Adult Social Care which it is assumed will 
flow from their service specific transformation programme 

Additional investment into services 

48. Adult Social Care – Service Pressures £25.5m (21% increase over 2022/23 budget 
excluding pay related costs) 

 

The MTFP makes provision for an additional gross £57.2m investment in adult social care 
services over the 4-year period to March 2027. This pressure is a combination of: 
 

1) Assumptions around inflationary pressures within the care market. These pressures 
relate mainly to increases for providers in staffing costs where a significant driver is the 
consequential impact of increases in the National Living Wage (NLW).  
 

2) Demographic growth within the learning disability and mental health client group. 
 

3) Growth in demand for complex, costly care packages for people with long-term 
conditions including those to support the NHS urgent and emergency care system as well 
as preventing delayed discharges from hospital. 
 

4) Loss of rental income from a care home closure (part year). 
 

5) Termination of one-off use of the Disabled Facilities Grant carried forward from previous 
years to support community equipment. 

 

6) Cost of care pressures following government direction to work towards paying a fair cost 
of care. The additional investment matches the additional social care money allocated to 
BCP Council but is below what is being demanded by providers. 
 

7) Ongoing pressures resulting from increased activity because of the hospital flow 
approach to timely and safe discharge for those who no longer need to stay, also 
influenced by supply shortage in the home care market and higher use of residential care. 
The time-limited extra investment only goes as far as the additional social care money 
allocated to BCP Council. 

 

92



The National Living Wage has been confirmed at £10.42 per hour from April 2023. This is 
10p higher than the previous estimate from the Local Government Association (LGA) 
issued in June 2022. 

The NLW remains a key driver for the cost of care services affecting 70% of the cost of 
providing personal care, therefore, it has been factored into the cost pressures increasing 
9.7% from April 2023 and 5.5% from April 2024 increasing to £10.99 per hour (the LGA 
latest forecast is within a range of £10.82 - £11.35), then 2% for the remainder of the MTFP 
period. 

The remaining 30% of the cost of providing personal care is driven by other inflationary cost 
of living factors. 

It should also be noted that a Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill has replaced the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) with a scheme known as the Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) which was expected to commence in April 2022. These arrangements 
describe the procedures necessary to deprive people of their liberty because of lack of 
capacity to consent to their care arrangements. The implementation of the new scheme has 
been postponed again and further announcements are awaited. The council will commit 
spending on this activity up to any amount funded by the government. 

 
49. Adult Social Care Charging Reforms – A service pressure of £16m in 2025/26 and 

2026/27 matched by income 

 

The Government has listened to the concerns of local government and has taken the 
difficult decision to delay the planned adult social care charging reforms from October 2023 
to October 2025. The funding will be retained in local authority budgets to help meet current 
pressures as set out in this report.   

The government remains committed to delivering the adult social care charging reforms 
and supporting people drawing on care and support, therefore the MTFP reflects an 
assumption that £5.8m estimated pressures in 2025/26 and further £10.2m in 2026/27 will 
be fully funded from additional money. 

The delay will give local authorities additional time to prepare for the rollout of these 
reforms and provide additional funding to help with immediate pressures. 

The delay covers the implementation of the extended means test, the lifetime cap on 
personal care costs and the extension of Section 18(3) to enable self-funders in residential 
care to access local authority contracting arrangements. 

50. Children’s Services – Service Pressures £14.6m (20% increase over 2022/23 
budget) 

The MTFP makes provision for an additional gross £41.6m investment in children’s 
services over the 4-year period to March 2027. This pressure is a combination of 
 

1)  Care:  
 

a. the service has seen a rise in the numbers of children in care since the beginning of 
the financial year and the increasing complexity of children needing placements. The 
national picture of the care market evidences significant sufficiency issues and this, in 
addition to the cost-of-living crisis, has prompted provides to increase their fees.  

b. In addition to the growth budget there is a required adjustment of £1.977m to offset the 
previously agreed CSC health contribution which is not achievable. 

 

93



2)  Staffing: 
 

a. The Children’s Social Care workforce at BCP is facing serious challenges because of 
the national shortage of social workers, the rising number of social workers choosing to 
be employed by agencies and higher salaries being offered by neighbouring and 
surrounding authorities being rated good and outstanding whilst Children’s Services at 
BCP is rated inadequate.  

 

b. Whilst a recruitment and retention strategy has been developed and is due to be 
implemented it will take time for the ratio of agency/permanent workers to reduce and 
stabilise and the service remains heavily reliant on agency workers. There has been a 
significant rise in the cost of agency workers with difficulty attracting to the BCP area 
due to the high cost and limited availability of overnight accommodation during the 
peak tourist months. 

 

c. The MTFP allows for the continuation of previously agreed non-recurring growth for 
agency premium and an additional team in the front door. The continued demand in 
the front door services has meant that the service will be unable to run without this 
continued resource. 

3)  School Transport: 
 

a. cost of special educational needs and disability (SEND) transport is directly linked with 
the increasing number of education, health, and care plans (EHCPs) and the pressure 
that continues in the high needs block of the dedicated schools grant (DSG).  

 

b. SEND transport is however not funded by the DSG and instead the responsibility falls 
to the general fund budget of the council. 

 

c. There was a savings target in 2022/23 associated with SEND transport which has 
been unachievable, so the 2023/24 budget restores this amount and allows for further 
growth in demand.  

The social care grant provided since 2020/21 is assumed to continue along with all other 
children’s social care funding. 

The DfE improvement funding over 2021/22 and 2022/23 is not on-going and has been 
removed as part of the 2023/24 MTFP. 

There is also a small reduction in the budget relating to the SEND written statement of 
action as per the agreed profile of spend. 

 
51. Operations – Service Pressures £8.2m (15% increase over 2022/23 budget) 

Assumed Service Pressures  

 
The cost-of-living pressures have had a significant impact on operations budgets. Gas and 

electricity costs have resulted in a pressure across the service of £4.6m in 2023/24. Street 

lighting has been affected the most by this increase and the service is actively working on 
scenarios to decrease usage across BCP. 

Fuel inflation has resulted in a pressure of £0.2m in relation to the council’s fleet, and an 
additional £0.1m on general diesel costs. A revised prudential borrowing pressure of £1.8m 

for the council’s fleet has also been included in 2023/24, to ensure that the rolling capital 
programme of fleet vehicles is maintained. 

The crematorium income has suffered since the Covid pandemic, and this has led to a 

£0.6m pressure in 2023/24. 

94



 
Homelessness emergency accommodation has a cost pressure of £0.4m. In previous 

years, the homelessness prevention grant of £1.8m per annum has been supplemented by 
utilising reserves designated for the service. These reserves will be fully utilised in 2023/24. 

The annual grant of £1.8m is insufficient to cover the costs of the service, the shortfall 
being £0.4m in 2023/24. 

The current tendered bus service routes are funded in full by the base revenue budget. The 
new tenders at the current service level would lead to an overspend over the remaining 
months of 2022/23 and into 2023/24. The Bus Subsidy grant and Local Transport Fund 
received from the Department for Transport (DfT) will be used to offset this pressure until 
January 2024. By this time, the service will have either received notification of continued 
funding so that the current offering can be maintained, or enough notice will have been 
given to reduce the service within current budget levels.  

There are numerous other smaller service pressures totalling £4.4m across Operations 

Services. The growth in pressures is inclusive of the covid recovery re-profiling of income 
which has reduced the service pressures requirement by £2.2m. 

 
52. Pay Award 

Local government agreed pay awards for 2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 were 
2%, 2%, 2.75% and 1.75% respectively. 
 
The budget for 2022/23 made a provision for a 3.1% pay increase. Due to pressures 
associated with the cost of living the National Employers for local government services 
proposed a flat rate increase of £1,925 on every spinal column point for the current 
financial year which is estimated to average 5.4% for the profile of staffing within the 
council. A majority of unions confirmed their acceptance of the proposal on 1 November 
2022 which included a 4% increase in allowances and a one-day increase to all employee’s 
annual leave entitlement from 2023/24. BCP Council’s November financial forecast for 
2022/23 assumes that the higher than assumed pay award has added an extra £4.1m over 
and above the budgeted amount to the pay bill of the authority. 

The proposed budget for 2023/24 makes provision for the £1,925 on every spinal column 
point in 2022/23 followed by a 4.25% pay award for 2023/24. This is based on a 
benchmarking exercise undertaken by the Chief Financial Officer with Unitary Treasurers to 
ascertain the assumptions being made by the sector.  

Services are expected to absorb the impact of the additional days annual leave entitlement 
for 2023/24 within their budgets acknowledging that it will also need consideration 
alongside the proposals to harmonise terms and conditions. 

In addition, as part of the savings and efficiencies proposals underpinning the 2023/24 
budget, provision is now only being made for 95% of each service’s employee 
establishment to allow for the impact of turnover and other matters on the actual cost of the 
service. Previously the assumption varied between services, of between 95% and 98%. 
This change in assumption partly reflects previous years activity. In addition, services are 
also expected to manage the impact of any incremental drift in their pay base. 
 

53. Harmonised Pay and Grading Structure 
 

A key requirement following the creation of BCP Council was to create a single pay and 

grading structure. The proposed 2023/24 budget reflects its proposed implementation 

95



during 2023/24, from 1 January 2024, with a proposed uplift in the pay bill from that point in 
time onwards.  

54. Pension Fund 

BCP Council is a member of the Dorset Local Government Pension Scheme administered 
by Dorset Council. The funds actuary Barnett Waddingham is required to revalue the fund 
every three years (tri-annual revaluation) to determine both the value of its assets and 
liabilities and the contributions rates for each employer in the fund. 

The fund was last revalued as of April 2022 and the impact was discussed with the pension 
fund actuary Barnett Waddingham on the 18 November 2022. The March 2022 position for 
BCP Council was a funding deficit of £53.2m with a resulting funding level of 95.9% as 
outlined below, compared to a funding deficit of £86.6m at 31 March 2019 relating to a 
funding level of 91.9%. 
 

Figure 5: BCP Pension Fund – funding levels 
 

Local Authority 31 March 

2022 
Funding level 

31 March 

2019 
Funding level 

31 March 

2016 
Funding level 

Bournemouth Council   79% 

Christchurch Council   88% 

Dorset Council   80% 

Poole   86% 

BCP Council 96% 92% 82% 

 
BCP Council contribution rates are as set out in figure 6 below. In respect of the 2022 
revaluation, the increase on the ongoing rate was offset by the reduction in the back-
funding element. Key variables that impacted on the valuation were the impact on liabilities 
of inflation, salary increases and the assumed discount rate, and the level of investment 
returns on the assets of the fund. 
 

Figure 6: BCP Pension Fund contributions agreed with the Actuary 
 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Ongoing (primary) 
rate 

15.6% 16.2% 16.8% 17.4% 19.0% 

Back-funding 
(secondary) rate 

£9.43m £5.89m £6.10m £6.32m £3.97m 

 

In comparing pay rates with those of other employers it is important to recognise that the 
council has a total contribution rate in excess of 22%. Many private sector companies will 
be making only a 4% minimum pension fund contribution. 

 
55. Inflationary Costs  

Inflation is only provided for in service directorate budgets where it can be demonstrated 
that it will be needed due to either market or contract conditions. Inflation as of September 
2022, which is applied or factored into several contractual uplifts, was 10.1% as measured 
by the (CPI) Consumer Price Index. 
 

96



The 2022 Autumn Statement predicts inflation to be 5.5% CPI and 8.3% RPI during 2023. 
Government inflation target remains at 2% on an annual basis. 

One area of specific cost pressure which has been allowed for as part of the projected 
outturn for 2022/23 and future years is the inflationary pressures within utility costs 
specifically those relating to electricity and gas. This cost is particularly significant within the 
Operations directorate and within that the electricity cost associated with street lighting. The 
councils 20222/23 budget allowed for circa £4.1m in electricity and gas costs across all 
areas of service and the forecast outturn for the year assumes this will almost double to 
£7.9m with a further increase to £8.9m for 2023/24 onwards.  
 

56. Futures Fund 

As part of the financial strategy supporting the 2023/24 budget the council revised the 

principles around the £50m Futures Fund and £20m Green Futures Fund. Decisions will 
now be made as proposals are brought forward in line with existing council policies and 

decisions.  

Commitments made to previous schemes under the future funds remain within the 

Council’s budget and MTFP. For clarity, this includes. 

£5.87m Smart Places Gigabit project 
£4.0m Wessex Fields – road infrastructure 

£2.6m Pokesdown Railway station 
£0.8m Homelessness Health Hub 

£1.2m Match funding to the resources provided by Salix 
 
Additional resources, savings, and efficiencies 
 

57. Council Tax  

In proposing as a council tax for 2023/24 the council has reflected on the government 
policy to fund cost pressures in local government principally through the ability to raise 
council tax, including the social care precept. Recognition has also been made of the 
significant inflationary pressures faced by both the council and its community at this 
time 

The proposal is to increase council tax by 4.99% in 2023/24 which is less than 50% of 
current rate of inflation (10.7% November 22). This increase can be broken down into a 
2.99% increase in relation to general inflationary pressures and an additional 2% 
relating to the social care precept.  

The financial planning assumption for future years continues to be that council tax will 
be increased, for 2024/25 by 4.99% as per the framework for 2023/24 and as set out in 
the 2022 Autumn Statement. Thereafter the assumption is the increase will revert to the 
standard annual threshold increase of 2.99% made up of a 1.99% basic increase, plus 
a 1% social care precept. 

58. The strategic approach taken by government since its 2015 spending review is that 
local councils can increase council tax as a mechanism for funding cost and demand 
pressures in local services. For the last 7 years in a row (since 2016/17), this has 
included the use of the Adult Social Care council tax precept as a means of asserting 
national direction on how such resources should be applied. Any lobbying for higher 
BCP Council funding allocations from government resources are always responded to 
by references to the amount the government have made provision for the council’s 
“spending power” to be increased annually. The most significant element of this annual 

97



spending power increase is the amount the government have made legislative provision 
for the council to increase its council tax.  

59. As a reminder the table sets out the levels that government legislated for BCP Council 
to increase its council tax by in comparison to the actual levels of council tax set over 
the last 3-year period. 

Figure 7: BCP Actual Council Tax Increases to Government Thresholds 

 

60. It may also be worth a reminder that the BCP Band D council tax for 2022/23 is 
£1,603.23. The equivalent council tax for our nearest neighbour Dorset Council was 
over 14% higher at £1,832.67. This equates to approximately £33m per annum in 
additional resources BCP Council could be generating based on the BCP 2022/23 tax 
base. 

61. Figure 8 below demonstrates that if the council had harmonised in April 2019, as the 
new Dorset Council did, and followed government guidelines and applied the maximum 
increases since then then cumulatively our council tax would have been £1,674.10 in 
2022/23 which is 4.4% higher than the cumulative £1,603.23 actual rate set. We are 
therefore clear that this council has locally decided not to generate the £10.1m per 
annum extra that we could have been generating. A similar calculation in 2021/22 
shows the council forfeited potential council tax revenues of £11.7m. Across the two 
years we could have generated a total of £21.8m and instead enabled this money to be 
retained by council taxpayers. This is a permanent saving to our Council Taxpayers and 
as an illustration the decisions made by this authority will compound over the next term 
of BCP Council to a sum of £62m . 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

98



Figure 8: BCP actual council tax levels compared to permitted levels.  
 

 
 

62. Expanding on this position the graph below (figure 9) sets out the likely position of the 
preceding authorities if local government review had not happened and if they had 
applied the maximum threshold increases. As an example, this shows that the council 
tax in Christchurch could have been £257.95 or 16% higher, which could have 
generated an additional council tax yield of £5.3m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

99



Figure 9: Council position of preceding authorities with maximum increases 

 

 

 

63. Council Tax – Taxbase 

Cabinet at its meeting on the 11 January 2023 agreed to the determination of 144,839 
as its council taxbase for 2023/24 which is the number of Band D equivalent properties 
over which the council’s council tax for the year will be charged. It is based on the 
principle that every domestic property is valued by the Valuation Office Agency and 
placed in one of the eight valuation bands, based on its value as at 1 April 1991 
(houses built after this date have their value as at April 1991 estimated at the time of 
their first sale). The amount of council tax paid varies according to the valuation band 
as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



Figure 10: Council Tax Valuation Bands on 1 April 1991 and calculation 
 

Band Value at 1 April 1991 Ratio Ratio as a percentage 

A Up to £40,000 6/9 67% 

B £40,001 to £52,000 7/9 78% 

C £52,001 to £68,000 8/9 89% 

D £68,001 to £88,000 9/9 100% 

E £88,001 to £120,000 11/9 122% 

F £120,001 to £160,000 13/9 144% 

G £160,001 to £320,000 15/9 167% 

H More than £320,000 18/0 200% 

 
A comparison of the BCP Council Taxbase between years is set out in figure 11 below. 

 
Figure 11:  BCP Taxbase comparison between years 

 

Area 
Taxbase 

2022/23 

Taxbase 

2023/24 
% Variance 

Christchurch 20,449.30 20,975.10 2.6% 

Bournemouth 64,238.20 64,842.40 0.9% 

Poole 58,126.50 59,021.50 1.5% 

Total 142,814 144,839 1.4% 

 

 
The council tax, taxbase growth reflects four main factors. 
 

1) Improved collection rate. 
 

2) Higher growth expected in the number of additional properties in 2023/24. 
 

3) Projected £0.2m reduction cost of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. 
 

4) An approved investment to save proposal which ensures the council is robustly checking 
that residents are correctly claiming single person discounts. 

 

Overall, the increase in taxbase is anticipated to generate £3.2m additional revenue in 2023/24.  

Members are also reminded of the decision of Council in July 2022 to implement the second 
homes 100% premium and revisions to the empty homes premium subject to their confirmation 

via the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill. The MTFP previously assumed that these changes 

will generate extra resources of £5.3m second homes and £0.9m empty homes from 2024/25 
onwards.  

This was on the basis that to implement the premium an authority will need first to make a 
determination at least one-year before the beginning of the financial year to which it relates. 

Therefore, the financial year 2024/25 is the first year it could be applied provided the 
determination is made by 31 March 2023 and to enact the determination the authority must 

publish a notice in at least one local newspaper 21 days before the determination date. The 

Council cannot issue a determination until such time as Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill has 
finally been passed. At the time of writing this report the current position is that the Bill has 

101



satisfactorily progressed through the House of Commons and has been introduced into the 
House of Lords. However as civil servants are describing the likelihood of the Bill receiving 

Royal Assent by the end of February as “challenging” the MTFP now assumes this extra council 
tax revenue will not be collected in 2024/25. 

64. 2023/24 Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS) 
 

No changes are proposed to the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2023/24 which 
will mean a consistent policy has been applied by the Council from 1 April 2019 
onwards. 

Ongoing consideration will be given to changing the existing LCTSS to a ‘banded 
scheme’ reflecting evolving best practice to reduce the burden of administration for both 
claimants and the council. Any changes proposed would not be designed to reduce 
expenditure on LCTSS but to deliver operational and administration efficiencies and 
better meet the needs of residents. 

In respect of council tax support to vulnerable households the provisional 2023/24 local 
Government Finance Settlement included £100m nationally to allow councils to deliver 
additional support to LCTSS claimants and to determine local approaches to support 
other vulnerable households in their area. Government’s view is this will help in striking 
a fair balance to ensure taxpayers are not over-burdened at a time of significant 
pressure on the public finances.  

On the 23 December 2022 confirmation was received that BCP had been allocated 
£637,000. The Government require us to use the majority of the funding to reduce bills 
for current working age and pension age Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants 
by up to £25. It will up to the council to decide how any remaining allocation is best 
used to support vulnerable households with council tax bills. 

As of 1 January 2023, BCP Council was providing LCTS to 23,811 claimants. 

For both Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support, BCP Council, as it predecessor 
authorities did, has administered a discretionary local scheme for war pensioners, in which 
the Council can disregard all prescribed War Disablement Pension or prescribed War 
Widow’s/War Widower’s Pensions income over and above the statutory limits. BCP Council 
is resolved to continue this disregard. This is allowed under Section 134 (8) of the Social 
Security Administration Act 1992 for Housing Benefit and for Council Tax Support as 
detailed in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council, Council Tax Reduction 
(Support) Scheme. 
 

65. Government Grants - Assumed £14.5m additional funding for social care funding 
in 2023/24 (£27.9m over 4-year period of the MTFP) 

Trends analysis shows that the government have made additional grant funding for social 
care available in every year since 2015/16. Over the years grants have increased 
inconsistently but average at 31% increase per year. Grant income has increased by 39% 
for BCP in line with the national increase. National allocations announced in the Autumn 
budget statement indicate an increase of around 16% for 2024/25. Whilst grants have been 
announced only up until 2024/25, the trends shows that new money has continued over the 
years, therefore the MTFP assumes that the current social care grants are ongoing. 

The Social Care Grant was introduced in 2020/21, as a grant ringfenced to support social 
care for adults and children. The Independent Living Fund has now been rolled up into the 
Social Care Grant for 2023/24 at the previous level of £0.9m. The Social Care Grant has 
increased by £9.3m for 2023/24. In BCP £6.5m is allocated to Adult Social Care and £2.8m 

102



to Children Social Care. The Social Care Grant is estimated to increase by £4.2m in 24/25 
based on the autumn budget statement, then £2.3m in subsequent years. The increase 
includes funding due to the delay in the rollout of adult social care charging reform. 

The Improved Better Care Fund is frozen for 2023/24 and has been assumed to remain at 
the same level for the MTFP period. 

The increase for the Better Care Fund has not been announced but the MTFP assumes an 
increase of £0.4m for each MTFP year. 

The Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund of £4.1m includes new 
grant funding of £2.9m to address issues such as discharge delays, social care waiting 
times, low fee rates and workforce pressures. The grant also includes £1.2m in Fair Cost of 
Care grant introduced in 2022/23, as a ringfenced grant to support local authorities to move 
towards paying a more sustainable rate for care. This grant is maintained at current levels 
for the next two years to maintain the fee levels agreed 2022/23. There will be reporting 
requirements placed on this funding regarding performance and use of funding, details of 
which the government will announce in due course. This grant is estimated to increase by 
£2m in 2024/25 based on the Autumn Statement, then remain at the same level for the 
following two MTFP years. 

The Government has also confirmed in the provisional settlement that the Adult Social Care 
Discharge Grant will be re-instated in 2023/24 at an increased value of £1.9m estimated to 
increase by further £1.3m in 2024/25, then to remain at the same level for the remainder of 
the MTFP. As in 2022/23, this grant will be required to be pooled as part of the Better Care 
Fund. The 2022/23 allocation requires fortnightly performance returns up to 31 March 2023, 
the Government will also set out further details on the conditions of this funding for 2023/24 
in due course. 

66. Transformation Investment Programme including the Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts Strategy. 

 

This section of the report includes information produced as part of the councils Flexible Use 

of Capital Receipts (FUCR) strategy as recommended by the relevant statutory guidance.  
 

67. As might be expected the council has inherited a range of legacy staffing 
arrangements, processes and systems and therefore has an opportunity to remove 
duplication, remove inefficiencies, and to leverage economies of scale whilst improving 
governance. Much of this formed the foundation of the argument for establishing the 
new council alongside the opportunity to fundamentally transform public services. 
Achievement of these benefits will be delivered by the adoption of a radically different 
operational model and specifically via; 

 Investment in technology 

 Investment in data and insight 

 Investment in new ways of working 

 Engaging and empowering our communities 

 Leveraging our partnerships 

 Creating equity in pay & conditions 

 Investing and rationalising the civic estate 

 

103



Investment in three core technologies, along with the rationalisation and effective 
integration of our core service technologies, will enable the council to become the 
leading digital and insight driven local authority in the UK. Specifically, these are the 
investment in the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system, investment in 
the Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems (Finance and Human Resources), 
alongside establishing an appropriate data platform. 

68. Figure 12: Our new Operating Model 

 

69. A high-level business case was presented to Cabinet in November 2019 which set out 
the original scope of the council’s organisation design project, which was facilitated by 
KPMG, and identified that it could potentially deliver up to £43.9m of gross annual 
savings by year 4 based on an investment of £29.5m. The profile of these savings was 
assumed to accumulate as £7.8m in year 1 growing to £16.5m in year 2, £36.9m in 
year 3 and £43.9m in year 4. It should be highlighted that these savings will impact on 
the whole council including both General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
services. 

70. Council on 7 July 2020 agreed to the extension of the project to a £38m programme 
referencing the accelerated leap forward in different ways of working because of the 
Covid-19 public health emergency and the need to accelerate the pace at which we 
generate savings and efficiencies. This report also approved the procurement of a 
strategic partner, approved oversight of the programme by a Cabinet Working Group as 
part of the governance arrangements and set out that the £43.9m must now be adopted 
as our minimum expectation of savings and efficiencies. Key milestones in the 
development of the Transformation Investment programme can therefore be set out as 
follows. 

  

104



a) November 2019. First presented to Cabinet based on a report, costing £314,650, 
commission from KPMG. 

b) June 2020 Cabinet (July Council). Establishment of a £37.62m budget for the 
implementation of the programme. 

c) February 2021 (part of the 2021/22 budget report). Increase in the budget to £44.52m 

to allow an additional £6.9m for redundancy costs. 

d) February 2022 (part of the 2022/23 budget report). Further increase in the budget to 
£67.86m to reflect the following additional elements 

 £20.09m Inclusion of internal base revenue budget staff costs, £6.7m for 3  

years, where staff are not available to support day to day or statutory 

improvement duties, and will be apportioned and charged against the  

transformation investment programme. 

 £1.75m  Investment in the data and insight capability 

 £1.5m Extra contingency 

e) February 2023 (as part of this 2023/24 budget report). Reduce the transformation 
investment programme to £57.36m to reflect. 

 (£10.5m) Reduction in the annual recharge of internal base revenue  
costs to £3.2m for 3 years in line with the evidence base. 

71. The current consolidated position in respect of the transformation programme is set out 
in figure 13 below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

105



Figure 13: Consolidated Transformation Programme Table 

 

Transformation Investment Programme 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

One-off / time-limited budget provision for the Actual Actual Estimate Budget Provisional

delivery of the programme £m £m £m £m £m £m

Expenditure

Capital expenditure 1.19 0.05 0.82 1.34 0.84 4.24

1.19 0.05 0.82 1.34 0.84 4.24

Funding

Prudential Borrowing (funded from General Fund MRP) 0.00 0.00 (0.62) (1.34) (0.84) (2.80)

Prudential Borrowing (funded from HRA land tfr) (1.19) (0.05) (0.20) 0.00 0.00 (1.44)

(1.19) (0.05) (0.82) (1.34) (0.84) (4.24)

Expenditure

One-off costs - including data and insight and capability 0.31 5.32 13.95 7.31 2.67 29.56

Redundancy costs 0.00 0.56 2.57 9.03 0.74 12.90

Contingency 0.00 0.00 0.18 0.21 0.68 1.07

Staff costs apportioned to Transformation 0.00 0.00 3.20 3.20 3.19 9.59

0.310 5.880 19.90 19.75 7.28 53.12

Funding

Assumed fundable by Capital Receipts/Capital Direction (0.31) (3.88) (19.90) (19.75) (7.28) (51.12)

Contributions from outside of the General Fund 0.00 (2.00) 0.00 0.00 0.00 (2.00)

(0.31) (5.88) (19.90) (19.75) (7.28) (53.12)

Total expenditure 1.50 5.93 20.72 21.09 8.12 57.36

Total funding (1.50) (5.93) (20.72) (21.09) (8.12) (57.36)

Transformation Investment Programme 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Ongoing base revenue budget of the council Actual Actual Estimate Budget Provisional

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Expenditure

Licenses and other revenue costs of the programme 0.00 2.08 2.40 4.50 4.50 13.48

0.00 2.08 2.40 4.50 4.50 13.48

Savings and efficiencies

Transformation Programmme Savings 0.00 (3.95) (3.95)

Programmed 2022/23 savings = £8.7m (extra £1.2m)

2022/23 In year - Savings delivered (7.10) (7.10) (7.10) (21.30)

2022/23 In year - Savings identified and deferred (0.81) (0.81) (1.62)

2022/23 In year - Savings deferred and unidentified (0.79) (0.79) (1.58)

Originally programmed 2023/24 savings = £18.7m (extra £10m)

3rd Party savings - Remaining to be identified (5.70) (5.70) (11.40)

3rd Party savings - Itemised (3.34) (3.34) (6.68)

3rd Party savings - within services savings proposals (0.96) (0.96) (1.91)

Originally programmed 2024/25 savings = £43.9m (extra £25.2m)

Staff savings - Remaining to be itemised (15.86) (15.86)

Staff savings - within services savings proposals (9.34) (9.34) (18.68)

0.00 (3.95) (7.10) (28.04) (43.90) (82.98)

Funding Implications on the revenue budget 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Actual Actual Estimate Budget Provisional

£m £m £m £m £m £m

One-off Capital Investment

Minimum Revenue Provision and interest implications 0.00 0.28 0.28 0.48 0.82 1.86

0.00 0.28 0.28 0.48 0.82 1.86

One-off Revenue Investment

Revenue foregone on asset disposed off 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.91 0.91 1.82

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.91 0.91 1.82

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 B

u
d

g
e

t
C

a
p

it
a

l 
S

p
e

n
d

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 S

p
e

n
d

T
o

ta
l

R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 B

u
d

g
e

t

106



Transformation Savings 

72. The savings from the programme can be broken down into 10 separate workstreams 
with the total estimate being in the range £26.7m to £43.8m. Due to the increasing level 
of investment in the programme, the higher end of the range continues to be adopted 
as the basis of the council’s financial planning as it has since 2019. These 
workstreams, and the savings they are assumed to deliver, can be articulated as 
follows. 

Figure 14: Transformation savings workstreams. 

 

73. This 2023/24 proposed budget further updates the delivery profile associated with these 
savings. The revised cumulative profile is as follows. 

2022/23 £7.1m in annual savings (82% against a £8.7m target for the year) 

2023/24 £28.0m 

2024.25 £43.9m 

Included within this breakdown are core increases of £10m in 2023/24 for third party 
spend savings and £25.2m in 2024/25 for employee costs savings. However, the 
amounts shown in Figure 13 have been broken down into those that have been 
included as part of individual service-based savings and efficiency proposals and those 
that remain un-itemised and therefore part of the core transformation programme. 
Attention is particularly drawn to the fact that £9.34m of employee cost savings are part 
of individual service-specific employee cost savings that will now be delivered a year 
earlier than planned, in 2023/24. 

107



As is consistent with previous projections the budget has been prepared on the basis 
that the organisation will deliver against core increase of the extra £10m in 2023/24 and 
extra £25.2m in 2024/25 approved as part of previous years commitments. Members 
are reminded that the delivery of these assumed savings are a priority area over the 
next two years.  

To aid delivery of savings this report recommends strengthening commissioning, 
procurement, and contract management arrangements. Evidence from the 2022/23 in-
year expenditure control demonstrates that central controls can ensure more effective 
buying and commissioning decisions. Such arrangements in themselves though cannot 
guarantee the assumed identified third party spend transformation savings can be 
delivered but the control will support an effective outcome. The uncertainty around the 
current and future impact of inflation is particularly salient in attempts to capture savings 
from improvements in this area.  

74. The cumulative savings from the transformation programme are specifically associated 
with. 

 Reduction in employee headcount through the consolidation of common roles/work. 

 Reduction in employee headcount through the consolidation of organisational 
layers/structures. 

 Reduction in third-party spend through more robust procurement and contract 
management. This will include smarter ways of working such as the digital mail and the 
reduction of spend throughout the council by the centralisation of spending on items 
such as stationery, photocopying and printing.  

 Review of the corporate structure to enable the council to continue to reflect and realign 
its management structure to ensure we are continuously improving towards being the 
organisation that we aspire to be and to ensure we deliver our priorities for our residents. 
This includes the integration of the library services with customer facing services and 
community hubs. 

 The Council’s estate and accommodation project. 

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (FUCR) 

75. As part of 2015 Spending Review (SR15), the government announced that to support 
local authorities to deliver more efficient and sustainable services it would allow local 
authorities to spend up to 100% of their fixed asset receipts on the revenue costs of 
service reform and transformation. Guidance on the use of this flexibility stipulated that 
it applied to the three financial years to end March 2019. However, this was extended 
for a further three years to 31 March 2022 as part of the 2018/19 local government 
finance settlement and for a further three years to 31 March 2025 in April 2022. 

76. The current guidance makes it clear that local authorities cannot borrow to finance the 
revenue costs of service reforms or improvements. In addition, local authorities can 
only use capital receipts from the disposal of property, plant and equipment assets 
received in the years the flexibility is offered. Local authorities may not use any existing 
stock of capital receipts to finance the revenue costs of reforming their services. Set up 
and implementation costs of any new processes or arrangements that will generate 
future ongoing savings and/or transform service delivery to reduce or improve the 
quality-of-service delivery in future years can be classified as qualifying expenditure. 
Costs associated with business-as-usual activity and the council’s statutory duty to 
improve cannot be classified as qualifying expenditure. The ongoing revenue costs of 
any new processes or arrangements can also not be classified as qualifying 

108



expenditure. In addition, the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 
15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 specifies that. 

 The key determining criteria to use when deciding whether expenditure can be funded 
by the new capital receipts flexibility is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings to 
an authority’s net service expenditure. 

 

 In using the flexibility, the council will have due regard to the requirements of the 
Prudential Code, the CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and the 
current edition of the Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice 

77. Council has previous engaged with both CIPFA Consultancy and the External Auditor 
to provide assurance that any such costs which it wishes to fund from the FUCR 
accords with the statutory guidance. 

78. Cabinet have previously made it clear that their preference is to assume that the costs 
of the transformation programme will be funded via the FUCR by current or additional 
asset sales. That said, Cabinet have also been clear that the council will continue the 
work necessary to agree the capitalisation direction with government which would allow 
up to £20m of revenue costs to be funded by borrowing. Such a position would allow 
the council the ultimate flexibility although in practice the council will endeavour to avoid 
drawing down the capitalisation direction, either in full or part, by delivering additional 
asset sales. 

79. Based primarily on the reduction in the overall size of the transformation programme 
the latest profile of expenditure the council will need either capitalisation directions or 
additional capital receipts to fund is set out as follows. 

Figure 15: Latest Capitalisation Direction – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

 

80. Over and above the investment in the core transformation programme, Figure 15 
includes £9.92m investment in a Children’s Services service specific transformation 
programme and a £6m investment in a similar programme for Adult Social Care. These 
continue to be linked to the delivery of £26.1m in assumed and currently unidentified 
savings in these services areas across the financial years 2024/25 to 2026/27. Savings 
of this nature were first included in the 2022/23 budget by applying a 2.99% future 
year’s spending restriction to the 2021/22 budget and from 2024/25 converting that into 
an absolute value. The assumption is this will be the target savings that the service 
specific transformation investment will deliver. Any drawdown on these funds will be 
subject to the successful delivery of a business case to Cabinet/Council as necessary 
which demonstrates the expenditure accords with the statutory definition of 
transformation as per the regulations and identifies a clear link to the savings that will 
be delivered.  

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Total

£m £m £m £m

Transformation Investment Programme 19.90 20.29 6.74 46.93

Children's Services Transformation Programme 1.92 5.00 3.00 9.92

Adult Services - Care Technology October 0.00 0.35 0.15 0.50

Adult Services Transformation Programme 0.00 2.75 2.75 5.50

Capital Receipts - already delivered in previous years (1.90) (1.90)

Capital Receipts - previously scheduled and assumed deliverable (7.40) (3.70) (1.10) (12.20)

Capitalisation Direction 12.52 24.69 11.54 48.75

109



 

81. In respect of the additional asset sales for 2022/23, Council at its meeting on the 10 
January 2023 agreed to dispose of the following: 

 Wessex Trade Industrial Centre 

 Airfield Industrial Estate Christchurch 

 35 Willis Way Fleet Industrial Estate, Poole 

 Land at Crescent Road 

82. Ideally in a completely robust budget position, via the recommendations of this report, 
approval would be sought for the asset disposals now required to deliver the additional 
capital receipts in 2023/24. However, Council on 10 January 2023 agreed to establish a 
cross -party working group to review the capital disposal strategy for 2023/24 with an 
intention that this group makes recommendations to Council as to the assets that 
should be sold. It is therefore suggested that this group makes its proposals by the end 
of June 2023. An associated issue is that the precise value of any additional sales 
required in 2023/24 will depend on matters such as the extent to which a capitalisation 
is drawdown in 2022/23 and the extent to which the previously assumed and recently 
agreed additional asset sales in 2022/23 are delivered. Current monitoring indicates 
that it will be challenging to deliver at least £4.3m of the £7.4m originally assumed 
2022/23 asset sales. Council can though be assured it has significantly more assets 
that could be sold to generate such values, but it will be important that the process of 
disposal is started early in the new financial year to guarantee receipts are delivered by 
31 March 2024. 

83. The current FUCR guidance requires the efficiency statement to be approved by 
Council and that the Department of Levelling Up, Housing, and Communities are duly 
notified so they can keep track of the planned use of this flexibility for national 
purposes.  

Business Rates 

84. Our current financial planning assumption is that the council will retain £59.2m in 
business rates for 2023/24, excluding the impact of prior year surplus and deficits. This 
is an improved position compared to the 2022/23 budgeted amount as the impact of the 
revaluation for 2023 meant an overall increase in business rates valuation for the BCP 
Council area of 9.5%, compared to the last revaluation in 2017.  

85. The revaluation is intended to be fiscally neutral at both the national and local level. The 
business rates multiplier is adjusted to offset the increase in rateable values. To some 
degree this is a judgement: although the VOA know the increase in rateable vales, they 
must estimate the losses in future business rates income arising from successful 
appeals. At BCP Council, the revaluation technical adjustment offsets the change in an 
authority’s retained business rate income (non-domestic rating income plus s31 grants 
for reliefs) but the projected appeals are forecasted to be less than the multiplier allows. 

86. Based on the NDR1 return, the net collectable business rates for the BCP Council area 
is £105m.  

 

 

 

110



Post Covid19 – Recovery of Sales, Fees, and Charges Income 

87. In setting the 2021/22 budget income targets for many services provided for time-
limited adjustments to reflect the anticipated timeframe over which income was 
expected to recover from the pandemic. This adjustment reflected the pandemic had 
led to a 10% fall in economic activity over 2020 and an assumption that economic 
activity nationally was not expected to return to pre-Covid levels until 2023.  

88. The 2022/23 Budget assumed the further recovery profile in the councils’ sales, fees 
and charges income as set out in figure 16 below. 

Figure 16: Recovery of sales, fees, & charges income included in the 2022/23 budget. 

Budget Report 2022/23 
Recovery Profile 

22/23 
£m 

23/34 
£m 

24/25 
£m 

Total 
£m 

Sales, Fees & Charges 
Income 

(7.8) (1.9) (1.4) (11.1) 

 
89. The proposed budget as set out in this report assumes that besides car parking the 

final recovery will now occur completely in 2023/24 rather than being spread over the 
two financial years 2023/24 and 2024/25. The analysis of the income streams this 
assumption relates to is therefore set out in figure 17 below. 

Figure 17: Recovery of sales, fees & charges income included in 2023/24 budget 

 23/24 
£000s 

24/25 
£000s 

Operations – Transport – Car Parking Income (2,067) (1,033) 

Operations – D&C – BH Live Service Fee (95) - 

Operations – Communities – Market Income (50) - 

Customer – Car Parking Income Civic Buildings (10) - 

Total (2,222) (1,033) 

 
90. It is important to acknowledge that the above income assumption is before any savings, 

efficiency or additional income assumptions set out in appendix 4a. 
 
Assumed savings and efficiencies 

91. Figure 18 below identifies that £34.8m in additional savings and efficiencies have been 
identified by services in establishing the budget for 2023/24 and these include assumed 
savings from the council wide transformation programme. These figures do not reflect 
several proposals to mitigate cost pressures or the assumed further recovery of sales, 
fees, and charges income from the impact of Covid-19.  

92. Across the first five years of BCP Council the savings have flowed from reduced 
staffing, reduced operational costs, or from creating common and consistent charging 
policies. A detailed schedule of these assumed savings for 2023/24 is presented as 
appendix 6a.  

93. It should be highlighted that from 1 April 2024 onwards the MTFP assumes as a matter 
of policy that locally set fees and charges will increase with inflation. 

 

111



94. Figure 18 below sets out an analysis of the £82.7m budgeted savings and efficiencies 
for 2019/20 (£11.2m), 2020/21 (£9.4m), 2021/22 (£20.7m), 2022/23 (£6.6m), and 
2023/24 (£34.8m). 
 
Figure 18: Analysis of service-based savings (shown on an incremental basis) 

 
 

95. These total savings can be compared to the £14.2 million (£9.2 million net) that Local 
Partnerships stated could be realised in BCP Council in their August 2016 financial 
model associated with local government review (LGR) in Dorset. Across the two new 
unitary councils the savings total was forecast to be £27.8 million gross or £18.1 million 
net, which was after allowance had been made for savings from joint working prior to the 
1 April 2019.  

Schools Forum 

96. Schools Forum is a statutory body of the council and must be consulted on all school 
funding budget allocations. It also has a range of decision-making powers regarding the 
level of budgets held centrally and whether any funding provided for mainstream schools 
can be transferred to other budget areas.  

97. The BCP Schools Forum has a complement of twenty-four members with representation 
from all categories of schools. Two meetings were held over the autumn and one in early 
January 2023, with recommendations and decisions made for the BCP Council budget 
regarding school funding through the ring-fenced DSG.  

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

98. The gross DSG of £334m provides funding for mainstream schools for pre 16 pupils, 
private, voluntary, and independent nursery providers, a small range of central school 
services (for example, school admissions) and specialist provision for children and young 
people with high needs. High needs budgets include funding for mainstream schools and 

Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Budgeted Estimate

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Staffing and organisation (5.3) (2.9) (1.8) (10.0)

Transformation Programme (7.5) (1.2) (8.7)

Transformation General (1.0) (0.3) (1.3)

Democratic Representation (0.5) (0.5)

External Audit (0.2) (0.2)

Service Efficiencies

Adult Social Care (2.0) (2.0) (5.8) (2.1) (11.9)

Children's Services (0.2) (0.1) (0.7) (2.2) (3.2)

Operations (0.7) (0.7) (1.7) (0.8) (3.9)

Resources (0.7) (0.3) (0.8) (1.8)

Commercial Opportunities (0.7) (0.3) (1.0)

Fees and Charges (0.9) (2.1) (2.1) (0.3) (5.4)

2023/24 Budgeted Savings

 - List One (32.9) (32.9)

 - List Two (1.6) (1.6)

Total (11.2) (9.4) (20.7) (6.6) (34.5) (82.4)

112



specialist providers to support pupils with education, health, and care plans (EHCPs) 
aged 0-25, and those educated out of school, for example due to permanent exclusion or 
medical needs. Academies are funded from the gross DSG allocation but with amounts 
subsequently recouped by the DfE to enable the budget share for pre 16 pupils to be 
paid directly by the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA).   

99. The DSG is allocated to the council through four funding blocks, each with its own 
national formula methodology: early years, mainstream schools, high needs, and central 
school services. Distribution to councils linked to historic allocations has now largely 
ended, with some funding protection mechanisms in place to reflect that expenditure 
patterns once well-established cannot be changed quickly.  

100. The council brought forward a DSG accumulated deficit of £20.3m in April 2022 due to 
the now recognised national underfunding of the high needs budget. The deficit was 
budgeted to grow by £16.7m during the current 2022/23 financial year. The deficit arises 
from the restrictions in how funding can be moved between blocks with it not possible to 
reduce expenditure to balance the account as well as meet the statutory education 
entitlements of pupils identified with high needs. In the December report a £1m 
improvement in the budget gap was projected. Latest estimates reduce this to £0.4m as 
new placements have been made at higher costs than expected. The projected 31 March 
2023 position is as follows. 

Figure 19: Summary position for Dedicated School’s Grant 2022/23 

Dedicated Schools Grant      £m 

Accumulated deficit 1 April 2022 20.3 

Budgeted high needs shortfall 2022/23 16.7 

Projected in-year saving (0.4) 

Projected accumulated deficit 31 March 2023 36.6 

 

101. The accumulated deficit on the DSG is currently forecast to grow as follows. 

Figure 20: Accumulating deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant 

 Balance 
Actual 
31/3/22 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/23 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/24 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/25 

£m 

Balance  
Estimate 
31/3/26 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/27 

£m 

Dedicated Schools Grant (1) (20.3) (36.6) (63.7) (106.6) (159.8) (224.0) 

Dedicated Schools Grant (2) (20.3) (36.6) (63.7) (105.9) (157.8) (218.7) 

 
Line (1) represents how the DSG deficit would grow based on the current pattern of 
provision and growth, with no new actions beyond those already planned.  
 

Line (2) assumes savings can be delivered with a high confidence level from the 
activities identified through the DBV programme (see section below). The timescale to 
deliver most savings is beyond the MTFP period. By March 2028 (a year beyond the 
above plan) cumulative savings over the 5 years with the assumptions in the above table 
are projected at £14.5m. The best-case scenario identified (not assumed for line 2) are 
cumulative savings over 5 years of £32 million. Savings are from reducing EHCP growth, 
greater proportion of placements in mainstream schools, new places being created in 

113



special schools and with better utilisation to reduce use of higher cost independent 
schools.   

Detailed internal work has taken place to project the March 2023 deficit and growth up to 
March 2024 with funding known for this period. The figures beyond March 2024 are 
based on the work of the DBV consultants.     

High needs block - £59m 
 

102. The issue of local authorities incurring expenditure greater than the resources made 
available by government for the High Needs Block of their Dedicated Schools Grant has 
been an issue ever since the introduction of Education, Health, and Care Plans (EHCPs) 
under the Children’s and Families Act 2014. These EHCPs are legal documents which 
set out a child or young person’s special educational needs and the support that is 
required to meet those needs. It is widely acknowledged that Local Authorities have all 
the responsibility for maintaining high needs expenditure within budget, and yet have 
almost no hard levers within which to affect this. 

103. The Department for Education (DfE) strategy for tackling the national problem of 
accumulating deficits on the DSG due to the expenditure on the high needs block is; 

1. Safety Value: In April 2022 nine authorities, on top of a previous five, were told to 
make structural reforms to their special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 
services in exchange for a government contribution towards their accumulated and 
projected deficits on their DSG. Dorset Council (DC) was one of them. BCP Council 
was not invited to be part of the Safety Value mechanism because at the time our 
deficit compared to our dedicated schools grant was not one of the highest. 

2. DBV: A number of authorities who have growing and accumulating deficits but whose 

deficits at the time were not one of the highest were invited to take part in the 
governments voluntary transformation programme “Delivering Better Value (DBV) in 
SEND” programme. BCP has agreed to be part of this programme and it is linked to 
Ofsted as we have a Written Statements of Action. As part of this programme the 
Council will get access to resources to support the delivery of reforms. 

3. Statutory Instrument: Any private sector organisation which has negative reserves 

on its balance sheet, is likely to fail the “going concern” accounting concept. In local 
government a material uncertainty related to “going concern” is unlikely to exist as the 
financial reporting framework assumes the council’s services, at least its statutory 
services, will continue to be delivered in all scenarios. Therefore, in local government 
the most likely scenario is the councils Section 151 Officer would have to contact 
DLUHC to advise them of their financial concerns and possibly issue what is referred 
to as a s114 report. A section 114 notice would result in an immediate and severe 
curtailing of activity to the provision of non-statutory services. Even statutory services 
may be subject to a reduction in frequency or quality.  

Due to the accumulating deficit on our Dedicated Schools Grant, BCP Council is 
projected to have negative reserves by the 31 March 2024. 

However, to mitigate this position, which is a problem nationally, the government 
issued a DSG statutory override by way of a statutory instrument (SI) for all authorities 
which became law at the end of November 2020. This SI means the council cannot 
contribute to the deficit, cannot hold a reserve to act as a counterweight and has been 
required to move the deficit to an unusable reserve where it will sit as though it did not 
exist. 

The statutory instrument reads as follows. 

114



Where a local authority has a deficit in respect of its school’s budget for a financial 
year beginning on 1st April 2020, 1st April 2021 or 1st April 2022, the authority—  

(a) must not charge to a revenue account an amount in respect of that deficit; and  

(b) must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established, charged and used 
solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in respect of its school’s budget. 

On the 12 December 2022 as part of a local government finance policy statement 
government announced the extension of the DSG statutory override for a one-off 
period of three years up to 31 March 2026. 

At the end of the three-year extension BCP Council is currently forecast to have an 
accumulated deficit in the region of £160m, which either the government, the council, 
schools, or a combination thereof will need to finance. Therefore, as a sector, local 
government continues to look to government to find a long-term solution. 

It should be highlighted that the council is required to cash flow the DSG deficit which 
means it either has less cash on which to earn interest, it must borrow more and cover 
the cost of this borrowing, or a combination of the two. Based on an average deficit of 
£50m 2023/24 and forgone investment income say at 2.5% it is estimated that having 
to cashflow the DSG deficit will cost the council approximately £1.25m in 2023/24. 

4. Additional funding: As part of the Autumn Statement the government announced 

that the core schools’ budget will increase by £2bn in 2023/24 and £2bn in 2024/25 
over and above the amounts included in the 2021 Spending Review. £400m of this 
additional £2bn is being allocated to high needs budgets. However, the DSG 
conditions of grant for 2023/24 stipulate the method by which a high proportion of the 
increase in funding is to be allocated to local specialist state-funded providers 
(maintained and academy special schools, hospital schools and alternative 
provisions). This includes providing a minimum funding uplift of 3% to top up band 
funding levels compared with 2021/22 and as a separately identifiable funding stream 
a further 2.4% based on estimated average top up funding for 2022/23. The DfE 
would have to approve any override of these conditions for individual schools.   

5. Reforms: Early in the new financial year alongside their SEND Improvement Plan the 

DfE will support all local authorities to look at what positive action can be taken now to 
bring high needs costs under control, to bring down DSG deficits and prepare for 
wider SEND system reform. 

Early years block - £22 million 

104. The Department for Education (DfE) introduced a national formula in 2017/18 to fund 
Local Authorities for the free education childcare entitlements for those aged 2, 3 and 4. 
This provided a significant increase in funding for the legacy councils in the first year of 
a static 3-year funding rate. An increase of less than 2% was applicable for 
all local authorities in 2020/21 and 2021/22. The increase for 2022/23 was improved at 
4% but a greater proportion of funding needed to be set aside locally for the SEND 
inclusion fund paid to providers to support the rising number of children identified as 
needing additional support within settings. The increase affordable for the formula base 
rates paid to providers from early years funding was again only 2%, although the 
schools Forum agreed to top this up from surplus school block funding. This was for 
one year only so it would act to supress the % increase in provider funding affordable 
from the early years funding in 2023/24.   

 

115



105. The funding increase from government for 2023/24 across the early years age range 
averages 5.2%. A consultation took place with all providers based on indicative funding 
in December / early January regarding how the provider funding formula is to be 
updated for the new funding level. The outcome of this was considered by the School’s 
Forum in January 2023 and a recommendation made to Council which is considered in 
a separate report on the meeting agenda. School’s Forum also agreed at the meeting 
that surplus schools block funding could again be allocated to support SEND in early 
years.  

106. The level of funding retained for central budgets relating to the free entitlements has 
been agreed by the school’s forum. The amount centrally retained is the same as last 
year and less than the 5% maximum allowed. 

School’s block - £251.1 million 

107. The national funding formula (NFF) for mainstream schools funding provided a £3.7m 
(1.5%) increase for 2023/24 due to uplifted formula values and revised local school 
data. A further £2.3m (1%) has been provided in final allocations through growing pupil 
numbers from the October 2022 school census.  

108. Consultation was undertaken with all schools in November / December regarding the 
mainstream school formula and level of funding transfer to high needs in 2023/24. The 
School’s Forum received the outcome of this consultation in January. A separate paper 
on this meeting agenda includes proposals for Council decisions regarding the 
mainstream school’s formula.       

109. As last year, a mainstream school additional grant (MSAG) outside the DSG in 2023/24 
of £8.5m is being allocated to schools by the DfE to reflect unforeseen additional cost 
pressures that have emerged since the DSG funding announcements in July 2022. This 
funding will be allocated using some of the same factors as within the schools NFF and 
will be subsumed into the DSG in 2024/25. The DSG increase and additional grant 
together provide an increase to mainstream schools of 5.9%.  

110. Also included in the school’s block is funding for pupil growth in mainstream schools 
from September 2023. These allocations are made to schools where growth meets 
specific national criteria. The DSG allocation has decreased slightly compared with last 
year.    

Central school services block - £2 million 

111. The funding is provided largely through a national formula for on-going functions with 
the per pupil rate reducing annually from the transitional protection arrangements. Pupil 
number growth provides some mitigation with only a small overall reduction between 
years. Historic commitments in BCP are being funded at the announced 20% planned 
reduction with an application to the DfE to have funding restored to previous levels in 
progress. Funding in this block supports specific central services for all schools and the 
DSG budgeting system. The School’s Forum has agreed the budgets are set at the 
level of funding.  

Maintained schools 

112. On 1 April 2022, one maintained primary school joined a local multi-academy trust. 
BCP therefore, currently has 15 schools plus the Christchurch learning centre to 
maintain as of April 2023. Funding to continue statutory services for maintained schools 
is to be provided from central retention of maintained school budget shares through 
agreement of maintained schools representatives at school’s forum. This retention 
totalling £0.2m has been agreed by the relevant members of the School’s Forum. A 

116



separate de-delegation of funding to continue school improvement functions for 
maintained schools previously funded by DfE grant has also been agreed. Funding 
approval through the School’s Forum for these statutory services needs to be sought 
each year.    

Academies 

113. Academies are independent organisations; their funding and expenditure is not 
contained within the council’s budget. 

Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)  

114. Funding for mainstream post 16 pupils is provided by the ESFA and is passported 
directly to schools. This budget remains estimated as the ESFA will not provide the 
detail of allocations until later in the year.    

Schools’ pupil premium 

115. The school pupil premium is funded by the DfE and is passported to schools. It is 
allocated according to the number of pupils eligible for free school meals (FSM) from 
low-income criteria, Children in Care (CiC) or adopted, and of forces personnel with 
funding rates uplifted by 5% for 2023/24.  

Capital strategy 

116. As part of providing vital services to our local community, the council is required to 
invest in, and maintain, a portfolio of land, property and other assets including. 

 Highway infrastructure such as roads, footways, and bridges. 
 

 Schools and adult education centres. 
 

 Parks and open spaces including the seafront and coastline. 
 

 Vehicles, plant, and equipment. 
 

 Administrative offices. 
 

 Approximately 9,575 council homes (through the Housing Revenue Account). 
 

117. The council’s capital investment programme sets out the resources that it has agreed to 
spend on such assets and in doing so driving local economic growth and supporting the 
delivery of council services. 

Capital Strategy: Overview and core principles 

118. The capital strategy is based on the following core principles: 

 Capital projects are supported by appropriate business cases, that clearly identify funding 
sources, and are approved in accordance with the council’s financial regulations. No project 
that relies on government grant, external funding (including third party contributions) or 
capital receipts can commence until the council has complete assurance the funding will be / 
has been received or has otherwise explicitly agreed to accept the risk. 

 

 The use of prudential borrowing for capital projects where no alternative source of funding is 
identified must comply with published HM Treasury PWLB borrowing restrictions. Business 
cases must demonstrate the debt is affordable, prudent, and sustainable and that the council 
is able to meet annual borrowing repayments. The council’s overall borrowing capacity is set 
out in its treasury management strategy. 

 

117



 Interest rates from the council’s invest-to-save framework (which provides a framework 
through which to recognise an appropriate level of risk for each project) are applied to all 
business cases that rely on future income streams from which to meet annual borrowing 
repayment costs. Such business cases are required to show the impact on affordability by 
reference to the current prevailing and the invest to save interest rates. 

 

 BCP Council’s capital resources (community infrastructure levy (CIL), developer s106 
contributions, capital reserves, capital receipts) are prioritised towards: 

    

o commitments under the council’s flexible use of capital receipts strategy 
 

o schemes which require a local contribution to leverage in capital grants or external capital 
contributions  

 

o schemes which enable delivery of the savings assumed within the MTFP 
 

o schemes which enable the council to exploit its assets 
 

o schemes which protect key infrastructure 
 

o schemes considered a corporate priority. 
 

 No resources are earmarked within the capital strategy for the consequential impacts of 
capital investment on the council’s revenue budget (for example programme maintenance). 
These must be identified and managed within revenue budgets set as part of the MTFP. 
 

 Funding earmarked for delivery of the capital strategy (including external 
government grant and new borrowing facilities) is only recognised within the capital 
programme as these funds are used / allocated to approved capital projects. 

Capital Investment Programme (CIP) - overview 

119. BCP Council’s 5-year Capital Investment Programme (CIP) consists of £180m capital 
budget in 2023/24 and a further £153m capital budget in the following four years, a total 
5-year programme of £333m spend on assets and infrastructure across the 
conurbation. The programme includes capital projects commissioned through BCP 
FuturePlaces on behalf of the council, but excludes projects undertaken by the 
Bournemouth Development Company (BDC). The latter are approved, monitored, and 
reported outside of the council’s general fund capital investment programme.  

120. Cabinet on 28 September 2022 agreed to remove from the capital programme the 
council’s debt commitments to the BDC Winter Gardens and Cotlands developments. 

121. A number of regeneration business cases are being progressed by BCP FuturePlaces 
Ltd. These schemes will be added to the CIP once approvals have been obtained 
separately via reports and decision records that will be considered by Officers, 
Members, Cabinet and Council as appropriate. 

Capitalisation of Highway Neighbourhood Expenditure 

122. Following on from decisions to capitalise around £1m highways maintenance 
neighbourhood expenditure as part of both the 2021/22 financial outturn and 2022/23 
in-year position, the budget proposes to capitalise £0.9m per annum from 2023/24 
onwards. The spend includes investment in the replacement of kerbs, bollards and 
fencing, inspection works that result in capital replacement works, inspection works that 
result in new pipework’s, and chambers and replacement of failing assets. Accounting 
treatment (as set out in the CIPFA Code of Practice) permits the capitalisation of such 
spend. It is proposed that prudential borrowing is used to fund the expenditure, to be 
repaid over 25 years. The cost of the additional borrowing has been factored into the 

118



budget for 2023/24 and reflects the implications of both the 2021/22, 2022/23 and 
2023/24 borrowing.  

Capital Investment in Seafront Infrastructure 

123. Further to the Provision of Beach Huts paper presented to Cabinet on 14 December 
2022, the service has ongoing revenue funding to support major capital investment of 
£5m every 25 years funded by prudential borrowing. 

Council Newbuild Housing and Acquisition Strategy (CNHAS) 

124. At the 7 September 2022 Cabinet meeting it was unanimously agreed to recommend 
that Council approves: 

a. The increase to the budget for street acquisitions (programme 4a) previously 
approved by Council in February 2022 from £47.9 million to £68.8 million. This was 
subject to confirmation from the council’s Chief Finance Officer in advance of 
committing sums contractually, that appropriate capital funding has been identified 
and approved. Also, that the investment demonstrates robust value for money and 
there is certainty that the investment is an improvement on the current plan’s 
financial performance. The additional £20.9m has been added to the CIP. 

b. The expansion/amendment of the types of building and housing units within them 
that can be purchased to include - where part of regeneration and/or permitted 
development activity: 

i. newbuild residential units, both as individual acquisitions and  

ii. block purchases of multiple units whose total costs exceed £1m but are delivered 
within the budgetary constraints of the programme with the average individual 
new unit total scheme cost below £0.5m each 

c. Delegation to the Chief Operations Officer, in consultation with Director of Finance, 
Director of Housing, Monitoring Officer and Portfolio Holders for People & Homes & 
Development, Growth and Regeneration the approval through an officer decision 
record process of any purchase of a block of housing units in paragraph b) ii above. 

d. Delegation to the Chief Executive to agree a process for securing an independent 
assessment of value for money relating to any acquisitions where council officers or 
elected members have an interest.  

e. BCP Council execute the appropriate Homes England grant agreement.  

f. An appropriate option for the Princess Road development is to be taken forward with 
details contained in the September report confidential appendix.  

125. Subsequently, an officer decision record dated 7 October 2022 used the chief 
executive’s urgency powers to approve items b), c), d), and e) in the paragraph 
immediately above. 

126. This report requests Council’s approval regarding recommendation a) above and the 
increase of £20.9m to the acquisition programme. 

Futures Fund 

127. In addition, as part of the financial strategy supporting the 2023/24 budget the council 
revised the principles around the £50m Futures Fund and £20m Green Futures Fund. 
Decisions will now be made as proposals are brought forward in line with existing 
council policies and decisions.  

 

119



128. Commitments made to previous schemes under the Futures Funds and Green Futures 
Fund remain within the Council’s budget and MTFP. For clarity, this  includes; 

£5.87m Smart Places Gigabit project 
 

£4.0m  Wessex Fields – road infrastructure 
 

£2.6m  Pokesdown Railway station 
 

£1.2m  Match funding to the resources provided by Salix 
 

129. The council’s HRA capital budgets are also reported separately to the general fund 
capital investment programme.  
 

130. Outside of the budgeted capital programme, the council will continue to encourage, 
support, and enable strategically important private or public investments that benefit the 
conurbation including investments by the local universities, local organisations affiliated 
with the National Health Service, Bournemouth and Poole College, Port of Poole, 
Bournemouth Airport, academies, and other local employers. 

Capital – planned expenditure 

131. Over the next five years, £333m capital investment is approved and planned across all 
service directorates. The investment is broad and ranges from investment in adult 
social care to major transformation programmes. A full listing of capital projects is 
provided in Appendix 7a. Further detail on the planned investment by directorate is also 
provided in Appendix 7b.  

132. Figure 21 presents a high-level summary of planned capital spend over the next four 
years. Of this £180m is planned in 2023/24. Around 35% of planned 2023/24 spend is 
on investment in highways and coastal protection across the conurbation (including the 
Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Programme). Significant investment (37% of 2023/24 
spend) is also planned on housing, regeneration, and major projects. This includes the 
Council Housing Newbuild & Acquisition Strategy (CHNAS) and major place-shaping 
developments delivered in partnership with BCP FuturePlaces. Ongoing investment in 
estates, fleet operations, seafront development, and organisational design is also 
planned for 2023/24 (around 26% of planned expenditure).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

120



Figure 21: Capital Investment Programme to March 2028 
 

 

133. The CIP consists of capital schemes that have either already been approved or that 
seek approval in accordance with the council’s financial regulations and governance 
framework. It excludes potential new projects that have not yet progressed to a stage 
where they have been fully costed.  

134. The CIP is underpinned by separate capital strategies / reports including: 

 CIP individual project listing (Appendix 7a) 

 CIP narrative by directorate (Appendix 7b) 

 IT & IS capital infrastructure investment plan (Appendix 7c to this report) 

 Local Transport Plan (separate report to be subsequently considered by Council) 

135. The 2023/24 budget for the CIP will change over the course of the year. Unspent 
approved capital budget from 2022/23 will be added to the current budget 2023/24 CIP, 
new capital projects will be approved and others potentially revised. In-year government 
grant allocations will be finalised, and the CIP adjusted where indicative grant 
allocations have been used. 

Capital – planned funding profile 

136. The CIP continues to be funded from a combination of government grant and other 
external funding sources (s106 contributions, CIL, and third-party contributions) and 
prudential borrowing. As a result of extensive capital programme refinancing over the 
last few years, the use of capital reserves and capital receipts to fund capital spend is 
now comparatively small and is restricted to legacy authority allocations of ringfenced 
reserves and receipts.  

 
 
 
 

Planned Planned Planned Planned Planned Total

Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme 2023 to 2028

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Social Care (Integrated Community 

Equipment) 2,206              2,172            2,180            2,196            2,214            
10,966

Children's Services 845                 775               375               325               -                2,320

Transport & Engineering - Highways (inc indicative 

Pothole Grant and Local Transport Plan Grant) 12,813            8,788            8,788            8,788            8,788            
47,965

Transport & Engineering - Transforming Cities Fund 34,821            -                -                -                -                
34,821

Transport & Engineering - coastal protection 16,255            7,329            7,347            1,862            -                32,792

Economic Regeneration 1,869              -                -                -                -                1,869

Major Development Projects 27,341            9,636            35                 -                -                37,013

Destination & Culture (inc seafront development) 29,781            12,160          -                -                -                41,941

Housing & Communities (inc major housing 

development) 38,010            35,149          19,673          1,424            1,424            
95,679

Hard Facilities Management (corporate estates) 674                 518               518               518               518               2,746

Environment (waste, fleet, parks & open spaces) 11,918            6,873            410               410               410               20,021

Resources (ICT investment including Organisational 

Design) 3,660              905               -                -                -                
4,565

Capital Investment Planned 180,193 84,304 39,325 15,522 13,353 332,697

General Fund

Capital Investment Programme 2023/24 to 2027/28

121



Figure 22: Capital Investment Programme funding profile 
 

 

137. Annual prudential borrowing repayments associated with the CIP have been factored 
into the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

Capital – financial risks 

138. The main financial risks are associated with rapidly increasing inflation driven by the 
post pandemic economic environment, the war in Ukraine, and government fiscal 
policies. Senior responsible officers (SROs) for all projects have been asked to review 
their projects and assess their viability. For those that have already commenced they 
will need to reflect on the contract position and the adequacy of any project 
contingencies. For those that have not started this will involve making sure that cost 
estimates factor in current costs of material and labour and make appropriate provision 
for their uncertainty moving forward. SROs for those projects funded by borrowing will 
be required to also consider the surety of an income stream and any necessary 
adjustments such as uplifts to rental income. 

139. The volatility of interest rates and its impact on the cost of borrowing may also affect the 
ability to proceed with a capital scheme. There could be significant variances between 
the rate assumed in the business case and the rate when the debt is secured. 

140. There is also risk associated with grant funding assumed within the CIP. This includes 
indicative in-year allocations (including Local Transport Plan and Disabled Facilities 
Grant) that are estimated based on previous in-year government grant allocations but 
will not be confirmed until later in the financial year. Where required budgeted capital 
spend in the CIP will be adjusted as indicative grant funding is confirmed.  

141. The Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) was awarded on the assumption that £11.5m of 
third-party contributions from bus companies would form part of the local contribution 
requirement. This consisted of complementary bus operator investment in new 
vehicles, engine upgrades and investments in new routes that is not captured within the 
CIP but would need to be evidenced by third parties. Discussions are ongoing with bus 
operators to confirm the ongoing availability of this funding. The council is considering 
what alternative local contributions could be attributed to the TCF Programme to 
mitigate the potential impact. This risk has been raised with the DfT and, at this stage, 
they have not indicated that it would impact the overall grant award.  

Planned Planned Planned Planned Planned Total

Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme 2023 to 2028

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Government Grant 82,384           28,729          16,881         11,835         11,406         151,236

RTB receipts 525                162               -               -               -               687

Third Party Receipts 1,371             -                -               -               -               1,371

s106 622                -                -               -               -               622

CIL    2,446             -                -               -               -               2,446

External Funding Contributions 87,348 28,891 16,881 11,835 11,406

Corporate Revenue Funding for Capital (in year) 518                518               518              518              518              2,590

Capital - Earmarked Reserves 1,492             840               -               -               -               2,332

Revenue - Earmarked Reserves 25                  -                -               -               -               25

PRU Borrowing - funded from Futures Fund 5,733             4,733            -               -               -               10,466

PRU Borrowing - funded from MTFP revenue budget 85,077           49,322          21,926         3,169           1,429           160,923

BCP Funding Requirement 92,845 55,413 22,444 3,687 1,947

Capital Investment Funding 180,193 84,304 39,325 15,522 13,353 332,697

General Fund

122



142. The CIP assumes the use of strategic CIL to fund specific capital projects. CIL is 
allocated to the programme on a ‘cash receipt’ basis. There is financial risk that residual 
unallocated CIL balances are insufficient to meet new community infrastructure needs – 
for example those arising from new CNHAS housing developments. 

Asset Management Plan (AMP) 
 

143. An asset management plan (AMP) is the foundation to ensuring the council’s portfolio 
of assets is being managed in the most efficient and cost-effective way. It is a time-
bound commitment to action that ensures that the council’s property assets are 
proactively managed to fully meet both its current and future requirements, with an 
increasing focus on long term financial and climate sustainability. 
 

144. Attached as Appendix 8 is an initial AMP for the council. It is recognised that this 
document will need to evolve into a more comprehensive and traditional full plan as 
advocated by best practice. This will take place alongside the implementation of a new 
organisational structure to centralise all aspects of land and property management, 
referred to as a corporate landlord model (CLM). 
 

145. Appendix 8 also includes a high-level action plan for the next 12 months. Included is the 
adoption of a community asset transfer (CAT) policy which will enable community 
organisations to take over publicly owned land or buildings and gain responsibility for the 
ownership, management and running costs of assets. A consultation on the CAT policy was open 
between 14 September and the 25 November 2022. Feedback will help shape the policy which is 
then due to be brought to Cabinet in March 2023.  

Summary of risks included in the 2023/24 Budget 

146. The proposed revenue budget for 2023/24 includes risks which are set out clearly in 
this report and which mean that the council will need to focus on mitigating those risks 
and completing the agreed actions. The long-term financial sustainability of the council 
is dependent on balancing the revenue resources available each year with the costs of 
providing services and taking account of the impact of inflation and increasing demand 
for our services, both for next year and the longer-term future. 

147. The risks included within the proposed budget include: 

 The delivery of over £35.5m of List One and List Two savings on top of material 

reductions in the availability of one-off resources to support the summer response  

 The delivery of £6.5m of transformation savings (included in the £35.5m figure 

above) through procurement and commissioning activity that have not yet been 
explicitly identified. 

 Preparation for £25m of transformation savings through staff reductions by 1 April 

2024. 

 Inflation, including the April 2023 pay settlement which has been included in the 
2023/24 budget at 4.25%. 

 The continued growth of the deficit on the DSG which is covered by the statutory 
override for the next three years. 

148. Councillors should also be aware of the very significant changes being made to the 
council’s operations, which add to the risks in delivering the budget including: 

123



 Delivery of a new Finance and HR system (the Enterprise Resource Platform or 
ERP) across the Council in April 2023. 

 Delivery of new service systems including for Adults and Children’s Social Care 
(Mosaic), Legal Services and Planning during 2023. 

 Implementation of a new pay and reward structure for every employee across the 
council over the next 9 months. 

 The local election for the whole council on 4 May 2023. 

149. The degree of risk contained within the budget requires that appropriate mitigation 
measures be put in place and that the executive focuses on delivering the key changes 
that are required to balance this budget. Corporate Management Board are clear about 
the actions that they need to take, and they will work with Cabinet, to put the 
appropriate actions in place to deliver a balanced budget once agreed by Council. 

 Both government and the external auditor are closely monitoring the financial 
sustainability of the council and while neither of those organisations can instruct the 
council to take specific action regarding council tax levels, they will both confirm that 
councillors should take account of the advice provided by its professional officers.  

Reserves 

150. It may be worth emphasising that reserves should not be seen in a short-term context. 
They should also be placed in the context of cost-of-living inflationary pressures and the 
high level of uncertainty at this time. Potential cost pressures, demand pressures, 
service delivery improvements and the need to deliver significant levels of savings and 
efficiencies in balancing the 2023/24 budget will require the council’s finances to be 
underpinned by a robust level of reserves. 

151. As part of his formal annual section 25 report the council’s s151 officer is required to 
report on the adequacy of reserves. This assessment is summarised later in this report. 
In general councils hold two main forms of reserves. 

152. Unearmarked Reserves are set aside to help manage the risk to the council’s financial 

standing in the event of extraordinary or otherwise unforeseen events and to mitigate 
the underlying risk associated with the operation of the council and the management of 
service expenditure, income, and the council’s funding. 

153. Analysis included in the June 2022 MFP update report to Cabinet showed that on a net 
revenue expenditure (NRE) basis despite a £0.7m additional investment as part of the 
2022/23 budget the percentage dropped to 4.7% which puts us on the lower side of the 
median, and below the level 5% previously recommended minimum used by CIPFA. 

154. To counter this the MTFP makes provision for a £1.934m investment into unearmarked 
reserves in 2023/24. This includes the £700k per annum included in the MTFP from 
2022/23 as part of the financial strategy to gradually increase the unearmarked 
reserves to reflect the increasing level of annual expenditure. The decision of Cabinet in 
December 2022, to include within the £1.934m an additional one-off £1.234m was on 
the basis that this was the amount needed to bring the reserves to the 5% CIPFA 
minimum recommended level.  

155. Earmarked Reserves: are set aside for specific purposes including those held in 

support of various partnerships where the council is the accountable body, reserves 
committed to supporting the 2022/23 and 2023/24 budget of the Council, reserves 
which represent government grants received in advance of the associated expenditure, 

124



reserves held on behalf of third parties and several reserves the council is required to 
hold in line with statute or its own governance requirements. 

156. The council had earmarked reserves of £114m as at 31 March 2022. Of this, £40m 
relates to government grants received in advance of the actual expenditure including 
£18m specifically to mitigate the impact that various Covid business rates reliefs will 
have on the council’s business rates collection fund.  

157. The financial strategy supporting the development of the 2023/24 budget set out the 
intention to constantly challenge each of the earmarked reserves to ensure that funds 
are not being tied up unnecessarily. The outcome of the review was, where appropriate, 
to release resources to support the proposed budgets of the council. This approach will 
though need to acknowledge the underlying risk associated with the growing deficit on 
the Dedicated Schools Grant as set out earlier in this report. 

158. Figure 23: Latest Reserve Forecast 

 Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/23 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/24 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/25 

£m 

Balance  
Estimate 
31/3/26 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/27 

£m 

Un-earmarked Reserves 16.0 17.9 18.6 19.3 20.0 

Earmarked Reserves 17.0 12.8 12.5 12.6 12.8 

Reserves established to support the 2023/24 Budget as per cost-of-living mitigation strategy 

Cost of Living Mitigation from 21/22 14.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Redirected Earmarked Reserves 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Assumed 2022/23 surplus 10.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total General Fund Reserves 62.6 30.6 31.1 31.9 32.8 

      

Dedicated Schools Grant (1) (36.6) (63.7) (106.6) (159.8) (224.0) 

Dedicated Schools Grant (2) (36.6) (63.7) (105.9) (157.8) (218.7) 

      

Net Position DSG1 – (Deficit) 26.0 (33.1) (75.5) (127.9) (191.2) 

Net Position DSG2 – (Deficit) 26.0 (33.1) (74.8) (125.9) (185.9) 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

159. A key determinate as to the adequacy of reserves is the sensitivity within the budget 
and how quickly the demands that the council is required to manage, and their 
associated cost, can change. It continues to be the case that relatively minor changes 
or shifts in key planning assumptions can have a significant impact on the council’s 
financial position as highlighted in figure 24 below. 

 

 

 

125



Figure 24: Council sensitivity to potential changes in assumptions 

 Impact on level of net 
expenditure or council tax 

requirement 
£000’s 

Looked after child (average high cost - residential) 
– per child 

578 

Looked after child (average cost of top 10 
independent fostering) – per child 

100 

Intensive homecare package for a disabled person  285 

Vulnerable adults  
(learning disability – residential < 65) 

184 

Older person’s supported residential care 
50 average 

177 higher end 

Increase in adults’ cost of care for every 1p 
increase in the hourly national Living Wage rate  

100 

Increase in the £7.7m cost of the concessionary 

fare scheme to the council 

£77k 
per 1% increase 

in journey numbers 

 
160. In being mindful of these key sensitivities it should be established that the cost of a 

looked after child or vulnerable adult can exceed £1m per year for a single case which 
the council is responsible for paying in the first instance. It is only subsequently able to 
reduce the amount to those shown in figure 24 above once it has negotiated a 
contribution from National Health Service Dorset. The risk of achieving this outcome is 
held by the council. It is also worth bearing in mind that every £100,000 is equivalent 
to the council tax generated on 62 homes (2022/23 band D equivalents). 

161. Also, of relevance to the sensitivity of the budget is the robustness of the estimates 
made to underpin that budget. As per the position on reserves the councils s151 
Officer if formally required to report on their robustness as part of his formal annual 
section 25 report. 

162. Officers will have factored into their assumptions numerous matters such as 
government announcements, economic forecasts, trend analysis and professional 
judgement. Of particular relevance, is the uncertainty at this time due to the 
inflationary environment and any new programmes, initiatives or approaches being 
adopted for the first time which inevitably carry a greater level of risk than business as 
usual activity.  

163. The budget as proposed is also premised on the assumption that any changes 
between the provisional 2023/24 Local Government Finance settlement, issued in 
December 2022, and the final settlement due in early February 2023, will be 
addressed as a movement either to or from the base revenue contingency. 

Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) 

164. The council’s Treasury Management Strategy is subject to regular review and was last 
reported to the Audit & Governance Committee for monitoring and update purposes in 
January 2023. The council is required to set its prudential indicators in the context of 

126



the overall strategy on an annual basis. The treasury strategy, practices, and 
prudential indicators for 2023/24 are set out in Appendix 9 for approval by Council.  

165. A significant element of the TMS is the council’s approach to balancing the risks 
associated with its need to borrow, namely. 

a) Credit Risk: Which is the risk associated with an institution failing and the council’s 
investment being reduced due to bank bail-in arrangements. An approach to 
managing this risk is to use internal balances before undertaking external 
borrowing which will also provide a better return for the council as the cost of 
borrowing exceeds any value the council could earn on these internal balances. 

b) Interest Rate Risk: This is the exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowing 
and investments. The council is susceptible to upward movements in long term 
rates given the amount of borrowing still required over the next 5 to 10 years.  

c) Re-financing Risk: Focuses on managing the exposure to replacing current financial 
instruments (borrowings) as and when they mature. 

d) Liquidity Risk: This aims to ensure the council has enough cash available as and 
when needed. 

166. The strategy is significantly influenced by the requirements of the devolved system of 
council housing (HRA) finance. This includes the operation of a two-pool approach to 
debt management with the debt of the HRA (council house tenant account) and that of 
the General Fund (council taxpayers account) separated. All external debt is taken out 
by reference to the relevant pool although it should be noted that there is still flexibility 
to transfer debt between the two if required.  

167. The strategy is also required to set out the council’s approach to the repayment of 
debt referred to as the minimum revenue provision (MRP). In this regard the council’s 
approached is. 

 a 2% straight line method for all supported borrowing capital expenditure incurred 
prior to 2016/17. 

 the asset life method for all unsupported borrowing capital expenditure incurred 
prior to 2016/17. An average 25-year life will be used. 

 a realignment of MRP charged to the accounts to recognise excess sums made 
between 2004 and 2016. Total MRP after applying the realignment will not be less 
than zero in any financial year. 

 An asset life basis applied to capital expenditure schemes 2016/17 onwards. 

Council decision in November 2022 to increase debt threshold to £1.334bn 

168. A key financial matter introduced to Council via its approach to Treasury 
Management, and fundamentally part of its prudential indicators, was the decision in 
November 2022 to increase BCP’s self-imposed debt threshold from £855m to 
£1.334bn. Previously, as part of the financial strategy supporting the development of 
the 2022/23 budget, council approved the extension of our borrowing threshold to 
£855m which at 257% of our net revenue expenditure (NRE) moved it to the mid-point 
range compared to upper tier authorities including metropolitan boroughs. The 
increase to £1.334bn which formed part of the original budget strategy for 2023/24 is 
based on moving our debt to 387% of our NRE and positions BCP at the top of the 3rd 
quarter when compared to upper tier authorities including metropolitan boroughs. 

127



Appendix 9 reproduces the relevant benchmarking information. There are two main 
drivers for extending the council’s debt threshold; 

1) To enable service-based capital expenditure to be financed from debt with the cost 
spread over the time-period that will benefit from the expenditure 

2) To support the Big Plan objectives including the delivery of regeneration and 
housing business cases which will provide an ongoing resource base for the 
authority, as a minimum, once the borrowing is repaid 

169. As at the 31 March 2022 the council’s total debt position was £477m with 
commitments made via the capital programme to take the debt to the £855m. 
Subsequently, revisions to the financial strategy meant a number of sizeable schemes 
were removed from that commitment, particularly those associated with Bournemouth 
Development Company proposals. The currently revised forecast, including 
commitments made up to the end of December 2022, is projecting a debt position of 
£704m as at 1 April 2027. 

170. In agreeing in November to extend the debt threshold, Council agreed with the 
council’s Chief Financial Officer advice, and in supporting fiscal discipline, that no 
further borrowing is undertaken which is not supported by a self-financing business 
case. Therefore, no further commitments to debt will be undertaken which would 
require the general fund budget of the council to finance the revenue implications of 
taking on that additional debt. 

Changing regulations associated with debt 

171. DLUHC has made it clear that local authorities taking on excessive risk and any non-
compliance with the framework will see increased interventions from government 
potentially leading to caps on borrowing. DLUHC also made it clear that they plan to 
better constrain the risks associated with complex capital transactions. This includes 
credit arrangements, such as PFI deals or income strips, and financial derivatives. 
These types of arrangement can carry more risk than traditional forms of financing 
and require the right expertise to support effective decisions and risk management. 

172. As part of this tightening DLUHC on the 12 May 2022 announced as part of its 
Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill, the proposal to address excessive risk arising 
from local authority investment and borrowing, while supporting local freedoms for 
investment. They propose a set metrics for local authorities including the following: 

 proportionality of debt compared to the financial resources at the disposal of the 

authority. 

 proportion of capital assets which are investments taken out to generate net 

financial return or profit. 

 Whether the authority is meeting its statutory duty to make sufficient provision for 

debt repayment. 

 proportion of debt held where the counterparty is not local or central government 

including credit arrangements and loans. 

 Any other metric specified by regulations made by the secretary of state. 

173. The proposals set out above also coincide with a further update to Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) guidance to address lending to authorities where there is a more than 
negligible risk of non-repayment. HM Treasury will be reviewing authorities that raise 

128



concerns and that could mean limiting the loan term length generally offered or 
restricting lending altogether. 

174. The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill published on the 11 May 2022 proposes to 
amend the LG Act 2002 to give the Secretary of State powers to issue a “risk 
mitigation direction”. This could be issued if a council receives a section 114 notice, 
receives a capitalisation direction, or breaches one of the five capital risk thresholds 
set out above. Such directions could direct asset sales and limit council borrowing. 

175. As a reminder, borrowing to fund solely for yield generating investments, from 
whatever funding sources, is not permissible under the Treasury Management and 
Prudential Code of Practice as they represent an unnecessary risk to public 
expenditure. Borrowing to support service-based proposals, regeneration and housing 
are permitted under the code. In these instances, authorities are advised to consider 
carefully whether they can demonstrate value for money and whether they can ensure 
the security of such funds.  

176. Another key determinate of the Treasury Management Strategy is government fiscal 
policy with particular references to interest rates. The Bank of England base interest 
rate was 0.5% when the 2022/23 budget was set in February 2022. Since then, they 
have increased on seven occasions with the last move to 3.5% on the 15 December 
2022. The aim of these increases is to bring inflation down to the 2% inflationary 
target the bank has been set by the government. Further increases are not being ruled 
out and the expectation is that it could take 2 to 3 years for inflation to come back in 
line with the target. 

s151 Officer Advice on Robustness of the Budget and Adequacy of Reserves  

177. In setting the budget the Director of Finance, as the Councils section 151 (s151) 
officer, is required under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 to report on the 
robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves supporting the budget. The 
requirement on the s151 officer is to ensure that the annual budget recommended to 
council is balanced (i.e., Forecast expenditure matches forecast income), is robust 
and therefore deliverable and has an adequate level of reserves. The s151 officer is 
required to ensure that the council’s approved budget addresses these three issues .  

178. Ultimately, Council will determine the level of reserves and balances formally in setting 
the annual budget. The advice of the Chief Finance Officer must, though, be formally 
recorded. 

179. The formal s25 Report of the s151 Officer is included as Appendix 10 to this report. In 
line with recommended good practice this separate report has been prepared in 
consultation with the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The conclusion of the formal s25 
report is that Council’s s151 Officer considers that the budget has been drafted based 
on an approach which is more traditional or conventional and that the council has 
responded positively to the cost-of-living crisis by way of its mitigation strategy. There 
is also sufficient evidence to support the estimates being used to prepare the budget 
for 2023/24 as robust provided the planned contributions to unearmarked reserves are 
made and the base revenue budget contingency is maintained at £2.2m. Particularly 
salient to this comment is the fact that the budget assumes the delivery of £35.1m in 
annualised savings and efficiencies which is almost equivalent to the total savings 
budgeted over the entire previous 3 year period and this £35.1m includes £6.5m in 
transformation savings which are unitemised and is not associated with an individual 
service area for delivery. Also included is a £2m saving from the council’s employee 

129



base by increasing the % not budgeted to 5% where appropriate to reflect the level of 
typical unfilled vacancies during the year.  

180. It is clear that the future financial sustainability of the council continues to be vested in 
the success of its transformation investment programme which is at the core of the 
process to bring expenditure in line with ongoing expenditure.  

181. Councillors should also be aware of the risks with the MTFP assumptions from 
2024/25 onwards. 

a)  transformation savings assumed at the higher end of the range, which peers would 
always point out are prone to optimism. 

b)  an assumption of £26.1m in service specific transformation savings within 
Children’s and Adult services. Evidence from 2022/23 shows that the investment in 
Children’s services was part of its improvement journey rather than clearly 
identifiable with transformational savings and within Adult Social Care, other than a 
relatively small programme around investment in technology, no other meaningful 
transformation programmes have yet been established. 

182. Councillors should also carefully consider the risks set out in the summary of risk and 
risk assessment sections of this report.  

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

183. A report on the HRA and rent setting is included as a separate item on the agenda for 
this meeting and should be considered alongside this report to councillors in setting 
the budget for 2023/24. 

Chief Officers’ Pay Policy Statement 

184. Further to the provisions of the Localism Act 2011, the council is required to publish its 
local Chief Officers’ Pay Policy on an annual basis for consideration by council before 
31 March each year.  

185. The council’s pay policy has been duly prepared by the human resources and 
organisational development service and is attached as Appendix 12 to this report to 
ensure the council is able to consider it this year in accordance with the statutory 
timetable as prescribed by government. 

186. For 2023/24 the policy has been updated to reflect changes associated with special 
severance payments, pay supplement policy, and the scheme of delegation. 

Scheme of councillor allowances 

187. The council is required to adopt an annual scheme of councillor allowances as 
specified under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003. 

188. Council on 24 November 2020 agreed a scheme of members’ allowances for 2020/21 
which included the principle that there would be no increase in the basic allowance for 
2021/22 (frozen at £12,844) and future increases (from 2022/23 onwards) would be 
linked to the local government national pay award. The budget as proposed assumes 
this increase will be 4.25%. 

189. As part of the proposed budget, provision has been made for a total cost of £1.549m 
in 2023/24. 

130



Consultation 

190. Under Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, councils have a 
statutory duty to consult with representatives of business rate payers on its proposed 
expenditure for the following year. Business leaders across Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole were invited to attend a presentation held on 3 February 2023 
on the budget for 2023/24 and Medium-Term Financial Plan from the BCP Council 
Leader, Chief Executive, and the Chief Financial Officer. 

191. The necessary additional resources, savings and efficiencies required to balance the 
budget over the next four years will each need to be reviewed to determine the extent 
to which they may require consultation. Consideration will also need to be given to the 
relevant period, stakeholder groups and method of consultation. 

Option Appraisal 

192. Numerous alternative permutations are possible around budget and council tax 
strategies for 2023/24. Any alternatives considered will need to be supported by an 
appropriate level of due diligence and the advice of the statutory officers. 

Summary of financial implications 

193. As set out in detail throughout the report. 

194. Councillors should consider how effective the 2023/24 proposed budget will be in 
supporting the financial sustainability of BCP Council. 

Summary of legal implications 

195. The council has a fiduciary duty to its taxpayers to be prudent in the administration of 
the funds it holds on their behalf and an equal duty to consider the interests of their 
community which benefit from the services it provides. 

196. It is the responsibility of councillors to ensure the council sets a balanced budget for 
the forthcoming year. In setting, such a budget councillors and officers of the council 
have a legal requirement to ensure it is balanced in a manner which reflects the needs 
of both current and future taxpayers in discharging these responsibilities. In essence, 
this is a direct reference to ensure that Council sets a financially sustainable budget 
which is mindful of the long-term consequences of any short-term decisions. 

197. As a billing authority, failure to set a legal budget by 11 March may lead to intervention 
from the Secretary of State under section 15 of the Local Government Act 1999. It 
should however be noted that the deadline is in reality, the 1 March to allow sufficient 
time for the council tax direct debit process to be adhered to.  

Summary of human resources implications 

198. There are no direct human resource implications of this report. However, the MTFP 
and budget will have a direct impact on the level of services delivered by the council, 
the mechanisms by which those services are delivered and the associated staffing 
establishment. 

199. This report acknowledges that the transformation programme and the actions 
necessary to manage future years funding gaps are likely to have an impact on future 
staffing levels. 

 

131



Levelling Up Implications 

200. The government’s ambition to level up the United Kingdom is about levelling up 
opportunity and prosperity and overcoming deep-seated geographical inequalities. It is 
also about levelling up people’s pride in the places they love and seeing that reflected 
in empowered local leaders and communities. On 14th December 2022, Cabinet noted 
the excellent work to positively take forward the Levelling Up agenda and agreed that 
work on it should continue, focusing on agreed priorities.  

201. On the 13 April 2022 BCP Council received notification of a three-year allocation 
(2022/23 to 2024/25) of £4.196m from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) and 
for £1.723m for the adult numeracy programme (Multiply). An overall total of £5.919m. 

202. The funding is designed to support three local priorities: communities and place, 
support for local businesses, and people and skills.  

203. Council with partners from business, education, and the community, and in 
consultation with approval from the relevant Portfolio Holders, developed and 
submitted to government an evidenced based investment plan. This set out how the 
funding will be targeted on local priorities and against measurable goals, deliverable 
over the period 2022 to 2025. The plan focused on 17 interventions from the 41 
provided by government, which best help to deliver existing council strategies. The 
council’s investment plan was approved by government in December 2022, and first 
year funds have been paid to the council. Members were briefed on the plan in 
January 2023 and were asked for their support in promoting the fund in their wards. 
Work is now underway to set up the appropriate governance and to create the 
projects that will deliver the outputs and outcomes in the plan. More details can be 
found in the separate report on this Cabinet agenda.  

204. On the 19 January 2023, the council was informed that its round two application to the 
Levelling Up Fund for “BCP Coastal Communities Infrastructure” had been successful 
and £18.160m awarded. The council was unfortunately unsuccessful in securing 
funding for “Hamworthy Waterfront” and “The Lighthouse Quarter, Poole”. Due to the 
delay from Government in announcing awards, the original expenditure timeline over 
the next two financial years until 31 March 2025 may be extended. Funds will be 
focused on repairs to Bournemouth pier, stabilisation of the East Cliff and the creation 
of a new lifeguard training and education centre. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

205. Consideration has been given as part of this budget for 2023/24 of ways in which BCP 
Council could contribute to environmental improvements / targets and by example 
encourage this approach in those with whom it deals. The intention therefore is to 
continue to protect the £480,000 annual budget supporting climate change and 
ecological emergency activity. 

206. The accommodation and business transformation programmes underlying the MTFP 
will make the council more environmentally friendly through a reduced estate and 
different ways of working, including the continued ability for staff to work effectively 
from home. This will reduce energy consumption and pollution levels as well as 
produce savings to protect services. 

207. In addition to the environmental and social impacts of climate change, there is a risk to 
BCP Council of significant financial consequences if it fails to meet its declared 
climate targets. Council has pledged to become carbon neutral by 2030 as an 
organisation and lead the area to become net zero carbon ahead of the 2050 national 

132

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s38124/Levelling%20Up%20-%20progress%20report.pdf


target. Based on forecasts from the London School of Economics the council would 
have to incur costs of over £3m per annum to purchase the necessary offsetting 
carbon credits to meet the carbon neutral pledge in 2030. Clearly this cost will act as 
an incentive to the council to prioritise the activity and investment necessary to meet 
this priority. 

Summary of public health implications 

208. The budget as proposed aims to assist the council and its community address the 
legacy consequences of the global Covid-19 public health emergency.  

209. Council continues to seek to maintain appropriate services for vulnerable residents as 
well as improve the sustainability of services important for the wellbeing of all 
residents. 

Summary of equality implications 

210. BCP Council has a fiduciary duty to its taxpayers to be prudent in the administration of 
the funds it holds on their behalf and an equal duty to consider the interests of their 
community which benefit from the services it provides. In this budget the council has 
sought to maintain appropriate services for the most vulnerable as well as improve the 
sustainability of services important for the wellbeing of all residents. 

211. The impacts of the council budget for 2023/24 have been assessed considering the 
nine protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation) and the locally observed characteristics (low socio-economic status, 
armed forces veterans, carers, children in care and care experienced young people, 
local businesses and organisations). The Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
six domains of equality measurement framework have also been considered, 
identified as the areas of life that are important to people and that enable them to 
flourish. These are: Education, Work, Living standards, Health, Justice and personal 
security, and Participation. 

212. Positive and cumulative impacts on the protected characteristics of age and disability 
groups have been identified throughout this Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) as 
investments are being made in key areas to improve services for our most vulnerable 
residents including older people, those who are disabled and children.  

213. As part of the budget, council tax is being raised to support increased service 
provision, which will have a positive impact on many residents. Mitigating actions have 
been identified to support those who would be most negatively affected. 

214. Individual equality impact assessments should support some of the decisions noted in 
this EIA, for example with service-based savings and efficiencies and this has been 
noted under mitigating actions where relevant. 

215. The full EINA is included as Appendix 11 to this report. 

Summary of risk assessment 

216. A key element of the reorganisation of local government in Dorset was the opportunity 
to best protect public services as central government reduced the core funding it 
provides to local authorities and both the demand for, and cost of, local services 
continued to rise.  

 

133



217. This report and the outlined actions will form part of the mitigation strategy associated 
with the risks to the delivery of the council’s objectives due to the level of available 
resources. 

218. Throughout this report reference has been made to several key risks the council is 
currently exposed. Members are reminded of the following key risks.  

 Uncertainty. High levels of financial planning uncertainty at this time caused 

principally by the cost-of-living crisis. Associated with this is the level of general 
sensitivity around changes to the level of demand for services. 

 2022/23 Forecast Outturn. Ensuring delivery of a £10.1m surplus in 2022/23 to 

confirm it is available for drawn down in support of the 2023/24 budget. 

 Accumulating Deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Technically as at 

the 31 March 2024 the council is projected to be insolvent as the accumulated 
deficit on the DSG is predicted to be greater than the council’s general fund 
reserves. The council is only able to avoid a s114 notice due to a statutory override 
that will allow the deficit to be ignored up to the 31 March 2026. It should be noted 
that the council does though have to cover as part of its general fund budget the 
financial implications of financing the cashflow associated with this deficit, less 
interest, greater borrowing, or a combination of the two. As it stands and without 
government support the council is predicted to be insolvent on the 1 April 2026. 

 Delivery of £32.9m of List One and £2.6m of List Two savings. There is a 

significant inherent risk associated with delivering £35.5m in savings. Corporate 
directors and service directors have expressed confidence in being able to deliver 

each of the savings’ proposals, but there is a collective risk in managing and 
delivering this volume of savings in a short space of time. 

 External Intervention - External Auditor (EA). The EA has qualified their latest 

Value for Money judgement on the council due to significant weaknesses in its 
arrangements for financial sustainability. They will be reviewing progress carefully 
and will not hesitate to act if they deem it necessary to do so. This risk will increase 
if the budget includes and assumptions which are not robust or evidenced based or 
which deviate from traditional local government practices. 

 External Intervention – Department for Education (DfE). The council’s 

Children’s Services received an Inadequate Ofsted judgement in February 2022. 
Subsequently DfE appointed an Improvement Adviser as a form of intervention and 

are clear that if progress is not effective in the short term the question of a 
structural intervention, such as a children’s trust, may be brought forward. This 

would be deemed an expensive and unsatisfactory outcome for the council. 

 Use of One-Off resources to balance the 2023/24 Budget. The application of 

reserves and one-off resources to balance the budget of the council reduces its 
future financial flexibility and resilience.  The 2023/24 budget proposes to . 

 Utilise the £10.1m forecast financial outturn for the current 2022/23 financial year 
which will be carried forward via an earmarked reserve. 

 

 Utilise £5.3m in reprovisioned earmarked reserves to support the 2023/24 budget. 
 

 Utilise the £14.2m cost of living mitigation resources set aside based on the 2021/22 
financial outturn to support the 2023/24 budget. These will be carried forward via an 
earmarked reserve. 

 

134



 Increase in debt threshold to £1.334 billion. Council in November 2022 agreed 

to increase the Council’s debt threshold from £855m to £1.334bn mainly in support 
of its “big plan” objectives including the delivery of regeneration and housing 
schemes. It should be recognised that the repayment of debt takes precedence 
over even the delivery of statutory services. All debt, even if supported by the most 
robust of business cases, involves a level of risk around the variables and 
assumptions, and therefore places a level of potential exposure on local resources. 

 Capitalisation Direction. If government does not agree to a final £20m 

capitalisation direction for 2022/23 and if the additional asset sales are not 

delivered in 2022/23 then the council would have no other option than to fund the 
current 2022/23 estimated cost of its transformation programme from its own 

scarce resources. All things being equal this would impede the ability to set a legal, 
balanced budget for 2023/24 budget without further significant additional service 

reductions. 
 

 BCP FuturePlaces Ltd. Council have committed a £8m working capital loan to 

BCP FuturePlaces Ltd a wholly owned teckal company established to drive the 
Councils regeneration ambitions. They recover expenditure incurred principally by 

being paid for successful business cases approved by the Council. The council has 
potential exposure based on two fronts. 

1. any amounts drawn down from the loan which ultimately prove to be 
unrecoverable. 

2. any payments to BCP FuturePlaces for Outline Business Cases which the 
council charges against capital and which then must be written off as it decides 
not to progress with the Full Business Case.  

 Social Care Reforms. There is a significant risk that the government grant funding 

to cover the cost of these reforms will be insufficient to cover their cost. The 
Autumn’s Statement announcement of their delay from October 2023 to October 
2025 will provide more time to consider more thoroughly any funding gap and 
implementation issues. 

219. Additionally, the council has operational risks not previously referenced including.  

Companies. BCP operates several companies and third-party arrangements with 

these organisations exposed to their own set of financial and operational risks. As 
such the council would only provide for its share of such risks in circumstances were 
the risk is likely to materialise. 

Background papers 

February 2022 Budget report to Council. 

Appendix 3 s25 Reserves Report CFO. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=4812&Ver=4 

June 2022 MTFP Update report to Cabinet.  

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5011&Ver=4 

Finance Update (including Quarter One 2022/13 Budget Monitoring) report to 7 September 
2022 Cabinet. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5013&Ver=4 

135

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=4812&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5011&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5013&Ver=4


Addendum to the 7 September 2022 Finance Update (including quarter one budget 
monitoring) report to Cabinet. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5013&Ver=4 

Finance Strategy Update report to 28 September 2022 Cabinet. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5014&Ver=4 

Finance Strategy Update report to 26 October 2022 Cabinet. 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5015&Ver=4 

Finance Strategy Update report to 23 November 2022 Cabinet 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5016&Ver=4 

2022/23 Budget Monitoring and Financial Strategy Update report to Cabinet 14 December 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5017&Ver=4 

All these reports were subject to the scrutiny arrangements. Generally, this was in the form 

of specific Corporate and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committees. In addition, all 

councillors were invited to the Budget Café’s which were run on the 7 December 2022 and 
the 18 January 2023. 

Appendices   

Appendix 1 Letter from DLUHC Lee Rowley to Council Leader – 25 January 2023 

Appendix 2 Outstanding Policy Documents 

Appendix 3 Analysis of Budget Engagement exercise 

Appendix 4 Schedule of Council Tax by area (to follow after all precepts have been set) 

Appendix 5 2022/23 December 2022 Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring information 

Appendix 5a 2022/23 Variance Analysis 

Appendix 5b 2022/23 General Fund Summary 

Appendix 5c 2022/23 HRA Revenue - budget monitoring 

Appendix 5d 2022/23 HRA Capital - budget monitoring 

Appendix 6  Budget Summary and Absolute MTFP 

Appendix 6a  Schedule of savings and efficiencies – List One and List Two 

Appendix 7  Capital Investment Programme detail 

Appendix 7a CIP individual project listing 

Appendix 7b CIP narrative by directorate 

Appendix 7c CIP IT and IS capital infrastructure investment plan 

Appendix 8 Asset Management Plan 

Appendix 9  Treasury Management Strategy (including prudential indicators) 

Appendix 9a Treasury Management Policy and Practices 

Appendix 9b Summary of Proposed CFR Debt 

Appendix 10  s25 Report Chief Finance Officer 

Appendix 10a Reserves schedule 

 Appendix 11 Equalities Impact Needs Assessment (EINA) 

Appendix 12  Chief Officers’ Pay Policy Statement 
 

136

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5013&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5014&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5015&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5016&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5017&Ver=4


137



This page is intentionally left blank

138



Appendix 2 

BCP Council Policy and Strategy Documents 

The Council’s Constitution sets out that the Key Policy Framework includes the Corporate 
Plan and any policy or strategy required by law or by the council.   

The council has identified the policy and strategy documents required to ensure the vision 
and priorities of the council are clear and that they are achieved through robust practice 
which aligns with the council’s culture and behaviours. 

The ongoing process of policy harmonisation and creation has ensured 149 policy 
documents are in place across the Council and a further 18 will be in place within the next 12 
months which are set out in below:  

Approval 
date 

Policy document 

February 2023 

 

 Housing Revenue Account Budget setting and Delivery Plans 

 Rent Setting Policy 

 Service Charge Policy 

 Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

 Corporate Property & Asset Management Strategy & Plan - outputs of phase 1 

March 2023  Community Asset Transfer Policy 

April 2023  Regeneration Strategy 

May 2023  Local Transport Plan 

July 2023 

 

 Education Strategy and Plan 

 Building Control Dangerous Structures, Demolitions, Scaffold Licenses and 
Enforcement Policy 

 Child Exploitation Policy 

January 2024 

 

 Pay and Allowances Policy  

 Travel and Subsistence  

 Leave and Time Off  

 Local Strategy for Flood Risk Management  

March 2024  Housing Revenue Account Asset Management Strategy and LT Business Plan 

2025  BCP Local Plan 

Pending 
Government 
Legislation 

 Waste Strategy 

 
A policy register hosted on the Council’s website lists those in place. 

139

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/About-the-council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Strategies-plans-and-policies.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank

140



26/01/2023

BCP Council Budget Engagement 2023/24
Results

Methodology

The survey ran for five weeks 
(Friday 18 November - Friday 23 December 2022)

The survey was available online at 
haveyoursay.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/budget

Hard copies were available in libraries

2

1

2

141



26/01/2023

Communication
The engagement was promoted widely through a variety 
of channels including:

• Local media coverage
• The council’s social media channels
• Community and resident group facebook pages
• The council’s e-newsletters
• Posters and survey material in all BCP libraries
• Drop in events in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole – including 

handing out postcards in the town centres
• All council colleagues were encouraged to share with their networks.

3

Response 
1,473 people completed an online or paper survey.

There is some overlap between groups e.g. someone may be a BCP 
resident and also work in the BCP area or for BCP Council

249 people submitted an idea on the ideas wall

4

Are you responding as: Number

an individual living in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area 1214
someone who works in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area 350
an organisation, group or business working within the Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole area 46
someone who works for BCP Council 201
Other 135

3

4

142



26/01/2023

Resident respondent profile
Age group

Sex

Sexual orientation

Disability

Ethnicity

Religion

8%

16%

21%

24%

20%

10%

16 - 34 years

35 - 44 years

45 - 54 years

55 - 64 years

65 -74 years

75+

58%

42%

Female

Male

92%

8%

Heterosexual

Gay / Lesbian /
Other

23%

77%

Disability

No disability

93%

7%

White British

Minority Ethnic

47%

50%

4%

No
religion

Christian

Other

Most important council services (1 of 2)
(select all that apply) (BCP residents)

6

45%

45%

48%

50%

53%

54%

57%

63%

66%

69%

71%

72%

73%

82%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Providing community services including community centres and community
development

Providing environmental health services

Making sure the area has enough good quality homes, including affordable homes for
local people

Managing the road network to address congestion

Providing libraries

Helping people who are homeless

Providing Community Safety Patrolling Officers, monitoring CCTV and investigating
incidents of anti social behaviour

Supporting schools and education

Keeping streets clean

Providing social care services for vulnerable children and keeping them safe

Maintaining roads and pavements

Maintaining parks, playgrounds, open spaces including the seafront

Providing social care services for elderly people and those with disabilities and helping
them to lead independent lives

Collecting rubbish and recycling

5

6

143



26/01/2023

Most important council services (2 of 2)
(select all that apply) (BCP residents)

7

6%

17%

26%

31%

35%

35%

35%

38%

39%

40%

40%

41%

41%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Other

Organising and supporting events

Providing museums

Encouraging tourism

Supporting local businesses and entrepreneurs

Providing concessionary travel schemes

Providing highway and road safety improvements, walking and cycling facilities

Working to improve air quality and impact on the environment

Providing car parks and parking services

Supporting theatres, music and galleries

Encouraging economic investment in the area

Providing sports and leisure facilities

Providing planning and building control services

Most important council services (All)

Works in area

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Adult Social 
Care

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Parks, 
playgrounds, 
open spaces 
and seafront

• Roads and 
pavements

Works for BCP 
Council

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Adult Social 
Care

• Schools and 
education

• Parks, 
playgrounds, 
open spaces 
and seafront

Business or 
organisation

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Adult Social 
Care

• Schools and 
education

• Supporting 
local 
businesses

Other respondent 
type

• Encouraging 
tourism

• Car parks and 
parking

• Parks, 
playgrounds, 
open spaces 
and seafront

• Supporting 
local 
businesses

• Adult Social 
Care

8

7

8

144



26/01/2023

BCP residents top 5 most important services (1 of 2)

9

12%

13%

15%

16%

17%

19%

21%

24%

25%

26%

33%

44%

50%

51%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Supporting theatres, music and galleries

Encouraging economic investment in the area

Managing the road network to address congestion

Keeping streets clean

Providing libraries

Making sure the area has enough good quality homes, including affordable homes for local people

Helping people who are homeless

Providing Community Safety Patrolling Officers, monitoring CCTV and investigating incidents of
anti social behaviour

Maintaining parks, playgrounds, open spaces including the seafront

Maintaining roads and pavements

Supporting schools and education

Providing social care services for vulnerable children and keeping them safe

Collecting rubbish and recycling

Providing social care services for elderly people and those with disabilities and helping them to
lead independent lives

BCP residents top 5 most important services (2 of 2)

10

2%

2%

3%

6%

6%

7%

7%

8%

8%

8%

9%

11%

11%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Organising and supporting events

Other

Providing museums

Providing planning and building control services

Providing sports and leisure facilities

Encouraging tourism

Providing car parks and parking services

Providing concessionary travel schemes

Providing environmental health services

Providing highway and road safety improvements, walking and cycling facilities

Supporting local businesses and entrepreneurs

Providing community services including community centres and community development

Working to improve air quality and impact on the environment

9

10

145



26/01/2023

Most important council services (Top 5)

Works in area

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Adult Social 
Care

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Schools and 
education

• Parks, 
playgrounds, 
open spaces 
and seafront

Works for BCP 
Council

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Adult Social 
Care

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Schools and 
education

• Good quality 
homes and 
affordable 
housing

Business or 
organisation

• Adult Social 
Care

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Schools and 
education

• Rubbish and 
recycling

• Supporting 
local 
businesses

Other respondent 
type

• Encouraging 
tourism

• Car parks and 
parking

• Adult Social 
Care

• Children’s 
Social Care

• Rubbish and 
recycling

11

Importance by age group (Top 5)
Aged 16-34

• Children’s Social Care
• Adult Social Care
• Schools and education
• Rubbish and recycling
• Helping the homeless

Aged 35-44

• Schools and education
• Children’s Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Adult Social Care
• Parks, playgrounds, open 

spaces and seafront

Aged 45-54

• Adult Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Children’s Social Care
• Schools and education
• Parks, playgrounds, open 

spaces and seafront

Aged 55-64

• Adult Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Children’s Social Care
• Schools and education
• Parks, playgrounds, open 

spaces and seafront

Aged 65-74

• Adult Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Children’s Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Schools and education

Aged 75+

• Adult Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Children’s Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Libraries
• Schools and education

11

12

146



26/01/2023

Importance by sex (Top 5)

Male

• Rubbish and recycling
• Adult Social Care
• Children's Social Care
• Schools and education
• Roads and pavements

Female

• Adult Social Care
• Children's Social Care
• Rubbish and recycling
• Schools and education
• Parks, playgrounds 

and open spaces 
including seafront

BCP residents top 5 service for improvement (1 of 2)

14

13%

14%

15%

17%

18%

20%

23%

26%

27%

28%

32%

32%

38%

41%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Providing community services including community centres and community
development

Working to improve air quality and impact on the environment

Collecting rubbish and recycling

Maintaining parks, playgrounds, open spaces including the seafront

Encouraging economic investment in the area

Supporting schools and education

Keeping streets clean

Making sure the area has enough good quality homes, including affordable homes for
local people

Providing Community Safety Patrolling Officers, monitoring CCTV and investigating
incidents of anti social behaviour

Helping people who are homeless

Managing the road network to address congestion

Providing social care services for vulnerable children and keeping them safe

Maintaining roads and pavements

Providing social care services for elderly people and those with disabilities and helping
them to lead independent lives

13

14

147



26/01/2023

15

2%

3%

5%

6%

7%

7%

7%

8%

9%

10%

11%

11%

12%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Providing museums

Organising and supporting events

Other

Providing sports and leisure facilities

Providing concessionary travel schemes

Providing environmental health services

Providing libraries

Encouraging tourism

Providing planning and building control services

Providing car parks and parking services

Providing highway and road safety improvements, walking and cycling facilities

Supporting local businesses and entrepreneurs

Supporting theatres, music and galleries

BCP residents top 5 service for improvement (1 of 2)

Services most need improving (Top 5)

Works in area

• Adult Social Care
• Children’s Social 

Care
• Roads and 

pavements
• Good quality 

homes and 
affordable 
housing

• Congestion
• Helping the 

homeless

Works for BCP 
Council

• Children’s Social 
Care

• Adult Social Care
• Congestion
• Roads and 

pavements
• Good quality 

homes and 
affordable 
housing

Business or 
organisation

• Adult Social Care
• Children’s Social 

Care
• Supporting local 

businesses
• Schools and 

education
• Community safety

Other respondent

• Encouraging 
tourism

• Car parks 
and parking

• Adult Social Care
• Parks, 

playgrounds and 
open spaces 
including seafront

• Good quality 
homes and 
affordable 
housing

16

15

16

148



26/01/2023

Improving by age group
Aged 16-34

• Helping the homeless
• Good quality homes and 

affordable housing
• Congestion
• Roads and pavements
• Children’s Social Care

Aged 35-44

• Helping the homeless
• Congestion
• Children’s Social Care
• Schools and education
• Community safety

Aged 45-54

• Adult Social Care
• Children’s Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Congestion
• Helping the homeless

Aged 55-64

• Adult Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Children’s Social Care
• Community safety
• Helping the homeless
• Congestion

Aged 65-74

• Adult Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Congestion
• Children's Social Care
• Community safety

Aged 75+

• Adult Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Congestion
• Community safety
• Good quality homes and 

affordable housing

Improving by sex

Male

• Roads and pavements
• Adult Social Care
• Congestion
• Helping the homeless
• Children's Social Care

Female

• Adult Social Care
• Children's Social Care
• Roads and pavements
• Congestion
• Community safety
• Helping the homeless
• Good quality homes 

and affordable housing

17

18

149



26/01/2023

Important / improving (BCP residents)

19

Most important and most in need 
of improving

Most important / below average 
score for needing improvement

• Adult Social Care
• Children’s Social Care
• Maintaining roads and pavements
• Helping people who are homeless
• Community safety
• Good quality homes and affordable 

housing
• Supporting schools and education
• Maintaining parks, playgrounds and open 

spaces including seafront

• Rubbish and recycling
• Providing libraries

Important / improving (BCP residents)

20

Most needs improving not as 
important

Below average important and 
improving

• Encouraging economic investment in the area
• Keeping streets clean
• Managing the road network to address 

congestion

• Improve air quality / impact on the 
environment

• Community services
• Supporting theatres, music and galleries
• Highway and road safety improvements
• Supporting local businesses and entrepreneurs
• Car parks and parking services
• Planning and building control services
• Encouraging tourism
• Concessionary travel schemes
• Environmental health services
• Sports and leisure facilities
• Organising and supporting events
• Providing museums

19

20

150



26/01/2023

How would you spend £100 on council 
services?

21

How would you spend £100 on council 
services? (by respondent type)

22

£16.11

£15.24

£11.59

£9.15

£8.51

£8.01

£6.93

£5.91

£4.24

£4.22

£4.13

£3.23

£2.58

Adult Social Care

Children's Social Care

Education and CYP services

Environment

Roads, Transport and Eng.

Housing

Communities

Destination and Culture

Economic Development

Support services

Libraries

Planning

Customer contact centres

£19.13

£16.77

£12.29

£8.22

£6.98

£7.88

£6.49

£4.56

£3.72

£4.15

£3.46

£2.99

£3.24

£12.50

£13.45

£16.49

£7.70

£8.63

£6.49

£9.00

£3.90

£9.30

£4.47

£3.06

£2.67

£2.35

£13.88

£13.26

£12.07

£9.84

£12.38

£8.80

£5.35

£6.87

£5.70

£4.27

£3.04

£3.02

£1.26

Works in area Works for BCP Council
Business / 
organisation Other

21

22

151



26/01/2023

Services used in last 12 months (1/3)

23

83%

77%

74%

64%

54%

51%

46%

45%

42%

33%

30%

28%

Parks and open spaces

Seafront and beaches

Council car parks or parking services

Household recycling centre

Green waste service

Libraries

Events (including arts by the sea, air festival etc)

Cycle or walking facilities

Theatres, dance and music venues

Leisure centres

Council contact centre - website

Concessionary bus travel

Services used in last 12 months (2/3)

24

28%

23%

21%

20%

19%

16%

13%

12%

10%

10%

9%

8%

Museums and galleries

Play areas

Potholes and highway defects reporting

Public health services

Council contact centre - over the phone

Planning and building control services

Education and child care services (including services for children with
special educational needs and disabilities)

Community services (including community centres, community
development, Anti-Social Behaviour Team)

Environmental health (including Trading Standards, food hygiene, noise
nuisance)

Registration services (including births, deaths, ceremonies and land
registry)

Outdoor paddling pools

Services for older people (including nursing, residential, home and day
care)

23

24

152



26/01/2023

Services used in last 12 months (3/3)

25

8%

6%

5%

5%

5%

4%

4%

3%

3%

3%

2%

2%

1%

Services for people with a physical disability, learning disability or mental
health need, or who are blind, deaf or have a visual/auditory impairment

Bereavement services

Community transport

Economic development

Support for carers

Children social care (including welfare, fostering and adoption and child
protection)

Council contact centre - in person

Home to school transport

Youth clubs and youth services

Other

Housing and homelessness services

Premises and Taxi licenses

Home to day care transport

Comments and ideas

26

25

26

153



26/01/2023

Comments, ideas and suggestions
This section collates and summarises the main themes from comments 
in the survey and Ideas Wall in response to the following questions:

27

Do you have any ideas as to how 
BCP Council could change 

or reduce services or generate 
income to help meet the 

budget pressures?

How can BCP Council work with 
residents, community and business 
organisations to deliver services for 

our area?

– the majority of ideas relate to making savings, 
generating income as well as other general comments

Survey Ideas Board

Survey

28

• 992 responses to 
this survey question.

• The main themes 
with over 45 
attributed responses 
to reduce services, 
save money or raise 
income are:

Parking 246

Council staff 239

Roads and Transport 186

Economic development 104

Perception of wasting money 96

Councillors 67

More fines 61

Tourism 59

Council tax 58

Selling off offices / renting space 55

Waste and environment 53

Getting involved and volunteering 49

Utility costs 47

27

28

154



26/01/2023

Ideas Wall

29

The main ideas cover:

Other ideas are ‘selling or renting out assets/premises’, ‘Parish Councils and 
Mayors’ and ‘preventative work’

Contributors could ‘like’ and ‘comment’ on each idea.

Note: those ideas posted earlier in the engagement will achieve higher ‘likes’.

Roads and Transport 53
Parking 30
Waste and environment 23
Getting involved and volunteering 17
Council staff 15
Council Tax 10
Perception of wasting money 5

and 112 
COMMENTS

Parking

30

246 survey responses and 30 ideas relate to parking. This theme includes 
comments and suggestions about:

• Parking charges - increase parking charges (especially near beaches), 
reduce parking charges (especially for locals), free parking in town centres, 
parking permit for locals, more permit-only areas (69 survey comments, 12 
Ideas)

• Parking enforcement – increase parking fines, more parking enforcement, 
reduced parking enforcement team, more towing/clamping, introduce 
ANPR, more CCTV, new bylaws for parking offences, app for residents to 
submit/report nearby parking offences (50 Survey comments, 5 Ideas)

• Overnight parking - charge for overnight parking especially 
for campervans/motorhomes (137 Survey comments, 1 Idea)

29

30

155



26/01/2023

Parking

31

"BCP annual car park pass 
to cover beaches and town 

car parks. Poole has a 
beach pass but not 

Bournemouth. I would come 
into town more if I didn’t 

need to pay for additional 
car parking when it’s free at 
Castlepoint so if there was 

an annual pass I’d be happy 
to pay annually or quarterly."

"Free parking in towns such as Boscombe for 
up to an hour. Otherwise people, including 
me, avoid popping in for the daily or weekly 

grocery shop, instead driving further to shops 
with free parking such as Castlepoint or the 

huge Tesco"

"Allow overnight Aire type parking for 
motorhomes. This generates direct 

income for the council, indirect spending 
in local businesses and prevents 

unwanted littering or vandalism by 
having a presence in hotspots."

Parking continued...

32

"More parking warden patrols during 
high season to both create revenue 
from tickets and discourage illegal 
parking in busy areas such as the 

beach. Introduce charges for 
overnight parking for campervans as 

occurs in other council areas. "

"There is a chronic problem with 
parking in the summer and it 

would generate income if the cost 
of parking was to be made more 
expensive near the beaches and 
the supervision of parking control 

... and giving out tickets was much 
more frequent."

"Increase parking charges 
at peak times, especially 
those near beaches in 

summer Monetise the busy 
stretches of beach in 

summer Introduce resident 
parking schemes in 

congested areas such as 
Winton, with scaled pricing 
(initially free for 1st car, pay 
for second car, pay more for 

3rd car - prices to go up 
every few years as walking, 

cycling and buses 
infrastructure improves)."

"Charge for all 
clifftop parking 
over summer. 

No free parking 
at all"

"Allow residents to report poor parking, or parking 
facilities abuse in all and any car parks, cycle lanes, and 
streets etc, in the conurbations so that revenue can be 
raised from these selfish drivers by the submission of 

photographic evidence and subsequent issuing of a fine."

31

32

156



26/01/2023

Roads and transport

33

186 survey responses and 69 ideas relate to roads and transport. This theme 
includes comments and suggestions about:

• cycle lanes - this included removing cycle lanes, stop building them, with a 
minority of people saying we need more for active travel (113 survey comments, 
11 Ideas)

• park and ride – build/encourage use of park and ride, use the site for motorhome 
owners (16 survey comments, 4 Ideas)

• introducing a congestion/toll charge (13 survey comments)

• changing concessionary travel – means tested, pay a small contribution, more 
concessionary fares (11 survey comments)

Other topics include roadworks (spend less, better co-ordination, charge companies 
digging up the road for repairs), buses (better public transport, increase services, cut 
services, reduce fares) and BERYL bikes/e-scooters (stop wasting money on them)

Roads and transport

34

"Stop bus passes for 
older people unless 

means tested"

"The Council should 
consider introduction of toll 

roads across the 
conurbation" "Introduce 

congestion zones in the 
town centres for Bourne

mouth, Poole and 
Christchurch and a levy 
against businesses who 

don't offer employees 
cycle schemes / 

facilities "

"Introduce 
congestion charges for 

private cars in the 
town centre (to simulta

neously, generate 
income, encourage 
public transport and 
reduce emissions in 
the town centre)."

"Bus pass holders to 
pay £1 per bus 

journey"
"Disincentivise cars / 
create a low emission 

zone."

33

34

157



26/01/2023

Roads and transport continued..

35

"2) at peak times of year 
charge an entry road toll for 
visitors to access the town. 

This would also help address 
illegal parking and congestion 

problems. 3) charge for 
access to the overcliff during 

the airshow."

"Concentrate on keeping traffic 
moving rather than wasting limited 
taxpayer provided funds on little 

used cycle tracks. While I 
appreciate that environmental 

targets exist, any endeavours to 
meet them must be proportionate 

to the disruption caused."
"Set up a park 

and ride 
scheme on the 
edge of town 
and sell the 

open air town 
centre carparks 

for 
development."

"Park and ride 
schemes to 

beaches 
currently less 
used such as 
Southbourne, 
Hengistbury, 
Hamworthy."

"Reduce the amount of 
roadworks on developing 

cycle lanes. They simply do 
not get used in the volume 
that supports such costs 

outlay."

"1. Co-ordinate road works to 
reduce traffic congestion. 2. 

Prioritise road repairs instead of 
building cycle lanes (has any 

survey been carried out to establish 
cycle lane usage - it is low) I know 

cycle lanes funded from central 
government but still tax payers 

money"

36

Waste and environmental services
53 responses to the survey and 23 ‘ideas’ relate to waste/environmental services.

The main themes include:

• community clean ups / litter picking

• wildlife verges to reduce costs

• charge for HWRC

• open HRWC for longer to encourage less fly tipping

• increase prices for garden waste

• reduce prices for garden waste to encourage more recycling and less fly 
tipping

• less frequent recycling collection

• public waste bins that store in the ground to reduce collection frequency

35

36

158



26/01/2023

Waste and environmental services

37

"Wildlife verges 
to reduce 

maintenance 
costs and 

improve local 
biodiversity and 

air quality"

"Encourage community clean-ups where groups are 
provided with bins, equipment, paint and whatever else 
is needed to spruce-up their areas together rather than 
just relying on the council to do it. People will feel more 

invested in an area that they've helped to shape and 
look after and it will help to create communities who 

look out for each other"

"Charge for residents 
using the household 
recycling centres, as 
we have to pay extra 
for our green bins"

"Reduce the cost 
of green waste 

bins to 
encourage more 

recycling and 
less fly tipping"

"Increase garden waste price. 
Ask communities to donate to 

new playground/ environmental 
equipment . Collect garden 

waste every 3 weeks. Opening 
and closing times reduced."

Comments on staff
239 survey responses and 24 ideas relate to staff, including:

• procurement, outsourcing and agency staff – stop using agency 
workers, stop employing external consultants, outsource services, 
improve/overhaul procurement procedures (97 survey responses)

• management – less management, reduce senior management salaries, 
streamline management structure (81 survey responses)

• structures, processes and efficiency - reduce staff numbers, less 
bureaucracy, more joined up working across units, improve customer 
service, increase efficiency, increase productivity (64 survey responses)

Other topics included working from home (more remote/home working, stop 
home working), staff retention (better pay, make staff feel valued, reward 
staff) and staff training (more training, internal apprenticeship opportunities).

37

38

159



26/01/2023

Comments on staff
"Less management at higher levels; more value 
placed on good staff to keep them in post; more 

third sector commissions - cheaper for things 
like support and advice services; better use of 

existing facilities e.g. multi-use for staff, drop-ins, 
groups etc.; less on big corporate things e.g. 
functions with meals, gifts etc. and more for 

individual teams as thank you's for the hard work 
in difficult circumstances.""Procure as many goods and 

services as possible locally 
as from small businesses as 

policy to stimulate local 
economy and generate 
further council revenue"

"Don't use costly external 
consultants as the default 

option. Council staff know the 
area and issues better"

Comments on staff continued...
"Have a centralised ‘admin’ 
centre so that more highly 
paid professionals do not 
spend too much time on 

simple admin tasks and are 
therefore more efficient. Get 
value for money out of the 
higher paid professionals"

"Less homeworking, make staff 
more accessible to provide 

better services, which people 
will use. Review opening hrs
for each service to ensure they 
are appropriate and there are 

people around to use the 
services - this in turn will 

reduce staff costs."

"Improve customer service by 
training staff to answer more queries 
at first point of contact. The council 

has too many different telephone 
numbers and staff do not see to 

know what services offer"

"Look at where you are buying your 
resources from, shop around and stop 
using traditional suppliers - watch the 
pennies! Look at staff productivity and 
deal with staff sickness issues. Rent 
out assets. Cull the management tier 

and time wasting paperwork 
procedures - speak to the staff on the 

ground, they will tell you where the 
money is being wasted. Value your 

staff, it doesn't cost money to be kind 
and caring. Most staff will walk to the 
moon and back if they feel valued, it's 

not always about pay. Better staff 
retention saves money."

"Reduce use of external consultants, 
streamline management structure, reduce PR budget"

39

40

160



26/01/2023

Economic development
104 survey responses and 9 ideas relate to businesses and economic 
development, including lower business rates (particularly for small or local 
businesses), higher tax for big companies, pop-up shops, utilising empty 
shops and more investment in town centres.

"Increase business rates to high 
turnover companies"

"Reduce rates on business properties 
to reduce the number of unused 

shops and make it more attractive to 
people coming into the area to shop. "

"Increase tax on large, multi-
national companies (such as 
Lush) who reside in the BCP 
area - reinvest this back into 
the local area and enhance 
the place for their workers. 

Increase taxes on large 
companies who produce large 
pollution levels or waste levels 

to encourage recycling and 
moving to green initiatives"

"Reduce fixed tax for small 
businesses and take a 

percentage of profit. Town 
regeneration is needed badly."

"Lower business rates in local towns to 
encourage entrepreneurs"

"Rent out all empty shops fronts 
throughout the area, especially 
areas such as boscombe on a 

pop up (rent reduced plan) 
similar to the one trialled and 

excelled in Frome to local 
independant businesses."

Perception of wasting money
96 survey responses and 7 ideas relate to perceptions of wasting 
money including:

• 'Vanity projects' such as Barclays House, beach barbecues, Surf Reef, 
rope statue in Poole

• FuturePlaces

• Beach hut sale

• Consultants and attributed fees

• Events such as the Air show, firework displays

• Cycle lanes

41

42

161



26/01/2023

Perception of wasting money

"Stop investing in vanity 
projects and for profit 

companies and 
concentrate of providing 
services for residents."

"STOP wasting 
money on BIG IDEAS 
and provide essential 
services as a priority."

"Stop investing in 
ridiculous schemes as 

buying retail 'investments' 
using borrowed money 

etc ie Mallard Rd 
Barclays etc. Reduce 

spending on cycle lanes. 
Cancel council backed 

development 
organisations."

"Stop wasting money on 
grandiose vanity schemes like 
buying Barclays House, City 

status, Investment Zones etc"

"Stop all vanity projects such as 
electric beach barbecues and very 
fancy cycle lanes - cycle lanes are 

great, but why such expensive 
infrastructure.

"Get rid of future 
places and make 
use of the skills of 

existing staff"

Perception of wasting money

43

44

162



26/01/2023

Councillors
67 survey responses and 2 ideas relate to councillors, including less 
councillors, reducing councillor allowances and concerns around trust.

"Ensure that ALL councillors
visit ALL parts of the BCP 
conurbation. Particularly 
councillors with executive 

responsibilities, who often do 
not make themselves familiar 

with BCP wide issues. Visibility 
of leaders who demonstrate 

their knowledge of their subject 
leads to trust and cooperation 

from the community."

"Restricting 
the amount 
of pay given 
to elected 

councillors"

"Reduce the number of 
Councillors and increase 

delegation to officers who know 
what the challenges are - seek 

neutral political delivery Improve 
selection of would be Councillors

rather than mates for the 
job Increase education for 

Elected Members and introduce 
proper annual assessment of 
how well they have done with 
removal of those who fail to 

deliver "

"stop using taxpayers money to set 
up companies for councillors

benefit."

"Get rid of some 
councillors there 

are too many 
doing too little 

and getting paid 
a fortune."

Parish Councils and Mayors

46

10 survey responses and 2 ideas referred to Parish Councils or Mayors:

This included the mayoral cars, reducing the number of mayors, having an 
elected Mayor and working with Parish councils or transferring assets to them.

"Transfer assets such as 
recreation grounds and play 

areas to local parish, 
neighbourhood and town 

councils to run and maintain. 
In addition arrange to carry 

out maintenance services for 
these areas via SLA thus 

generating income as 
opposed to just expenditure"

"Stop 
paying for a 
chauffeur 

for the 
mayor!"

"Have only 1 
Mayor to 
cover the 
whole of 

BCP."

"2) Have an elected 
Mayor 3) Have the 

same model as 
Greater Manchester, 
West Midlands etc."

45

46

163



26/01/2023

Fines
61 survey responses relate to fining individuals more frequently and more 
heavily for offences including littering, dog fouling and for parking offences.

"Give more fines to 
people breaching 
pspo, breaching 

parking regulations, 
riding on pavement, 

dropping litter 
fines."

"Enforce all parking infringements, 
e.g parking on pavements, grass 

verges etc in the peak holiday 
season, and increase parking fines to 
a) act as a deterrent to bad parking 

and b) to increase revenue"

"Introduction a byelaw for pavement parking 
and fine pavement parkers. Will also 

reduce damage to pavements. Implement 
bus lane cameras and yellow box junction 

camera. Woukd raise plenty of revenue from 
the inconsiderate drivers."

"Fine for littering, dog 
fouling, etc"

"Increase parking charges 
and fines for illegal 

parking, dumping, littering, 
camping on beaches etc. "

"Control tourists more effectively, fine heavily for 
littering and for illegal parking. There are always 
excuses about difficulties involved in setting up 
effective schemes but lots of other authorities 

manage to set up successful schemes"

Tourism
59 survey responses and 9 ideas are around tourism, particularly 
introducing a tourist tax, providing a better tourism offering and reducing 
council spend on tourism:

"Introduce a resort 
tax/fee...which can 

then be used to fund 
summer safety and 
beach clean ups. "

"Tourism tax for high end hotels - add 
a small local tax rate for hotels, B&Bs 

or similar above a certain price 
threshold"

"Introduce a city tax for 
accomodation rental as 
is in use across Europe. 
There are many people 
staying in the area who 
use services who do not 
contribute towards the 
costs that they incur."

"Stop spending as much money on tourism as 
although this brings in some revenue it does 

not benefit the population as a whole."

"Develop local identity so as 
to attract tourists and locals 
for special events e,g, book 
fairs, motor shows, outdoor 

concerts, antique fairs. Make 
Highcliffe, say, synonymous 
with veteran car rallies and 

draw in the customers."

47

48

164



26/01/2023

Council tax
58 survey responses and 10 ideas relate to council tax, particularly 
charging more to certain groups like second homeowners, empty 
homes and properties in the highest bands.
"Increase council tax charges 

on empty homes, second 
homes and those used as 
holiday lets/air b and b"

"Increased council taxes for 
second home / holiday home 
owners as they are destroying 

communities and leaving 
buildings empty."

"Look carefully 
at second home 
ownership which 
are not used for 
rental or holiday 

let’s and 
increase council 

tax on such 
properties"

"Allocate a higher Council 
Tax rate to properties in the 

higher bands (above D -
standard band)."

"Raise taxes from the top 
earners/biggest houses Tax 

second home owners"

Selling or renting out assets/premises
55 survey responses and 2 ideas are around selling off or renting out 
council-owned assets including offices and empty premises.

"With the recent merger of 
the three old councils is 

there still opportunity to sell 
some of the buildings that 
were previously used by 

departments which 
presumably have now been 
merged? Even contemplate 
the sale and redevelopment 

of either the Poole or 
Bournemouth main council 

buildings?"

"Develop a ‘WeWorks’ style 
offering for under utilised council 

offices. The infrastructure 
already exists (internet 

connectivity, etc). Simply identify 
the overall capacity required for 
council staff (most seem to work 

from home anyway) and 
establish the surplus which can 
be rented to businesses or used 

for functions. Engage with 
events companies to understand 

how spaces could be used for 
exhibitions."

"Audit all empty BCP assets with a 
view to sell or repurpose them. E.g
the empty home to the cemetery 

entrance in Oakdale Poole"

49

50

165



26/01/2023

Getting involved and volunteering

"Allow the public to get involved 
with their local community. For 

example enable people to 
crowdfund/ access funding to 
improve their local parks and 

facilities. Also allow schemes like 
play streets where communities 

can enable themselves to improve 
health, well being and social 

cohesion. All of which will lead to 
less pressure on council services."

49 responses to the survey and 16 ideas relate to getting involved and 
volunteering:

"Encourage 
community participation in local 

green spaces, potentially 
saving on maintenance costs in 
the long run - e.g. "friends of" 

type clubs could also 
encourage socialization among 
locals and improve community 

access. These should be 
coupled with training schemes 

and access to tools."

"Increasing the number of 
productive well managed 

volunteering projects thereby 
helping both BCP and people's 
metal health and well-being. By 
keeping people busy, in heated 

council buildings such as 
libraries which need to be open 
anyway, would be beneficial to 

all."

Getting involved and volunteering 
continued... "Using our libraries, museums and community 

centres as community hubs. Encouraging 
community groups to use these buildings and 

setting up 'friends of communities' (think 
trustees who can gain charitable status, as is 

usual for independent community centres) who 
can bid for funding to income generate in the 
hire of such spaces and self-manage costs 
apart from staff. These buildings are assets 
that can offer warm spaces, companionship, 

food banks, community fridges, somewhere to 
congregate, eat, learn, exercise, pursue 

leisure interests, hold events, provide space 
for playgroups, homework clubs, meetings, 

reading, using computers."

"More community development to take responsibility of 
local areas, whilst making it fun. Community days to 

undertake small improvements, pick litter, etc combined 
with some fun activity eg pinic coffee, cake, free music."

"Get communities involved with initiatives, invite volunteers 
to help rather than paying contractors. Involvement helps 

build a stronger community and they feel a sense of 
belonging and responsibility to the area. They will also feel 
like they are being heard from the council..rather than their 

ideas being ignored in favour of another crazy golf site 
being put up that adds no value to the local community."

51

52

166



26/01/2023

Getting involved and volunteering
16 ‘ideas’ were about getting involved or community groups:

Utility costs
47 survey responses and 1 idea relate to utility costs across the area, 
such as streetlights and lighting/heating in council offices.

"Reduce heating in 
offices and libraries 

by 2 degrees"

"Assess energy 
efficiency of lighting 

around BCP - are bulbs 
as efficient as possible? 
Can timings be reduced 

as days get longer?"

"Turn the lights 
off in council 
buildings at 

night Turn the 
heating down 
and put it on 
for shorter 
hours in 
council 

buildings"

"Looking at saving energy e.g
electric signs at bus stops 

saying when the next buses 
are due - nice or necessary?"

"Hold all council meetings during 
the day to reduce costs of 

evening meetings (utilities, staff, 
security etc)."

"Experiment with less street 
lights at night, where safe to do 

so. Lowering voltages would also 
help to save energy. Experiment 
with some traffic controlled signal 

junctions by turning them off."

53

54

167



26/01/2023

Preventative work 

55

9 responses to the survey and 2 ideas referenced funding preventative/early 
intervention work to save resources in the future:

"More preventative work 
(public health, housing, 

community support, culture 
etc) to reduce the demand 

for NHS and adult social care 
services."

"BCP needs to look at investing 
in preventative services, such 
as Early Help, so the help is 

actually early. We are currently 
picking up the costs later down 

the line - families referred to 
social care, children not in 

school, permanent exclusions 
and suspensions, youth 
offending, associated 
safeguarding risks"

"Focus on early 
prevention interventions 

rather than spending 
more when people have 

got into a crisis."

Other ideas to save money

56

Other ideas to save money from survey responses include removing beach 
barbecues, stopping events such as fireworks and the Air Show, providing 
digital resources instead of paper and producing and using renewable energy:

"Forget the air show and 
firework shows - there are 

more important things."

"Transfer smaller libraries / 
libraries with lower footfall 
to communities or parish 
councils where applicable 

to run. If no offer 
forthcoming then close."

"put a small solar panel on 
top of every street light to 
feed back into the grid in 
the day earn BCP lots of 

money start installing 
solar panels and wind 

turbines onto buildings and 
into open spaces to earn 

BCP money from the grid"

"Remove the 
barbeques 
from the 

seafronts."

"Cut gold-plated 
service standards to 

silver service. ie
ditch letter drops for 

planning notices"

"Cut out 
herbicide 

spraying on 
pavements in 
the summer."

55

56

168



26/01/2023

Suggestions to generate income

57

Other ideas to generate income include charging for planning, local lottery, 
allotments, increasing beach hut rents, charging/increasing numbers of deck 
chairs, beach camping, charging for library computers, digitalising records:

"Generate income 
by having a local 

lottery. "

"Generate income by digitising local 
records. For example, archives about the 

history and heritage of the area. By using a 
subscription (24 hr, 1 wk, 1 Mth, 1 Yr) for 
people, both in the area and across the 

world, to explore the archives for research 
like family history, house history and local 
studies. Genealogy is a big market and 

there are existing/competing services (GRO 
(General Records Office)) but a number of 
councils have already digitised and offer 

such a service"

"Increase charges 
for planning 

application costs 
for new builds."

"Allocate the section of seafront 
between Bournemouth and 

Boscombe Pier in front of the 
vehicle compound where there are 
no beach huts to seafront camping 

during the summer. You could move 
anyone camping on the beach here 

but also generate income by 
encouraging people to camp on the 

beach."

Suggestions to generate income 
continued..

58

"Generating income -
provide more 

allotments & charge 
more for them. Sell 

compost and 
woodchip mulch to the 

public."

"Charge more for 
sunbeds and deckchairs 

and increase the 
numbers."

"Maybe if there is a 
long waiting list for 

beach huts you could 
increase their rent."

"Make a nominal 
charge for people 

using library 
computers"

57

58

169



26/01/2023

Community and Volunteering Opportunities

59

Respondents were asked for their ideas on how the council could 
further their work with the community voluntary sector, charities, 
volunteers and businesses. We received

• Suggestions focused primarily on local community involvement, 
engaging with local charities/voluntary groups, community spaces, 
initiatives/schemes and improving communication.

• Negative comments/criticisms focused primarily on the council's 
internal management of departments, staff, and budget. Some 
respondents felt it was unfair to expect residents and the third sector 
to run council services, particularly during the 'cost of living' crisis.

Suggestions 401
Negative comments/criticisms 103

Community and Volunteering Opportunities

60

Suggestions - 401 respondents shared suggestions for how 
community and volunteering opportunities could be enhanced. 
The key sub-themes for these comments are:

Community/Charities/Voluntary groups 215
BCP Council - staff/services/facilities 132
Communications/Promotion 80

59

60

170



26/01/2023

Community/Charities/Voluntary groups

61

215 responses to the survey were suggestions relating to charities 
and voluntary groups:

"Share best practice - stop re-
inventing the wheel! Local 

organisations may already have 
solutions to issues. However, 
please remember the pool of 

volunteers is finite - where are 
extra volunteers going to come 
from with people having to work 

longer hours/multiple jobs AND the 
retirement age is going up ? If you 
want to enable more residents to 

take part, you need to tackle one of 
the biggest barriers - transport."

"Street sweeping could be 
done by residents. Every 
resident responsible for 
area outside their home. 
Neighbours could do for 

elderly or disabled. School 
communities encouraging 
young people to volunteer 
and support local areas 

e.g., litter collection. 
Competitions for tidiest 

neighbourhood."

"In this conurbation, there are a 
number of retired people, with 
plenty of use still in them and 
ideas and experience to boot. 

Encourage volunteering in 
retirement... This would free up 
staff to be trained in something 
that was income generating and 

to enable the achievement of 
local authority priority 

sustainability and environmental 
reduction in waste targets."

Community/Charities/Voluntary groups

62

"Empower local 
communities to make 
decisions and provide 

volunteering i.e., talk to 
local people ward by 

ward."

"Yes - COVID showed the 
willingness of the community 
to assist and, as we're likely 
to see more redundancies, 

then some of those 
transferable skills that we 

would go to waste could be 
used in working for free in the 

community!"

"Get unemployed helping to 
clean streets and repair 
parks. Get more people 

volunteering in day centres
and involved in community."

"Many local agencies and service 
may be well placed to do some of 

the work that the council does 
currently, perhaps even better 
placed as often overheads are 

lower and with some community 
groups trust may be higher. Need 
to ensure failsafe processes re: 
quality, however especially if not 

commissioned directly."
"Could reach out to those 

charities and ask them 
how best to run a centre. 
The most important thing 

is to listen to what's 
being said."

"Increase attempts to work with all 
BCP residents to the benefit of all."

61

62

171



26/01/2023

BCP Council - staff/services/facilities

63

132 responses to the survey were suggestions relating to the 
council and how it operates:

"I think communities often know 
their areas best, so working with 
groups is good. If that eases the 
load on the Council, then that is 
a benefit. I'm sure if BCP asked 

for more help from the 
community it would get it. BCP 
needs to be clear about what it 

needs and why they want to help 
the local people. This would help 

re-instate your reputation.."

"Provide access to 
council facilities and 
governance services 
to support charities 

and ensure integrity."

"The pandemic proved the 
worth of volunteers. but you 
need their buy in, a proper 

delivered programme so they 
are getting trained and 
benefitting from their 

volunteering."

"Services need to be 
run by professionals, 

although extra voluntary 
help is fine."

"Take advantage of crowd funding or 
other opportunities which are open to 

charities but not councils. Be more 
business like and charge for services 
which would be charged for by a third 

party organisation."

BCP Council - staff/services/facilities

64

"I think the council often works in silos so 
there are good community initiatives but 
not all the right staff know about them. 

Maybe a regular forum or webinar could 
promote what is happening out in the 

community. Maybe providing a space for 
community stakeholder forums to 
encourage communication and 

engagement."

"All services even those provided 
by volunteers &/or local charities 
should get some support from the 
council. It should be made easier 
for events, fundraising etc to be 

organised. One major assistance 
would be the council always 
covering insurance for these 

events."

"Encourage elected 
members to be more 

involved with the 
organisations in their 

wards, rather than 
concentrating on status 

roles in the council. 
Restore neighbourhood
meetings, as existed in 

Poole before 2003."

"Council needs to be seen as a 
facilitator - a Go To centre that is 

supportive of self-starters and 
individuals/groups that have a 

passion that will deliver positive 
outcomes for the community..."

"Further improvement on the BCP 
offer to volunteers - more investment 
in training, tools and uniforms. The 
BCP team that have volunteers can 

get together to centralise the ways of 
working and attracting volunteers."

"More networking opportunities 
with training opportunity for 

business owners and start-ups. 
Make community champions to 

engage together"

63

64

172



26/01/2023

Communications/Promotion

65

80 responses to the survey suggestions relating to communication 
and promotion of volunteering opportunities:

"Digital volunteering - an 
app that links the right 

people to those in need -
almost like a dating app. 
Improves speed in which 
people get the help they 

need."

"Collaborate with other 
stakeholders to a more obvious 

extent, e.g., within the Integrated 
Care System, share 

communication channels, e.g., 
the periodic household 

newsletter could include more on 
public health & NHS messages."

"A lot of services are duplicated 
through the different charities, 
some services you don't even 
know what they do or what's 

available. It may be useful to have 
them collated under one umbrella, 
or links to them on one website. A 

website where all charities can 
post what help they require for 

volunteers to apply. It would only 
work if it was kept up to date."

Communications/Promotion continued

66

"You could put out job adverts 
for volunteering roles, with 

training and incentives. 
Incentives- training, part of a 

team, to feel included, to have 
heads up on new jobs available, 
food vouchers for special thanks 

to volunteers. Make it fun, do 
family days for volunteers, make 
people feel valued for the time 

they give.."

"Most important factor when 
working with agencies is to ensure 

that information is clear so that 
things do not slip through the gaps. 
Speaking to those that are in these 
areas is the vital part, personally I 
do not have enough experience to 

offer much help."

"Enable communities to 
access services through 

charities maybe to free up 
money . signposting would 

educate them and may work 
out better."

"Warm hubs and centres for 
spreading community news 

and allowing activities."

"Remember as money becomes 
tight you need to lean on the human 
emotions even more. Dont crush -

inspire, support, embrace and 
watch the support flow from your 

community"

65

66

173



26/01/2023

Community and Volunteering Opportunities

67

Negative comments/criticisms - 103 respondent’s provided 
concerns or criticisms about furthering the council’s work with the 
community voluntary sector, charities, volunteers and businesses

The key sub-themes for these comments are:

BCP Council - staff/services/facilities 71
Community/Charities/Voluntary groups 35
Financial/Incentives/Insurance 22

BCP Council - staff/services/facilities

68

71 responses to the survey were negative comments/criticism 
about the council and how it operates:

"Don't even think of shirking 
your council responsibilities. 
You got us into this mess. 

Don't start offloading services 
onto the public, without 

admitting how we got here."

"Many council staff have worked 
at the council for years and are 

stuck in their ways with no 
initiative or inclination to improve 
services that have 'always been 

done this way'. A lot are just 
biding their time until their 

generous pension is awarded. 
The community and the private 

sector could show council 
workers how it is to work in the 

real world."

"The Council should not be relying on 
the goodwill of community groups, 

volunteers and businesses to fill gaps 
in their services. The work they do is 

incredible, and collaboration with them 
is incredibly valuable, but it is not a 
magic bullet replacement for any 
service provided by the Council."

"...Your staff should be 
your strength - utilise their 
ideas and support them 
better. Get rid of non-
producing officers."

"...Encourage elected members to be 
more involved with the organisations in 

their wards, rather than concentrating on 
status roles in the council."

67

68

174



26/01/2023

BCP Council - staff/services/facilities

69

"...I wouldn't encourage 
residents/community to 

provide services, this seems 
very unfair. People are 

already busy and struggling 
with money without putting 

this on them."

"I have been involved with local 
Charities and community groups for 
over 30 years in the BCP area, and 

this is the first I have heard that BCP 
works with the community. BCP 

needs to engage with community 
groups, not consult and take no 

interest in the views they provide. 
Sadly, this is a one-way process, 

BCP need to urgently make it a two-
way process and work in cooperation 

with the community."

"Good God, don't shift 
responsibility on to 

community groups so that top 
staff can continue with vanity 
projects and wasting money 
such as the Barclays House 

debacle."

"...Stop spending vast sums of money 
on external consultants and look at your 

very senior structures."

"It is great to empower local 
communities to run projects and 
services but there also needs to 
be proper professional support 
and back up provided by the 

Communities dept in the council. 
At present you just let these 

groups fend for themselves and 
it looks like this detachment from 

the council will get worse as 
budget cuts hit. You 

underestimate the considerable 
disillusionment and disdain that 

many volunteers and charity 
workers who run these services 
currently have for BCP Council."

Community/Charities/Voluntary groups

70

35 responses to the survey were negative comments/criticism 
of volunteers/the voluntary process:

"Volunteers are wonderful but 
please consider the 

professionalism & experience 
& knowledge of paid staff too. 
Please value staff who have 
committed their careers to a 

role not to be replaced by 
volunteers whose natural 

tendency is to 'come & go'."

"Volunteers have their use, and are 
great, but in my experience cannot 
be relied on to replace paid staff. 

They can go off on 6-week cruise or 
just not turn up and you can't run a 

service replaced with volunteers. No 
one wants to commit to set hours or 
ways of working or else it feels like a 
job to them. Definitely would lead to 
diminished services and reputation 

of council."

"Whilst volunteering is 
good, there is no 
commitment by a 

volunteer to ensure a 
service runs smoothly."

"NO, enough dependency 
on volunteers already and 
depending on volunteers is 

not without problems -
insurance, unreliable etc."

69

70

175



26/01/2023

Financial/Incentives/Insurance

71

22 responses to the survey were negative comments/criticism 
of volunteers/the voluntary process:

"No. I think it is very 
dangerous for 

volunteer groups or 
people running what 

should be council 
projects. This is just 

getting it done on the 
cheap and without the 

proper procedures, 
insurances etc. in 

place."

"Sadly. I find 
currently the amount 

of people that can 
physically afford to 
volunteer time is 
reducing due to 
wages not being 
equivalent to the 

cost of living crisis."

"Enable residents 
and the community 

to provide a 
service instead? 

Come on. The cost 
of background 

checks and other 
vetting would 

surely put paid to 
any such idea."

"I think the nationalisation of 
charity has gone far enough. 

The Council should stop 
funding charity fatcats and start 
sharing information about local 
and national charities funded 

by the Council and their 
operating costs to encourage 

residents to hold it to account in 
supporting more efficient 

organisations."

Focus group summary findings

28 BCP residents participated in the three groups. 19 of the participants were female and 9 
were male. 7 participants were aged 18-34, 13 were aged 35-54 and 8 were aged 55 or 
older.

Participants lived across the BCP conurbation and were of various family life-stages, 
including those who had no children, those with children living with them as well as those 
whose children have grown up and have left home. Participants included those with caring 
responsibilities as well as those with a physical or mental health condition, illness, disability 
or difficulty.

Participants were at a variety of working life-stages, including those who own their own 
business, work either full- or part-time, are fully or semi-retired, as well as those who 
currently volunteer.

72

71

72

176



26/01/2023

Participants priorities

Participants gave the largest 
portion of their budget to:

• education and children and 
young people’s services

• adult social care

• roads, transport and 
engineering

• children’s social care

• environmental services

Participants gave the lowest 
portion of their budget to:

• customer contact centres

• support services

• libraries

• planning

• economic development

73

Summary of comments
Participants prioritised their budget to services that they have a personal requirement for, 
while also viewing it important to invest in services that were used by and that impacted 
children.

Participants also felt it was important to get a balance between investing in short-term 
needs as well as long-term objectives.

There is a general lack of awareness of what services are the council’s responsibility locally 
and those that are managed and looked after by other organisations and/or public sector 
partners.

74

73

74

177



26/01/2023

Participants response to council budget
Participants were particularly surprised at how much of the council’s budget was spent on 
support services, while they were also surprised at how much adult social care service 
provision actually costs and that the net spend on it is much higher than on children’s social 
care.

Participants were surprised that the net spend on services such as those for children and on 
community services was not higher, and they felt that if spend on these services was higher 
then it would alleviate pressure on other services.

There was also surprise that the spend on roads, transport and engineering was not higher, 
while it was also felt that the council should invest more in economic development than they 
do.

75

Focus group community and volunteering 
opportunities
Participants felt that volunteers, local residents and other local groups could be used to 
support the delivery of community based, non-essential services in general, including 
grounds maintenance and working with communities on a localised level to help provide 
support with daily tasks.

The council could work more closely with local businesses who provide their staff with 
volunteering allowances and want to undertake Corporate Social Responsibility activities. 

The council could help individuals who want to and are able to house people being 
discharged from hospital to help ease pressure on adult social care services.

The council could also host ‘fresher fair’ type events where local organisations and 
community groups have stalls promoting how local residents can support them and 
volunteer.

76

75

76

178



26/01/2023

Focus group community and volunteering 
opportunities
Participants felt that the council could save money by utilising volunteers, local residents 
and the community and voluntary sector to help deliver community-based services. 
Volunteers would not only be helping their local community but they would also benefit from 
improvements in their own mental health and wellbeing.

However, participants also expressed a concern for a potential overreliance on volunteers, 
many of whom are elderly and have had to return to work due to the cost of living. 
Safeguarding concerns in relation to DBS checks, manual training and data protection were 
also expressed as a concern, particularly surrounding individuals who could house those 
being discharged from hospital.

Participants also expressed a lack of awareness of volunteering opportunities, and so the 
council should develop platforms and roles through their support services to work with local 
communities and businesses.

77

77

179



This page is intentionally left blank

180



Actual Proposed

Council Tax Change 23/24 Council Tax

2022/23 % 2023/24

£ £

Christchurch
£8.86

Christchurch Town Council

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Christchurch Town Council £43.38 5.30% £45.68

Total Christchurch Town £1,646.61 £1,728.91

Burton & Winkton Parish

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Burton & Winkton Parish Precept £14.55 8.16% £15.74

Total Burton Parish £1,617.78 £1,698.97

Hurn Parish

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Hurn Parish Precept £29.73 9.03% £32.42

Total Hurn Parish £1,632.96 £1,715.65

Highcliffe and Walkford

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Highcliffe and Walkford Neighbourhood Council £24.78 -7.89% £22.82

Total Highcliffe and Walkford £1,628.01 £1,706.05

Bournemouth

Bournemouth (exc Throop and Holdenhurst)

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Bournemouth Chartered Trustee £2.31 -1.80% £2.27

Bournemouth Total £1,605.54 £1,685.50

Bournemouth (Throop and Holdenhurst)

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Throop and Holdenhurst £33.73 18.88% £40.10

Bournemouth Total £1,636.96 £1,723.33

Poole

BCP Unitary Charge £1,603.23 4.99% £1,683.23

Poole Chartered Trustee £2.14 0.00% £2.14

Poole Total £1,605.37 £1,685.37

BCP Schedule of Council Tax Charges 2023/24

APPENDIX 4181



This page is intentionally left blank

182



Appendix 5 

  

Report subject  2022/23 Budget Monitoring at Quarter Three   

Meeting date  Cabinet 8 February 2023 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report provides 2022/23 budget monitoring information for 
quarter 3 for the general fund, capital programme and housing 
revenue account (HRA).  

The general fund outturn is projected with a £10.1m surplus for the 
current financial year.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 1. Recognise the continued improvement to the 2022/23 in-
year position with a £10.1m surplus now projected. 

2. Recommend to Council acceptance of the £18m levelling 
up grant as set out in paragraph 69    

Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. In February 2022 Council agreed the annual general fund net revenue budget of 
£272m, a capital programme of £154m and the net use of earmarked reserves to 
support services of £34.7m. Budgets were also agreed for the housing revenue 
account (HRA). 

2. The December 2022/23 Budget Monitoring and Financial Strategy Update report 
to Cabinet included a projected general fund revenue surplus for the year of £9m.     

Revenue budget monitoring at quarter three 2022/23 

3. The latest projection for the 2022/23 revenue budget outturn is a surplus of 
£10.1m overall. There is a small overspend within services of £0.3m offset by a 
central budget surplus of £10.4m.    

 

4. This further improvement demonstrates the effectiveness of the expenditure 
controls implemented by Cabinet in September when the cost-of-living impact of 
rising energy prices and general inflation became clear.  

5. The table below is a summary of the revenue outturn position as projected at the 
end of December 2022.    

 

 
 

 

 
 

183



Appendix 5 

Figure 1: General Fund – Summary projected outturn for 31 March 2023 
 

Directorate Revenue 
Working 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance 

Adult Social Care 
Expenditure  155,939 157,124 1,185 

Income  (49,820) (53,484) (3,664) 

Adult Social Care Total   106,119 103,640 (2,479) 

Children's Services (excl. DSG) 
Expenditure  87,769 93,514 5,745 

Income  (14,086) (14,160) (74) 

Children's Services Total   73,683 79,355 5,672 

Commissioning Centre of Excellence 
Expenditure  35,190 36,146 956 

Income  (23,401) (24,313) (912) 

Commissioning Total   11,789 11,833 44 

Operations 
Expenditure  166,664 164,424 (2,240) 

Income (110,211) (114,533) (4,322) 

Operations Total   56,453 49,891 (6,561) 

Resources & Chief Executive Office 
Expenditure  178,492 178,045 (447) 

Income  (115,283) (115,284) (0) 

Resources & Chief Exe Office Total   63,209 62,761 (447) 

  
   

Net Cost of Services   311,252 307,480 (3,772) 

     

Transformation (including target 
savings) 

Expenditure  16,744 19,244 2,500 

Income Total (23,590) (21,995) 1,595 

Transformation Total   (6,846) (2,751) 4,095 

     

Net Position   304,406 304,729 323 
     

Beach Huts Securitisation of Income 
Stream 

  3,700 0 (3,700) 

Interest on cash investments   (45) (1,975) (1,930) 

BDC Winter Gardens Provisions 
Reduction 

  0 (1,000) (1,000) 

Other Corporate Items   (308,062) (311,879) (3,817) 

     

Total Budget   (0) (10,124) (10,124) 

 

6. The detail of projected variances is included in Appendix 5a. A general fund 
summary forecast outturn is included in Appendix 5b. 

Summary of 2022/23 projected outturn by directorate   

7. The following paragraphs summarise the projected 2022/23 budget position for 
each directorate.    

 

 

184



Appendix 5 

Adult Social Care - net underspend £2.5 million (2%)  

8. The net underspend is due to council-wide restrictions on expenditure including 
extended periods for vacancies and release of earmarked reserves to mitigate 
the financial gap in the Medium-Term Financial Plan for the period 2023-2027. 
There has also been a catch up on the backlog for client charges. 

9. Care cost pressures have grown by further £0.5m associated with the rising cost 
of care home fees and domiciliary care packages to support patients leaving 
hospital, bringing the projected annual overspend to £10m for people with long 
term conditions. This is after the use of the Adult Social Care Discharge grant as 
a contribution towards the home care overspend during the winter months. More 
people are being placed in residential care because of supply shortage in the 
home care market. 

10. Difficulties in recruitment in the home care market has reduced the ability to 
source appropriate care for people with learning disabilities and mental health. 
There are also challenges in sourcing suitable housing and delays in mental 
health hospital discharges there is an estimated underspend in year of £3.7m. 

11. Whilst this underspend will mitigate in part the projected overspend in the long-
term conditions budget this financial year, it is happening due to current supply 
shortage and cannot be assumed as a future budget saving. 

12. Further mitigating factors to offset the cost of care pressure include additional 
income from the NHS for continuing health care (CHC) due to catching up with 
the CHC assessments that were suspended during the pandemic and additional 
contributions for Section 117 mental health after care of £3m. 

13. The Council is making use of £2.8m NHS funding transferred under Section 256 
agreements to support the additional costs arising from the hospital flow 
approach which is to discharge those who no longer need to occupy beds as 
timely and safely as possible. 

14. Other mitigating factors include additional client contributions of £1.6m including 
some backlog charges and realignment after the pandemic. 

15. A one off transfer to earmarked reserve of £0.1 is planned for additional 
resources to tackle recovery of historic debt during 2023/24. 

16. There is reasonable confidence that the savings projected at this stage will be 
achieved. There are, however, also risks associated with the continuing increase 
cost of residential care homes, inflationary pressures and demand for care which 
increase the scale and volatility of adult social care budgets. 

Commissioning  

17. The commissioning budget is broadly balanced. Anticipated energy and 
inflationary costs incurred by the Local Authority Trading Company (Tricuro) of 
£0.2m are expected to be managed by the company. 

18. The shortfall in the receipt of client contributions from the block booked care 
home placements is reducing and mitigated with savings due to staff vacancies, 
other miscellaneous savings, and due to the factors described in the paragraphs 
above. 

19. The Council has pooled the Adult Social Care Discharge Fund with Health and 
using the £4.7m allocation for the BCP area to enable more people to be 

185



Appendix 5 

discharged to an appropriate setting with adequate and timely social care 
support, prioritise those approaches that are most effective in freeing up hospital 
beds and boost general adult social care workforce capacity through recruitment 
and retention. 

Children’s Services - net overspend £5.7 million (8%)  

20. The projected net overspend for children’s services is £5.7m an increase of 
£0.9m compared with the position reported in November.   

21. The projected position includes the recharge to the transformation programme of 
£1.5m of unbudgeted expenditure incurred to improve the service without there 
being an expectation of making future budget savings. The forecast currently 
assumes this element will be covered by a successful capitalisation direction. 
Should the council move completely towards an approach of funding the 2022/23 
transformation investment programme via the flexible use of capital receipts 
(FUCR) then it is likely that this £1.5m recharge will need to be reversed as the 
legislation does not allow improvement expenditure to be funded by this 
mechanism.   

22. Pressures previously reported continue for special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND) transport of £1.3m due to fee increases, with an anticipated 
saving of £0.3m in mainstream transport.  

23. Staffing pressures have reduced slightly due to vacancy drag but there has been 
an increase of £0.2m from the continued use in the final quarter of the purchased 
team of social workers due to an extension of the contract until February.  

24. Cost of care placements has continued to increase during quarter three with an 
increased pressure of £0.8m, the majority due to a net increase of residential 
placements. Other previously reported and unchanged pressures include £0.2m 
of lost savings from an unsuccessful bid to government for a new children’s home  

25. The service is still expecting pressures from the unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children (UASC) cohort as the grant income received does not cover the cost of 
care provided. There is concern this may increase further as more individuals are 
being placed in the BCP conurbation. 

Operations – net underspend £6.6 million (12%)   

26. Overall, operations budgets are projecting an underspend, £1.0m higher than last 
reported. The main pressures relate to the rising cost of living, such as the 
significant growth in utilities costs of £3.5m plus higher fuel costs. Mitigation plans 
have been developed to address these. Income generating activities, such as 
carparking benefitted from good weather over the first and second quarter and 
seasonal income continued this trend despite poorer weather in December. 
However, there is some risk in the projections for increased parking charges at 
the beach and whether the associated additional income of £0.4m will be 
achieved. Other positive income movements are in the green waste service and 
further charging of staff time to the capital programme.   

Communities 

27. Within the Communities directorate there are no individual new material 
pressures. Fees and charges not governed by statutory provisions have been 
reviewed and increases will be applied to reflect rising costs in line with corporate 
guidance.   

186



Appendix 5 

Environment 

28. Environment is seeing a strong budget performance with a positive position over 
the year on recycling costs per tonne generating a forecast £2.5m saving.  
However, more recent data indicates rising costs per tonne, with the position 
being monitored carefully. 

29. Identified earlier this year is the additional income from the green waste service 
of £0.3m due to a combination of recognising the level achieved as part of the 
2021/22 outturn alongside the current year price adjustment. In the last quarter 
this has increased to £0.4m forecast saving.   

     

30. In the bereavement service, cremations income pressures have increased by 
£0.3m to £0.7m due to the drop in cremation numbers of 800 compared to last 
financial year. This is due to competition within the BCP area. The impact of high-
cost inquests on the coroner’s service is unchanged at £0.1m.  

31. Fuel prices remain volatile, and the service are working to mitigate this, including 
consideration of notice to stop all non-essential travel.  

Transport and Engineering 

32. The latest forecast includes net additional income for car parks of £1.4m an 
increase of £0.1m since the last report. The pressures on the cost of providing 
the service, identified in June, are reducing due to the ongoing mitigation work 
and service harmonisation. These pressures currently stand at £0.6m.  

33. Concessionary fares savings of £0.8m are projected due to payments to bus 
operators now being reflective of actual journeys undertaken rather than based 
on pre-covid levels of funding that previously the Department for Transport (DfT) 
had expected to be continued for service sustainability. This budget saving is 
considered on-going and has been reflected in the MTFP for 2023/24. 

34. Street lighting electricity pressures continue and cost mitigations of £0.4m have 
been undertaken with this work ongoing. 

Destination and Culture 

35. Whilst seafront services forecast performance to September exceeded 
expectations due to favourable conditions, the third quarter to December has 
experienced poor weather resulting in lower trading income. Risk remains in 
delivering the income target for the remainder of the year but a forecast surplus 
of £0.1m is anticipated for the year overall.  

36. The management fee income shortfall for BH Live has reduced by £0.1m with 
also a one-off activity adjustment for last year increasing projected revenue. BH 
Live were reported as trading well last time and this has continued with the 
budget income now close to being achieved although the full impact of the rising 
cost of living may not yet be reflected in leisure centre activity.      

Planning  

37. The planning service is now forecasting a deficit of £0.4m from its balanced 
budget position last quarter. There are significant pressures within the service, 
due to additional costs of agency staff. This is continuing to be addressed 
through a plan to transition away from reliance on agency staff throughout the 
remainder of this financial year through the forthcoming directorate restructure, 
and by drawdown of reserves earmarked for the service.   

187



Appendix 5 

Housing 

38. It is still anticipated that the in-year homelessness prevention grant allocation of 
£2.0m will be fully utilised. This grant is ring-fenced with £5.1m in earmarked 
reserves from previous year allocations, which is planned to be fully spent by the 
end of 2024/25 by continuing activities to reduce homelessness. The income 
shortfall from the acquisition strategy has reduced to £0.1m. 

39. The forecast telecare income of £1.4m is still on target to be achieved. This 
income is from equipment rental charges to associations and new equipment 
installations. Staff vacancies within the operations centre continue to be filled. A 
forecast net pressure  of £0.25m is presented to reflect a budget realignment 
identified at outturn.   

40. The construction works team (CWT) is on track to meet budgeted surplus of 
£0.3m. Major projects CWT is delivering this year include housing schemes on 
behalf of the HRA at Wilkinson Drive and Northbourne, skills & learning service 
relocation to the Dolphin Centre, Poole Library, Durley Innovation Hub, and the 
phase 2 refurbishment of the BCP civic centre.   

41. Net rental income from Seascape Homes & Properties Limited is on track to 
achieve budgeted income of £1.3m.  

42. Garages and photovoltaic net surplus budget of £2.2m is also on course to be 
achieved. Cost pressures in relation to the cost of scaffolding for measurers to 
defer pigeons from settling are expected to be managed from within existing 
budget allocations.   

43. The costs of administering Ukraine, Syrian and Afghan resettlement schemes are 
expected to be fully funded from in-year government grant allocations.   

44. At £0.2m, utilities pressure from increasing gas and electricity prices is consistent 
with that forecast earlier in the year.    

45. Housing services has identified £0.7m of mitigations for cost pressures as 
previously reported and these remain on course to be delivered. The service is 
forecasting a broadly balanced budget position for the year overall.  

Resources & Chief Executive Office - net underspend £0.4m (<1%)  

46. The main pressures continue to be for utility costs and contract payments for IT 
systems and the library PFI.     

47. Customer Services employee costs are forecast to underspend by £0.6m against 
the additional £1.5m one-off agreed allocation for service improvement. Business 
Support costs are also forecast to underspend by £0.4m due to unfilled 
vacancies.  

48. Facilities Management: The cost-of-living exercise estimated £0.4m utilities 
pressure from rising prices. Staff parking income from 1 August 2022 will be used 
to offset some unbudgeted operational costs of Poole Civic Centre. Repairs and 
maintenance spend across the civic estate are forecast to overspend by £0.2m, 
all funded from earmarked reserve. To date the council has incurred £0.1m of 
works that are expected to be reimbursed from third party insurance claims, and 
£0.2m of building surveyors and client project managers salaries are expected to 
be capitalised during the year.   

188



Appendix 5 

49. Finance: Savings on employee costs from Health & Safety have been realised of 
£0.2m. The £0.1m pressure on bank charges is due to the continuing 
management of three bank accounts and the additional cost of BCP’s share of 
Stour Valley and Poole Partnership is expected to be £0.1m.  

50. ICT: No change is proposed to the cost-of-living pressure of £0.2m for software 
contract inflation, the majority of which is within ICT services. The service also 
retains historic base budget revenue allocation of £0.2m for ICT replacement. 
This budget has not yet been fully utilised.  

51. Law & Governance: Additional income from registrars was projected to offset the 
related additional salary costs approved in June, however the additional income 
has not materialised, resulting in an employee cost pressure of £0.1m and an 
income pressure of just under £0.1m. Legal Services has seen staff vacancies 
throughout the year which has resulted in the employment of additional 
temporary staff. The budget for local elections is expected to be underspent by 
£0.2m. This is no longer required to top up the earmarked reserve as there is a 
separate corporately held budget for this purpose. 

52. Human Resources employee costs are forecast to underspend by £0.1m due to 
vacancies and staff engaged in the transformation work. 

53. Major projects team: This team manages delivery of both capital and revenue 
projects and is funded from a combination of capital resource, revenue budget, 
external grants, and the transformation programme. There is currently an 
unfunded salary related pressure of £0.1m for 2022/23 with the potential for this 
to increase to £0.4 million in 2023/24 and then reducing to £0.3 million in 2024/25 
with the current allocation of budget from the transformation programme.     

54. Local Land Charges income has seen a significant reduction post October 2022. 
It is likely this is mainly due to the significant increase in mortgage rates. The fall 
was slightly delayed from the September mini budget due to the mortgage offers 
already issued but we are hopeful it will start to rise now there is more activity in 
the housing market and the mortgage rates are starting to fall again. 

Transformation 

55. Transformation savings of £8.7m have been built into the budget for 2022/23. 
Consistent with quarter two £1.5m of savings have not yet been identified for 
delivery. Quarter three now includes an identified underspend of £1m on the 
additional licenses and other revenue costs associated with the programme 
revenue budget which includes the Microsoft licence fees associated with the 
new ERP system.  

56. The savings identified include £0.8m saving from business support staff. Further 
work continues in respect of third party spend savings.  

57. The estimate of base budget staff costs able to be transferred to the 
transformation programme has been reduced by £3.5m from the £6.7m 
budgeted. Further work is ongoing to confirm the final figure for 2022/23. This 
follows a review of the available evidence to support the recharge for specific 
workstreams. It also reflects, staff vacancies reducing support service costs and 
that some backfill arrangements which have been necessary to support business 
as usual activity.      

 

189



Appendix 5 

Central Items - net surplus £10.4m   

58. In setting the 2022/23 budget 3.1% was set aside for assumed pay award 
inflation. This was insufficient to cover the final position agreed with the trade 
unions by the National Employers for local government services which was a flat 
rate increase of £1,925 on every spinal column point plus an additional day’s 
annual leave, which calculates as an average 5.4% for our staffing mix. The 
forecast takes account of the fact that the pay award is likely to add an extra 
£4.1m to the cost base of the council over and above the £5.5m allowed for as 
part of the original 2022/23 budget. Work on the impact of the extra days leave is 
ongoing and will need to be factored into future budget monitoring updates. 

59. The council in 2021/22 recognised £5m of potential losses attributable to 
Bournemouth Development Company LLP (“BDC”), a BCP joint venture 
company. The council is making a provision for their shareholding as a result of 
on-going viability demands relating to the Winter Gardens project. Since making 
this provision the West Cliff Mansions (Durley Road) development has been 
successfully delivered. Profit from this scheme will be retained by BDC and offset 
the need for the full provision set aside in 2021/22. The benefit to the Council is 
circa £1m.  

60. Release of the £2.2m base budget revenue contingency for 2022/23. This 
approach will mean there are no resources set aside for any variations that might 
occur in the remaining three months of the financial year. 

61. Release of the £3.7m assumed revenue budget impact of the proposal to 
securitise the beach hut income stream included as part of the 2022/23 original 
budget. This net reduction includes foregone income, loan repayments and 
guarantee fees. 

62. Treasury management and property investment income is forecasted to deliver 
£1.9m over budget. This is reflective of increasing interest rates as well as cash 
balances than previously forecasted.  

Capital budget monitoring at December 2022 

63. This report covers the council's budgeted capital investment programme (CIP) in 
respect of general fund capital expenditure only. Housing revenue account (HRA) 
related capital spend is reported separately within this report. 

64. The capital investment programme includes only approved capital schemes that 
are supported by robust business cases. It does not include pipeline projects that 
are awaiting business case development and subsequent approval. It also 
excludes capital funding that, whilst approved, has not yet been allocated to 
capital projects. 

65. In February 2022 Council approved a general fund capital investment programme 
budget of £154.1m for 2022/23. This budget has since evolved, to include new 
schemes, inclusion of slippage for 2021/22 and the effect of reprofiling carrying 
expenditure forward into future years. These have all received appropriate 
approval in line with BCP financial regulations. The revised capital programme for 
2022/23 now stands at £100m. The chart below reflects quarter three spend 
against this revised programme. 

66. As at 31 December 2022, around £46m of the revised full year capital budget of 
£100m has been spent. This is around 46% of the full year capital budget, which 
is broadly in line with previous years. 

190



Appendix 5 

67. Figure 6 below summarises capital spend by directorate. 

Figure 6: Capital Budget Monitoring at 31 December 2022  

 

 

Capital budget virements and acceptance of capital grants  

68. In accordance with the council's financial regulations the following rules 
associated with capital virements, and acceptance of grants apply (after advice 
from the Chief Finance Officer): 

 Acceptance of grants greater than £100,000 and up to £1 million require 
Cabinet approval 

 Virements over £1 million require prior Council approval. 

 Virements over £500,000 and up to £1 million require prior Cabinet 
approval. 

 Corporate Directors can approve virements over £100,000 up to 
£500,000. 

 Service Directors can approve virements up to £100,000. 
 

69. The following capital virements to accept new grants require the approval of 
Council: 

 

 

191



Appendix 5 

 

Directorate:  Operations 

Acceptance of Levelling up Grant - £18.16m 

The council has been successful in a bid to the government’s Levelling Up Fund 
(Round 2), securing £18.16 million in grant funding to support the “BCP Coastal 
Communities Infrastructure”.     

Housing revenue account (HRA) monitoring  

70. The HRA is a separate account within the council that ring-fences the income and 
expenditure associated with the council’s housing stock. The HRA does not 
therefore directly impact on the council’s wider general fund budget. 

71. Within the HRA the council operates 9,575 tenanted properties.  The 
management agreement with PHP was terminated on 30 June 2022 and all 
properties are now managed in-house by the council.   

72. Appendix 5c and Appendix 5d provides the detail of both revenue and capital 
budget monitoring for BCP respectively.   

Revenue account   

73. Rental income: Total dwelling and non-dwelling rental income of £45.3m was 
budgeted for the year. This is on course to be achieved, with £34.3m billed up to 
the end of December. The full year forecast for rental income is in line with 
budget.  

74. Repairs & Maintenance costs: The full year forecast for repair costs is £0.8m 
greater than the £10.0m budget. This is primarily due to the inflationary cost 
pressures being experienced in this area. For example, the schedule of rates for 
Poole neighbourhood response repairs was increased by 9.8% at the start of 
August in accordance with the contract, which references increases to the 
prevailing rate of CPI inflation. The full-year forecast is considered reasonably 
cautious. It represents a considerable increase to prior year actual spend, but at 
the same time represent current market conditions and pressures. 

75. Supervision & Management costs: The full year forecast is £0.5m less than 
budget of £13.5m. Supervision and management costs include utilities spend, 
which is forecast to be £0.3m greater than budgeted due to the well documented 
increases in gas and electricity prices. However, the utilities cost pressure is 
more than offset by the saving arising from no longer incurring PHP senior 
management costs (£0.3m) and other forecast underspends across both 
neighbourhoods.  

76. Overall, a net surplus of £5.9m (budget £6.0m) is forecast to be transferred into 
ringfenced HRA reserves to support the HRA’s ongoing capital housing stock 
investment and maintenance needs. 

77. Work has commenced to establish consistent accounting policies across the two 
neighbourhoods. The council recently appointed a single firm of chartered 
surveyors to conduct the year-end housing stock valuation of both 
neighbourhoods, ensuring there will be a consistent valuation approach at the 
2022/23 year-end. Depreciation policy will be harmonised when the existing 

192



Appendix 5 

spreadsheet based fixed asset registers are moved into the new finance system 
(Dynamics 365) which is planned to go live on 1 April 2023. 

Capital programme 

78. In February 2022 Council approved an HRA capital programme budget of £63.1m 
for 2022/23. This includes £48.1m investment in major projects, including those 
delivered as part of the Council Newbuild Housing & Acquisitions Strategy 
(CNHAS)) and £15m in planned maintenance. Unspent approved capital budget 
on major projects of £7.8m was brought forward from the prior year and added to 
current year capital budget allocation.  

79. Of this, £12.6m has been spent in the first nine months of the year on HRA major 
projects, including Cynthia House, Herbert Avenue, Project Admiral, Moorside 
Road, Northbourne Day Centre and Princess Road. A further £8.8m has been 
spent on planned maintenance (principally windows, bathroom and kitchen 
refurbishments and disabled adaptations). In total 64% of the HRA capital budget 
has been utilised in the first nine months of the year. 

80. The same key financial risks apply to the HRA capital programme as the general 
fund capital programme. These centre broadly around the ongoing increase in 
capital budgets from price / cost escalation and reduced availability of new capital 
funding. In previous years new capital projects could potentially have been part 
funded from HRA capital reserves or unapplied right-to-buy receipts. The 
availability of these receipts is reducing as historic unallocated funds are 
allocated to capital schemes within the HRA capital programme.   

81. Moorside Road:  Handover of the properties took place in December and new 
tenants moved in before Christmas. 

82. Craven Court:  Contractors now in possession of the site.  Demolition works due 
to commence in February 23. 

83. Northbourne Day Centre:  The project is close to completion, with handover of 
the properties due on 19th February. 

84. Princess Rd:  The project is currently on hold while BCP considers options as 
tender prices quoted are over budget.  

85. Hillbourne development: The original 2022/23 budget of £6.7m for this site 
assumed that construction work would commence in the current year. The start of 
construction work is now not expected until 23/24, and therefore the budget has 
been re-phased. 

86. Cynthia House (Alice Gardens): This project is close to completion, with 
handover of the completed properties due in February and March this year. 

Appendices   

Appendix 5a Projected variances greater than £100,000 for 2022/23  

Appendix 5b General fund summary forecast 2022/23 

Appendix 5c Summary of HRA revenue budget monitoring for 2022/23  

Appendix 5d Summary of HRA capital budget monitoring for 2022/23 

193



This page is intentionally left blank

194



Directorate / Service Type Type2 Description

December 

Variance

February 

update

February Total 

Variance

£000 £000 £000
Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care - Services Cost of living and other service pressures Third Party Payments Estimated care costs increase due to inflationary and market pressures 4,900 4,900

Third Party Payments Care costs for people with long term conditions 4,602 553 5,155

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Third Party Payments Care Cost for people with Learning Disabilities and Mental Health needs (3,029) (678) (3,707)

Income Estimated additional income from Health for Continuing Health Care eligible people and Section 117 (2,554) (500) (3,054)

Income Section 256 contributions from NHS Dorset (2,775) (2,775)

Income Service user contributions (789) (867) (1,656)

Third Party Payments Adjustment to the residential and homecare budget from Covid grants (257) (257)

Various Other miscellaneous variances (each less than £100k) (113) 137 24

Employee costs Directorate employee savings net of redundancy costs (672) 219 (453)

Reserves Utilisation of earmarked reserves specific to the service (415) (415)

Review of earmarked reserves Covid pressures (113) (113)

Review of earmarked reserves Various others each less than £100k (235) (235)

Reserves Investment for 2023/24 debt recovery 0 107 107

Adult Social Care - Services Total (1,450) (1,029) (2,479)

Commissioning (Adults) & Public HealthCost of living and other service pressures Third Party Payments Tricuro contract impact of cost of living including energy prices 171 171

Income Service user contributions 356 (130) 226

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Third Party Payments Tricuro efficiencies to manage energy cost pressure (171) (171)

Employee costs Directorate unfilled vacancies (105) (31) (136)

Various Other miscellaneous pressures (each less than £100k) (38) (8) (46)

Commissioning Centre of Excellence (Adults) & Public Health Total 213 (169) 44

Adult Social Care Total (1,237) (1,198) (2,435)

Children's Services

Children's Services Cost of living and other service pressures Third Party Contributions Health contributions for care placements 1,483 1,483

School Transport Non-delivery of SEND transport savings assumed in the 2022/23 base budget 750 750

School Transport SEND / mainstream transport contract costs due to the cost of living including fuel prices 1,250 100 1,350

School Transport Mainstream transport - other reasons (200) (100) (300)

Electricity/Gas costs Assumed price variations 182 182

Staffing Overall staffing - continued need for higher than expected levels of agency 860 (100) 760

Staffing Continuation of additional purchased team (assumed to end in Sept 2022) 0 230 230

Care Residential care 16-18 savings not deliverable as project not taken forward 211 211

Care UASC - pressure of grant deficit for those aged over 18 708 708

Care Care demand pressures 960 850 1,810

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Review of earmarked reserves Review of Public Health Partnership (935) (935)

Service saving Various in-year service savings (each less than £100k) (578) (578)

Children's Services Total 4,691 980 5,671

Children's Services Total 4,691 980 5,671

BCP COUNCIL

Budget Variances 2022/23

Appendix 5a

195



Directorate / Service Type Type2 Description

December 

Variance

February 

update

February Total 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

Operations

Housing Cost of living and other service pressures Electricity/Gas costs Assumed price variations 155 155

Income pressure Telecare reduction to budgeted income assumed 22/23 250 250

Expenditure pressure Council New Build Housing Acquisition Strategy (CNHAS) saving assumed in the 2022/23 base budget 98 98

Expenditure pressure Housing related support contracts inflationary clause 150 77 227

Service pressures Housing Options & Partnerships 154 154

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Additional one-off dividend from Bournemouth Building Maintenance Ltd (200) (200)

Service saving Harmonisation of recharges to the two HRA neighbourhood accounts (100) (100)

Service saving Homelessness Prevention Grant utilised to cover budget costs (100) (100)

Service saving Others miscellaneous savings (each less than £100k) (393) (393)

Housing Total (140) 77 (63)

Environment Cost of living and other service pressures Income pressure Crematorium income pressure 433 300 733

Expenditure pressure Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) costs 389 (193) 196

Expenditure pressure Volume of waste bins that need replacement (280) (280)

Expenditure pressure Waste Disposal Contract (500) 115 (385)

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Sales of recyclate material – value and volume (2,600) 134 (2,466)

Service saving Capitalisation of neighbourhood highways costs less associated borrowing costs (930) (930)

Service saving Sales of waste material from the Household Waste Recycling Centres (100) 53 (47)

Service saving Green Waste Income (278) (100) (378)

Service saving Pause recruitment Strategic Lead Climate Change until April 2023 (306) (306)

Service saving Vehicle Parts (100) (100)

Environment Total (3,866) (97) (3,963)

Destination & Culture Cost of living and other service pressures Expenditure pressure BH Live 308 (240) 68

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Cultural Compact (129) 85 (44)

Service saving Festival Coast Live (125) 30 (95)

Service saving Cultural development and networking (100) (100)

Reserves SLM reserve use (340) (340)

Destination & Culture Total (386) (125) (511)

Coroners Cost of living and other service pressures Expenditure pressure Increased / complex caseload 100 100

Coroners Total 100 0 100

Transport & Engineering Cost of living and other service pressures Expenditure pressure Car Parks, rates increases, card charges and other expenditure items 608 42 650

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Car park income increase to reflect previous year’s performance (1,130) 49 (1,081)

Service saving Beach car park tariffs increased (359) (359)

Service saving Remove seasonal concession for car parking (150) (150)

Service saving Concessionary Fares (804) (804)

Service saving Street lighting (excluding utility pressure) (345) (8) (353)

Service saving Recharging to capital schemes (340) (340)

Reserves FCERM reserve used for Hamworthy sea wall defences (260) (260)

Service saving Capitalisation of asset engineering (125) (125)

Service saving Additional income from capital recharges (400) (400)

Transport & Engineering Total (2,501) (721) (3,222)

Service saving Stopping allocation to development of VRN (150) (150)

Service saving Recharge of community safety salaries to DA Grant (25) (25)

Communities Total (280) (45) (325)

Planning Cost of living and other service pressures Expenditure pressure Cost of agency staff 390 390

Planning Total 0 390 390

General Cost of living and other service pressures Electricity/Gas costs Assumed price variations 3,111 402 3,513

Expenditure pressure Other miscellaneous pressures (each less than £100k) 561 (372) 189

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Other miscellaneous savings (each less than £100k) (1,896) (526) (2,422)

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Service saving Cleaner, Greener, Safer (248) (248)

Operations Directorate General Total 1,528 (496) 1,032

Operations Total (5,545) (1,017) (6,562)

Appendix 5a

196



Directorate / Service Type Type2 Description

December 

Variance

February 

update

February Total 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

Resources & Transformation

Customer & Service Delivery Cost of living/service pressures/savings Electricity/Gas costs Facilities Management - Assumed price variations 485 (50) 435

Office costs Poole and Christchurch Civic Centres 0 527 527

Employee costs Business Support (400) (400)

Service pressures Customer Services - underspending against £1.5m allocation (550) (550)

Service pressures Library PFI Contract inflationary clause 150 150

Service pressures Other less than £100k (366) 246 (120)

Customer & Service Delivery Total (681) 723 42

Resources & Transformation GeneralCost of living and other service pressures Employee costs Major projects team salaries pressure 135 (65) 70

Employee costs Audit & Management Assurance (170) (62) (232)

Employee costs Vacancies in Human Resources (127) (127)

Employee costs Regeneration - Unfilled vacancies / unrequired contingency (126) (174) (300)

Employee costs Unfilled vacancies in IT, Data & Analytics (121) (55) (176)

Third Party Payments Software contracts inflationary clause - resources 157 157

Third Party Payments Software contracts inflationary clause - SVPP, dev, customer 14 14

Service pressures Development of Mosaic Care System after data migration 250 250

Service pressures Bank Charges 125 2 127

Service pressures Stour Valley and Poole Partnership - share of overspend 119 119

Service pressures Other miscellaneous variances (each less than £100k) (307) (212) (519)

Service saving Elections - separate corporate budget for annual contribution to reserve (155) (155)

Service pressures Reduced Land Charges income - 177 177

Service pressures Registrars employee costs - 106 106

Transformation Recharge to transformation funded from FUCR 3,500 3,500

Transformation Delay in incurring costs of new licenses due to judicious system implementation planning. 0 (1,000) (1,000)

Transformation Shortfall against transformation target 1,595 1,595

Resources & Transformation General Total 4,889 (1,283) 3,606

Resources & Transformation Total 4,208 (560) 3,648

Central Items

Central Items Cost of living and other service pressures Various Other miscellaneous pressures (each less than £100k) (34) (34)

Employee costs Pay award above budget at £1,925 per FTE 4,139 4,139

Employee costs Assumed 20% of transformation redundancy costs unable to be funded from the FUCR (new regulations from 1 April 2022) 250 639 889

Savings, Efficiencies and Mitigations Income Additional Treasury Management Income due to higher interest rates and the additional funding in advance of spend. (1,930) (1,930)

Earmarked Reserve Release Transformation Mitigation Earmarked Reserve not utilised as planned in 2021/22 (1,949) (1,949)

Grant Income Contain Outbreak Management Fund resources brought forward into 2022/23 to fund previously planned expenditure (1,849) (2) (1,851)

Grant Income Anticipation that the final reconciliation of the Covid 19 Sales, Fees and Charges grant claim will be approved (1,402) (1,402)

Financial Services Stour Valley and Poole Partnership Revenue and Benefits (SVPP) – release of the 2021/22 operational reserve (435) (435)

Contingency Contingency released to support in-year position (2,186) (2,186)

Beach Huts Beach hut income budgeted as transferred to a special purpose vehicle (3,700) (3,700)

Corporate Provisions Bournemouth Development Company (BDC) released portion of provision (1,000) (1,000)

Minimum Revenue Provision Winter Gardens finance loan (304) (304)

Employee costs Removal of 1.25% National Insurance Levy from November 2022 (583) (583)

Electricity/Gas costs Utility Cost Forecast variation based on Government support package (100) (100)

Central Items Total (11,083) 637 (10,446)

Central Items Total (11,083) 637 (10,446)

Grand Total (8,966) (1,158) (10,124)

Appendix 5a

197



T
his page is intentionally left blank

198



Directorate

Revenue Working 

Budget 

£'000

Forecast 

Outturn 

£'000

Forecast 

Variance 

£'000

Expenditure Total 155,939 157,124 1,185

Income Total (49,820) (53,484) (3,664)

Adult Social Care Total 106,119 103,640 (2,479)

Expenditure Total 87,769 93,514 5,745

Income Total (14,086) (14,160) (74)

Children's Services Total 73,683 79,355 5,672

Expenditure Total 35,190 36,146 956

Income Total (23,401) (24,313) (912)

Commissioning Centre of Excellence Total 11,789 11,833 44

Expenditure Total 166,664 164,424 (2,240)

Income Total (110,211) (114,533) (4,322)

Operations Total 56,453 49,891 (6,561)

Expenditure Total 178,492 178,045 (447)

Income Total (115,283) (115,284) (0)

Resources Total 63,209 62,761 (447)

Expenditure Total 16,744 19,244 2,500

Income Total (23,590) (21,995) 1,595

Transformation Total (6,846) (2,751) 4,095

Total Net Cost of Service 304,406 304,729 323

Corporate Items

Provision for repayment (MRP) 13,247 13,247 0

Pensions 5,880 5,880 0

Interest on borrowings 3,339 3,339 0

Winter Gardens finance loan 0 (304) (304)

Contingency 2,185 0 (2,185)

Pay Award 22/23 original allocation 5,856 5,856 0

Pay Award 22/23 inflation 0 4,139 4,139

Removal of 1.25% National Insurance Levy from November 2022 0 (583) (583)

Utility Cost Forecast variation based on Government support package 0 (100) (100)

Transormation Redundancy Costs 0 885 885

Other misc cost of living 0 (34) (34)

Levies (Environment Agency / Fisheries) 615 615 0

Apprentice Levy 622 622 0

Revenue expenditure on surplus assets 267 267 0

Beach Huts Securitisation of Income Stream 3,700 0 (3,700)

Corporate Items Expenditure Total 35,712 33,829 (1,882)

Corporate Items

Investment property income (6,302) (6,302) 0

Income from HRA (949) (949) 0

Other Grant Income (504) (504) 0

Interest on cash investments (45) (1,975) (1,930)

Dividend Income (100) (100) 0

BDC Winter Gardens Provisions Reduction 0 (1,000) (1,000)

Movement from reserves (35,779) (35,779) 0

Movement from reserves - S31 NNDR Grant (23,446) (23,446) 0

Movement from reserves - Council Tax / NNDR Losses Grant (1,021) (1,021) 0

Release Transformation Mitigation Earmarked Reserve 0 (1,949) (1,949)

Contain Outbreak Management Fund resources 0 (1,849) (1,849)

Covid 19 Sales, Fees and Charges grant claim 0 (1,402) (1,402)

Stour Valley and Poole Partnership Revenue and Benefits 0 (435) (435)

Corporate Items Income Total (68,146) (76,711) (8,565)

Net Budget Requirement 271,972 261,848 (10,124)

Funding

Council Tax Income (228,965) (228,965) 0

Business Rates Income (56,842) (56,842) 0

Revenue support grant (3,122) (3,122) 0

New Homes Bonus Grant (1,038) (1,038) 0

Collection Fund Deficit Distribution (Council Tax) (357) (357) 0

Collection Fund Deficit Distribution (NNDR) 22,534 22,534 0

Lower Tier Service Grant 2022/23 (469) (469) 0

Services Grant 2022/23 (3,714) (3,714) 0

Total Funding (271,973) (271,973) 0

Net Position (0) (10,124) (10,124)

BCP Council - General Fund Summary 

Transformation (inc target savings)

Resources & Chief Executive Office

Adult Social Care

Children's Services (excl DSG)

Operations

Commissioning Centre of Excellence

APPENDIX 5 b 199



This page is intentionally left blank

200



Appendix 5c

         

  Full year Full year Quarter 3 Forecast

  budget forecast actuals variance

  £000 £000 £000 £000

  Income        

  Dwelling rents (45,043) (45,043) (34,082) 0

  Non-dwelling rents (270) (260) (198) 10

  Charges for services and facilities (2,103) (2,243) (1,444) (140)

  Contributions to expenditure (381) (527) (338) (146)

  Other income 0 0 0 0

  Total income (47,797) (48,073) (36,062) (276)

         

  Expenditure        

  Repairs and Maintenance 10,036 10,860 7,904 824

  Supervision and Management 13,549 13,051 6,481 (498)

  Rent, rates, taxes and other charges 427 439 200 12

  Bad or doubtful debts 400 400 0 0

  Capital financing costs (debt management costs) 186 186 0 0

  Depreciation  11,791 11,791 0 0

  Net interest payable 5,446 5,446 2,639 0

  Total expenditure 41,835 42,173 17,224 338

         

  Net operating (surplus) / deficit (5,962) (5,900) (18,838) 62

         

  Appropriations to reserves        

  Transfer to/from HRA reserve 5,962 5,900 0 (62)

  Total appropriations 5,962 5,900 0 (62)

         

  (Surplus) / deficit 0 0 (18,838) 0

  HRA  - Revenue Account 2022/23

201



Appendix 5d

Original Budget December December Budget

budget adjustment forecast YTD spend remaining

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

  Major projects - construction

  Moorside Road 1,939 (426) 1,513 1,216 297

  Templeman House 3,000 (2,708) 292 285 7

  Craven Court 2,750 (2,000) 750 89 661

  Duck Lane Phase 2 1,400 (1,398) 2 1 1

  Wilkinson Drive 1,816 (527) 1,289 789 500

  Cabbage Patch Car Park 1,790 277 2,067 1,568 499

  Godshill Close 0 55 55 0 55

  Northbourne Day Centre 1,141 382 1,523 1,074 449

  Luckham Road/Charminster Road 0 1 1 0 1

  Princess Road 10,000 (9,568) 432 432 0

  Mountbatten Gardens 149 (108) 41 42 (1)

  Summers Avenue 0 56 56 0 56

  43 Bingham Road 0 14 14 14 0

  Roeshot Hill 0 4 4 4 0

  Cladding 397 213 610 390 220

  New Build - Montacute 0 0 0 2 (2)

  Old Town Tower Block Works (Project Admiral) 4,022 (631) 3,391 2,391 1,000

  Herbert Avenue Modular 2,656 (1,114) 1,542 1,041 501

  Cynthia House 2,785 (511) 2,274 1,585 689

  Hillborne School Development 6,655 (5,880) 775 415 360

  Egmont Road 310 (306) 4 4 0

  Sopers/Cavan Crescent Development 440 (439) 1 1 0

  Oakdale 1,920 (1,920) 0 0 0

  Major projects - feasibility

  CNHAS Programme 3 0 20 20 4 16

  Beaufort Park/Cranleigh road 600 (600) 0 0 0

  Surrey Road 350 (350) 0 0 0

  Urgent Feasibility works 200 0 200 78 122

  Poole Infill Projects 145 0 145 62 83

  Other

  Purchase and Repair - generic code 1,500 (1,499) 1 1 0

  Capitalised salary costs 433 0 433 154 279

  Small Projects/Acquisitions 1,500 (665) 835 835 0

  New computer system 180 0 180 78 102

  sub-total major projects 48,078 (29,628) 18,450 12,554 5,896

  Planned maintenance

  External standard doors 272 0 272 140 132

  Fire safety programmes 1,248 0 1,248 636 612

  Kitchen replacement programme 1,900 0 1,900 1,210 690

  Heating & hot water systems 1,069 0 1,069 946 123

  Bathrooms 1,005 0 1,005 678 327

  Building envelope 324 0 324 134 190

  Electrical and lighting works 648 0 648 177 471

  Door entry system 77 0 77 15 62

  Structural repairs and works 58 0 58 21 37

  Lift improvements & replacements 168 0 168 97 71

  Outbuildings (inc garages) 95 0 95 45 50

  Asbestos 100 0 100 82 18

  Insulation / Energy conservation / Environmental 1,250 0 1,250 120 1,130

  Windows 1,800 0 1,800 1,802 -2

  Building external works 790 0 790 535 255

  Boundaries, communal areas, hardscapes, drainage 150 0 150 152 -2

  Roofing 915 0 915 210 705

  Bedroom extensions 50 0 50 38 12

  Plastering 81 0 81 58 23

  Housing & Health Safety Cat 1 & 2 138 0 138 16 122

  Disabled adaptations 950 0 950 951 -1
  Various programmes (under £100k) 400 0 400 306 94

  Sheltered sites 50 0 50 99 -49

  Contingency 500 0 500 173 327

  Capitalised salaries 952 0 952 156 796

  sub-total planned maintenance 14,990 0 14,990 8,797 6,193

  total capital programme 63,068 (29,628) 33,440 21,351 12,089

  Percentage budget capital programme spend (as % of forecast) 64%

  BCP HRA - Capital programme 2022/23

202



Adjusted 

Net
MTFP Net MTFP Net MTFP Net MTFP Net

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 2026/27 2026/27

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care - inc Public Health 109.7 4.1 113.8 4.1 117.9 2.3 120.2 2.5 122.8

Children's Services 78.1 10.6 88.7 0.7 89.4 1.8 91.2 1.9 93.1

Commissioning Centre of Excellence 11.3 0.0 11.3 0.0 11.3 0.0 11.3 0.0 11.3

Operations 58.6 (10.7) 47.9 0.8 48.6 0.0 48.7 (0.7) 48.0

Resources 52.0 (3.9) 48.1 1.0 49.1 0.4 49.6 0.4 50.0

Transformation 3.9 1.1 5.0 0.0 5.0 0.0 5.0 0.0 5.0

Net cost of services 313.6 1.3 314.9 6.6 321.5 4.6 326.1 4.1 330.2

Carters Quay Housing and Regeneration Scheme 0.1 0.1 0.3 (0.1) 0.2 (0.3) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)

Contingency 2.2 0.0 2.2 0.0 2.2 0.0 2.2 0.0 2.2

Treasury and Property Income (6.0) (1.5) (7.5) 1.3 (6.2) (0.1) (6.3) 0.0 (6.3)

Minimum Revenue Provision (debt repayment) and Interest 16.3 0.2 16.6 0.5 17.0 0.0 17.1 (0.0) 17.1

Pay and Grading Project 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.2 2.2 (1.0) 1.2 1.9 3.0

Pay related costs 15.9 10.7 26.6 7.8 34.4 3.8 38.1 3.6 41.7

Reserve Movements (60.2) 32.2 (28.0) 29.4 1.4 0.0 1.4 0.0 1.4

Securitisation of a net income stream to the Council 3.7 (3.7) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Transformation savings (6.6) (9.0) (15.6) (15.9) (31.5) 0.0 (31.5) 0.0 (31.5)

Transformation - base revenue budget costs (6.7) 3.5 (3.2) 0.0 (3.2) 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Transformation - redundancy costs 0.0 2.1 2.1 (1.9) 0.1 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0

Levies 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.7

Accomodation Strategy 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) (0.2)

Contribution from HRA (0.9) 0.0 (0.9) 0.0 (0.9) 0.0 (0.9) 0.0 (0.9)

Dividend Income (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Apprenticeship Levy 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.6

Admin Charged to Grant Income (0.5) 0.0 (0.5) 0.0 (0.5) 0.0 (0.5) 0.0 (0.5)

Net Budget 272.0 36.8 308.8 29.0 337.8 9.9 347.7 9.5 357.2

Council Tax Income (223.1) (11.7) (234.8) (10.8) (245.6) (7.7) (253.3) (8.0) (261.3)

Council Tax Base (5.8) (3.2) (9.0) (2.6) (11.6) (1.3) (12.9) (1.3) (14.2)

Second and empty homes premium 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.2) (6.2) 0.0 (6.2)

New Homes Bonus (1.0) 0.7 (0.3) 0.0 (0.3) 0.2 (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

Lower Tier Service Grant 2021/22 (0.5) 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Services Grant Allocation (3.8) 1.7 (2.1) 0.0 (2.1) 2.3 0.2 0.0 0.2

Revenue Support Grant (3.1) (0.8) (3.9) 0.0 (3.9) 0.0 (3.9) 0.0 (3.9)

NNDR Net Income (35.5) (2.4) (37.9) 0.0 (37.9) 0.0 (37.9) 0.0 (37.9)

NNDR 31 Grants + Renewable Energy (21.3) 0.0 (21.3) 0.0 (21.3) 0.0 (21.3) 0.0 (21.3)

Estimated (Surplus) / Deficit on the Collection Fund - NNDR 22.5 (21.9) 0.6 (1.0) (0.4) 0.1 (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)

Estimated (Surplus) / Deficit on the Collection Fund - CTAX (0.4) 0.3 (0.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Funding (272.0) (36.8) (308.8) (14.4) (323.2) (12.6) (335.9) (9.4) (345.2)

Annual – Net Funding Gap 0.0 0.0 0.0 14.6 14.6 (2.7) 11.9 0.1 11.9

Cumulative MTFP – Net Funding Gap 0.0 14.6 26.4 38.4

Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/27 (based on absolute budget)

APPENDIX 6203



 Net Net

Budget Budget

2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000

 Adult Social Care - inc Public Health 109,653 113,790

 Children's Services 78,087 88,717

 Commissioning Centre of Excellence 11,337 11,337

 Operations 58,605 47,877

 Resources 51,970 48,107

 Transformation Revenue Implications 3,936 5,036

Net cost of services 313,589 314,864

 Pension Backfunding 5,880 3,406

 Pension Primary Rate increase - to be distributed to services 0 2,838

 Contingency 2,225 2,225

 Pay award 22/23 and 23/24 - to be distributed to services 8,594 20,294

 Increase in Employers National Insurance to fund cap on social care 1,418 18

Levies

 Environment Agency 509 519

 Fisheries 106 108

Corporate income and expenditure

 Interest on borrowings 3,551 3,572

 Interest on cash investments and dividends (145) (2,687)

 Securitisation of an income stream to the Council 3,700 0

 Investment property income (6,194) (5,192)

 Revenue expenditure on surplus assets 266 266

 Income from HRA (949) (949)

 Admin Charged to Grant Income (504) (504)

 Apprentice Levy 622 622

Net Operating Expenditure 332,668 339,400

Other financial items impacting on the general fund

 Provision for repayment (MRP) 12,789 12,987

 Movements to and (from) reserves (35,779) (27,028)

 Movement from reserves - S31 NNDR Grant (23,446) 0

 Movement from reserves - Council Tax / NNDR Losses Grant (1,021) (1,021)

 Transformation Programme - revenue costs transferred to programme (6,700) (3,200)

 Transformation Saving Target (6,589) (15,633)

 Redundancy costs that can no longer be charged to Transformation 0 2,070

 Pay and Grading Project 0 991

 Carters Quay Housing and Regeneration Scheme 122 266

(60,624) (30,568)

Net Budget Requirement 272,043 308,831

Other funding before Council Tax Requirement

 New Homes Bonus Grant (1,038) (344)

 Lower Tier Service Grant (469) 0

 Services Grant (3,785) (2,133)

 Collection Fund Surplus Distribution (Council Tax) (357) (36)

 Collection Fund Deficit Distribution (NNDR) 22,534 610

 Net Income from Business Rates - inc S31 Grant (56,842) (59,193)

 Revenue support grant (3,122) (3,937)

(43,079) (65,033)

Total Council Tax Requirement 228,963 243,797

GENERAL FUND BUDGET SUMMARY 2023/24

Provisional budgets. Final detail will be provided as part of the BCP Council Budget Book

APPENDIX 6
204



Ref: Directorate Category of the Proposal Description of the Proposal
2023/24 

£000s

RAG   

Rated

1 Adult Social Care Fees and Charges Additional income - client contributions (inflation) (1,229) Green

2 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Day opportunity strategy implementation (600) Amber

3 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency
Review of care arrangements for people with Learning Disabilities and 

Mental health
(391) Amber

4 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Extra Care Housing (250) Amber

5 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Reassessment of all cases and implementing Strength based culture (500) Amber

6 Adult Social Care Recharges Adjustment to the Residential and Homecare Budget from Covid grants (257) Blue

7 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Enhance support to Self Funders to make decisions about their care (50) Green

8 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Expand Shared Lives (60) Green

9 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Ensuring BCP block booked care home beds are at maximum capacity (1,300) Green

10 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Demand management (LTC & LD) (1,300) Green

11 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Additional Income from Health (741) Green

12 Adult Social Care Service Transformation Investment in care technology (270) Green

13 Adult Social Care Recharges Increase use of DFG for Ots and ICES and decrease use for Housing (550) Blue

14 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Managing personal budgets to ensure a strength-based approach (500) Amber

15 Adult Social Care Fees and Charges Service User contributions (400) Green

16 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Work in partnership with Tricuro to reduce contract value (400) Green

17 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Tricuro absorb inflationary pressures 22/23 (171) Green

18 Adult Social Care Service Transformation Alternative meals provision (bring future savings forward) (157) Amber

19 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Employment support service (130) Green

20 Adult Social Care Service Transformation Reprovision of some carers services (119) Green

21 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Prompt assessment and enacting client contributions (100) Green

22 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Release of voluntary sector budget (80) Blue

23 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Reduce social workers mileage budget to current use (59) Blue

24 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Alternative funding for BCP handyvan service (37) Blue

25 Adult Social Care Service Efficiency Reprovisioned in-house reablement service (33) Blue

Saving Total - Adult Social Care Directorate (9,684)

26 Children's Services Service Transformation Staffing - Quality Performance Information & Governance (250) Amber

27 Children's Services Service Efficiency Children's Services Pay Review - October Cabinet 2022 28 Blue

28 Children's Services Service Efficiency Education - Revised Delivery Models (200) Amber

29 Children's Services Service Transformation Staffing - Corporate Parenting (143) Amber

30 Children's Services Service Transformation Targeted Family Support - Clinical psychology (131) Green

31 Children's Services Service Transformation Staffing - Safeguarding & Early Help (106) Amber

32 Children's Services Service Transformation Other Areas - Contracts & SLAs (170) Green

33 Children's Services Service Transformation Other Areas - P-Cards (70) Amber

34 Children's Services Service Transformation Other Areas - workforce development, use of grants (55) Green

35 Children's Services Service Transformation Education - Family Hub & Youth Premises Costs (47) Amber

36 Children's Services Service Transformation Other Areas - Subscription - Research in Practice (12) Amber

37 Children's Services Service Efficiency
Adult Learning - Skills & Learning - Internally Funding Pay award / Pension 

/ Increments
(27) Amber

Saving Total - Children's Service Directorate (1,183)

38 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Individual saving proposals less than £100k (138) Blue

39 Operations - Communities Service Reduction
Food safety programme review inline with Food Standards Agency 

(FSA)rules
(45) Blue

40 Operations - Communities Fees and Charges Additional regulatory services income in line with set fees and charges (35) Green

41 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Bringing service in-house (35) Amber

42 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Explore shared Trading Standards Service (28) Amber

43 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Reshape Out of Hours Noise & Nuisance Service (49) Amber

44 Operations - Communities Service Efficiency
Additional Market Income due to additional Wednesday market Bmth, plus 

fee structure
(10) Amber

45 Operations - Communities Recharges Full cost recovery in regards to Domestic Abuse Grant usage (25) Blue

Saving Total - Operations - Communities (365)

46 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Harmonisation of beach huts fees and charges (611) Amber

47 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Destination & Culture - Beach hut prices (200) Amber

48 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges
R&E - Beach Huts licence fees - previous one-off saving due to temporary 

amendment to the rate of VAT
261 Green

49 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Highcliffe Castle - Move to full cost recovery over a 3 year period (82) Amber

50 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Upton Country Park - Move to full cost recovery including CIL (85) Amber

51 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Highcliffe Castle tea rooms new operating model (30) Green

52 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Destination and Culture - Leisure Centres (100) Green

53 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Reshape Cultural Compact Activity with Partners (100) Amber

54 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Seafront prices excluding beach hut harmonisation (400) Green

55 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Seafront Arcade income generation (100) Green

Appendix 6A - BCP Council - Budget 2023/24 and MTFP - Savings

List One:

APPENDIX 6A205



56 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Concessions income (50) Green

57 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Seafront Car Parking income (30) Green

58 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Tourism & Events full cost recovery and income generation (20) Green

59 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Seafront Sandbanks Golf income generation (15) Green

60 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Tennis income generation (5) Green

61 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction
Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Club alternative management model 

(excluding Skills and Learning)
(80) Blue

62 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction
Cease provision and maintenance of Christmas Decorations & Trees in 

Neighbourhood Areas
(42) Amber

63 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Seafront - Reduction of operational budget (50) Blue

64 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction
Innovative cost reduction and income generation for Christmas Tree 

Wonderland and Poole Christmas Maritime Light Festival
(15) Green

65 Operations - Destination & Culture Fees and Charges Pricing increases across the Poole Leisure Centre Estate (60) Green

66 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Poole Museum impact of capital scheme (120) Green

67 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Reshape Leisure Team (20) Green

68 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Remove Blue Flags and Seaside awards (10) Green

69 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Efficiency Service efficiencies within the Bournemouth Tourist Information Centre (10) Amber

70 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Sports Grants - Reduce Sports grants by 10% a year for 5 years (2) Green

Saving Total - Operations - Destination and Culture (1,976)

71 Operations - Environment Service Efficiency Green bin waste income - increased charge (741) Blue

72 Operations - Environment Fees and Charges
Review of MTFP provision for waste disposal costs - recyclate / black bin 

waste
(458) Blue

73 Operations - Environment Service Reductions Highway Maintenance - 10% reduction in Highway Maintenance (300) Blue

74 Operations - Environment Service Efficiency Borrow to finance domestic waste bin replacements (201) Blue

75 Operations - Environment Service Reductions Reshape Parks Operations (170) Blue

76 Operations - Environment Service Reductions Strategic Greenspace - delete vacant posts (121) Green

77 Operations - Environment Service Reductions Sales of waste material from the Household Waste Recycling Centres (100) Blue

78 Operations - Environment Service Efficiency Planting of perennial plants and flowers (60) Blue

79 Operations - Environment Recharges
Parks Operations - Parish and Town Councils  Full Cost Recovery 

Recharge
(50) Green

80 Operations - Environment Service Reduction
Parks Operations - Remove subsidy of Kings Park Nursery, 

Commercialisation, or community management
(41) Green

81 Operations - Environment Fees and Charges Currently non-viable cafes put out to tender (40) Amber

82 Operations - Environment Service Efficiency Change contracted disposal arrangements for dog waste in Bournemouth (11) Blue

83 Operations - Environment Service Reduction In-bloom and Green Flag is stopped (10) Blue

84 Operations - Environment Service Efficiency Harmonisation of Grounds Maintenance services (6) Blue

85 Operations - Environment Service Reduction Remove grit bins in all but essential locations (3) Blue

86 Operations - Environment Recharges Capitalisation of highway - neighbourhood services (900) Blue

87 Operations - Environment Recharges Capitalisation of highway - neighbourhood services - revenue implications 244 Blue

Saving Total - Operations - Environment (2,968)

88 Operations - Housing Investment Council New Build Housing & Acquisition Strategy (CNHAS) (399) Amber

89 Operations - Housing Fees and Charges Telecare income generation (68) Green

90 Operations - Housing Fees and Charges Garages income (49) Green

91 Operations - Housing Service Efficiency Delete vacant posts (48) Blue

92 Operations - Housing Service Efficiency Temporary accommodation grant funding (30) Amber

93 Operations - Housing Recharges Refugee grant to fund officer time (75) Blue

94 Operations - Housing Recharges Capitalise Disabled Facilities Grant officer time (48) Blue

95 Operations - Housing Investment 21/22 Investment - CNHAS Feasibility Fund (50) Blue

96 Operations - Housing Recharges Herbert Ave. set-up costs grant (100) Blue

Saving Total - Operations - Housing (867)

97 Operations - Transport/Engineering Fees and Charges
Car Parking Income - Impact of additional income in 2022/23 into future 

years
(1,266) Blue

98 Operations - Transport/Engineering Fees and Charges Car Parking income - Charges from June 2023 in line with inflation (1,399) Amber

99 Operations - Transport/Engineering Fees and Charges Car Parking Options - Minor harmonisation charges (200) Amber

100 Operations - Transport/Engineering Fees and Charges Car Parking Options - Parking concessions across the year 100 Amber

101 Operations - Transport/Engineering Fees and Charges Car Parking Seasonal Adjustment - Christmas (150) Blue

102 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Reduction
Dimming of street lighting in residential areas in Poole to match 

Bournemouth
(70) Blue

103 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Efficiency
Capital investment in alternative to School Crossing Patrols at specific 

locations
(15) Amber

104 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Efficiency
Car Park and subway lighting investment plus review of existing energy 

budget provision 
(75) Blue

105 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Reduction
Street Lighting - Lanterns to have revised dimming profile 75% output 8pm 

to midnight, 50% midnight to 6am
(56) Amber

106 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Efficiency Highway Network Management - street works (50) Blue

APPENDIX 6A206



107 Operations - Transport/Engineering Recharges FCERM Centre of Excellence – adjustment in income target (50) Blue

Saving Total - Operations - Transportation and Engineering (3,231)

108 Operations - Planning Service Reduction Reshaping the non-statutory elements of the Planning Service (100) Amber

109 Operations - Planning Fees and Charges
Development Management - Increase income through offering enhanced 

services
(104) Amber

110 Operations - Planning Service Reduction
Stop sending neighbour notification letters on planning applications and 

harmonising press notices procedure
(20) Amber

Saving Total - Operations - Planning (224)

111 Operations - General Third Party Spend Staff Mileage, premises costs (not energy related) (156) Blue

Saving Total - Operations - General (156)

112 Resources - Customer/Svs Delivery Service Reduction Library deliverable proposals for 2023/24 (80) Green

113 Resources - Customer/Svs Delivery Service Reduction Customer Contact Centre - delete vacant posts (200) Amber

Saving Total - Resources - Customer and Service Delivery (280)

114 Resources - Marketing Service Reduction Delete vacancies and reduce marketing, PR and web support (87) Amber

Saving Total - Resources - Marketing (87)

115 Resources - Finance Transformation Savings Finance  Target Operating Model Savings - part 1 (108) Blue

116 Resources - Finance Transformation Savings Finance Staff Savings in Audit & Management Assurance (97) Blue

117 Resources - Finance Transformation Savings Revenue & Benefits Service - insource from SVPP (65) Amber

Saving Total - Resources - Finance & Development (270)

118 Corporate Areas Transformation Savings Unitemised savings (9,044) Amber

119 Corporate Areas Service Efficiency Increase Vacancy Drag (2,022) Amber

120 Resources Service Wide Recharges

Recharges to Housing Revenue Account of charges in line with impact of 

inflation, particularly those associated with the pay award costs. 

Bournemouth and Poole Neighbourhood Account

(138) Blue

121 Resources Service Wide Recharges Recharges to Dorset Adult Learning (28) Blue

122 Resources Service Wide Recharges Recharges to Bournemouth Companies (19) Blue

123 Resources - Legal Services Fees and Charges Registrars Service impact of price adjustments (19) Blue

124 Resources - Customer Services Fees and Charges Blue Badges recognising level of annual activity (25) Blue

125 Corporate Areas Service Reduction Base Reduction in Regeneration Resources (56) Amber

126 Corporate Areas Service Reduction Corporate Areas - Restructure of the Corporate Management Board / SDs (244) Amber

Saving Total - Corporate Areas (11,595)

List One: Overall Total - Service Based Savings and Efficiencies (32,886)

APPENDIX 6A207



Ref: Directorate Name of the Proposal Description
2023/24 

£000s

RAG   

Rated

127 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Becoming an Enabling Council, rethinking Community Development (400) White

128 Operations - Communities Service Reduction Reduction of CSAS/ASB and Community Safety (218) White

129 Operations - Communities Service Reduction
Reduction in grant support for central advice services and council for 

community and voluntary sector
(220) White

130 Operations - Communities Service Reduction
Review CCTV provision/explore opportunities for improved efficiency of 

operational delivery and seek increased support from partners.
(79) White

Saving Total - Operations - Communities (917)

131 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Phased reduction in cultural grants over a five year period (93) White

132 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Remove Festival Coast Live - Events & festivals (194) White

133 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Removing the Council's Arts Development functions (120) White

134 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction
Seek community management of  Littledown Leisure Centre Paddling Pool 

(Outdoors) if not secured close
(7) White

135 Operations - Destination & Culture Service Reduction Reduce Poole Quay and Bournemouth Summer Fireworks (3) White

Saving Total - Operations - Destination and Culture (417)

136 Operations - Environment Service Reductions
Seek community management / transfer of paddling pools and if not 

secured close
(100) White

Saving Total - Operations - Environment (100)

137 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Reduction National Concessionary Fare Scheme - remove discretionary elements (80) White

138 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Reduction FCERM - Not undertaking technical incident response during flood events (10) Blue

139 Operations - Transport/Engineering Service Reduction Review Community Transport (37) White

Saving Total - Operations - Transportation and Engineering (127)

140 Operations - Planning Service Reduction Additional reshaping of the non-statutory elements of the Planning Service (100) White

Saving Total - Operations - Planning (100)

141 Resources - Development Service Reduction Reduction of Economic Development - Reduce Budget non staffing (196) Amber

142 Resources - Development Service Reduction Smart Places - Reduce Budget (135) Amber

Saving Total - Resources - Finance & Development (331)

143 Corporate Areas Service Reduction Base Reduction in Regeneration Resources (200) Amber

Saving Total - Corporate Areas (200)

List Two: Overall Total - Service Based Savings and Efficiencies (2,192)

RAG Rating Key

Completed - Saving delivered Blue

Progressing Well - Member / officer decision(s) needed to 

enable the delivery of the saving have been made. However due 

to the risk around assumed activity levels the saving, efficiency 

or additional resources may not be delivered in full.

Green

In Progress - Actions to deliver the required saving have 

actively started but have not been concluded.
Amber

Saving unlikely as serious risk to delivery Red

Saving identified - But work to deliver the saving yet to start. White

List Two:

APPENDIX 6A208



Capital Investment Programme - Individual Project Listing Appendix 7a

Capital Project Planned Planned Planned Planned Planned MTFP

Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme Total

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2023 to 2028

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Integrated Community Equipment Store (BCP) 2,095 2,095 2,095 2,095 2,095 10,473

Care technology service -  equipment 111 77 85 101 119 493

Total Adult Social Care 2,206 2,172 2,180 2,196 2,214 10,966

Hillbourne - New School 70 0 0 0 0 70

Planned Repairs and Maintenance 300 300 150 100 0 850

Urgent Work 150 150 150 150 0 600

Climate Change/Low Carbon Reduction 200 200 0 0 0 400

Advanced Design Fees Maintained Schools 50 50 0 0 0 100

Advanced Design Fees SEND 75 75 75 75 0 300

Total Children's Services 845 775 375 325 0 2,320

South East Dorset Multi-modal Transport Model 108 0 0 0 0 108

STB, DfT, LCWIP, OBC Development & Bidding 345 0 0 0 0 345

Programme Management Fees 80 0 0 0 0 80

Advanced Design for Future LTP Schemes (new code) 150 0 0 0 0 150

Ferndown, Wallisdown, Poole (FWP) Corridors Phase 3 650 0 0 0 0 650

Boscombe Towns Fund 71 0 0 0 0 71

Total Strategic Network Improvements 1,404 0 0 0 0 1,404

Transforming Cities Fund £79m TCF grant funded element 30,110 0 0 0 0 30,110

C- Bus Infrastructure 350 0 0 0 0 350

D- Trip End Facilities 250 0 0 0 0 250

Cycle Corridor Section C2-4A-B Wallisdown Rd & Boundary Rd 1,400 0 0 0 0 1,400

Cycle corridor C5 (Sections 1 to 3 and 5) 2,277 0 0 0 0 2,277

Design and Supervision 434 0 0 0 0 434

Transforming Cities Fund 34,821 0 0 0 0 34,821

Durley Car Park - School Zone (Developer funded) 290 0 0 0 0 290

Road Safety: Safety Improvements - Pedestrian Crossings 500 0 0 0 0 500

Road Safety: Casualty Reduction Measures, Cluster Sites 390 0 0 0 0 390

Road Safety: Safe Routes to School (SRTS) 175 0 0 0 0 175

Total Travel Safety Measures 1,355 0 0 0 0 1,355

Rights of Way 50 0 0 0 0 50

Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 13 0 0 0 0 13

Dropped crossings/Accessibility improvements 75 0 0 0 0 75

School Streets 100 0 0 0 0 100

Walking and Cycling improvements 300 0 0 0 0 300

Total Active Travel and Greener Travel Choice 538 0 0 0 0 538

Minor Transportation Works 70 0 0 0 0 70

Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) & Data Collection 400 0 0 0 0 400

Network efficiency measures (Tower Park roundabout) 150 0 0 0 0 150

Total Manage and Maintain Existing Network 620 0 0 0 0 620

National Passenger Travel Information 25 0 0 0 0 25

DfT Indicative Integrated Transport Block funding 0 3,102 3,102 3,102 3,102 12,408

Total Indicative ITB Funding 25 3,102 3,102 3,102 3,102 12,433

A3060 CASTLE LANE WEST (MUSCLIFFE WAY TO BROADWAY R'BOUT)1,520 0 0 0 0 1,520

A35 CHRISTCHURCH RD (CENTENARY WAY TO SEABOURNE RD) 280 0 0 0 0 280

A341 WIMBORNE RD (FERNCROFT RD TO N'BOURNE RD) 735 0 0 0 0 735

Surface treatment - e.g. Road markings, planned patching, micro asphalt 1,050 0 0 0 0 1,050

Planned pre-patching (Streetscene) 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100 5,500

Neighbourhood Services (Streetscene) -Pothole investment 500 500 500 500 500 2,500

Resurfacing Programme 2,100 0 0 0 0 2,100

DfT Indicative Pothole  Allocation 0 1,627 1,627 1,627 1,627 6,508

DfT Indicative maintenance block funding 0 2,459 2,459 2,459 2,459 9,836

Total Maintenance - Principal & Non-Principal Roads 7,285 5,686 5,686 5,686 5,686 30,029

Principal Inspection Programme (BCP) 100 0 0 0 0 100

Bridge Maintenance (including Waterloo) 450 0 0 0 0 450

Total Maintenance - Bridges & Structures 550 0 0 0 0 550

UTMC - Pelican upgrades 176 0 0 0 0 176

Footpath resurfacing (including Footway slurry) 150 0 0 0 0 150

Special Drainage (BCP) 150 0 0 0 0 150

Surveys & software 100 0 0 0 0 100

Programme Management Fees Maintenance (BCP) 110 0 0 0 0 110

Street Lighting Maintenance 350 0 0 0 0 350

Total Maintenance - Other 1,036 0 0 0 0 1,036

Christchurch Bay and Harbour FCERM Strategy 175 0 0 0 0 175

Poole Bay Beach Management 2020-2031 9,850 1,785 6,607 1,862 0 20,104

Contingency for PBBM (Phase 1 underspend) 0 0 740 0 0 740

BCP Cliff Management Strategy 108 73 0 0 0 181

Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill (PB2HH) 5,950 5,461 0 0 0 11,411

Durlston to Hurst Sediment Resource Management programme (DHSRMP)100 0 0 0 0 100

Inland Asset Management System 62 10 0 0 0 72

Dorset Coastal Asset Database 10 0 0 0 0 10

Total coast protection - BCP schemes 16,255 7,329 7,347 1,862 0 32,792

Poole High Street - Heritage Action Zone 336 0 0 0 0 336

Total Economic Regeneration 336 0 0 0 0 336

BIC Medium Term Refurbishment Plan 1,533 0 0 0 0 1,533

209



Capital Project Planned Planned Planned Planned Planned MTFP

Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme Total

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2023 to 2028

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Commercial Assets 1,533 0 0 0 0 1,533

Heart of Poole - Revised MasterPlan 162 0 0 0 0 162

Carter's Quay 19,000 4,868 0 0 0 23,868

Towns Fund - Parks in Mind 35 35 35 0 0 106

Towns Fund - Boscombe Digital Connectivity - Phase 2 738 0 0 0 0 738

Towns Fund - Boscombe Digital Connectivity - Phase 2 REVENUE 73 0 0 0 0 73

Smart Places Gigabit Fibre Scheme 2,833 2,833 0 0 0 5,666

Wessex Fields land disposal (highways infrastructure works) 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000

Pokesdown Railway Station 500 1,900 0 0 0 2,400

Total Major Development 27,341 9,636 35 0 0 37,013

Highcliffe Castle, (inc Phoenix Flies Project) 100 0 0 0 0 100

Upton Country Park - Discovery project 500 0 0 0 0 500

Russell Cotes MEND Project 287 0 0 0 0 287

Poole Museum - Our Museum project 3,879 0 0 0 0 3,879

Poole Museum - Our Museum project - Activity Plan 136 0 0 0 0 136

Poole Museum - Temporary Exhibition Gallery 529 0 0 0 0 529

Scaplen's Court Museum 1,095 0 0 0 0 1,095

Total Culture, arts, libraries and museums 6,526 0 0 0 0 6,526

3G Artificial Pitch Rossmore Leisure Centre - Feasibility 1,040 0 0 0 0 1,040

Total Sports & Recreational Facilities 1,040 0 0 0 0 1,040

Seafront Transformation Programme (Levelling Up Fund Round 2) 9,000 9,160 0 0 0 18,160

Seafront Infrastructure Assets 2,000 3,000 0 0 0 5,000

 New Beach Huts - Canford Cliffs 3,118 0 0 0 0 3,118

Canford Cliffs Pavilion 1,142 0 0 0 0 1,142

Bistro Redevelopment (Southbourne) 5,998 0 0 0 0 5,998

Mudeford Beach House Café 957 0 0 0 0 957

Total Seafront Development 22,215 12,160 0 0 0 34,375

Disabled Facilities Grant 3,424 1,424 1,424 1,424 1,424 9,119

Community Land Trust Project (Affordable housing) 420 0 0 0 0 420

SLA support for CLT projects 24 24 0 0 0 48

Total Housing & Communities Services 3,868 1,448 1,424 1,424 1,424 9,587

CNHAS Residential Property & Acquisitions 22,235 21,550 10,555 0 0 54,340

CNHAS Alma Road (former GP surgery) 2,090 1,710 0 0 0 3,800

CNHAS Oakdale 350 1,400 2,620 0 0 4,370

CNHAS Roeshot Hill 6,095 0 0 0 0 6,095

CNHAS Crescent Road 1,622 0 0 0 0 1,622

CNHAS Surrey road 1,750 541 0 0 0 2,291

Princess road - Hostel and Private Rented Sector 0 8,500 5,074 0 0 13,574

Total Major Housing Schemes 34,142 33,701 18,249 0 0 86,092

BH Live (£518k MF email) 518 518 518 518 518 2,590

Fisherman's Walk Cliff Lift 156 0 0 0 0 156

Total Estate Management 674 518 518 518 518 2,746

Waste Bin Replacement 410 410 410 410 410 2,050

Total Waste & Cleansing 410 410 410 410 410 2,050

Fleet Management 9,400 6,463 0 0 0 15,863

Cleaner Greener Safer Equipment 443 0 0 0 0 443

Total Fleet Management 9,843 6,463 0 0 0 16,306

Sluice Channel infrastructure improvements Poole Park to Poole Harbour1,095 0 0 0 0 1,095

Throop Nature Park (Hicks SANG) 570 0 0 0 0 570

Total Parks & Open Space Management 1,665 0 0 0 0 1,665

Library Replacement ICT Programme 45 65 0 0 0 110

Customer & Business Delivery 45 65 0 0 0 110

Enterprise Hosting 4 0 0 0 0 4

Enterprise Comms (WAN Migration) 125 0 0 0 0 125

Enterprise Comms (Telephony) 35 0 0 0 0 35

Enterprise Apps (Applications) 21 0 0 0 0 21

ICT Investment programme 317 0 0 0 0 317

LGR infrastructure spend (pre transformation agenda funding) 20 0 0 0 0 20

ICT Investment Plan 522 0 0 0 0 522

Laptops and Auto Pilot 450 700 0 0 0 1,150

MS Teams Collaboration 210 0 0 0 0 210

Backup and Security Tools 100 140 0 0 0 240

IT Hardware (Capital one-off costs) 570 0 0 0 0 570

Transformation Programme (Capital) 1,330 840 0 0 0 2,170

Extension Zero + Kinson Hub (from B customer Services above) 200 0 0 0 0 200

Coroners Service - Vertical Slice  (Buildings and Fittings) 1,063 0 0 0 0 1,063

Remodelling BCP Civic space- West Wing 500 0 0 0 0 500

Office Accommodation 1,763 0 0 0 0 1,763

Total BCP Capital Programme 180,193 84,304 39,325 15,522 13,353 332,697

210



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

1 
 

 

Overview 

 

Adults Social Care – £2.2 million 2023/24 (£11.0 million 5-year plan) 

Planned investment represents £2.1 million per annum in integrated community care 
equipment and occupational therapist support costs to further promote and support 
independent living at home. This annual commitment is funded from government grant.  

The council is progressing its plans for both extra care housing and more specialist homes 
for those less independent. A planning application on the old Adult Education Centre land at 
Oakdale will lead this programme through 2023 and 10 other BCP council sites are being 
explored for their suitability for these types of housing needs. The financial implications of 
this are being brought under separate papers to Cabinet at the appropriate time. The further 
development of extra-care housing in BCP is a necessary measure to deliver on the 
Council’s commitments to both promote greater independence and to reduce the numbers of 
people entering residential care. There are a variety of shapes that specialist housing 
provision can take- from the Extra Care enabling model to a more intensive support 
environment and BCP Council needs to ensure that it has a good range and span of 
schemes and options. 

Children’s Services £0.8 million 2023/24 (£2.3 million 5-year plan)  

Development of the Capital Programme: The Service continues to work in partnership 
with BCP corporate property and estates teams and a construction partner to embed 
new systems, processes, and governance arrangements necessary for the robust 
management of schemes. Following LGR, the existing arrangements for the delivery of 
projects has changed and arrangements for managing the school estate are under 
review. The construction partner brings additional expertise and capacity in the 
development of the Children’s Services Capital Programme and is essential for 
delivering a planned programme of repairs and maintenance and additional places as 
part of the SEND Programme of Expansion.  

SEND Programme of Expansion: The SEND Programme of Expansion forms part of the 
Council’s strategy to address growth and associated financial pressure in the High 
Needs Block. Schemes continue to be developed and delivered across 4 Tranches with 
Tranche 1 schemes implemented in September 2022/23. Tranche 2 and 3 schemes are 
in the development stages and Tranche 2 schemes are expected to deliver places during 
the academic year 2023/24.  

Planned Planned Planned Planned Planned Total

Programme Programme Programme Programme Programme 2023 to 2028

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Social Care (Integrated Community 

Equipment) 2,206              2,172            2,180            2,196            2,214            
10,966

Children's Services 845                 775              375              325              -               2,320

Transport & Engineering - Highways (inc indicative 

Pothole Grant and Local Transport Plan Grant) 12,813            8,788            8,788            8,788            8,788            
47,965

Transport & Engineering - Transforming Cities Fund 34,821            -               -               -               -               
34,821

Transport & Engineering - coastal protection 16,255            7,329            7,347            1,862            -               32,792

Economic Regeneration 1,869              -               -               -               -               1,869

Major Development Projects 27,341            9,636            35                -               -               37,013

Destination & Culture (inc seafront development) 29,781            12,160          -               -               -               41,941

Housing & Communities (inc major housing 

development) 38,010            35,149          19,673          1,424            1,424            
95,679

Hard Facilities Management (corporate estates) 674                 518              518              518              518              2,746

Environment (waste, fleet, parks & open spaces) 11,918            6,873            410              410              410              20,021

Resources (ICT investment including Organisational 

Design) 3,660              905              -               -               -               
4,565

Capital Investment Planned 180,193 84,304 39,325 15,522 13,353 332,697

General Fund

Capital Investment Programme 2023/24 to 2027/28

211



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

2 
 

New Free School Bids: The outcome of the Council’s bid submission for two new special 
schools is anticipated ‘early 2023’ A favourable outcome will significantly increase the 
number of places across BCP’s state-maintained specialist school provision.  

Schools Rebuilding Programme Approvals: The Council is pleased to report that the 
Council’s nominations for capital investment under the Schools Rebuilding Programme 
were successful. This means investment in 2 Local Authority Maintained Schools 
including Somerford Primary School and Winchelsea Special School. Separate 
nominations were submitted by Academy Trusts as the responsible body for academy 
schools and a further 4 nominations were successful.  

High Needs Provision Capital: The outcome of the LA maintained submissions means 
that the use and allocation of the Council’s High Needs Provision Capital grant of £11.8m 
2022-2024 will be re-appraised. Subject to DfE approval, it is proposed to allocate capital 
funding to support the Council’s delivery of activities across 4 workstreams outlined in 
the Council’s bid for revenue [transformation] funding to the DfE under the Delivering 
Better Value (DVB) programme. The Council is one of 55 local authorities participating in 
the programme which provides dedicated support and funding to help local authorities 
with substantial deficit issues to reform their high needs systems. The bid will be 
submitted towards the end of February 2023 and the outcome is anticipated in March 
2023.  

Schemes with Prior Approval 21/22: The progress of schemes with prior approval in the 
capital programme are as follows: 

Hillbourne School: The school is open and operational. The final account is expected to 
be agreed by July 2024. scheduled to complete July 2024. 

Avonbourne School: In partnership with United Learning Trust, the Council has delivered 

a project to provide a total of 150 places over three years achieved through extensive 

remodelling of existing school accommodation. Following a spatial assessment by an 

external consultant, the scheme will provide sufficient general and specialist teaching 

spaces and student and staff WCs. Three bulge classes were planned for by September 

2022 and a further two are planned for September 2023. The project was completed on 

20 January 2023. 

Highways - £12.8 million 2023/24 (£48 million 5-year plan) 

This is routine and structural capital maintenance that is funded predominantly 
from Department for Transport (DfT) capital grant allocations for Local Transport Plan 
(LTP) and Pothole Fund. CIP spend is indicative at this stage and is based on an 
estimate of unspent capital grant from prior years and historic in-year grant allocations. 
Final grant allocations are expected to be announced in early 2023.  A detailed report on 
planned utilisation of LTP and pothole grant funding for 2023/24 will be considered 
separately by council in March 2023 including allocations to Neighbourhood Services for 
routine highways maintenance across the conurbation.  

The Government announced plans to allocate an additional £400 million new capital 
grant funding between 2022/2023 and 2024/25, for the development and construction of 
high-quality walking and cycling schemes identified in Local Cycling & Walking 
Infrastructure plans (LCWIPs). Further guidance is anticipated from Government on how 
this funding will be allocated across the country. Whilst Government aims to provide 
long-term certainty for local authorities over the spending review period to 2024/25 and 
to minimise competitions wherever possible, a combined long-term pipeline bidding 
process is envisaged, with long-term allocations to be agreed on a later date.  

In November last year the council heard that it had successfully secured funding from the 
DfT to deliver its Bus Service Improvement Plan. A total of £8.9m (split between capital 

212



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

3 
 

and revenue) was awarded. A formal grant letter is to follow on completion of certain 
milestones at which point the capital element of £6.1m will be incorporated into the CIP. 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) - £34.8 million 2023/24 (£34.8 million 5-year plan) 

The TCF Programme benefits from £79.3 million of Department for Transport (DfT) grant 
funding in addition to BCP and third-party local contribution. The council liaises closely 
with the DfT on the delivery and planned spend profile. Because of BCP’s progress to 
date in delivering this major programme of works, the DfT is expected to extend the 
original programme end date of March 2023. This is currently being discussed between 
the DfT and BCP. Accordingly planned spend of £34.8 million has been reprofiled into 
2023/24 but there may be some flexibility available from the DfT to reprofile into 2024/25 
to ensure the delivery of the infrastructure does not have a significant impact on the local 
road network.  

Key risks remain within the programme in relation to the ongoing impact of current 
market conditions on programme deliverability and affordability. These are, however, 
mitigated by the procurement strategy and level of risk allowance included in the 
programme through which increased costs are expected to be managed. This position is 
closely monitored by the Programme Management Board. 

There are also potential risks associated with securing the third party “complementary 

investment” contribution of £11.5 million from the bus companies. This is assumed to consist 

of bus operator investment in new vehicles, engine upgrades, investments in new routes, 

and marketing and communications support to promote the TCF programme. Discussions 

are ongoing with bus operators to confirm the availability and timing of this funding 

commitment. The council is also considering what alternative local contributions could also 

be attributed to the TCF Programme, in order to mitigate the potential impact. This issue has 

been raised with the DfT. At this stage they have not indicated that it would impact the 

overall grant award.  

Coast Protection - £16.3 million 2023/24 (£32.8 million 5-year plan) 

This programme is delivered in partnership with the Environment Agency and is primarily 
funded by government grant. The programme consists predominantly of two main 
schemes. 

Poole Bay Beach Management Plan - an ongoing scheme designed to provide long term 
coastal erosion protection to thousands of properties and infrastructure via cyclical beach 
replenishment and ongoing groyne renewal works. This scheme currently assumes BCP 
local contribution in the final two years of the programme, funded from prudential 
borrowing which has been factored into the MTFP. 

Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill scheme (PB2HH) approved in 20/21 is a flood defence 
scheme which will provide long term tidal flooding protection for parts of Poole town and 
the Twin Sails regeneration area.  

Regeneration/Major Development - £29.2 million 2023/24 (£38.9 million 5-year plan) 

This includes investment in the Carter’s Quay site supporting the council’s wider 
ambitions to regenerate Poole and the remaining planned spend across 2023-2025 is 
£23.9 million (£45.6 million total investment). This will be a Build to Rent (BTR) 
residential scheme delivering 161 new homes and ancillary ground floor residential 
amenity and commercial space. The scheme is fully funded by prudential borrowing.  

The Smart Places Gigabit Fibre Scheme (total approved £5.9 million) is profiled to spend 
£5.7 million across 2023-2025. This is being funded through the council’s Futures Fund. 

There is £1.5m to fund refurbishment of the Bournemouth International Centre (BIC) 
funded by prudential borrowing. 

213



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

4 
 

The Wessex Fields Highways infrastructure project, following Council approval in 
November to increase the budget, is now profiled to spend a total of £4 million in future 
years. The £2.4 million increase is being funded through the Futures Fund. 

Council has approved a £2.6 million allocation from the Futures Fund for investment in 
Pokesdown Railway Station – a joint project with Network Rail/South Western Railway 
who are currently working on design. The main construction works are profiled for 
2024/25.  

Other major projects currently being developed include Towns Fund schemes supporting 
the regeneration of Boscombe, plus regeneration of both the Poole Civic Centre and 
Christchurch Civic Offices. The latter two are being progressed by BCP FuturePlaces the 
wholly owned council company set up to drive placemaking regeneration and property 
market transformation in support of the aspirations set out in the Council’s Big Plan. 

Destination & culture - £29.8 million 2023/24 (£41.9 million 5-year plan) 

Southbourne redevelopment (previously known as Bistro on the Beach): The forecast 
Final Cost Plan (Oct 2022) for Southbourne seafront redevelopment was £10.8m which 
is £4m higher than original budget £6.8m (June 2020). Actual construction cost increase 
accounts for £1.13m of the uplift reflecting changes required to secure planning consent 
and additional costs associated with infrastructure upgrades and MEP services 
requirements within the redesigned building. Rising costs of materials and labour due to 
inflation within the construction sector, together with forward inflation to target start on 
site date have contributed the balance of cost increase. Design and business case being 
kept under review with recommendation to pause delivery until construction inflation 
pressures ease. Reviewing procurement options to extend meanwhile ‘pop up’ catering 
offer on the site.  

Durley Chine Environmental Hub (fully funded through Coastal Communities Fund grant): 
Construction completed with fit out of public facilities (toilets, kiosk) underway in advance of 
soft opening February half term. Next phase will see development of on-site interpretation 
promoting education around local coastal processes and waste management. Longer term, 
opening up of the main building to deliver the Council’s Turning the Tide project, establishing 
a learning space to connect people’s actions to the oceans and builds environmental 
guardianship; a venue that models environmentally positive behaviour and systems; a 
showcase for BCP’s development as a low impact destination, where refill and reuse 
replaces single use; and an education resource for schools and families.  

Canford Cliffs: Project comprises conversion of cliff stability work, utility infrastructure 
upgrades, conversion of Canford Pavilion into café, community shelter for sea swim and 
water sport changing and construction of additional beach huts over two levels across 11 
existing beach hut blocks. Most recently approved budget £6.7m, comprising £3.9m capital 
allocation and £2.8m PRU (June 2020). This historic budget allocation requires updating in 
the light of increasing market prices, change in original project scope resulting from cliff slip 
and the wider prioritisations in the adopted BCP Seafront Strategy (April 2022). Capital has 
been re-allocated by the Council, requiring revised business case to be fully funded from 
PRU borrowing. Project delivery on pause whilst abnormal inflationary and borrowing cost 
pressures stabilise. A revised budget to be brought forward as conditions ease. 

The council has been successful in a bid to the government’s Levelling Up Fund (Round 2). 
It has been awarded £18.16 million in grant for investment in a transformation programme 
that will revitalise the Bournemouth and Poole seafront focusing on repairs to Bournemouth 
pier, stabilisation of the East Cliff and the creation of a new lifeguard training and education 
centre.  

214



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

5 
 

The CIP also includes £6.5million investment in culture & arts. This includes £4.5 million 
investment in the Poole Museum “Our Museum” project for which the council was awarded 
£2.3 million grant from the Heritage Fund. This ambitious project will transform and update 
Poole Museum including the conservation and restoration of the Wool Hall, development of 
three new galleries to showcase maritime and pottery collections, new visitor facilities and 
improved access. Also, within the Museum Estate is £1.1 million programmed spend at 
Scaplen’s Court. This project benefits from Historic England Grant and will bring significantly 
improved facilities and increased revenue generation. 

Other planned spend within culture & arts includes completion of the Upton Country Park 
Discovery project, and the Russell Cotes Museum Estates and Development (MEND) 
project. 

The recreational programme includes £1 million planned spend for a new artificial pitch at 
Rossmore Leisure Centre. This is being part funded by a grant from the Football Foundation. 

Seafront Infrastructure: Further to the Provision of Beach Huts paper presented to Cabinet 
14 December 2022, the service has ongoing revenue funding to support major capital 
investment in seafront infrastructure including beach huts of £5m every 25 years funded by 
prudential borrowing 

Housing - £38 million 2023/24 (£95.7 million 5-year plan)  

CNHAS HRA housing schemes include the start of affordable rented and shared 
ownership apartments at Princess Road moving to Q4 and the completion of 4 schemes 
- affordable rented and shared ownership homes at Cynthia House (now Alice Gardens), 
move-on accommodation at Hebert Ave and new apartments and houses at Wilkinson 
Drive - and affordable flats at Cabbage Patch. The retendering of 27 homes at 
Templeman House and commencement of 24 homes at Craven Court represent early 
2023 activity with the 110 homes at Hillbourne school site, planned to also start this year. 

Planning applications for various small Poole projects will be followed by specific Cabinet 
approvals for them through the usual CNHAS programmed approach process. The 
council is also progressing its plans for both extra care housing and more specialist 
homes for those less independent. 10 BCP council sites/assets are being explored for 
their feasibility, suitability & viability for this type of housing needs - 7 of which are in the 
HRA. Again, Cabinet papers for those schemes deemed appropriate, will be presented in 
2023/24.  

Indicative government grant allocations of around £3.5 million per annum have been 
assumed within the CIP for the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) programme of capital 
works. From this the sum of £2.1 million per annum is allocated to Adult Social Care for 
integrated community care equipment and occupational therapist support costs to further 
promote and support independent living at home. This leaves £1.4 million per annum 
within Housing to support the provision of disabled facilities grants to the community. 

Estates - £0.7 million 2023/24 (£2.7 million 5-year plan) 

This represents profiled spend on hard facilities management across the authority and 
includes ongoing £0.5 million annual investment in the maintenance of BH Live assets 
funded from revenue contributions to capital. The 2023/24 programme also includes £0.2 
million spend to complete the Fisherman’s Walk Cliff Lift project. 

Environment - £11.9 million 2023/24 (£20 million 5-year plan) 

This includes planned spend of £9.4 million (2023/24) and £6.5million (2024/25) on the 
council’s Fleet Replacement Strategy, approved by Council in September 2021. This 
programme is fully funded by prudential borrowing. There is funding risk associated with this 
capital budget, should vehicle acquisition prices in the current market exceed original capital 
budget assumptions. There are also difficulties with extended lead in times for delivery of 

215



 Appendix 7b                                                      
     
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) narrative by directorate 

6 
 

vehicles ordered as well as potential costs of fleet branding. The position continues to be 
monitored. £0.4 million is approved planned spend on Cleaner, Greener, Safer Equipment 
also funded by borrowing.  

Investment in the council’s waste bin replacement strategy is represented by £0.41 million 
p.a. across the MTFP funded by borrowing. 

The council continues to deliver a programme of enhancements and improvements to its 
parks and open spaces including play areas. 2023/24 includes £1.1 million profiled spend for 
the Sluice Channel Infrastructure Improvements (Poole park to Poole harbour) and £0.6 
million for the Throop Nature Park (Hicks SANG). 

Resources - £3.6 million 2023/24 (£4.5 million 5-year plan) 

£1.8 million investment is planned to complete the council’s Accommodation Strategy. 
This includes the following: Extension Zero and Kinson Hub, the Coroners Service 
(Vertical Slice), and the Remodelling of BCP Civic space – West Wing. 

£2.2 million budget remains for the capital costs of the council’s Transformation 
Programme (ICT investment) profiled over 23/24 and 24/25.  

£0.3 million has been identified as the 2023/24 new investment requirement for the 
‘business as usual’ ICT replacement programme, proposed as funded by additional 
prudential borrowing. It represents capital investment required to maintain, improve, or 
replace existing ICT infrastructure to ensure business as usual service delivery across 
the council. It relates to short or medium-term requirements on existing ICT components 
and sits outside of the capital investment approved as part of the council’s technological 
transformation plan. A detailed breakdown can be found at Appendix 7c. 

 

 

 

216



IT & IS Capital Infrastructure Investment Plan 23/24 
 

1.0 Purpose and Scope: 
 

1.1 Every autumn IT&IS conducts an extensive review of the IT estate and identify 

areas where capital investment is required to maintain or enhance the IT 

estate on which BCP Council operates. 

 

1.2 The activity primarily focuses on ensuring IT equipment or supporting 

infrastructure that is due to go “end of life” in the coming financial year is 

identified and costed for replacement. 

 

1.3 The activity includes an assessment of whether the infrastructure is due to be 

replaced or enhanced (and therefore funded) via other projects, such as the 

Transformation Project. Items that are funded from elsewhere are not included 

in this capital request. 

 

1.4 Finally, the activity also seeks to identify where additional capacity or 

enhancements are required to ensure the IT estate remains fit for purpose as 

an enabler of BCP Council service delivery. 

 

1.5 The purpose of this document is to detail the capital requests made as part of 

the detailed IT&IS capital infrastructure investment plan for the financial year 

2023/2024. 

 

1.6 All current year activity and spend is tracked daily within the Infrastructure 

Investment Plan PowerBI Report and tracked weekly as part of IT 

Infrastructure Board 

 

2.0  Summary of activity: 
 

2.1 IT&IS requires additional capital investment of £522,000 in 23/24 to 

complete ALL the identified activity within the plan. 

2.2 Currently, IT&IS forecasts to avoid spending already allocated 22/23 capital 

investment to the sum of £205,000 from this financial year. 

Currently IT & IS require £317,000 NEW capital funding in 23/24 to 

provide the full amount requested in the IT & IS Infrastructure 

Investment Plan. 

2.3 The activity includes several “big ticket items” which are worthy of note: 

2.3.1 Replace End of Life Uninterruptable Power Supply (UPS) - £62,000 (Line 13) 

217

https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:x:/s/InformationTechnologyInformationSystems/ESqyeaU_KF1MvcrJLP47wv4B3nhiREgOmXhXdeSPn7zpDg?e=eqXBWa
https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:x:/s/InformationTechnologyInformationSystems/ESqyeaU_KF1MvcrJLP47wv4B3nhiREgOmXhXdeSPn7zpDg?e=eqXBWa
https://bcpcouncil.sharepoint.com/:x:/s/InformationTechnologyInformationSystems/ESqyeaU_KF1MvcrJLP47wv4B3nhiREgOmXhXdeSPn7zpDg?e=eqXBWa


The UPS provides emergency power to BCPs datacentre (DC) in the event of 

power failure. 

It is designed to keep the DC powered until such time that a) mains power is 

restored or b) the BCP Civic Centre diesel generator kicks in and provides 

more medium/long term power until such time that mains power is restored. 

A loss of power to the DC would mean an almost complete cessation of IT 

enabled service delivery for BCP Council and is considered a MUST piece of 

activity for 23/24 (even if not funded from this source, e.g. Estates and 

Accommodation Project). 

The work is expected to compliment a similar piece of work, led by Facilities 

Management (FM), to replace the also end of life diesel generator (costs for 

this are NOT included in this plan). 

2.3.2 Implement Distributed Denial Of Service (DDOS) protection solution to 

mitigate the threats of a Cyber-attack – £35,000 (Line 26) 

 The threat of a cyber-attack is increasing. This tool provides the Council with 

protection against an attack that could, and has previously, flood the network 

with traffic that prevents BCP Council service delivery that is dependant on 

internet or cloud services. 

 Although NOT a must, this activity seeks to further bolster the security footing 

of the Council by providing upstream protection from a repeat attack.  

 Further details of the risks and costs associated with such an attack are 

detailed in this separate document drawn up by our Networks and Security 

Managers. 

2.3.3 Implement Remote Browser Isolation (RBI) to mitigate the threats of spear 

phishing attacks - £15,000 (Line 35) 

 This solution aims to strengthen defence against targeted phishing attacks to 

officers and members. We experience daily attacks of this nature and are 

currently delivering an extensive training regime to all staff to ensure visibility 

of this threat. 

 The solution provides the Council with a technical way to further mitigate the 

threat of phishing attacks by “sandboxing” suspicious websites in a way that 

mitigates the loss of personal or commercially sensitive information. 

 Although NOT considered a must do piece of activity, the activity is strongly 

recommended by BCP Councils IT Security Office to reduce the risk of staff 

falling foul of this very regular and dangerous threat. 

2.3.4 Replace End of Life local Storage Infrastructure (VNX) - £80,000 (Lines 108-

112) 

218

https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/marc_biondic_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/ER6dkWI2GQ1FtNPi09crIYkB0260hCGld19ViQ55yB91Xg?e=aJOCNs


The on-premises VNX storage array is where servers that deliver legacy 

Bournemouth Council applications are hosted from and is due to go end of life 

in October 2023 and must be replaced. 

Considered a MUST piece of work, the replacement of the VNX storage is 

critical to ensure continuity of ‘business as usual’ for BCP Council 

departments and ensure availability of the servers and applications to staff 

delivering those services. 

2.3.5 Replace IT&IS Service Management (ITSM) Software - £125,000 (Line 185) 

IT&IS current ITSM is contracted until December 2024. However, with the 

influx of multiple “grey IT” colleagues into IT&IS as part of Smarter Structures 

an opportunity presents itself next year to bring forward a deployment of a 

new suitably licenced ITSM that meets IT&IS target operating model 

requirements and seeks to leverage additional efficiencies, such as 

automated monitoring and alerting. 

However, it is also acknowledged that this work COULD be postponed until 

24/25 if funding is not available in 23/24. The impacts of delaying to 24/25 are: 

• £30,000 new capital funding would still be required in 23/24 to ensure staff 

bought in under Smarter Structures could use the tool and align with 

current IT service delivery methods. 

• The current IT&IS base budget revenue commitment would increase from 

£14,000 per annum to £20,000 per annum in 23/24 until the end of the 

contract in 24/25. 

• It leaves much less time to perform a successful migration into the new 

tool. There is therefore a risk that the current tool may not be able to be 

“switched off” by the end of current waiver (December 2024) and present 

an issue for Corporate Procurement due to the legality of extending the 

contract further.  

 

219



This page is intentionally left blank

220



Appendix 8 

 

Asset Management Plan 

Overview of the Council’s assets 

BCP Council has a wide-ranging portfolio of property assets inherited from the four 

legacy authorities in 2019. As at 31 March 2022 the portfolio was valued at a total of 

circa £2.07bn. This total includes housing (£682.8m attributed to the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA)), schools, libraries and community centres, specialist 

centres providing adult day care and residential care and a range of support for 

children and young people, administrative and civic buildings, cemeteries & 

crematoriums, the regional mortuary, public conveniences, and maintenance depots.   

The Council also has heritage assets such as the Russell Cotes Museum, Highcliffe 

Castle and Upton Country Park; entertainment venues such as the BIC, Pavilion and 

Poole Lighthouse; sports centres, sports pitches and pavilions; car parks, investment 

properties, and a range of seafront assets including beach huts and cafes. 

Property assets can become liabilities as they need on-going maintenance and 

investment to ensure they remain fit for purpose. It is therefore essential that the 

assets held by the Council are the right ones, efficiently supporting the provision of 

quality services, helping deliver our strategic aims, and making a positive difference 

within the community they serve. 

 

What is an Asset Management Plan and why do we need one? 

An Asset Management Plan (AMP) is the foundation to ensuring a portfolio of assets 

is being managed in the most efficient and effective way. An AMP is a timebound 

commitment to action that ensures that the Council’s property assets are proactively 

managed to fully meet both its current and future requirements, with an increasing 

focus on long term financial and climate sustainability. 

The Council’s Financial Regulations set out the responsibilities of the Corporate 

Property Officer which include “establishing an asset management plan that details 

short-, medium-, and long-term use of assets, and establishes arrangements for 

monitoring and reporting asset performance”. The inclusion of this section on Asset 

Management within this Financial Paper helps set the tone for how the Council will 

take this forward. 

The Council has set out its key priorities within the Corporate Plan. The 

accompanying Big Plan details projects that will deliver significant changes across 

the whole area of BCP. Part of the AMP’s role is to establish a golden thread, linking 

the Council’s priorities and ambitions through the management of and investment in 

its assets. 

The AMP should also be developed and read in conjunction with other strategies and 

plans including Regeneration, Housing, Highways, Seafront, and the Transformation 

Agenda. For noting, the management of the HRA is set out in the annual HRA 

Budget Papers. The AMP focuses on corporate ‘general fund’ land and property 

assets. 

221



Appendix 8 

 

The AMP has an important role to play with regard to the Council’s Budget and 

Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). For example, surplus assets can contribute to 

funding the capital programme and in turn capital expenditure can support the 

provision of new asset requirements identified by services or council priorities. The 

AMP should also horizon scan, identifying asset requirements that might require 

capital investment to deliver and maintain them in the future. 

It should be noted that asset management can be a key strand in an integrated 

approach towards both regeneration – in line with The Big Plan, and the delivery of a 

sustainable urban footprint following from the council’s climate change objectives. 

 

Progress so far 

In 2021 the Council commissioned a portfolio review and the development of an 

estate framework by Avison Young. This work produced several outputs including a 

better understanding and categorisation of all the assets and types of assets 

inherited from the legacy authorities. There were 2,621 asset entries on the asset 

register Avison Young produced. 

Avison Young’s report set out a list of BCP Council Estate Principles to support 

future decision-making, representing a checklist to assess new estate-related 

business cases against. So, in the future the BCP Council estate should be: 

 Relevant- in a strategic sense 

 Resilient – protecting BCP Operations and our communities 

 Fit for purpose / Safe / Compliant – in a technical sense 

 Connected – digitally enabled 

 Connected – accessible to customers 

 Flexible – to accommodate future change 

 Sustainable – carbon neutral / environmentally (including adaption) 

 Sustainable – financially in the medium to longer term 

Another output included the recommendation for implementing a more centrally 

controlled organisational structure for all aspects of land and property management. 

This is now being actioned with the implementation of a Corporate Landlord Model 

which is detailed more in the section below. 

In conclusion, the Framework created by Avison Young set out a series of actions to 

move the Council towards a strategic (and corporate best practice) approach to 

estate management, and also a more targeted, needs led approach to identifying 

estate re-alignment and rationalisation opportunities. These have been areas of 

focus for the Council during 2022. 

The final section of this initial Asset Management Plan will explain what the Council’s 

next steps are to respond to these issues, how it will develop a comprehensive asset 

management plan, and set out a high-level Action Plan for the next 12 months. 

However, before this, it is worth summarising some of the key themes, challenges 

222



Appendix 8 

 

and opportunities that will impact on the management of the Council’s assets over 

the next few years. These all provide context to the shaping of the AMP. 

 

Challenges, Opportunities, and what we need from our assets in the future 

1) Financial climate 

The Council’s assets have a key role to play with regard to responding to the 

unprecedented financial challenges the Council faces over the next few years. 

Assets can directly affect both the revenue and capital positions of the Council. 

The Council must ensure that its land and property assets deliver value for money in 

terms of service benefit, operating costs, financial returns, and regeneration. The 

Council must therefore continually challenge whether its assets are required, fit for 

purpose, and contribute to the delivery Council services and priorities.  

2) Regeneration / Place Shaping 

The Council has committed to revitalising the towns and neighbourhoods across 

Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole, and has a number of key delivery partners. 

Future-Places is an urban regeneration company set up with a remit to maximise the 

social, economic, environmental, and financial return on investment of land and 

property worth almost £3bn in gross development value on a municipal stewardship 

model. This model acknowledges the role of active asset management as well as 

development to unlock best value for communities and the transformation of the 

overall place.  

The Bournemouth Development Company has been a key player in regenerating 

Bournemouth Town Centre for the last 12 years. Most recent developments include 

‘Treetops’ in St Stephens Road and ‘West Cliff Mansions’, both utilising council land 

formerly used as surface car parks. More efficient multi-storey car provision has 

been provided to offset the loss of these car parks. 

The Boscombe Towns Fund is using £22m as part of the Government’s Town Deal 

programme to turbo charge ambitious regeneration plans for Boscombe. 

The identification and redeployment of under-used and surplus assets is an 

important driver for regeneration, and critical to the success of these endeavours. 

Equally, there is a need to consider how active land and property management can 

of itself deliver regenerative benefits ahead of and as a precursor to the development 

of land and property. Asset Management is also about understanding what future 

services might look like and the assets required to support services. This valuable 

information can feed into the place shaping work led by these partners. 

3) Transformation 

The Council is undertaking an extensive transformation programme which has three 

elements: how and where we work, how we are organised; and how we support our 

colleagues through these changes. 

223



Appendix 8 

 

Whilst the Council will continue to support customers face to face, a new operating 

model of investment in technology, digitalisation, and automation of services with 

24/7 access will have a significant impact upon the Council’s operational estate.  

The Council has already acted delivering Phase 1 of its Estates & Accommodation 

(E&A) Programme with the reconfiguration of the former Bournemouth Town Hall 

Complex into the new BCP Civic Centre. Significant work has also been undertaken 

at Poole Customer Hub & Library and Christchurch Customer Hub & Library to 

provide more modern and agile environments for both customers and staff. This has 

facilitated the closure of the other two civic centre sites which can now be 

repurposed via the Council’s Future-Places partner.  

Phase 2 of this E&A programme has now commenced focussing primarily on the 

administrative buildings out in the conurbation so that the whole office estate is 

brought in line with our new standards and principles. However, this work is also 

identifying service opportunities as often buildings are shared spaces.  

4) Climate Action 

BCP Council declared a climate and ecological emergency in July 2019. This set a 

commitment as an organisation to become carbon neutral by 2030, and then the 

conurbation of Bournemouth, Christchurch, and Poole by 2050. 

The Council’s assets have a significant role to play in us achieving these targets. An 

AMP that sets out clear direction in terms of which assets are required in the future 

by each service, can in turn help direct the maintenance of and investment in those 

assets to improve their energy efficiency and reduce their carbon emissions. The 

climate impact of each asset needs to be built in as one of the key performance 

indicators for our portfolio alongside running costs, backlog maintenance and 

utilisation.  Adaption is another area that needs consideration for the portfolio, so 

future proofing our assets from floods, extreme heat, fire, and wind. 

There is an urgent need both to consider the performance of assets from a resource 

consumption, fabric first and circular economy, perspective; as well as considering 

how the physical disposition of council and public assets interacts with trip 

generation both for staff and for customers.  

When the Council pursues new build or acquisition programmes in the future it will 

be guided by the framework within the Local Plan. However, the Council may choose 

to complement this with its own sustainable construction principles in the future. This 

could ensure a consistently high standard across everything it does itself and in 

collaboration with its partners. 

5) Service need  

Council services are dealing with many challenges from financial, demographic, 

legislative, to service improvement and this is on top of bringing together 4 legacy 

authorities and learning to live with Covid. Whilst the provision of quality services is 

front and centre in their thinking, the Council’s Estates team, working within the 

context of a Corporate Landlord Model, will support services to ensure the built 

estate is considered in that thought and design process, and where possible the 

224



Appendix 8 

 

most appropriate assets are retained and invested in. The development of mini 

estate strategies for each service area or by theme will be essential to this process. 

6) Maintaining the Council’s assets, & ensuring they are safe & compliant 

An asset can quickly become a liability if not repaired, maintained, and managed 

properly. Like all local authorities, BCP Council has a substantial maintenance 

backlog to address within its estate. Maintenance budgets are focussed on ensuring 

inspections are carried out and statutory responsibilities maintained so buildings are 

safe for staff and visitors. 

Buildings are no longer receiving proactive or planned maintenance as they had in 

the past and for example plant is now being run to the point of failure. However, 

funding opportunities are being explored to see how buildings can become more 

efficient and how old plant can be replaced with much more low carbon and 

sustainable solutions. Ongoing consideration is also being given to which buildings 

are no longer needed for service deliver and can then be sold or redeveloped. In 

doing so the resources available to the council can then be spread more effectively 

over less buildings. 

7) Accurate and up to date Property Records 

The Council’s Property Records Team and ICT are currently working on two projects 

to bring the legacy land ownership and asset register data into a single IT system 

and associated mapping system. These are significant pieces of work and essential 

to having an efficient and up to date data set of the council’s ownership records. 

These records include the core property ownership data and estate management 

data which includes leases, rent review dates and break & expiry dates.  

The Facilities Management team is working on a similar project to bring all their data 

sets into a single IT system. This data includes building condition, inspections, 

asbestos, and water management. 

This data is critical not only to the safe and efficient day to day running of the estate, 

but also for supporting regeneration and other transformational activities. 

8) Corporate Landlord Model and current governance arrangements 

The Council is in the process of introducing a Corporate Landlord Model (CLM) to 

the way it manages its land and property assets. This means bringing together the 

different functions and activities into one single centre of excellence or service 

directorate. From Strategic Asset Management, Estate Management, Facilities 

Management, Compliance, Repairs & Maintenance and Design & Construction.  This 

consolidation of technical and professional resources and budgets will help the 

Council operate more efficiently. CLM should infuse corporate best practice. 

9) Partnership Working 

Across the County of Dorset there is a range of public sector services from Dorset 

Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG), South West Ambulance Trust, Dorset Police, Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and 

Rescue Service, The Ministry of Defence (MoD), Dorset Council, and Town and 

225



Appendix 8 

 

Parish Councils. All these organisations have their own portfolio of assets as well as 

share those of others. 

So, it is incumbent on all partners including BCP Council, to make the best use of 

these assets and work together delivering services. A Dorset Public Estate Board 

has recently been set up to ensure a more cohesive approach to the use of assets 

by these organisations and BCP will play an active role in this group. 

It is also important to recognise the role of third parties and community groups. This 

Council is keen to enable communities more with regards the retention and provision 

of services. 

 

Approach to developing the Asset Management Plan – next steps 

Accepting the recommendations from Avison Young and the themes highlighted 

above, its essential that the Council resources and sets out a more detailed asset 

management plan for the medium to long term. This includes developing: 

 A Handbook which sets out the nuts and bolts for how we do asset 

management, including policies, processes, and procedures 

 A Performance Review – this should include a suite of performance indicators to 

allow the Council to measure how its assets are performing, and detail the key 

areas for change that will affect future asset requirements across services; and 

 A detailed Asset Strategy and Action Plan which sets out all the asset related 

activity over the next 3 – 5 years in support of the Council’s priorities and 

services. 

 

The short-term focus is very much on direct support to the Council’s Financial 

Strategy. In particular: 

 bringing forward the disposal of non-strategic assets to help fund current and 

future years of the Council’s capital programme; and 

 continuing the fundamental review of buildings occupied by BCP Council with a 

view to further consolidating the staff in the Civic Centre and considering future 

options for owned buildings or passing back leasehold properties as soon as 

practical. 

 The extent to which the community would be better placed to manage council 

assets (An Enabling Council – Strength Based Approach) 

 Consideration of the performance and location of assets through the lens of 

regeneration and climate adaption. 

Currently the Council has two Corporate Property Groups (CPG) which meet 

monthly. The CPG Operations Group focusses on operational matters and trying to 

find solutions to new asset requirements. It also provides the forum for highlighting 

an asset that might be under-used or surplus to that service’s requirements. The 

group can then discuss whether there might be alternative operational needs that 

could be met from that asset, or it could be recommended as surplus. CPG Strategic 

226



Appendix 8 

 

maintains an overview for how the Council’s assets are being managed and 

approves any changes to how assets are deployed.  Essentially, these CPGs act as 

the conduit for all asset related activity, although it is important to note that asset 

activity must still comply with the Financial Regulations and Constitution.  

The Council will continue to manage the estate on a day-to-day basis with a 

common-sense approach and to the benefit of the council and services provided. 

The following high level Action Plan has been agreed setting out the key activities 

and steps to be taken over the next 12 months: 

 

No. Activity Responsible 
Service 

Target 
Date 

01 Implement Phase 1 of the Corporate Landlord 

model bringing together Estates, Facilities 
Management and Property Management 

under a single directorate 
 

TBC 1 April 

2023 

02 Disposal of non-strategic assets  

 
To consider the ability to deliver £20m of 
additional asset sales by 31 March 2023. 

Report back to Cabinet in February 2023 on 
viability 

 

Estates, 

Development 

31 March 

2023 

03 Accommodation Strategy – continue with 
Phase 2 of the E&A Programme rationalising 
the Council’s administrative accommodation 

 
Further assets to be identified and vacated 

during 2023/24 
 

Transformation 
Team 

31 March 
2023 
 

 
31 March 

2024 

04 To complete the drafting, consultation, and 
adoption of a Community Asset Transfer 

Policy for BCP Council 
 

Estates 31 March 
2023 

05 Develop the AMP Handbook including policies 

and processes on: 
 

 The re-use of assets & disposal  

 Maintenance Strategy 

 Ground leases 

 

Estates 31 March 

2024 

06 Develop the AMP Performance Review 
 

 Suite of measurable property 
performance indicators 

Estates 31 March 
2024 

227



Appendix 8 

 

 Key Areas for Change (capturing 
centrally future asset requirements for 

services) 

 Review of this Action Plan for 2023/24 
 

07 Develop the 3 Year AMP Strategy and Action 

Plan for 2024/25 – 2026/27 
 

Estates 31 March 

2024 
 

08 Data migration 

 

 Complete the migration of legacy Poole 

property, estates and FM data into TF 
Cloud and deactivate TF Facility 

 Resource and progress Christchurch 

Data Project 
 

Estates, FM & 

IT 

 

 
30 June 

2023 
 
Timescales 

TBC 
subject to 

resource 
availability 
 

09 To complete the programme of work to ensure 

all Council buildings are fully Compliant. 
 

Explore opportunities and funding routes to 
replace failing plant with more sustainable and 
low carbon solutions 

 

Facilities 

Management 
Team 

 

31 March 

2024 

10 Progress Service / Asset Transformation work: 
 

 Family Hubs 

 Community Centres & Youth Centres 

 Day Care Strategy  

 Depot Review 

 Future Parks Programme 
 

Service Leads Dates to 
be agreed 

by review 
leads but 
will 

progress in 
2023/24 

11 Better use of Council assets to support the 
Climate Action agenda, including: 

 

 Develop a Sustainable Construction 

Policy and Framework to enable the 
incorporation of our climate and 

ecological emergency declarations and 
other sustainability goals into the 
decision making of asset management 

plans for our buildings and land 

 Ensure that capital works on our estate 

actively seeks to reduce energy use 
and Greenhouse gas emissions) 
(GHGe), or at the very least does not 

increase operational GHGe emissions 

Climate Action 
Team/ 

Estates/FM 

31 March 
2024 

228



Appendix 8 

 

post 2030, and identifies options to 
minimise embodied carbon in materials 
and processes 

 Ensure the framework considers the 
purchase and disposal of assets on the 

basis of future cost of mitigating the 
assets to reach net zero, the costs of 

offsetting residual emissions, and costs 
of adapting to the impacts of climate 
change 

 Develop an energy model and portfolio 
level business case of capital works for 

our corporate estate to identify the 
optimal approach to reach our 2030 Net 
Zero target by reducing energy use and 

generating renewable energy (3 to 6 
months) 

 Develop and implement an Adaptation 
plan to manage the impacts of a 
changing climate on our corporate 

property and estate by 2024 
 

12 Continue at pace with the programmes of 

work supporting the Regeneration agenda. 
 

 
 

Regeneration 

Delivery team 
and including 

partners such 
as BDC, 
Boscombe 

Towns 
Development 

Fund, and 
Future-Places 
 

31 March 

2024 

13 Work with BCP Future-Places to produce an 

interim Regeneration Strategy considering the 
role that property asset management has to 

play in regeneration and the delivery of 
sustainable growth. 
 

Future-Places 

/ Estates Team 

31 March 

2024 

 

 

 

 

229



This page is intentionally left blank

230



1 Appendix 9 

 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023/24 

Introduction 

Background 

1 The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 

cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low-risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low risk appetite, 

providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 

2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Authority’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 

need of the Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure 
that it can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term 

cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash 
flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet risk or cost objectives.  

3 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 

ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day 
revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance 
of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash deposits 

affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result from 
reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums 
invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund 

Balance. 

4 CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 

performance consistent with those risks.” 

5 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 

treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, 
(arising usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day-to-day 
treasury management activities. 

Reporting Requirements 

Capital Strategy  

6 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy report which will provide the following: - 

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 

and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 

231



2 Appendix 9 

 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 

7 The aim of the strategy is to ensure that all the Authority’s elected members fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting Capital Strategy 

requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 

8 This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. 
This ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity 
and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven 

by expenditure on an asset.   

Treasury Management Reporting 

9 The Authority is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three 
main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, 
estimates and actuals.   

a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - 

The first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: - 

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators) 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time) 

 the Treasury Management Strategy, (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and  

 an Annual Investment Strategy, (the parameters on how investments are 
to be managed) 

b) A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress 

report and will update members on the capital position, amending 

prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require 
revision.  In addition, this Authority will receive quarterly update reports. 

c) An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review 

document and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the 

estimates within the strategy. 

Scrutiny 

10 The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 

recommended to Full Council.  This role is undertaken by the Audit and 
Governance Committee.   

11 Quarterly reports – In addition to the three major reports detailed above, from 

2023/24 quarterly reporting (end of June/end of December) is also required.  
However, these additional reports do not have to be reported to Full Council but 

do require to be adequately scrutinised.  This role is undertaken by the Audit and 
Governance Committee.  (The reports, specifically, should comprise updated 

Treasury/Prudential Indicators.) 

 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 

12 The strategy for 2023/24 covers two main areas: 

232



3 Appendix 9 

 

Capital issues 

 the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

Treasury management issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 policy on use of external service providers. 

13 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
DLUHC Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential 
Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code. 

Training 

14 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the responsible officer to ensure 

that members with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate 
training in treasury management.  This especially applies to members responsible 
for scrutiny.   

15 Furthermore, pages 47 and 48 of the Code state that they expect “all 
organisations to have a formal and comprehensive knowledge and ski lls or 

training policy for the effective acquisition and retention of treasury management 
knowledge and skills for those responsible for management, delivery, governance 
and decision making. 

16 The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexi ty of the 
organisation’s treasury management needs.  Organisations should consider how 

to assess whether treasury management staff and board/ council members have 
the required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and whether they have 
been able to maintain those skills and keep them up to date.  

17 As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review 
knowledge and skills:  

 Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor 
attendance is identified.  

 Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and council 

members.  

 Require treasury management officers and council members to undertake 

self-assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the 
schedule that may be adopted by the organisation).  

 Have regular communication with officers and council members, encouraging 

233



4 Appendix 9 

 

them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis. 

18 In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better 
Governance Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-

assessment by members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’, 
which is available from the CIPFA website to download. 

19 The following training has been undertaken by members on the 16th June 2022 
and further training will be arranged as required.   

20 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

21 A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury function 
will be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal.  Similarly, a formal record 

of the treasury management/capital finance training received by members will also 
be maintained by the Finance Manager - Techincal. 

Treasury management consultants 

22 The Councils Treasury Management advisors are Link Asset Services. 

23 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order to 

acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  

24 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Authority will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and subjected 

to regular review. 

The Capital Prudential Indicators 2023/24 – 2025/26 

25 The Authority’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in 
the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 

confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Capital expenditure and Financing  

26 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, 
both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund 78,539               137,699               172,474                 56,491                31,236 

HRA                 38,508                 37,072                 68,997                 43,574                18,520 

Total               117,047               174,771               241,471               100,065                49,756 
 

27 The following tables summarise the above capital expenditure plans and how 

these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of 
resources results in a funding borrowing need.  

 

234



5 Appendix 9 

 

General Fund Capital Expenditure  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Total                 78,539               137,699               172,474                 56,491                31,236 

Financed by:

Capital receipts                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -   

Capital grants & Contributions                 46,072 84,967 49,488                 19,569                16,881 

Revenue Finance                      903 2,406 2,025 1,318 518

Prudential Borrowing (inc HRA

Transfers)
                31,564 50,326 120,961                 35,604                13,837 

Total financing for the year                 78,539               137,699               172,474                 56,491                31,236  

 

HRA Capital Expenditure  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Capital expenditure Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA Total                 38,508                 37,072                 68,997                 43,574                18,520 

Financed by:

Capital receipts 3,484                        -                     2,445                   4,000                     478 

Capital grants & Contributions 3,886                   6,203                 20,524                   3,867                     905 

Revenue Finance 12,746                        -                          -                          -                          -   

Major Repairs Allowance 18,392                 18,808                 14,386                 14,955                14,550 

External Borrowing                        -                   12,061                 31,642                 20,752                  2,587 

Total financing for the year                 38,508                 37,072                 68,997                 43,574                18,520  

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

28 The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR). The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which 
has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially 

a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure 
above, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital 

resource, will increase the CFR.  

29 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in 

line with each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital 
assets as they are used. 

30 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases). Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the 

Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. 

31 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections overleaf: 

235



6 Appendix 9 

 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Capital Financing Requirement

CFR – General Fund
              319,452               353,368               455,391               471,643              466,128 

CFR – HRA               137,208               149,269               180,910               201,662              204,249 

Total CFR 456,660 502,637 636,301 673,305 670,377

Movement in CFR 19,969 45,977 133,664 37,004 (2,928)

Movement in CFR represented by

Net movement in borrowing for the year

(above)
31,564 62,387 152,603 56,356 16,424

Less MRP/VRP and other financing

movements
(11,595) (16,410) (18,938) (19,352) (19,352)

Movement in CFR 19,969 45,977 133,664 37,004 (2,928)  

 

32 A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members 
are aware of the size and scope of any borrowing in relation to the authority’s 
overall financial position. The capital expenditure figures and the details above 

demonstrate the scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider 
the scale proportionate to the Council’s remaining activity. 

Liability Benchmark  

33 A third and new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark (LB).  
The Authority is required to estimate and measure the LB for the forthcoming 

financial year and the following two financial years, as a minimum. 

34 There are four components to the LB: - 

a) Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are 

still outstanding in future years.   

b) Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition 

in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved 
prudential borrowing and planned MRP.  

c) Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority’s gross loan debt less 

treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, projected 
into the future and based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned 

MRP and any other major cash flows forecast.  
d) Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans 

requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance.  
 

35 Appendix 4 to this strategy illustrates the graphical estimate of the liability 

benchmark for the general fund and HRA separately. It confirms both funds have 
net loan requirement supported by the internal borrowing capacity of the authority. 

This benchmark will continually be updated and referred to as new borrowing is 
considered in the medium term.   

 

 

 

236



7 Appendix 9 

 

 

Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 

36 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 

capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will 
have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each 

year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the 
year-end balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow 
balances. 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fund balances / reserves 148,263 145,263 145,763 143,263 151,263

Capital receipts 14,640 14,640 14,640 14,640 14,640

Provisions 30,020 30,020 30,020 30,020 30,020

Other 1,592 1,592 1,592 1,592 1,592

Total core funds 194,515 191,515 192,015 189,515 197,515

Working Capital* (170,778) (165,778) (171,778) (175,778) (170,978)

Under/over borrowing 211,698 210,698 206,698 211,698 211,698

Expected Internal Investments 40,920 44,920 34,920 35,920 40,720

*Work ing capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these may be higher mid-year 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 

37 Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003, where the Authority has financed capital expenditure 

by borrowing it is required to make a provision each year through a revenue 
charge (MRP). 

38 The Authority is required to calculate a prudent provision of MRP which ensures 
that the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is reasonably 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits. The 

MRP Guidance (2018) gives four ready-made options for calculating MRP, but the 
Authority can use any other reasonable basis that it can justify as prudent. 

39 The MRP policy statement requires full council approval in advance of each 
financial year. The Authority is recommended to approve the following MRP 
Statement: 

40 For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be 
Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:  

 4% reducing balance (CFR method) – MRP will be calculated as 4% of the 
opening GF CFR balance 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be either: 

 Asset life method (straight line) – MRP will be based on the estimated 

life of the assets; 

 Asset life method (annuity) – MRP will be based on the estimated life of 

the assets; 

41 It was agreed by members of previous Councils that the following MRP policy was 
applied from 2016/17 onwards: 

• In respect of all supported borrowing, capital expenditure incurred prior to 

2016/17 (excluding assets acquired under PFI or finance lease 
arrangements) MRP will be provided at a rate of 2% on a straight-line 

237



8 Appendix 9 

 

basis to ensure the balance is fully cleared over the period in line with the 
useful life of the assets. 

• In respect of all unsupported borrowing, capital expenditure incurred prior 

to 2016/17 (excluding assets acquired under PFI or finance lease 
arrangements) the Council will apply the Asset life method as used in 

previous years and will apply an average life of 25 years for the 
unsupported borrowing requirement to be repaid over based on historical 
schemes that have required and applied unsupported borrowing. 

• MRP charges from 1 April 2004 to 31 March 2016 exceeded what 
prudence required during the period under this revised policy. There will 

be a realignment of MRP charged to the revenue account in 2016/17 and 
subsequent years to recognise this excess sum. Total MRP after applying 

realignment will not be less than zero in any financial year. 

• In respect of capital expenditure incurred in 2016/17 and subsequent 
financial years MRP will be provided at a rate of 4% on the written down 

balance. 

42 In 2017/18 a proposed change was made that the 4% write down method will be 

used for all assets except for significant individual schemes exceeding £10m 
(such as asset investments) for which the specific asset life will be used for MRP 
purposes.  

43 Assets under construction which have yet to fully deliver their expected benefits 
will not be subject to MRP charges to the Revenue Account until such time as 

they become operational for a full accounting year. Accordingly, on becoming 
operational, the charge for MRP will not commence until the following financial 
year. The Authority will apply the asset life method for any expenditure capitalised 

under a Capitalisation Direction. 

44 There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but 

there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made. Repayments 
included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP. 

45 MRP Overpayments - Under the MRP guidance, any charges made in excess of 

the statutory MRP can be made, known as voluntary revenue provision (VRP). 
VRP can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In order for 

these amounts to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose the 
cumulative overpayment made each year. Cumulative VRP overpayments made 
to date are £0m. 

Borrowing 

46 The capital expenditure plans set out earlier provide details of the service activity 

of the Authority. The treasury management function ensures that the Authority’s 
cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that 

sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Authority’s Capital 
Strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The 

strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and 
projected debt positions, and the Annual Investment Strategy. 

Current portfolio position 

47 The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31 March 2022 and for the 

238



9 Appendix 9 

 

position as at 31 December 2022 are shown below for both borrowing and 
investments. 

Actual Actual Current Current

31/03/2022 31/03/2022 31/12/2022 31/12/2022

Treasury investments £'000 % £'000 %

Money Market Funds 0 0% 0 0%

Bank Deposits 87,150 58% 54,250 74%

Local Authorities 10,000 7% 10,000 14%

DMO 0 0% 0 0%

Call Account 52,800 35% 8,575 12%

Total Treasury Investments 149,950 100% 72,825 100%

Treasury External Borrowing

PWLB 191,521 75% 189,313 75%

Local Authorities 0 0% 0 0%

Private Sector 65,036 25% 63,941 25%

Salix 255 0% 64 0%

Total External Borrowing 256,812 100% 253,318 100%

Net treasury investment / (borrowing) (106,862) (180,493)  

48 The Authority’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The 

table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing 
need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing.  

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

External Debt

Treasury Debt at 1 April               256,812               256,812               256,812               266,812              316,812 

PFI and Finance Lease Liability                   6,711                   6,211                   5,711                   5,211                  4,711 

Expected change in Debt 0 0 10,000 50,000 50,000

Actual gross debt at 31 March               263,523               263,023               272,523               322,023              371,523 

The Capital Financing Requirement 456,660 502,637 636,301 673,305 670,377

Under / (over) borrowing 193,137 239,614 363,778 351,282 298,854
 

49 Within the range of prudential indicators there are several key indicators to ensure 

that the Authority operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is 
that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short-
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 

additional CFR for 2023/24 and the following two financial years.  This allows 
some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years but ensures that 

borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.       

50 The S151 officer reports that the Authority complied with this prudential indicator 
in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  This view 

takes account of current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in this 
budget report.   

Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 

51 The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not 

normally expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the 

CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt. 

52 The authorised limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator 

represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a limit 

239



10 Appendix 9 

 

beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised 
by the full Council. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. 

a This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either 

the total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific Council, although this 
power has not yet been exercised. 

b The Audit and Governance Committee is asked to approve the following 

authorised limit: 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Operational boundary                      797                      855                   1,334                   1,334                  1,334 

Authorised limit                      847                      905                   1,384                   1,384                  1,384  

 

Prospects for interest rates 

53 The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their 
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided 

the following forecasts on 08.11.22.  These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt 
yields plus 80 bps. 

 

Additional notes by Link on this forecast table: - 

 

54 Our central forecast reflects a view that the MPC will be keen to demonstrate its 

anti-inflation credentials by delivering a succession of rate increases.  This has 
happened throughout 2022, but the new Government’s policy of emphasising 
fiscal rectitude will probably mean Bank Rate does not now need to increase to 

further than 4.5%. 

55 Further down the road, we anticipate the Bank of England will be keen to loosen 

monetary policy when the worst of the inflationary pressures have lessened – but 
that timing will be one of fine judgment: cut too soon, and inflationary pressures 
may well build up further; cut too late and any downturn or recession may be 

prolonged. 

56 The CPI measure of inflation will peak at close to 11% in Q4 2022.  Despite the 

cost-of-living squeeze that is still taking shape, the Bank will want to see evidence 
that wages are not spiralling upwards in what is evidently a very tight labour 
market.  Wage increases, excluding bonuses, are currently running at 5.7%. 

57 Regarding the plan to sell £10bn of gilts back into the market each quarter 
(Quantitative Tightening), this has started but will focus on the short to medium 

end of the curve for the present.  This approach will prevent any further disruption 
to the longer end of the curve following on from the short-lived effects of the 

240



11 Appendix 9 

 

Truss/Kwarteng unfunded dash for growth policy. 

58 In the upcoming months, our forecasts will be guided not only by economic data 
releases and clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the 

Government over its fiscal policies, but the on-going conflict between Russia and 
Ukraine.  (More recently, the heightened tensions between China/Taiwan/US also 

have the potential to have a wider and negative economic impact.) 

59 On the positive side, consumers are still estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of 
excess savings left over from the pandemic so that will cushion some of the 

impact of the above challenges.   However, most of those are held by more 
affluent people whereas lower income families already spend nearly all their 

income on essentials such as food, energy and rent/mortgage payments.  

PWLB RATES 

60 Yield curve movements have become less volatile under the Sunak/Hunt 

government.  PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, generally, in the range of 
3.75% to 4.50%.  The medium to longer part of the yield curve is currently inverted 

(yields are lower at the longer end of the yield curve compared to the short to 
medium end). 

61 We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields 

of the likely increases in Bank Rate and the poor inflation outlook but markets are 
volatile and further whipsawing of gilt yields across the whole spectrum of the 

curve is possible.  

62 Borrowing advice: Our long-term (beyond 10 years) forecast for Bank Rate stands 
at 2.5%. As all PWLB certainty rates are now above this level, borrowing 

strategies will need to be reviewed in that context.  Better value can generally be 
obtained at the shorter end of the curve and short-dated fixed LA to LA monies 

should be considered. Temporary borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain 
near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive whilst the market waits for inflation, 
and therein gilt yields, to drop back later in 2023.  

63 Our suggested budgeted earnings rates for investments up to about three months’ 
duration in each financial year are as follows: - 

Average earnings in each year  

2022/23 (remainder) 3.95% 

2023/24 4.40% 

2024/25 3.30% 

2025/26 2.60% 

2026/27 2.50% 

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 

Years 10+ 2.80% 

  

64 As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect 

of all interest rate forecasts.   

241



12 Appendix 9 

 

65 Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is in steps of 25 bps, whereas PWLB 
forecasts have been rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts 
within bands of + / - 25 bps. Naturally, we continue to monitor events and will 

update our forecasts as and when appropriate. 

Borrowing strategy  

66 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been 
fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances 

and cash flow have been used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent 
as medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall from their 

current levels once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by tighter near-
term monetary policy.  That is, Bank Rate increases over the remainder of 2022 
and the first half of 2023. 

67 The Chief Financial Officer has the delegated responsibility to arrange such loans 
as are legally permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirement and to 

arrange terms of all loans to the Council including amounts, periods and rates of 
interest.  

68 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 

adopted with the 2023/24 treasury operations. The Director of Finance will monitor 
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing 

circumstances: 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing 
rates, then borrowing will be postponed. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be 

drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the 
next few years. 

 
69 Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next 

available opportunity. 
 

Policy on borrowing in advance of need  

70 The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement 

estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

71 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance of activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

Debt rescheduling 

72 Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there 

is still a very large difference between premature redemption rates and new 
borrowing rates, even though the general margin of PWLB rates over gilt yields 
was reduced by 100 bps in November 2020. 

242



13 Appendix 9 

 

73 If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee, at the earliest meeting following its action. 

Approved Sources of Long- and Short-term Borrowing 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable    

PWLB   

Community municipal bonds    
UK Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities   

Banks   

Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

UK Infrastructure Bank   

 
Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

 

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

Local authority bills                                                                      
Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Commercial Paper  

Medium Term Notes   

Finance leases   
 

Annual Investment Strategy 

Investment Policy 

74 The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and CIPFA 

have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments, (as 
managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, 

essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital 
Strategy, (a separate report). 

75 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 

Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021   

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second 
and then yield, (return). 

76 In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a degree 
of liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” investments 
for periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, whilst 

243



14 Appendix 9 

 

investment rates remain elevated, as well as wider range fund options.  

77 The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 
management of risk. This Authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing 

risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 

a) Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list 

of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification 
and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor 
counterparties are the short-term and long-term ratings.   

b) Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of 
an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial 

sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic 
and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment 
will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 

markets. To achieve this consideration the Authority will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default 

swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.  

c) Other information sources used will include the financial press, share 
price and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in order 

to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties. 

d) This Authority has engaged external consultants, to provide expert advice 
on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, 
given the risk appetite of this Authority in the context of the expected level 

of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

e) All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

f) As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 
9, this Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments 
which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount 

invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. 
(In November 2018, the MHCLG, concluded a consultation for a 

temporary override to allow English local authorities time to adjust thei r 
portfolio of all pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to 
delay implementation of IFRS 9 until 31.3.25  

78 However, this Authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management 
and will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks 

for investment performance. Regular monitoring of investment performance will be 
carried out during the year. 

Creditworthiness policy  

79 The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of 
its investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 

consideration.  After this main principle, the Council will ensure that: 

a It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will 
invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate 

security, and monitoring their security.  This is set out in the specified and 
non-specified investment sections below; and 

244



15 Appendix 9 

 

b It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose, it will set out 
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed.  These procedures also apply to the Council’s 

prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums invested.   

80 The Chief Financial Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the 

following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for 
approval as necessary.  These criteria are separate to which types of investment 
instruments that can be used as it provides an overall pool of counterparties 

considered high quality which the Council may use, rather than defining what 
types of investment instruments are to be used.   

81 Credit rating information is supplied by Link Asset Services, our treasury 
consultants, on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below.  Any 
counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty 

(dealing) list.  Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change), 
rating outlooks (notification of a possible longer-term change) are provided to 

officers almost immediately after they occur, and this information is considered 
before dealing.  For instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at 
the minimum Council criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being 

reviewed in light of market conditions.  

82 The criteria for providing a pool of high-quality investment counterparties (both 

specified and non-specified investments) is: 

Sovereign Ratings 

 AAA (non-UK) 

(Rating Description: AAA = Prime Rating, AA+, AA, AA- = High Grade Rating) 

Appendix 2 sets out the current list of countries that the Council can invest funds 

with. 

The UK sovereign rating is currently AA. To ensure that the Treasury Function 
has capacity to operate effectively no specific minimum UK sovereign rating has 

been set out.   

Selection Criteria 

83 Banks 1 - the Council will use UK and non-UK banks which have, as a minimum 

at least one of, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poors credit ratings 

(where rated): 

 Fitch Moody’s Standard & 
Poors 

Short Term F1 P1 A-1 

Long Term A- A3 A- 

 

84 Investments will include term deposits, call accounts, notice accounts and 
Certificate of Deposits. 

a Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK bank – Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced 

operations. This bank can be included provided it continues to be part 

nationalised or it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above. 

245



16 Appendix 9 

 

b Banks 3 – The Council’s own bankers (HSBC, Lloyds and Barclays) for 

transactional purposes if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in 

this case balances will be minimised in both monetary size and time. 

c Bank subsidiary and treasury operation - The Council will use these where 
the parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary 

ratings outlined above. 

d Building societies. The Council will use societies which meet the ratings for 

Banks 1 outlined above. 

e Money Market Funds (MMFs) Constant net asset value (CNAV) 

f Money Market Funds (MMFs) Low-Volatility net asset value (LVNAV) 

g Money Market Funds (MMFs) Variable net asset value (VNAV)  

h Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.25  

i Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.50  

j Cash Plus Funds 

k UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and the Debt Management 

Account Deposit Facility (DMADF)) 

l Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital NHS Foundation trusts 

m Local authorities, Police and Fire Authorities, Parish Councils, BCP Council 
Companies (Subsidiaries) and Partnerships. 

n Pooled Funds 

Maximum Time and Monetary Limits applying to Investments  

85 The maximum amount that can be invested in any one institution at the time of the 

investment (including call accounts) as a percentage of the total investment 
portfolio has been reviewed and rationalised.  All AA- and above rated institutions 
have a maximum limit of 25%, all A+, A or A- rated institutions have a maximum 

limit of 20%.  For practical reasons where the average investment balance falls 
below £10m it may become necessary to increase the percentage limit to 33% at 

the time of investment (this only applies to call accounts and money market 
funds). 

86 The maximum time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s 

Counterparty List are as follows (these will cover both Specified and Non-
Specified Investments): 

  Long Term 
Rating 

Money Limit Time Limit 

Banks 1 higher quality AA- 25% 2 years 

Banks 1 medium quality A 20% 1 year 

Banks 1 lower quality A- 20% 6 months 

Banks 2 category – part-nationalised    

246



17 Appendix 9 

 

RBS / Nat West N/A 20% 
   2 years 

Banks 3 category – Council’s banker HSBC AA- 25% 3 months 

UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and 

the DMADF) 

AAA 25% 6 months 

Local Authorities N/A 20% 5 years 

Money Market Funds CNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

Money Market Funds LVNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

Money Market Funds VNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds N/A 25% Unlimited 

Cash Plus Funds AAA 25% Unlimited 

UK Gilts 

UK 

Sovereign 

Rate 

25% 5 years 

 

Use of additional information other than credit ratings 

87 Additional requirements under the Code require the Council to supplement credit 

rating information.  Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of 
credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, 
additional operational market information will be applied before making any 

specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties. This 
additional market information will be applied to compare the relative security of 

differing investment counterparties. 

Investment strategy 

In-house funds 

88 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 

investments up to 12 months).    

Investment returns expectations 

89 Bank Rate is is forecast to increase from the current 3.5% in Q2 2023.   

90 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as 

follows (the long term forecast is for periods over 10 years in the future):  

247



18 Appendix 9 

 

Average earnings in each year  

2022/23 (remainder) 3.95% 

2023/24 4.40% 

2024/25 3.30% 

2025/26 2.60% 

2026/27 2.50% 

Years 6 to 10 2.80% 

Years 10+ 2.80% 

  
Investment treasury limit 

91 The maximum period for investments will be 5 years. 

Ethical Investing 

92 This is an area of investing that is becoming increasingly considered by financial 
institutions and customers. Products from financial institutions are growing but still 
remain limited. To consider investing in sustainable deposits they will still need to 

meet our counterparty criteria and parameters set out earlier in the strategy. 
Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA, makes clear that all 

investing must adopt SLY principles – security, liquidity and yield: ethical issues 
must play a subordinate role to those priorities. The Treasury team will continue to 
explore this area and report to members of any further developments.  

Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules 

93 The Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules will be presented 

alongside this 2023/24 update of the TM Strategy.  

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Economic Background and interest rate forecasts  

Appendix 2 - Approved Countries for investments 

Appendix 3 – The Treasury Management role of the S151 Officer 

248



19 Appendix 9 

 

Appendix 1: Economic Background (provided by Link Asset Services) 

Against a backdrop of stubborn inflationary pressures, the easing of Covid restrictions in most 
developed economies, the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and a range of different UK 
Government policies, it is no surprise that UK interest rates have been volatile right across the 
curve, from Bank Rate through to 50-year gilt yields, for all of 2022. 

Market commentators’ misplaced optimism around inflation has been the root cause of the rout 
in the bond markets with, for example, UK, EZ and US 10-year yields all rising by over 200bps 
since the turn of the year.  The table below provides a snapshot of the conundrum facing 
central banks: inflation is elevated but labour markets are extra-ordinarily tight, making it an 
issue of fine judgment as to how far monetary policy needs to tighten.   

 

 UK Eurozone US 

Bank Rate 3.0% 1.5% 3.75%-4.00% 

GDP -0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.4%y/y) 

+0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.1%y/y) 

2.6% Q3 Annualised 

Inflation 11.1%y/y (Oct) 10.0%y/y (Nov) 7.7%y/y (Oct) 

Unemployment 
Rate 

3.6% (Sep) 6.6% (Sep) 3.7% (Aug) 

 

Q2 of 2022 saw UK GDP revised upwards to +0.2% q/q, but this was quickly reversed in the 
third quarter, albeit some of the fall in GDP can be placed at the foot of the extra Bank Holiday 
in the wake of the Queen’s passing.  Nevertheless, CPI inflation has picked up to what should 
be a peak reading of 11.1% in October, although with further increases in the gas and electricity 
price caps pencilled in for April 2023, and the cap potentially rising from an average of £2,500 
to £3,000 per household, there is still a possibility that inflation will spike higher again before 
dropping back slowly through 2023.   

The UK unemployment rate fell to a 48-year low of 3.6%, and this despite a net migration 
increase of c500k.  The fact is that with many economic participants registered as long-term 
sick, the UK labour force actually shrunk by c£500k in the year to June.  Without an increase in 
the labour force participation rate, it is hard to see how the UK economy will be able to grow its 
way to prosperity, and with average wage increases running at 5.5% - 6% the MPC will be 
concerned that wage inflation will prove just as sticky as major supply-side shocks to food and 
energy that have endured since Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 22nd February 2022. 

Throughout Q3 Bank Rate increased, finishing the quarter at 2.25% (an increase of 1%).  Q4 
has seen rates rise to 3% in November and the market expects Bank Rate to hit 4.5% by May 
2023. 

Following a Conservative Party leadership contest, Liz Truss became Prime Minister for a 
tumultuous seven weeks that ran through September and December.   Put simply, the markets 
did not like the unfunded tax-cutting and heavy spending policies put forward by her Chancellor, 
Kwasi Kwarteng, and their reign lasted barely seven weeks before being replaced by Prime 
Minister Rishi Sunak and Chancellor Jeremy Hunt.  Their Autumn Statement of 17th November 
gave rise to a net £55bn fiscal tightening, although much of the “heavy lifting” has been left for 
the next Parliament to deliver.  However, the markets liked what they heard, and UK gilt yields 
have completely reversed the increases seen under the previous tenants of No10/11 Downing 
Street. 

Globally, though, all the major economies are expected to struggle in the near term.  The fall 
below 50 in the composite Purchasing Manager Indices for the UK, US, EZ and China all point 
to at least one if not more quarters of GDP contraction.  In November, the MPC projected eight 
quarters of negative growth for the UK lasting throughout 2023 and 2024, but with Bank Rate 

249



20 Appendix 9 

 

set to peak at lower levels than previously priced in by the markets and the fiscal tightening 
deferred to some extent, it is not clear that things will be as bad as first anticipated by the Bank.  

The £ has strengthened of late, recovering from a record low of $1.035, on the Monday 
following the Truss government’s “fiscal event”, to $1.20. Notwithstanding the £’s better run of 
late, 2023 is likely to see a housing correction of some magnitude as fixed-rate mortgages have 
moved above 5% and affordability has been squeezed despite proposed Stamp Duty cuts 
remaining in place. 

In the table below, the rise in gilt yields, and therein PWLB rates, through the first half of 
2022/23 is clear to see. 

1.40%

1.80%

2.20%

2.60%

3.00%

3.40%

3.80%

4.20%

4.60%

5.00%

5.40%

5.80%

PWLB Rates 1.4.22 - 30.9.22

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year target %
 

However, the peak in rates on 28th September as illustrated in the table covering April to 
September 2022 below, has been followed by the whole curve shifting ever lower.   PWLB rates 
at the front end of the curve are generally over 1% lower now whilst the 50 years is over 1.75% 
lower.  

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25%

Date 01/04/2022 13/05/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022

High 5.11% 5.44% 5.35% 5.80% 5.51%

Date 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022

Average 2.81% 2.92% 3.13% 3.44% 3.17%

Spread 3.16% 3.26% 2.99% 3.28% 3.26%  

After a shaky start to the year, the S&P 500 and FTSE 100 have climbed in recent weeks, albeit 
the former is still 17% down and the FTSE 2% up.  The German DAX is 9% down for the year. 
 
CENTRAL BANK CONCERNS – NOVEMBER 2022 

 
At the start of November, the Fed decided to push up US rates by 0.75% to a range of 3.75% - 
4%, whilst the MPC followed a day later by raising Bank Rate from 2.25% to 3%, in line with 
market expectations.  EZ rates have also increased to 1.5% with further tightening in the 
pipeline. 
 
Having said that, the press conferences in the US and the UK were very different.  In the US, 
Fed Chair, Jerome Powell, stated that rates will be elevated and stay higher for longer than 
markets had expected.  Governor Bailey, here in the UK, said the opposite and explained that 

250



21 Appendix 9 

 

the two economies are positioned very differently so you should not, therefore, expect the same 
policy or messaging. 
 
Regarding UK market expectations, although they now expect Bank Rate to peak within a lower 
range of 4.5% - 4.75%, caution is advised as the Bank of England Quarterly Monetary Policy 
Reports have carried a dovish message over the course of the last year, only for the Bank to 
have to play catch-up as the inflationary data has proven stronger than expected. 
   
In addition, the Bank’s central message that GDP will fall for eight quarters starting with Q3 
2022 may prove to be a little pessimistic.  Will the £160bn excess savings accumulated by 
households through the Covid lockdowns provide a spending buffer for the economy – at least 
to a degree?  Ultimately, however, it will not only be inflation data but also employment data 
that will mostly impact the decision-making process, although any softening in the interest rate 
outlook in the US may also have an effect (just as, conversely, greater tightening may also). 
 

 

251



22 Appendix 9 

 

Appendix 2: Approved countries for investments 

AA- 

 United Kingdom 

 Belgium 

AA 

 France 

     AA+ 

 Canada    

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

AAA                      

 Australia 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Netherlands  

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

252



23 Appendix 9 

 

Appendix 3: The Treasury Management role of the section 151 officer 

The S151 (responsible) officer  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing 
the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers.  

 preparation of a Capital Strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe (say 20+ 
years – to be determined in accordance with local priorities.) 

 ensuring that the Capital Strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the 
long term and provides value for money 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

 ensure that the Authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the Authority does not undertake a 
level of investing which exposes the Authority to an excessive level of risk compared to 
its financial resources 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring 
and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long-term liabilities 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures 
taken on by the Authority 

 ensuring that the Authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non 
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following:- 

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

  
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 

including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;          

  

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 
including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making 

in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that 
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision 
making; 

253



24 Appendix 9 

 

  
o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including 

where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 

  
o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 

relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will 
be arranged. 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

254



25 Appendix 9 

 

Appendix 4 – Liability Benchmark – General Fund 
 

 
 

  

255



26 Appendix 9 

 

Appendix 4 – Liability Benchmark – HRA 
 

 

256



1 Appendix 9a 

   

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 
 

Treasury Management Policy, Practices and 
Schedules 

 
Treasury Management Practices and Schedules 
 

The Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) and Schedules set out the manner in 

which the Council will seek to achieve its Treasury Management Policies and objectives 
and how it will manage and control those activities. 
  

TMP 1 – Treasury Risk Management  

TMP 2 – Best Value and Performance Measurement 

TMP 3 – Decision-Making and Analysis 

TMP 4 - Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 

TMP 5 - Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and 

Dealing Arrangements 

TMP 6 - Reporting Requirements and Management Information 
Arrangements 

TMP 7 - Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements 

TMP 8 - Cash and Cash Flow Management 

TMP 9 - Money Laundering  

TMP 10 - Staff Training and Qualifications 

TMP 11 - Use of External Service Providers 

TMP 12 - Corporate Governance 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

257



 2 

  

TMP1 Treasury Risk Management 

1 The S151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the 
identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will report at 
least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of 

urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the 
organisation’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set 

out in TMP6 Reporting Requirements and Management Information 
Arrangements. In respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements which 
seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set out in the schedule to this 

document. 

Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its 
contractual obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital 
project or partnership financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished 

creditworthiness, and the resulting detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or 
current (revenue) resources. 

2 The Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be 
the security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, we will ensure that the 
counterparty list and limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with 

which funds may be deposited, and will limit the investment activities to the 
instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 Approved Instruments , 

Methods and Techniques and listed in the schedule to this document. The Council 
also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal 
counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or 

with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements. 

3 The S151 Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the following 
criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval as 

necessary.  These criteria are separate to which types of investment instruments 
that can be used as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high 

quality which the Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment 
instruments are to be used.   

4 The minimum rating criteria uses method of selecting counterparties and applying 

limits. The Council will use UK and non-UK banks which have, as a minimum at 
least one of, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s credit ratings. 

Credit rating information is supplied by Link Asset Services, our treasury 
consultants, on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below.  Any 
counterparty failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty 

(dealing) list.  Any rating changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change), 
rating outlooks (notification of a possible longer term change) are provided to 

officers almost immediately after they occur and this information is considered 
before dealing.  For instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at 
the minimum Council criteria will be suspended from use, with all others being 

reviewed in light of market conditions.  

5 The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both 

specified and non-specified investments) is: 

 

258



 3 

  

Sovereign Ratings 

 AA (UK)  

 AAA (non UK) 
 

(Rating Description – AAA = Prime Rating, AA+, AA, AA- = High Grade Rating) 

Selection Criteria 

 Banks 1 - the Council will use UK and non UK banks which have, as a minimum 

at least one of, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poors credit 

ratings (where rated): 

 Fitch Moody’s Standard & 

Poors 

Short Term F1 P1 A-1 

Long Term A- A3 A- 

 

Investments will include term deposits, call accounts, notice accounts and CD’s. 

a Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK bank – Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced 

operations. This bank can be included provided it continues to be part 

nationalised or it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above. 

b Banks 3 – The Council’s own bankers (HSBC, Lloyds and Barclays) for 

transactional purposes if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in 

this case balances will be minimised in both monetary size and time. 

c Bank subsidiary and treasury operation - The Council will use these where 

the parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary 
ratings outlined above. 

d Building societies. The Council will use societies which meet the ratings for 
Banks 1 outlined above. 

e Money Market Funds (MMFs) Constant net asset value (CNAV) 

f Money Market Funds (MMFs) Low-Volatility net asset value (LVNAV) 

g Money Market Funds (MMFs) Variable net asset value (VNAV)  

h Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.25  

i Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least 1.50  

j Cash Plus Funds 

k UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and the Debt Management 
Account Deposit Facility (DMADF)) 

l Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospital NHS Foundation trusts 

m Local authorities, Police and Fire Authorities, Parish Councils, BCP Council 
Companies (Subsidiaries) and Partnerships. 

n Pooled Funds 

259



 4 

  

Maximum Time and Monetary Limits applying to Investments  

6 The maximum amount that can be invested in any one institution at the time of the 

investment (including call accounts) as a percentage of the total investment 
portfolio has been reviewed and rationalised.  All AA- and above rated institutions 

have a maximum limit of 25%, all A+, A or A- rated institutions have a maximum 
limit of 20%.  For practical reasons where the average investment balance falls 
below £10m it may become necessary to increase the percentage limit to 33% at 

the time of investment (this only applies to call accounts and money market 
funds). 

7 The maximum time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s 
Counterparty List are as follows (these will cover both Specified and Non-
Specified Investments): 

 

  Long Term 

Rating 
Money Limit Time Limit 

Banks 1 higher quality AA- 25% 2 years 

Banks 1 medium quality A 20% 1 year 

Banks 1 lower quality A- 20% 6 months 

Banks 2 category – part-nationalised 

RBS / Nat West 

 

N/A 

 

20% 

 

   2 years 

Banks 3 category – Council’s banker HSBC / 

Barclays / Lloyds 

AA- 25% 3 months 

UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and 

the DMADF) 

AAA 25% 6 months 

Local Authorities N/A 20% 5 years 

Money Market Funds CNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

Money Market Funds LVNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

Money Market Funds VNAV 
AAA 25% Instant 

access 

260



 5 

  

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds N/A 25% Unlimited 

Cash Plus Funds AAA 25% Unlimited 

UK Gilts 

UK 

Sovereign 

Rate 

25% 5 years 

 

Approved methodology for changing limits and adding/removing counterparties  

8 Credit ratings for individual counterparties can change at any time.  The S151 
Officer is responsible for applying the stated credit rating criteria outlined above for 

selecting approved counterparties, and will add or delete counterparties as 
appropriate to / from the approved counterparty list when there is a change in the 
credit ratings of individual counterparties or in banking structures e.g. on mergers 

or takeovers. 

9 The S151 Officer will also adjust lending limits and periods when there is a change 

in the credit ratings of individual counterparties or in banking structures e.g. on 
mergers or takeovers in accordance with the criteria outlined above.  

Liquidity Risk Management 

10 This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective 
management of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the 

Council’s business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

11 The Council will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, 
borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to 

have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of 
its business/service objectives.  

12 The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business 
case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to 
finance future debt maturities. 

Cash flow and cash balances  

13 The Council will aim for effective cash flow forecasting and monitoring of cash 

balances and will maintain a rolling 12 month cash flow forecast. 

 The Treasury Management function shall seek to optimise the balance held in the 
Council’s main bank accounts at the close of each working day in order to 

minimise the amount of bank overdraft interest payable or maximise the amount of 
interest that can be earned. 

 In order to achieve the maximum return from investments, a daily cash balance of 
+/- £50,000 is the normal objective for the Council’s bank account.  Note - it may 
not always be possible or practical to achieve this target for various reasons, such 

as, late or fluctuating receipts after the treasury management activities for the day 
have been completed. 

 

 

261



 6 

  

Short term investments 

14 Funds are held in overnight accounts, call accounts or money market funds 

specifically in order to deal with day to day cash flow fluctuations.   

Temporary borrowing 

15 Temporary borrowing up to 364 days through the money market is available 
should there be a cash flow deficit at any point during the year.   

At no time will the outstanding total of temporary and long-term borrowing together 

with any bank overdraft exceed the Prudential Indicator for the Authorised 
Borrowing Limit agreed by the Council before the start of each financial year. 

Bank Overdraft and standby facilities 

16 The Council has an authorised overdraft limit with its bankers of up to £100k at an 
agreed rate of 2.39% over base rate.   

Interest Rate Risk Management 

17 The risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or 

unbudgeted burden on the Council’s finances, against which the Council has failed 
to protect itself adequately. 

18 The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to 

containing its net interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance 
with the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in 

accordance with TMP6 Reporting Requirements and Management Information 
Arrangements. 

19 It will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved financing and 

investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and 
certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree 

of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in 
the level or structure of interest rates.  The above are subject at all times to the 
consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications. 

20 The Council’s Policy will limit its exposure to interest rate changes by allowing a 
maximum of 4% of borrowing to be at variable interest and a maximum of 100% to 

be at fixed rate. In addition, a maximum of 50% of investments can be made at 
variable interest and a maximum of 100% to be at fixed rate. 

21 Interest rates will be monitored by the Assistant Chief Financial Officer and 

information about possible changes in interest rates gathered from market 
sources. 

 
Policies concerning other instruments for interest rate management. 

22 Forward dealing - Will only be undertaken where the date of commencement is 3 

months (or less) for an investment from the date that funds will be transferred, in 
order to minimise risk due to uncertainties in the cash flow projections.  The 

maximum length of time permissible for all investments will be 5 years. 

 

 

 

262



 7 

  

Exchange Rate Risk Management 

23 The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or 

unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation 
has failed to protect itself adequately. 

Approved criteria for managing changes in exchange rate levels 

i) As a result of the nature of the Council’s business, it may have an exposure 
to exchange rate risk from time to time.  This will mainly arise from the 

receipt of income or the incurring of expenditure in a currency other than 
sterling. The Council will adopt a full hedging strategy to control and add 

certainty to the sterling value of these transactions.  This will mean that the 
Council will eliminate all foreign exchange exposures as soon as they are 
identified. 

ii) Where there is a contractual obligation to receive income or make a payment 
in a currency other than sterling at a date in the future, forward foreign 

exchange transactions will be considered, with professional advice, to 
comply with this full cover hedging policy. Unexpected receipt of foreign 
currency income will be converted to sterling at the earliest opportunity 

unless the Council has a contractual obligation to make a payment in the 
same currency at a date in the future.  In this instance, the currency will be 

held on deposit to meet this expenditure commitment. 

Refinancing Risk Management 

24 The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot 

be refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for 
those refinancing, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are 

inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the time. 

25 The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership 
arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile 

of the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for 
renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive and as favourable to the 

Council as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions prevailing 
at the time.  

26 It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions 

in such a manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over-reliance on any 
one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the above. 

Projected capital investment requirements 

27 3 year projections are in place for capital expenditure and its financing or funding.  
Financing will be from capital receipts, reserves, any grants or contributions 

awarded and revenue.  Funding will be from internal or external borrowing, as 
decided. 

As required by the Prudential Code, the Council will undertake Options Appraisals 
to evaluate the best capital expenditure financing route.  

The Council’s projected long-term borrowing requirement will be linked to the 

projected Capital Financing Requirement. 

 

263



 8 

  

Debt profiling, policies and practices 

28 Any longer term borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the Prudential 

Code and will comply with the Council’s Prudential Indicators and the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  

The Council will maintain through its various treasury spreadsheets reliable 
records of the terms and maturities of its borrowings, capital, project and 
partnership funding and, where appropriate, plan and successfully negotiate terms 

for its refinancing. 

Where the lender to the Council is a commercial body the Council will aim for 

diversification in order to spread risk and avoid over-reliance on a small number of 
counterparties. 

Policy concerning limits on revenue consequences of capital financings 

29 The revenue consequences of financing the capital programme are included in 
cash flow models, annual revenue estimates and medium term forecasts. 

Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

30 The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its 
treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 

regulatory requirements, and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 

31 The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with 

its statutory powers and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such 
compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in treasury 
activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty policy under TMP1 Treasury Risk 

Management, it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, 
authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they may affect with the 

Council, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 

32 The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact 
on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, 

will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the Council.     

33 The Council operates its Treasury Management Practices in accordance with the 

provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the CIPFA 
Treasury Code of Practice.  The Council’s powers are documented in the Treasury 
Management Policy statement, the Treasury Management Practices and the 

Schedules. 

34 Counterparties are included on the lending list where they fully comply with the 

Credit Rating requirements from Fitch, S&P and Moody’s or where they meet the 
specified exceptional criteria. 

35 The S151 Officer will review the Legal and Regulatory framework in order to 

assess the impact of any changes on the Council. 

 

Procedures for evidencing the Council’s powers/ authorities to counterparties 

36 The Council’s Financial Regulations contain evidence of the power/ authority to 
act as required by S151 of the Local Government Act 1972, under the general 

direction of the Council and Cabinet. 

264



 9 

  

 The Council will confirm, if requested to do so by counterparties, the powers and 
authorities under which the Council effects transactions with them. 

 Where required, the Council will also establish the powers of those with whom 
they enter into transactions, including any compliance requirements in respect of a 

duty of care and best practice. 

Required information from counterparties concerning their powers/ authorities 

37 Lending shall only be made to institutions on the Council’s authorised lending list.    

 The Council will only undertake borrowing from approved sources such as the 
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB), organisations such as the European 

Investment Bank and from commercial banks who are on the Council’s list of 
authorised institutions, thereby minimising legal and regulatory risk. The list of 
approved sources of borrowing is contained in TMP 4. 

Political Risk Management  

38 Political risk is managed by: 

i) Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice; 

ii) Adherence to Corporate Governance (TMP 12 – Corporate 
Governance); 

iii) Adherence to the Statement of Professional Practice by the S151 

Officer; 

iv) The roles of the Council and Cabinet. 

Details of relevant Statutes and regulations 

39 The treasury management activities of the Council shall comply fully with legal 
statute and the regulations of the Council.  These are as follows: 

i) CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and guidance notes; 

ii) CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in 

Local Authorities; 

iii) CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and 
subsequent amendments; 

iv) CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management 

v) The Local Government Act 2003; 

vi) The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 SI 2003 No 3146, and subsequent amendments; 

vii) Pensions, England and Wales - The Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 – 
SI 2009 No 3093; 

viii) MHCLG  Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP); 

ix) MHCLG Revised Guidance on Investments Feb 2017 

x) The MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments in England 

issued March 2004 and subsequent amendments ; 

265



 10 

  

xi) The Local Authorities (Contracting out of Investment Functions) Order 
1996 SI 1996 No 1883; 

xii) LAAP Bulletins; 

xiii) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

based on International Financial Reporting Standards (from 2010/11 
onwards); 

xiv) Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003, as amended together with CLG’s 

Guidance; 

xv) The Non Investment Products Code (formerly known as The London 

Code of Conduct) for principals and broking firms in the wholesale 
markets; 

xvi) Council’s Constitution including: 

 Standing Orders relating to Contracts; 

 Financial Regulations; 

 Scheme of Delegation. 

xvii) CLG’s Self-Financing Policy Documentation and subsequent 
amendments. 

Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

40 The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be 

exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in 
its treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and 
procedures and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to 

these ends. It includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

41 The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose 

it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings.  Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and 
procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management arrangements, to 

these ends. 

42 In order to mitigate these risks, it is a system requirement that two officers need to 

be involved in order to facilitate a CHAPS payment via internet banking. The first 
officer will set up the payment details and the second officer will verify the details 
and authorise payment.  Payment is only to be made on appropriately authorised 

documentation. 

43 For payments to investment counterparties and other regular payments (e.g. 

Inland Revenue, Pensions) the payee name and bank details will be set up as 
named beneficiaries within the system.  

44 In all instances of fraud there should be referral to the Council Anti-Fraud and 

Corruption Policy.  

Details of systems and procedures to be followed, including internet services 

45 The S151 Officer will ensure that all Treasury Management Procedures are fully 
documented and approved and that they contain adequate levels of internal 

266



 11 

  

control.  All computer systems or electronic forms of recording or transmitting data 
will have adequate security and back up provisions. 

46 The S151 Officer will ensure that the Treasury Management function is subject to 
regular internal audit, the intention being that this will generally take place once 

each year with sufficient programmed days to cover all aspects of its activity. 

Emergency and contingency planning arrangements 

47 In the event of treasury management software being unavailable, due to power 

failure or problems with the system, arrangements for the day-to-day treasury 
function will be undertaken direct with the Council’s bank.  

Insurance cover details 

48 The Treasury Management function is covered under the Council’s Fidelity 
Guarantee Policy. 

Market risk management   

49 The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management Policies and 

objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of 
the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the 
effects of such fluctuations. 

Details of approved procedures and limits for controlling exposure to investments 
whose capital value may fluctuate (GILTS, CDS, etc.) 

If the Council makes use of fund managers they may deal in GILTS, Certificates of 
deposit etc. on behalf of the Council.  The limit for these will be the value of the 
fund, held by the external body at the time.  The fund will be able to be liquidated 

within 7 days. 
 

Policy on environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations   
 

50 The organisation's credit and counterparty policies should set out its policy and 

practices relating to environmental, social and governance (ESG) investment 
considerations. This is a developing area, and it is not implied that the 

organisation’s ESG policy will currently include ESG scoring or other real-time 
ESG criteria at individual investment level. 

51 ESG is an area that CIPFA is still working on after the 2022 revised codes. In 

particular, work will be needed to coordinate the priority which needs to be given 
to issues of security, liquidity and yield (SLY) while also accommodating ESG 

principles as a fourth priority and principle to apply. 

52 The assessment and implementation of ESG considerations are better developed 
in equity and bond markets than for short-term cash deposits, primarily due to the 

wider scope of potential investment opportunities. Furthermore, there is a diversity 
of market approaches to ESG classification, analysis and integration. This means 

that a consistent and developed approach to ESG for public service organisations, 
focussed on more typical Treasury-type investments, is currently difficult to 
achieve. CIPFA, therefore, recommends authorities to consider their credit and 

counterparty policies in light of ESG information and develop their own ESG 
investment policies and treasury management practices consistent with their 

267



 12 

  

organisation’s own relevant policies, such as environmental and climate change 
policies.  

53 CIPFA does not expect that the organisation’s ESG policy will currently include 
ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria at individual investment level. 

TMP2 Best Value and Performance Measurement 

54 The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury 

management activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of 
that aim, within the framework set out in its Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. 

55 Accordingly, the Treasury Management function will be the subject of ongoing 
analysis of the value it adds in support of the Council’s stated business or service 

objectives.  It will be the subject of regular examination of alternative methods of 
service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other grant or subsidy incentives, 
and of the scope for other potential improvements.  The performance of the 

Treasury Management function will be measured using the criteria set out in this 
section. 

Methodology to be applied for evaluating the impact of Treasury Management 
decisions 

56 All treasury management decisions will be recorded by the Treasury Accountant.  

A monthly report will be produced and any significant decisions notified to the 
S151 Officer on the monthly report.  Rates quoted for investments and borrowing 

will be recorded and monitored against benchmarks, any benchmarking reports 
will consider risk as well as the rate of return.  Market trends will be compared to 
expectations. Investments or borrowing which takes place with a maturity of over 

one month, evidence should be kept to demonstrate that the most favourable 
interest rate has been achieved.  

Policy concerning methods for Testing Value for Money in Treasury Management 

Frequency and processes for review 
 

57 The Treasury Management function will be included within the Core Service 

Transformation review of Strategic Finance. 
 

Banking services 
 

58 Banking services will be retendered or renegotiated periodically in line with 
accepted procurement practice to ensure that the level of prices reflect efficiency 

savings achieved by the supplier and current pricing trends. 

Money-broking services 

59 The Council will use money broking services in order to make deposits or to 
borrow, and will establish charges for all services prior to using them.  The Council 
will also deal direct with counterparties that appear on the lending lists where it 

can be shown that the rates achievable by dealing direct are higher than those 
that could have been achieved by dealing through money-brokers. 

 

An approved list of brokers will be established which takes account of both prices 
and quality of services.  Note that fees are only due when the authority chooses to 

borrow using money brokers. 

268



 13 

  

Consultants’/advisers’ services 

60 The Council may appoint professional treasury management advisers as and 

when it is deemed necessary to do so.  The performance of these advisors will be 
monitored on an ongoing basis and be the subject of a tendering process.  

 Where treasury management advisers are appointed they will be expected to: 
 

i) Provide creditworthiness advice and updates on credit developments; 

ii) Provide rating watch information and highlight any impact on the 
Council’s lending list; 

iii) Review all treasury management reports and check compliance with the 

Treasury Management Code of Practice, the Prudential Code and Best 
Practice; 

iv) Provide suitable economic information including interest rate forecasts; 

v) Offer suitable training and seminars to support for Members and 
officers; 

vi) Provide technical advice help and support as required. 

 

External Fund Managers 

61 The Council may appoint full-time cash/external investment fund managers and 
will comply with the Local Authorities (Contracting Out of Investment Functions) 

Order 1996 [SI 1996 No 1883]. 

 The fund Manager will undertake all activity in accordance with the provisions set 

out in this document. 

 The delegation of investment management to external managers will entail the 
following: 

 

i) Agreement of a formal contractual agreement and documentation; 

ii) Agreement on terms for early termination of the contract; 

iii) Setting of a benchmark of [SONIA] and a performance target of 
exceeding the benchmark; 

iv) Setting of investment counterparty constraints; 

v) Quarterly reporting of performance; 

vi) At least annual meetings with investment managers; 

vii) Setting of other constraints/parameters/conditions.  
 

  The Council’s treasury management advisors will assist in monitoring the 

performance of the fund managers. 

Methods to be employed for measuring the performance of the Council’s 

Treasury Management activities 

62 Performance will be measured against the benchmark figures agreed. 
Performance will also be monitored by comparing expected levels of interest to the 

interest budgets set in the Budget setting process. 

269



 14 

  

Benchmarks and calculation methodology: 

a Debt management 

Average rate on all external debt 
Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year 

Average rate on internal borrowing 
Average period to maturity of external debt  

Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year 
 

b Investment 

The performance of investment earnings will be measured against the 
following benchmarks:  

i) In house investments - SONIA 

ii) Cash fund manager - SONIA 
   

It is recognised that these benchmarks must be assessed in the overall 
context of security and liquidity being more important than yield. 

TMP3 Decision-Making and Analysis 

63 The Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and of 
the processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the 

purposes of learning from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps 
were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those decisions were taken into 
account at the time.  The issues to be addressed and processes and practices to 

be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed below. 

64 Whilst the Council will take advice from external consultants as and when required 

it is recognised that the final decision for all treasury management activity lies with 
the Council. 

Funding, Borrowing, Lending, and new instruments / techniques 

Records to be kept 

65 Details of all rates achieved on new investments and borrowing will be kept by the 

S151 Officer, along with rates requested from other sources that were rejected.  
This is to show that the S151 Officer consulted different areas of the market place 
to support the decision made.  All documentation to support investment / 

borrowing decisions will be available for inspection by internal audit. 

Processes to be pursued 

66 When investment decisions are to be made for one month or more, the Treasury 
Accountant with responsibility for treasury management will seek rates from at 
least two brokers or counterparties that deal direct, and a comparison will be made 

with indicative rates quoted by brokers on the day. These rates, together with the 
reason for the chosen rate (not always the highest rate quoted), will be recorded 

on the deal ticket or electronically and will be made available for inspection. Since 
the start of the credit crisis and the nominal rates achieved on investments the 
Treasury Management function have concentrated their efforts firmly on capital 

protection and risk management. In practice the Council has a very restricted 
lending list and there is often little or no choice where to place investments.   

270



 15 

  

Borrowing decisions will be made by the S151 Officer in the light of the Council’s 
medium term budgetary requirement.  The interest rate type, period of the loan 

and reason for the need to borrow will be recorded by the Group Accountant with 
responsibility for treasury management.  

Issues to be addressed 

67 In respect of every decision made the Council will: 

a Above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the 

Council may become exposed; 

b Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 

transaction, and that all approvals to proceed have been obtained; 

c Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the 
Council’s objectives and protect its interests, and to deliver good 

housekeeping; 

d Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the 

Council’s creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been 
exceeded; 

e Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked 

against the market, and have been found to be competitive. 

68 In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, the Council will: 

a Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the 
manner and timing of any decision to fund; 

b Consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding, including 

funding from revenue, leasing and private partnerships; 

c Consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for 

the Council’s future plans and budgets. 

69 In respect of investment decisions, the Council will: 

a Consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and 

prevailing market conditions; 

b Consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, 

especially the implications of using any which may expose the Council to 
changes in the value of its capital. 

TMP4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 

70 The Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only 
those instruments, methods and techniques detailed below and within the limits 

and parameters defined in TMP1 Risk Management. 

71 Where the Council intends to use derivative instruments for the management of 
risks, these will be limited to those set out in its Treasury Management Strategy.  

The Council will seek proper advice and will consider that advice when entering 
into arrangements to use such products to ensure that it fully understands those 

products. 

 

271



 16 

  

Approved activities of the Treasury Management function 

a Borrowing 

b Lending 

c Debt repayment and rescheduling 

d Consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury 
management techniques 

e Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing 

and surplus funds activities 

f Managing cash flow 

g Banking activities 

h Leasing 

i The use of external fund managers 

  Approved instruments for investment 

72 In accordance with The Local Authorities (Capital Finance) (Approved 

Investments) Regulations 1990 and subsequent amendments, the instruments 
approved for investment and commonly used by local authorities are: 

a UK Government (including gilts, Treasury Bills and Debt Management 

Account Deposit Facility) 

b Deposits with banks, building societies or local authorities (and certain other 

bodies) for up to five years; 

c Certificates of deposits with banks or building societies for up to five years; 

d Corporate bonds and bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks; 

e Euro-sterling issues by certain Supra-national bodies listed on the London 
and Dublin Stock Exchanges; 

f Money Market Funds; 

g Pooled funds, i.e. collective investment schemes as defined in SI 2004 No 
534. 

Approved techniques 
 

a Forward dealing up to five years 

b Callable deposits up to five years 

Approved methods and sources of raising Capital Finance 

73 Finance will only be raised in accordance with the Local Government and Housing 
Act, 1989, and within this limit the Council has a number of approved methods and 
sources of raising capital finance.   

 

74 These forms of funding will be considered based on the prevailing economic 
climate, regulations and local considerations. The S151 Officer has delegated 
powers through this Policy and the Strategy to take the most appropriate form of 

borrowing from the approved sources. 

272



 17 

  

 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable    

PWLB   

Community municipal bonds    

Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities    

Banks   

Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

 

Local authority bills                                                                  

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Commercial Paper  

Medium Term Notes   

Finance leases   

 

TMP5 Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and 
Dealing Arrangements 

75 The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and 
monitoring of its treasury management activities, and for the reduction of the risk 
of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities 

are structured and managed in a fully integrated manner, and that there is at all 
times a clarity of treasury management responsibilities.  

76 The principles on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those 
charged with setting Treasury Management Policies and those charged with 

273



 18 

  

implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the 
execution and transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury 

management decisions, and the audit and review of the Treasury Management 
function. 

77 If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other 
circumstances, to depart from these principles, the responsible officer will ensure 
that the reasons are properly reported in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 

Requirements and Management Information Arrangements, and the implications 
properly considered and evaluated. 

78 The S151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the 
responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the 
arrangement for absence cover.  The present arrangements are detailed in the 

schedule in this section. 

79 The S151 Officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and 

transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  
The present arrangements are detailed in this section. 

80 The delegations to the S151 Officer in respect of treasury management are set out 

in this section.  The S151 Officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance 
with the Council’s policy statement and TMPs and, if a CIPFA member, the 

Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 

 

81 Limits to responsibilities/discretion at Committee/Executive levels 

Full Council 
 

 receiving and reviewing the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
a report on Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules; 

 

 budget consideration and approval; 
 

 receiving a summary annual report on performance during the previous financial 
year. 

Cabinet 
 

 receiving and reviewing the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
a report on Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules; 

 

 budget consideration and approval; 
 

 receiving a summary annual report on performance during the previous financial 
year; 

 

 approval of investments where minimum lending criteria are not met. 
 

BCP Committee 
 

 approval of amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses, Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Treasury Management Policies, Practices and Schedules; 

 

 performance monitoring; 

274



 19 

  

 

 receiving and reviewing external audit reports and acting on recommendations; 
 

 approving the selection of external fund managers and agreeing terms of 
appointment; 

 

 receiving a detailed annual report; 
 

 scrutinise the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Treasury 

Management Policies, Practices and Schedules; 
 

 receive reports of any non-compliance with the Council Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement and Treasury Management Policies, Practices and Schedules. 

82 Principles and practices concerning segregation of duties 

The S151 Officer will ensure that there is proper segregation of duties in place for 
Treasury Management. 

83 Treasury Management organisation chart 

 
The Council  

| 
Cabinet 

| 

BCP Overview Committee 
| 

S151 Officer 
| 

Assistant Chief Financial Officer 

| 
Finance Manager 

| 
Treasury Accountant 

 

84 Statement of Duties/Responsibilities of each Treasury Post 

a S151 Officer 

i) The S151 Officer will: 

 execute and administer treasury management decisions in accordance with 
the Treasury Management Strategy and the Treasury Management Policies, 

Practices and Schedules; 

 recommend all arrangements for the identification, management and control 

of all treasury management risk and report on such; 

 design, recommend and implement the annual Treasury Management 
Strategy and Treasury Management Policies, Practices and Schedules for 

approval, reviewing and monitoring compliance; 

 adhere and monitor performance against the approved prudential indicators; 

 construct the Council’s lending list and formulating suitable criteria for 
assessing and monitoring the credit risk of investment counterparties; 

275



 20 

  

 submit regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submit budgets and budget variations; 

 ensure that all Treasury Management Policies, Practices and Schedules are 
fully documented and approved, and contain adequate levels of internal 

control; 

 receive and review management information reports; 

 review the performance of the Treasury Management function and promote 

value for money reviews; 

 ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the Treasury Management 
function; 

 ensure all Members and treasury management staff receive training to 

ensure all responsibilities are carried out appropriately; 

 recommend investments where the minimum lending criteria are met; 

 ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 ensure that the most appropriate form of borrowing it taken from the 
approved sources; 

 review the legal and regulatory framework in order to assess the impact of 
any changes on the Council; 

 monitor the Governance arrangements of the treasury management function; 

 recommend the appointment of external service providers. 
 

ii)  The S151 Officer has delegated powers through this policy to take the most 
appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to take the 
most appropriate form of investments in approved instruments. 

iii) Only officers approved by the S151 Officer or the Assistant Chief Finance 
Officer will conduct dealing transactions.   

iv) The S151 Officer will ensure that the Policy is adhered to, and if not will bring 
the matter to the attention of elected Members as soon as possible.  

v)  Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, 

it is the responsibility of the S151 Officer to be satisfied, by reference to the 
Monitoring Officer, the Council’s legal department and external advisors as 

appropriate, that the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, 
external regulation or the Council’s financial Regulations. 

vi) It is also the responsibility of the S151 Officer to ensure that the Council 

complies with the requirements of The Non Investment Products Code 
(formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) for principals and broking 

firms in the wholesale markets. 

b Assistant Chief Financial Officer / Finance Manager 

i) The responsibilities of these posts will be:  

 planning, organising, directing and monitoring the Treasury Management 
function; 

276



 21 

  

 ensuring compliance with the policy, practices and schedules; 

 regularly reporting to the S151 Officer regarding performance of the function; 

 ensuring the treasury management function is adequately covered during 
normal business hours; 

 monitoring market conditions and interest rates and advising the S151 Officer 
regarding its impact on the Council’s strategy. 

c Finance Manager / Treasury Accountant 
 

i)  The responsibilities of this post will be:  

 execution of transactions; 

 adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis; 

 maintaining relationships with third parties and external service providers; 

 supervising treasury management staff; 

 monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis; 

 submitting management information reports to the Assistant Chief Finance 
Officer; 

 preparation of cash flow statements; 

 recording all treasury management decisions; 

 maintain the counterparty list in line with the approvals made; 

 identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices. 

d Treasury Accountant 

 carry out day to day banking activities ensuring the treasury function meets is 

objectives  

 recording all treasury management decisions; 

 maintain the counterparty list in line with the approvals made;  

 preparation of cash flow statements;  

e Head of the Paid Service 

i)  The responsibilities of this post will be:  

 ensuring that the system is specified and implemented; 

 ensuring that the S151 Officer reports regularly to the Council, Cabinet and 
BCP Committee on treasury management policy, activity and performance 
as appropriate. 

f Monitoring Officer 

     i) The responsibilities of this post will be:  

 ensuring compliance by the S151 Officer with the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Treasury Management Policies, Practices and 

Schedules and that they comply with the law; 

277



 22 

  

 being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury management policy or 
practice complies with law or any code of practice; 

 giving advice to the S151 Officer when advice is sought. 

g Internal Audit 

i) The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be:  

 reviewing compliance with approved policy and procedures; 

 reviewing division of duties and operational practice; 

 assessing value for money from treasury management activities; 

 undertaking audits to provide assurance over the probity of the Treasury 

Management function. 

Absence cover arrangements 

85 The Finance Manager with responsibility for the treasury function will ensure that 
the Treasury Management function is adequately covered during normal business 
hours. 

Dealing limits 

86 The Finance Manager with responsibility for treasury management is permitted to 

place deals in accordance with the Counterparty Lists and Limits and approved 
Treasury Management Practices. 

List of approved brokers 

 Tradition Brokers 
 

 Sterling International Brokers division of BGC Brokers LP 
 

 Martin Brokers division of BGC Brokers LP 
 

 Tullett Prebon (Europe) Limited 
 

 Imperial Treasury 
 

 Link Asset Services  
 

87 Treasury management staff are also authorised to deal direct with any of the 

counterparties on the approved lending list, where it can be shown that better 
rates of interest can be achieved than would otherwise be available through 
Brokers. 

Policy on Brokers’ services 

88 The Authority aims to achieve a spread of brokers, together with the use of direct 

dealing counterparties in order to secure suitable deals. 

Policy on taping of conversations 

89 The Authority does not currently tape telephone calls made to brokers.  It is 

understood that the broker firms used do tape all telephone conversations and 
deals are always confirmed by email by the broker and the body receiving or 

paying over the money, these documents will be retained. 

 

278



 23 

  

Direct dealing practices 

90 The Authority aims to achieve a spread of counterparties in order to secure 

suitable deals. 

Settlement Transmission Procedures 

91 On maturity of an investment or loan the broker / counterparty involved will always 
be contacted by the treasury management staff to confirm what the Authority’s 
intentions are with regard to the maturity and whether it is to be repaid. 

Documentation requirements 

92 Copies of all correspondence with brokers will be kept and made available for 

inspection. 

Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds 

93 The Council holds a number of trust funds.  The cash in respect of these funds is 

held in the Council’s bank account but transactions are separately coded.  Interest 
is given on credit balances at the average rate for internal balances for the year.   

TMP6 Reporting Requirements and Management Information 
Arrangements 

94 The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its Treasury Management Policies; on the effects of decisions 
taken and the transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; on the 

implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from regulatory, 
economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management activities; 

and on the performance of the Treasury Management function. 

Annual Programme of reporting 

95 As a minimum, the Council will receive: 

a An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year; 

b A summary annual report on the performance of the Treasury Management 

function. 

96 It is recognised that BCP Committee are responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny 
of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and activities and as such they 

will receive: 

a A copy of the annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the 

coming year together with the treasury management prudential indicators; 

b A full annual report on the performance of the Treasury Management 
function, on the effects of the decisions taken and the transactions executed 

in the year to date, and on any circumstances of non-compliance with the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and TMPs. 

c Quarterly Monitoring Reports  

Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

97 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected 

treasury management activities for the forthcoming financial year. This Strategy 

279



 24 

  

will be submitted to Cabinet and Full Council for approval before the 
commencement of each financial year. 

98 The formulation of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the 

anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter-term variable interest rates.  For 
instance, the Council may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are 
expected to fall, or borrow early if fixed interest rates are expected to rise.  

99 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following 
elements: 

a The prospects for interest rates; 

b The limits placed by the Council on treasury activities; 

c The expected borrowing strategy; 

d The expected temporary investment strategy (including the appointment of 
fund managers); 

e Other issues. 

Policy on Interest Rate Exposure 

100 As required by section 45 of the Local Government and Housing Act, 1989, the 

Council must approve before the beginning of each financial year the following 
treasury management limits: 

a The overall borrowing limit; 

b The amount of the overall borrowing limit which may be outstanding by way 
of short-term borrowing; 

c The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to variable 
rate interest.       

101 The S151 Officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the limits.  
Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the S151 Officer shall submit the 

changes for approval to Cabinet before submission to the Full Council for 
approval. 

Annual Report on Treasury Management activity 

102 A summary annual report will be presented to Cabinet and Full Council at the 
earliest practicable meeting after the end of the financial year, but in any case by 

the end of September.  A full annual report with be presented to BCP Committee. 
This report will include the following:  

a A comprehensive picture for the financial year of all Treasury Management 
Policy, Practices and Schedules, plans, activities and results; 

b Transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects; 

c Report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions executed; 

d Monitoring of compliance with approved policy, practices and statutory / 

regulatory requirements; 

e Monitoring of compliance with powers delegated to officers; 

280



 25 

  

f Degree of compliance with the original strategy and explanation of 
deviations; 

g Explanation of future impact of decisions taken by the Council; 

h Measurements of performance; 

i Report on compliance with CIPFA Code recommendations. 

Management Information Reports 

103 Management information reports will be prepared every month by the Treasury 

Accountant and will be presented to the following officers:  
 

a Finance Manager; 
b Assistant Chief Financial Officer; 
c S151 Officer; 

104 These reports will contain the following information:  
 

a Summary of the Authority’s financial position for the current year; 

b Details of all current investments / loans; 
c Details of the Interest Budget and Interest Projections; 

d All notes relevant to the Treasury Management function, including where 
applicable the reasons behind and the impact of any decisions made. 

Periodic Monitoring Committee Reports 

105 Interim reports will be prepared where significant matters arise that need to be 
reported to a BCP Committee. 

TMP7 Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements 

106 The responsible officer will prepare, and the Council will approve and, if 
necessary, from time to time amend, an annual budget for treasury management, 

which will bring together all of the costs involved in running the Treasury 
Management function, together with associated income.  The matter to be 

included in the budget will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, 
together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1 Risk 
Management, TMP2 Best Value and Performance Measurement, and TMP4 

Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques.  The S151 Officer will exercise 
effective controls over this budget, and will report upon and recommend any 

changes required in accordance with TMP6 Reporting Requirements and 
Management Information Arrangements. 

107 The Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions 

made and transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting 
practices and standards, and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force 

for the time being. 

108 The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, 
have access to all information and papers supporting the activities of the Treasury 

Management function as are necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and 
that such information and papers demonstrate compliance with external and 

internal policies and approved practices.  

Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

281



 26 

  

109 The treasury management budget and interest budget will be set as part of the 
Council’s main budget setting process as required by the Council. Treasury 

Management is subject to an annual audit by Internal Auditors and is also audited 
by External Audit as part of the main financial audit. 

TMP8 Cash and Cash Flow Management 

110 Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the 

hands of the Council will be under the control of the S151 Officer, and will be 
aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes.  Cash flow 
projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the S151 Officer 

will ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance as 
per paragraphs 11-13 Liquidity Risk Management. The present arrangements for 

preparing cash flow projections, and their form, are set out below. 

Arrangements for preparing/submitting Cash Flow Statements 

111 The Finance Manager with responsibility for treasury management will prepare a 

rolling cash flow forecast which will cover at least 12 months, based on information 
gathered from within the Council. This cash flow forecast will be continually 

updated as new information is received. The cash flow forecast will contain 
information for every day of the year for all bank accounts. 

Listing of sources of information 

112 Information will be provided to the Treasury Management function by other 
members of Financial Services and the Council in general. 

Bank Statements procedures 

113 Bank statements are received daily and retained.  Summary bank statements are 
also available in electronic format through the use of treasury management 

software. 

TMP9 Money Laundering 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

114 Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated 
through criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report 

suspicions of money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 
established the main offences relating to money laundering. In summary, these 

are: 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal 
property from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern 

Ireland 

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows, or suspects 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

 

282



 27 

  

115 These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any 
person involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK 

risks a criminal conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences 

 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, 

falsifying a document. 

The Terrorism Act 2000 

116 This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an 

arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the 
purposes of terrorism or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and 

businesses in the UK have an obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds 
for belief or suspicion about the proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, 
terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to information that comes to them in the 

course of their business or employment  

The Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017 

117 Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial 
services industry regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: - 

 identify and assess the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing 

 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively 
the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing identified through the 

risk assessments 

 appoint a nominated officer 

 implement internal reporting procedures 

 train relevant staff in the subject 

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new 
clients and transactions undertaken 

 report their suspicions.  

Local authorities 

118 Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the 

Terrorism Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the 
principal offences under the POCA but are not legally obliged to apply the 

provisions of the Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017. However, 
as responsible public bodies, they should employ policies and procedures which 
reflect the essence of the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, and anti-money laundering, 

regimes.  Accordingly, this Council will do the following: - 

 

a) evaluate the prospect of laundered monies being handled by them 

b) determine the appropriate safeguards to be put in place 

283



 28 

  

c) require every person engaged in treasury management to make 
themselves aware of their personal and legal responsibilities for money 

laundering awareness 

d) make all its staff aware of their responsibilities under POCA 

e) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions.  This 
person is the Head of Audit and Management assurance.  

f) in order to ensure compliance is appropriately managed, this Council will 

require senior management to give appropriate oversight, analysis and 
assessment of the risks of clients and work/product types, systems for 

monitoring compliance with procedures and methods of communicating 
procedures and other information to personnel. 

g) The officer responsible for the creation and monitoring the 

implementation of a corporate anti money laundering policy and 
procedures is Head of Audit and Management assurance and it shall be a 

requirement that all services and departments implement this corporate 
policy and procedures. 

Procedures for establishing identity / authenticity of lenders 

119 The Council does not accept loans from individuals.  All loans are obtained from 
the PWLB, Local Authorities or Other Public Bodies or from authorised institutions 

under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.  This register can be 
accessed through their website on www.fsa.gov.uk). 

Methodology for identifying sources of deposit 

120 These will be arranged through authorised money brokers or by direct dealing. 

TMP10 Staff Training and Qualifications 

Details of approved training  

121 The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the 
Treasury Management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 

responsibilities allocated to them. It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who 
are both capable and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them 

to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  
The S151 Officer will recommend and implement the necessary arrangements. 

122 The S151 Officer will ensure that Council Members tasked with treasury 

management responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have 
access to training relevant to their needs and responsibilities. 

123 Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure 
that they have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 

124 The treasury management staff have attended training courses provided both by 

the Council’s advisors and other organisations. The Finance Manager with 
responsibility for treasury management will ensure that a proactive approach is 

taken to continually keeping abreast of changes within the treasury management 
field. 

Approved Qualifications for Treasury Staff 

 

284



 29 

  

 S151 Officer ACCA / CPFA 

 Assistant Chief Financial Officer CPFA 

 Finance Manager - Technical CPFA / ACCA / CIMA 

 Treasury Accountant AAT 

125 The S151 Officer can determine that an approved qualification is not required if 
the member of staff has appropriate expertise and knowledge to carry out the 
responsibilities outlined in the Treasury Management Policy, Practices and 

Schedules. 

Statement of Professional Practice (SOPP) 

126 Where the S151 Officer is a member of CIPFA, there is a professional need for the 
CFO to be seen to be committed to professional responsibilities through both 
personal compliance and by ensuring that relevant staff are appropriately trained.  

Other staff involved in treasury management activities that are CCAB members 
must also comply with the SOPP. 

Member training 

127 Council Members tasked with treasury management responsibilities should be 
trained in the areas of their responsibility. 

Those charged with governance must recognise their individual responsibility and 
ensure that they have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 

TMP11 Use of External Service Providers 

128 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

remains with the authority at all times. 

It recognises the potential value of employing external providers of treasury 
management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 

resources.  When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for 
reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and 
benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods 

by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  It will ensure, where feasible and necessary, that a 

spread of service providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small 
number of companies.  Where services are subject to formal tender or re-tender 
arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed.  The monitoring 

of such arrangements rests with the Service Director, Strategic Finance. 

129 The terms of appointment of all consultants are assessed and properly agreed and 

documented. 

Details of Contracts with Service Providers, including Bankers, Brokers, 
Consultants, Advisers 

 

a Banking services 

b Name of main supplier of service – HSBC / Lloyds / Barclays 

c Contract commenced 1 April 2019 

d Money-broking services - No contract exists 

285



 30 

  

e Cash/fund management services – No contract exists 

f Consultants’/advisers’ services 

g Name of supplier of service – currently under tender 

h Software suppliers – No contract exists 

i Credit rating agencies 

j The Council will make use of any information supplied by Moody’s, Standard 
and Poor’s and Fitch 

k Procedures and frequency for tendering services   

l This will be in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders. 

TMP12 Corporate Governance 

130 The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance 

throughout its businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and 
practices by which this can be achieved.  Accordingly, the Treasury Management 
function and its activities will be undertaken with openness and transparency, 

honesty, integrity and accountability. 

131 The Council has adopted and has implemented the key recommendations of the 

Treasury Management Code of Practice as updated. This, together with the other 
arrangements detailed below, are considered vital to the achievement of proper 
corporate governance in treasury management, and the S151 Officer will monitor 

and, if and when necessary, report upon the effectiveness of these arrangements. 

Stewardship responsibilities 

132 The S151 Officer ensures that systems exist to deliver proper financial 
administration and control and maintaining a framework for overseeing and 
reviewing the Treasury Management function. 

List of documents to be made available for public inspection 

133 The following documents are freely available for public inspection: 

 Annual Statement of Accounts; 

 Budget Book; 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (including Capital); 

 Treasury Management Policy, Practices and Schedules; 

 Treasury Management Strategy; 

 Budget monitoring reports; 

 Annual Treasury Report; 

 

286



2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Regeneration schemes

Carter's Quay 12,201 19,000 4,868 36,069

Holes Bay 706 706

Pokesdown Station 200 500 1,900 2,600

Smart Places Gigabit Fibre 200 2,833 2,833 5,866

Wessex Fields highways works 1,600 2,400 4,000

Match funding to the resources provided by Salix 1,200 1,200

sub-total 14,907 25,933 9,601 0 0 49,241

Housingm Council Newbuild & Acquisitions Strategy (CNHAS)

Temporary accommodation 5,994 5,994

CNHAS - residential street properties 1,804 12,235 10,650 10,555 35,244

CNHAS - Care Experience Young People (CEYP) 850 850

CNHAS - Private Rented Sector (PRS) 1,500 1,500

CNHAS Alma Road (former GP surgery) 2,090 1,710 3,800

CMHAS Oakdale 660 1,530 2,180 4,370

CNHAS Roeshot Hill PRS 6,095 6,095

CNHAS Crescent Road 1,623 1,623

CNHAS Princess Road (hostel and PRS) 235 9,574 4,000 13,809

CNHAS HRA Moorside Road 1,274 28 1,302

CNHAS HRA Cabbage Patch 1,227 28 1,255

CNHAS HRA Wilkinson Drive 977 743 1,720

CNHAS HRA Northbourne 983 983

CNHAS HRA Craven Court 628 2,965 3,593

CNHAS HRA Templeman House 1,309 1,309

CNHAS HRA Mountbatten Gardens 29 29

CNHAS HRA Princess Road 4,208 9,000 13,208

CNHAS HRA Duck Lane 1 988 800 1,789

CNHAS HRA Surrey Road 240 406 966 1,612

CNHAS HRA 43 Bingham Road 370 370

CNHAS HRA Roeshot Hill (shared and affordable) 4,304 4,304

CNHAS HRA  Cynthia House 1,599 1,599

CNHAS HRA  Herbert Avenue 1,134 328 1,462

CNHAS HRA Hillbourne 363 4,417 1,916 475 153 7,324

CNHAS HRA  Oakdale 3,143 4,494 7,637

CNHAS HRA Egmont Road 11 956 967

CNHAS HRA Redhorn Close 49 798 553 1,400

CNHAS HRA Dale Close 18 295 144 457

CNHAS HRA Lake Avenue 18 348 303 669

CNHAS HRA Junction Road 18 332 156 12 518

CNHAS HRA Cavan Crescent / Sopers Lane 11 798 308 1,117

Luckham Road 122 122

Alma Road 8 12 20

Constitution Hill 46 46

Purchase & Repair 2,100 2,100 2,100 2,100 2,100 10,500

Project Admiral 3,700 285 3,985

sub-total 23,946 63,950 39,292 13,142 2,253 142,583

Seafront development

Bistro on the beach 250 5,998 6,248

Canford Cliffs - new beach huts 3,118 3,118

Canford Cliffs - pavilion 1,142 1,142

Mudeford Beach House Café 655 655

Festival Coast Live 198 198

Various other seafront 70 70

sub-total 519 10,914 0 0 0 11,433

Other 

Cleaner, Greener, Safer 453 453

Highways maintenance - capitalised 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,000

BIC medium term refurbishment 247 1,533 1,780

Muscliff natural burial ground 110 110

Cleaner Greener Safer - additional CCTV 160 160

Cleaner Greener Safer - safer improvements 40 40

Automated toilet - Old Orchard Poole 127 127

Appendix 9b - Summary of proposed debt against CFR

287



2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

ICT investment plan 549 549

Various other coast protection 112 112

St Stephen's homelessness hub 679 679

sub-total 3,476 2,533 1,000 1,000 1,000 9,009

Schemes underway

Fleet replacement 9,901 4,900 6,463 21,264

Poole Park Railway 200 200

BCP civic centre 3,075 1,063 4,138

Transformation programme (capital) 960 960

Libraries ICT investment 435 435

Estates maintenance (Bmouth pier, Russell Cotes, minor other) 126 126

Skills & Learning (relocation to Dolphin Centre) 743 743

Parkway House 329 329

Street lighting investment 320 320

Various Children's (Hillbourne and Carter) 1,547 70 1,617

Various transportation incl £40k Carter works in TCF 40 40

Various other environment (King's Prk athletics, Lwr Gdns Aviary) 63 63

Honeycombe Chine 25 25

Various other adults 3 3

sub-total 17,767 6,033 6,463 0 0 30,263

Schemes leveraging in significant external funding

Poole Bay beach management plan 2,282 1,758 4,040

Upton Country Park Discovery Project 13 214 227

Rossmore & Two Rivers Meet artificial pitch 727 727

Poole Museum - Our Museum Project 793 793

Scaplen's Court 180 180

Russell Cotes urgent repair works 213 213

Poole & Bournemouth Crematoria 546 546

Fernheath playing fields 100 100

sub-total 2,359 427 0 2,282 1,758 6,826

Total approved prudential borrowing 62,975 109,789 56,356 16,424 5,011 249,355

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Financing Requirement Balance Brought Forward 476,629 526,512 678,891 719,309 717,380

Regeneration schemes 14,907 25,933 9,601 0 0 50,441

Council Newbuild & Acquisitions Strategy (CNHAS) 23,946 63,950 39,292 13,142 2,253 142,583

Seafront development 519 10,914 0 0 0 11,433

Other 3,476 2,533 1,000 1,000 1,000 9,009

Schemes underway 17,767 6,033 6,463 0 0 30,263

Schemes leveraging in significant external funding 2,359 427 0 2,282 1,758 6,826

Total approved prudential borrowing 62,975 109,789 56,356 16,424 5,011 250,555

Other known commitments

IFRS9 - Leases changes estimate 59,000 3,000 1,000 1,000 64,000

sub-total 0 59,000 3,000 1,000 1,000 64,000

Total Approved and commited borrowing 62,975 168,789 59,356 17,424 6,011 314,555

MRP Contributions / capital receipts applied (13,092) (16,410) (18,938) (19,352) (19,604)

Capital Financing Requirement Closing Balance 526,512 678,891 719,309 717,380 703,787

288



 1 APPENDIX 10 
 

BCP Council 
 

8 February 2023 
 

Section 25 Report of the Chief Finance Officer 
(Prepared in consultation with the Chief Executive) 

 
Background  
 

1. A local authority must decide the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain before it can 
decide the level of Council Tax it sets. The purpose of general reserves is to manage the risk to 
the council’s financial standing from the impact of excesses to the budget provision, from 
unknown and unforeseen events and from the materialisation of known risks. 
 

2. In setting the budget the Director of Finance, as the Councils section 151 (s151) officer, is 
required under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 to report on the robustness of 
the budget and the adequacy of reserves supporting the budget. The requirement on the 
s151 officer is to ensure that the annual budget recommended to council is balanced (i.e., 

expenditure matches income), is robust and therefore deliverable and has an adequate level of 
reserves. The s151 officer is required to ensure that the council’s approved budget addresses 
these three issues.  
 

3. In line with recommended good practice this advice note has been prepared in consultation with 
the Chief Executive (CEX). 

 

4. Ultimately, Council will determine the level of reserves and balances formally in setting the 
annual budget. The advice of the Chief Finance Officer must be formally recorded. 
 
Guidelines 
 

5. There is no set formula for deciding what level of reserves is adequate. Councils are free to 
determine the reserves they hold. Councillors are responsible for ensuring that the reserves are 
appropriate to local circumstances and are accountable to taxpayers for the decisions they 
make. 
 

6. It should be stressed that there is not a theoretically “correct” level of reserves because the 
issues that affect an authority’s need for reserves will vary over time and between authorities. 
Reserves should not be seen in a short-term context. They should also be placed in the context 
of cost-of-living inflationary pressures and the high level of uncertainty as this time. Potential 
cost pressures, demand pressures, service delivery improvement aspirations and the need to 
deliver significant levels of savings and efficiencies in balancing the 2023/24 budget will require 
the council’s finances to be underpinned by a robust level of reserves. 
 

7. It is however legitimate for the council to call on reserves to mitigate short term pressures, 
smooth out the impact of extraordinary one-off demands and/or otherwise meet the costs of 
unforeseen events. 

 

8. It should be emphasised that councils can and do experience significant financial difficulties as 
recent high-profile cases such as those at Northamptonshire County Council, Croydon Council, 
Slough Borough Council, Nottingham City Council and Thurrock Council demonstrate.  

 
2022/23 Budget  
 

9. Before considering the three constituent elements of this advice note perhaps the place to start 
is a reflection on the 2022/23 budget, approved by Council in February 2022, including any 
financial matters that have arisen in the financial year to date. 

 
10. In providing the statutory s25 report to accompany the 2022/23 budget the s151 Officer 

suggested that councillors should give serious consideration as to whether increasing Council 

289



 2 APPENDIX 10 
 

Tax by the full 5.99% permissible, not investing further in services at that time, and only 
committing to further borrowing if it is self-financing, would better preserve statutory services 
into the future. Additionally, I highlighted that any proposals to use complex capital transaction 
as a mechanism for balancing the 2022/23 budget needed to be treated with a high degree of 
caution. The potential alternative approach, which amounted to a plan B, would have generated 
£4.4m in extra council tax revenue on an ongoing basis.  
 
2022/23 Budget – In year developments 
 

11. Through detailed public reports to the Cabinet in June, twice in September, October, November 
and December 2022, the council has reflected on a material change to the risk profile of its 
2022/23 budget. Salient factors associated with this position can be summarised as. 

 

 Cost of living inflationary pressures (with the consumer price index currently at 10.1%), 
estimated previously to be around £25m in 22/23 and £30m for 2023/24. These 

pressures are similar to those consistently being reported by other local authorities 

nationally. 

 High levels of financial planning uncertainty due to the constant changes and variations 

to the costs of goods, materials and services required to deliver council operations. 

 Amendment of government guidance which has left the council with a significant 

funding shortfall in respect of its approved transformation programme. This programme 
was to be funded in the 2022/23 original budget via the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

utilising a receipt generated from creating a Special Purpose Vehicle that enabled the 
commercialisation of the council’s beach hut assets. 

 An application to the government under its Exceptional Finance Support programme to 

be allowed to finance its transformation programme via borrowing (referred to as a 
capitalisation direction) and to spread the cost over a 20-year period. 

 A “minded to” offer from the government of the ability to spread the £20m 2022/23 
transformation cost, subject to an external finance and governance review, on the 

condition that it balances the 2023/24 budget by the end of September 2022 and in the 
expectation of future asset sales to avoid the need for a further capitalisation direction 

in both 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

 Implementation of a revised financial strategy for 2023/24 which focuses on traditional 
local government management processes and revenue sources. As part of this strategy 

an in-year expenditure control was implemented designed to deliver savings and 
efficiencies in 2022/23 which can be used to support the 2023/24 budget. 

 Consideration of the extent to which a capitalisation direction can be avoided in 
2022/23 by bringing forward the disposal of non-strategic assets by the 31 March 2023. 

 
Key Risks Associated with the 2023/24 Budget 

 

12. Having reflected on how the current financial year has developed the next stage is to 
consider the key risks pertinent to the current position of the council. In doing so I am 
reminded that Local Authorities should not put public money or services at risk. 

Uncertainty 

13. The only certainty at this moment in time is uncertainty. There are currently high levels of 
financial planning unpredictability caused by the cost-of-living crisis and constant changes 
and variations to the costs of goods, materials and services required to deliver council 
operations.  

 

 

290



 3 APPENDIX 10 
 

2022/23 Forecast Outturn 

14. A key element of the Council’s Financial Strategy is the aim to deliver a surplus in 2022/23 
which can be used to create resources (via an earmarked reserve) which then can be 
drawn down in support of the 2023/24 budget. The surplus being forecast under this 
mechanism is currently £10.1m. It should however be emphasised that there is a significant 
risk associated with this figure as it is based on trend analysis and professional judgement 
centred on activity from 75% of the financial year. Predications and estimates can and will 
change over the remaining 25% of the financial year. Assurance can be taken previous 
year’s performance, from 2022/23 in year monthly reporting and the fact that Cabinet 
previously decided not to undertake any new financial commitments until such time as a 
balanced budget for 2023/24 has actually been delivered. It is reasonable also to note that 
in every year of its existence to date this Council has delivered a surplus greater than 
projected at this time in the cycle.  

15. The intent has always been to lift this expenditure control once council agrees the budget 
for 2023/24. That said services will need to be mindful of the underspend/savings 
commitments made by way of contributions towards the 2022/23 forecast outturn therefore 
spend arrangements are not expected to return to standard operating arrangements until 
the new 2023/24 financial year. Even then it is suggested that a Corporate Management 
Team and Portfolio Holder process is put in place to consider if stopped activity is indeed 
required rather than it being automatically restarted. Continuation of such a process for 
third-party contract expenditure would also help the delivery of the transformation 3rd party 
spend savings through more robust procurement and contract management arrangements. 

Accumulating Deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

16. Any private sector organisation which has negative reserves on its balance sheet, is likely 
to fail the “going concern” accounting concept. In local government a material uncertainty 
related to “going concern” is unlikely to exist as the financial reporting framework assumes 
the council’s services, at least its statutory services, will continue to be delivered in all 
scenarios. Therefore, in local government, the most likely scenario is the councils Section 
151 Officer would have to contact DLUHC to advise them of their financial concerns and 
possibly issue what is referred to as a s114 report. A section 114 notice would result in an 
immediate and severe curtailing of activity to the provision of non-statutory services. Even 
statutory services may be subject to a reduction in frequency or quality.  

17. Due to the accumulating deficit on our Dedicated Schools Grant, BCP Council is projected 
to have negative reserves by the 31 March 2024. This means that all things being equal the 
s151 Officer would be required to issue a s114 report for the 2023/24 financial year.  

18. The deficit predominately relates to the expenditure on the High Needs block being greater 
than the funding available ever since the introduction of Education, Health, and Care Plans 
(EHCPs) under the Children’s and Families Act 2014. 

19. However, to mitigate this position, which is a problem nationally, the government issued a 
DSG statutory override by way of a statutory instrument (SI) which became law at the end 
of November 2020. This SI means the council cannot contribute to the deficit, cannot hold a 
reserve to act as a counterweight and has been required to move the deficit to an unusable 
reserve where it will sit as though it did not exist. 

The statutory instrument reads as follows. 

Where a local authority has a deficit in respect of its school’s budget for a financial year 
beginning on 1st April 2020, 1st April 2021 or 1st April 2022, the authority—  

(a) must not charge to a revenue account an amount in respect of that deficit; and  

(b) must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established, charged, and used 
solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in respect of its school’s budget. 

291



 4 APPENDIX 10 
 

20. On 12 December 2022 as part of a local government finance policy statement government 
announced the extension of the DSG statutory override for a one-off period of three years 
up to 31 March 2026. 

21. This presents a clear, and dangerous position for the council and its future sustainability. At 
the end of 2023/24, the deficit on the DSG is predicted to be £63.7m. At the end of the 
extension period BCP Council is currently forecast to have an accumulated deficit of 
between £158m and £160m. The Council is part of the Delivering Better Value in SEND 

programme which should help the council gain access to resources to support any 
necessary reforms of its SEND service. This transformation programme does not however 
provide any resources to address the accumulating deficits. Ultimately either the 
government, the council, schools, or a combination thereof will need to finance this deficit. 
Therefore, as a sector, local government needs to continue to work with government to find 
a long-term solution. Deferring a solution until 2026/27, with none of the stakeholders 
actually making a provision to offset it could be catastrophic. A deficit of £160m would be 
approximately 60% of the entire current net budget of the council. 

 Delivery of £32.9m of List One and £2.2m of List Two savings 

 22. There is a significant inherent risk associated with delivering £35.1m in savings which is almost 
equivalent to the entire level of assumed savings over the entire period of the last 3 years. This 
includes assumptions of significant income generation and reduced service-based expenditure. 
Evidence is that some of those savings, such as the £5m savings assumed in Children’s 
services in 2022/23, were not subsequently be delivered. Corporate directors and service 
directors have expressed confidence in being able to deliver each of the savings’ proposals, but 
there is a collective risk in managing and delivering this volume of savings in a short space of 
time. 

 External Intervention 

23. The External Auditor reported to the Audit & Governance Committee on 20 October 2022 
that they had qualified their latest Value for Money judgement on the council due to 
significant weaknesses in its arrangements for financial sustainability. From the debate it 
was made clear that the External Auditor did not share the optimism around the council’s 
ability to deliver a balanced budget for 2023/24 based on robust, evidenced based 
assumptions. They continue to articulate that they will continue to oversee progress 
carefully and will not hesitate to act if they deem it necessary to do so. 

24. Additionally, following an Inadequate Ofsted judgement in February 2022 of the council’s 
Children’s Services the Department for Education (DfE) appointed an Improvement Adviser 
as a form of intervention. Whereas this intervention does not technically involve a 
commissioner role the DfE steer is clear throughout that if progress is not effective in the 
short term the question of a structural intervention, such as a children’s trust, may be 
brought forward. The perceived wisdom is that an outcome of a children’s trust would be an 
expensive one for the council.  
 

Use of One-Off resources to balance the 2023/24 Budget 
 

25. The inherent risk of using one off resources to support the proposed budget for 2023/24 
must be acknowledged especially when significant levels of reserves have been used in 
support of the previous two years. 

 £30m of one-off resources were used to support the 2021/22 budget 

 £36.2m of one-off resources were used to support the 2022/23 original budget.  

 £29.6m of one-off resources are being used to support the 2023/24 proposed budget.  

It should also be acknowledged that a significant proportion of these reserves were created 
from refinancing of the transformation and capital programmes, a review of inherited 
resources, and the deliberate cost-of-living mitigation actions taken in-year to support the 
2023/24 budget. Such reserves and resources though can only be used once therefore note 

292



 5 APPENDIX 10 
 

should be taken that significant levels of resources have been used to support the last three 
budgets of the council and their use in some instances reduces the future financial flexibility 
and resilience of the council. It should be noted that the highly positive outturn for 21/22 and 
the ability of the Council to create a reserve in year of £10.1m whilst suffering in the region 
of £25m of cost-of-living pressure shows how resilient the council can be in terms of 
managing cost and in year pressures. 

Council decision to increase Debt Threshold to £1.334bn 

26. Council in November 2022 agreed to increase the Council’s debt threshold from £855m to 
£1.334bn. On a Net Revenue Expenditure (NRE) basis this will move the council’s 
threshold from the mid-point range compared to upper tier authorities including metropolitan 
boroughs to the top of the 3rd quarter. There are two main drivers for extending the councils 
debt threshold. 

1) To enable service-based capital expenditure to be financed from debt with the 

cost spread over the time-period that will benefit from the expenditure. 

2) To support the big plan objective including the delivery of regeneration and 

housing business cases which will provide an ongoing resource base for the 

authority, as a minimum, once the borrowing is repaid. 

As at the 31 March 2022 the council’s total debt position was £477m with commitments 
made via the capital programme to take the debt to the £855m. Subsequently revisions to 
the financial strategy meant a number of sizeable schemes were removed from that 
commitment, particularly those associated with Bournemouth Development Company 
proposals. The currently revised forecast, including commitments made up to the end of 
December 2022, is projecting a debt position of £704m as at 1 April 2027. 

If BCP council had had debt of £1.334bn at 31 March 2022 it would have been the fifth most 
indebted unitary council. Of the four authorities that would have been above us, two have 
now issued s114 notices. Therefore, it is critical that council is conscious as to the potential 
impact if things go wrong and robustly scrutinise any proposals to take on additional debt 
rigorously to ensure they are affordable, prudent, and sustainable. Even with the most 
robust of business cases, with the level of variables and assumptions under consideration 
council should recognise the additional financial liability it is taking on and the potential 
exposure being placed on local resources. Debt repayment is the first call on any resources 
generated by the council, even before the provision of statutory services. 

Recognising this position Council agreed not to support any further debt being taken that 
would require the general fund budget of the council to finance the revenue implications of 
taking on that additional debt. However, this criterion has already be breached when council 
agreed to take on the debt to fund Royal Arcade development as part of the Town’s Fund, 
although in this example there was justification, linked to the principles of the capital 
investment programme, which was the decision was subject to achieving a sizeable level of 
inward investment from the Heritage Lottery Fund and government.  

Capitalisation Direction. 

27. Not presenting a full plan to balance the 2023/24 budget to DLUHC would have jeopardised 
the Councils ability to achieve a £20m capitalisation direction in 2022/23. This would have 
meant either additional in-year capital receipts needing to be generated (which the Council 
are continuing to test the feasibility of achieving) or utilising the resources currently 
supporting the balancing of the 2023/24 budget. The second of these would impede the 
ability to set a legal, balanced budget for 2023/24. Associated with this would have been at 
least the possibility of direct government intervention in the council. 

The “minded to” £20m capitalisation direction for 2022/23 was subject to an external finance 
and governance review. The latest is that DLUHC intend to commission these reviews 
shortly as set out in the letter from Lee Rowley dated 25 January 2023 (the work having 
been slightly delayed due to the reshuffle of Ministers). 

293



 6 APPENDIX 10 
 

Councillors should note that the proposed budget, with a maximum Council Tax increase is 
in line with the budget that was presented to DLUHC in October 2022 and is in line with 
commitments given by the Chief Executive to DLUHC subsequently, to confirm the 
availability of the capitalisation direction. 

BCP FuturePlaces Ltd 

28. The Council have committed a £8m working capital loan to BCP FuturePlaces Ltd a wholly 
owned teckal company established to drive the Councils regeneration ambitions. They 
recover expenditure incurred principally by being paid for successful business cases 
approved by the Council. The council is exposed based on two fronts. 

1. any amounts drawn down from the loan which ultimately prove to be unrecoverable 
(currently just over £2m). 

2. any payments to BCP FuturePlaces for Outline Business Cases which the council 
charges against capital and which then must be written off as it decides not to progress 
with the Full Business Case.  

Councillors should be aware of the BCP FuturePlaces Ltd operating model and the risks 
outlined above, however a number of outline business cases are now coming through the 
Council process.  

Social Care Reforms 

29. These reforms will place significant new responsibilities on local authorities as well as 
introducing a cap on care costs. There is a significant risk that the Government grant will be 
insufficient to cover the full cost associated with these reforms and the staffing needed to 
enable their delivery. As part of the 2022 Autumn Statement the Chancellor announced 
these reforms have been delayed from October 2023 to October 2025. 

 
Robustness of the 2023/24 budget 

 

Employee costs: 2023/24 pay award 
 

30. The budget as presented makes provision for the £1,925 on every spinal column point in 
2022/23 followed by a 4.25% pay award for 2023/24. This is based on a benchmarking exercise 
undertaken by the Chief Financial Officer with Unitary Treasurers to ascertain the assumption 
being made by the sector. The council would need to set aside approximately £1.7m for every 
additional 1% pay award. 

 

 Employee costs: Saving from delay in replacing staff 
 

31. Consideration of several proposals designed to reduce the staff cost base of the authority 
either temporarily or permanently is a fundamental element of the revised financial strategy 
put in place for 2023/24. In response, the proposed 2023/24 budget increases the 
percentage of the employee establishment not budgeted from 2% to 5%. As a principle this 
reflects that staff turnover would always create an underspend in a budget based on 100% 
of establishment if a new member of staff does not start the day the departing staff 
members leaves, and if there is any differential in rates of pay. The increase to 5% is 
equivalent to a £2m saving and reflects that staff savings above a 2% rate were a factor in 
the additional underspend that emerged in the final quarter of the 2021/22 financial year. 

 

 The risk is due to this additional underspend may have been caused by factors which are 
outside of the normal operating arrangements and therefore budget holders will need to 
manage turnover to deliver this saving which in turn will impact standards of service delivery 
and performance.  

 

Children’s Services – Employee costs uplift funded from Agency Staff saving 
 

32. Cabinet on the 26 October 2022 agreed to implement a Children’s Services market forces 
pay review for children’s social work posts by offering a contractual supplement until the 

294



 7 APPENDIX 10 
 

implementation of pay and reward. The assumption is that the significant additional cost of 
this proposal is generally offset by a reduction in agency posts of 41 full time equivalents, 
spread over 3 years, and via saving the premium paid to agency workers. However, there is 
a clear and significant risk that the reduction in agency costs will not be achieved whereas 
the increase in base pay is now certain. 
 

Children’s Services – Improvement Expenditure 
 

33. The budget as proposed allows extra investment in Children’s services of £14.6m. However 
much of this relates to a reversal of previous savings not achieved alongside staffing, 
demand, and inflationary cost pressures within the service. No specific resources have 
been set aside to support the council’s improvement journey. The expectation is that 
business cases put forward under the Children’s Services specific transformation 
programmes will link to specific savings plans and incidentally assist the services 
improvement journey. 
 

Transformation Investment Programme: Expenditure 
 

34. The £68m transformation investment programme approved as part of the 2022/23 original 
budget included the intention to charge £6.7m per annum of internal base revenue budget 
staff costs to the programme which would then be financed by the flexible use of capital 
receipts. 

 

 Recognising the requirement to provide a robust evidence base to the external auditor for 
any staff costs recharged to the programme the recharge has been reduced by £3.5m to 
£3.2m in each of the three years 2022/23 to 2024/25. The lower figure is based on in-year 
monitoring and constant ongoing review will be required to consider the appropriate level of 
any recharge as the programme goes through its various phases. 

 

Transformation Investment Programme:  £6.5m in unitemised savings in 2023/24 
 

35. As at the date of this report the Council has delivered £7.1m (82%) of the £8.7m annual 
transformation savings target for 2022/23 with £1.6m remaining to be delivered. The 
proposed budget for 2023/24 assumes that the shortfall against this will be delivered in the 
up-and-coming financial year. However, at this stage only £0.81m has been identified which 
means the budget includes £0.79m in unitemised savings which are not yet identified 
against an individual service area for delivery. 

 
In addition, the 2023/24 budget, assumes an additional £10m of annual transformation 
savings associated with a third party spend workstream. Of this total £0.96m has been 
itemised related to reductions in third party spend associated with the List One and List Two 
savings items. In addition, the procurement and commission transformation workstream has 
indicated £3.34m in potential savings. This leaves a further £5.7m which are not yet 
identified against an individual service area for delivery. 

Therefore overall, there is currently £6.5m (£0.79m+£5.7m) in unitemised transformation 
savings being included in the 2023/24 budget which will be challenging to see deliverable 
based on the current activity of the council, but it has been made expressly clear to this 
Council including CMB and Cabinet that it is essential that these savings be achieved in 
year to support the robustness of the MTFP. It is probably worth emphasising that to score 
against this unitemised savings target and savings would need to be.  

 Revenue not Capital related 

 General Fund not Housing Revenue Account related 

 Budgeted not unbudgeted expenditure. 

The main potential mitigations against this £6.5m unitemised savings item is proposed by 
way of a recommendation of the report which draws on the learning from the 2022/3 
expenditure control, around strengthening commissioning, procurement, and contract 
management arrangements. Failing that the council would have to fall back on its £2.2m 
base revenue contingency in partial mitigation. 

295



 8 APPENDIX 10 
 

 

Adults & Children’s Services: £26.1m in unidentified savings between 2024 & 2027 
 

36. Since the 2022/23 budget the MTFP has included assumed and unidentified savings 
associated with specific service transformation in both Children’s Services and Adult Social 
Care. The premise is that the inclusion of a £9.92m Children’s Services service specific 
transformation investment programme, and a £6m similar programme in Adults Social Care 
will deliver additional savings to those already part of the main transformation programme. 
This £26.1m savings target was roughly based by applying a 2.99% restriction on future 
years spending linked to the 2021/22 budget and from 2024/25 converting that this into an 
absolute value. 

Clearly due to the current pressures on the council, especially Children’s Services, the 
deliverability of these savings needs to be treated with a high degree of caution. 

 Removal of these savings from the MTFP has a material impact on the assessment of the 
council’s financial sustainability. 

 
 Figure 1: 2023/24 Budget report MTFP Position of the Council. 

 
 
 Figure 2: Revised MTFP position Unidentified Adults & Children’s Services Savings removed 

 
 
Assumption that capital receipts will be generated to fund the council’s transformation 
investment programme. 
 

37. In the context of the council’s overall financial position and its financial sustainability, a critical 
issue is the assumption that the council will generate capital receipts to finance its 
transformation programme over the 3-year period to 31 March 2025. The proposed budget has 
been drawn on the basis of bringing forward additional asset sales in 2022/23 to avoid all but 
£1.916m of the capitalisation direction. This is the element which relates to improvement 
expenditure on children’s services which would not qualify to be funded by the Flexible Use of 
Capital Receipts. 

 

The key risk to the council is in respect of any expenditure which it intends to incur before the 
actual capital receipts required to fund it are delivered. In 2023/24 the council intends to spend 
£28.39m of transformation expenditure which it plans to finance from capital receipts. The 
extent to which this needs to be funded from additional disposals in 2023/24 will depend on the 
level of actual expenditure in 2022/23 and the extent to which the original and additionally 
approved disposals actual occur before 31 March 2023. Current monitoring indicates that it will 
be challenging to deliver at least £4.3m of the £7.4m originally assumed 2022/23 asset sales. 
 

Ideally in a completely robust budget position, via the recommendations of the budget 
report, approval would be sought for the asset disposals now required to deliver the 
additional capital receipts required in 2023/24. However, Council on 10 January 2023 
agreed to establish a cross -party working group to review the capital disposal strategy for 
2023/24 with an intention that this group makes recommendations to Council as to the 

23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Annual – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 14.7 (2.8) 0.2 12.0

Cumulative MTFP – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 14.6 11.9 12.0

23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Annual – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 20.7 6.8 10.7 38.0

Cumulative MTFP – Net Funding Gap (0.0) 20.6 27.4 38.0

296



 9 APPENDIX 10 
 

assets that should be sold. The suggestion is that this group makes its proposals by the end 
of June 2023. Council can though be assured it has significantly more assets that could be 
sold to generate such values. However, decision-making will need to be rapid once the 
working party has met to ensure that the sales are completed by March 2024, for the 
income to be able to fund 2023/24 transformation expenditure under the Flexible Use of 
Capital Receipts arrangement. 

 Adequacy of reserves 
 

38. Figure 3: Latest Reserve Forecast 

 Balance 
Actual 
31/3/22 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/23 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/24 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/25 

£m 

Balance  
Estimate 
31/3/26 

£m 

Balance 
Estimate 
31/3/27 

£m 

Un-earmarked Reserves 15.3 16.0 17.9 18.6 19.3 20.0 

Earmarked Reserves 114.4 17.0 12.8 12.5 12.6 12.8 

Reserves established to support the 2023/24 Budget as per cost-of-living mitigation strategy 

Cost of Living Mitigation from 21/22  14.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Redirected Earmarked Reserves  5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Assumed 2022/23 surplus  10.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total General Fund Reserves 129.7 62.6 30.6 31.1 31.9 32.8 

       

Dedicated Schools Grant (1) (20.3) (36.6) (63.7) (106.6) (159.8) (224.0) 

Dedicated Schools Grant (2) (20.3) (36.6) (63.7) (105.9) (157.8) (218.7) 

       

Net Position DSG1 – (Deficit) 109.4 26.0 (33.1) (75.5) (127.9) (191.2) 

Net Position DSG2 – (Deficit) 109.4 26.0 (33.1) (74.8) (125.9) (185.9) 

 
39. Analysis on the councils unearmarked reserves included in the June 2022 MFP Update 

report to Cabinet showed that on a net revenue expenditure (NRE) basis, despite a £0.7m 
additional investment as part of the 2022/23 budget, the percentage dropped to 4.7% which 
put the council on the lower side of the median, and below 5% which is the recommended 
minimum level used by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

To counter this the MTFP makes provision for a £1.934m investment into unearmarked 
reserves in 2023/24. This includes the £700k per annum included in the MTFP from 
2022/23 as part of the financial strategy to gradually increase the unearmarked reserves to 
reflect the increasing level of annual expenditure. The decision of Cabinet in December 
2022, to include within the £1.934m an additional one-off £1.234m was on the basis that 
this was the amount needed to bring the reserves to the 5% CIPFA minimum recommended 
level.  

40. Whilst the reserves maybe adequate to support the core budget for 2023/24 it does not 
require any professional judgement from the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to assess that 
the council’s reserves cannot be considered adequate based on the accumulating DSG 

deficit. However, as legislation prevents the council from making provision to offset the 
deficit in 2023/24 it appears there is no other option than to accept the position. Councillors 
do need to recognise that this legislation will not, as it stands, be applicable for the financial 
year 2026/27 and in the absence of government support the council will be insolvent from 
the 1 April 2026 onwards. 

297



 10 APPENDIX 10 
 

Is the budget balanced? 

 
41. Yes, the budget is balanced and although there are a number of material risks highlighted in 

this report some level of comfort can be obtained by the £1.934m increase in reserve 
position and the existence of a £2.2m base budget contingency 

 
Particularly salient to this comment is the fact that the budget assumes the delivery of 
£35.1m in annualised savings and efficiencies which is almost equivalent to the total 
savings budgeted over the entire previous 3-year period and this £35.1m includes £6.5m in 
transformation savings which are unitemised and is not associated with an individual 
service area for delivery. Also included is a £2m saving from the council’s employee base 
by increasing the % not budgeted to 5% where appropriate to reflect the level of typical 
unfilled vacancies during the year.  

  
S25 Report - Conclusions 
 

42. The future financial sustainability of the council continues to be vested in the success of its 
transformation investment programme. Experience from peers is that such programmes are 
often overly optimistic around the savings that can be delivered both in terms of value and 
timing.  
 

It is however true that the budget has been drafted based on an approach which is more 
traditional or conventional and the council has responded positively to the cost-of-living by way 
of its mitigation strategy.  
 
Councillors should though be aware of the risks with the MTFP assumptions from 2024/25 
onwards including. 
 

a) transformation savings assumed at the higher end of the range. 
 

b) an assumption of £26.1m in service specific transformation savings within Children’s and 
Adult services. Evidence from 2022/23 shows that the investment in Children’s services 
was part of its improvement journey rather than clearly identifiable with transformational 
savings and within Adult Social Care there has only been a relatively small programme 
around investment in technology. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

298



£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

(A) - Financial Resilience Reserves (42,433) 12,821 (29,612) 29,612 0

(B) - Transition and Transformation Reserves (14,334) 14,334 0 0 0

(C) - Asset Investment Strategy Rent, Renewals and Repairs (2,990) 2,990 0 0 0

(D) - Insurance Reserve (3,500) 0 (3,500) 0 (3,500)

(E) - Held in Partnership for External Organisations (4,467) 2,340 (2,127) 274 (1,853)

(F) - Required by Statute or Legislation (752) (145) (897) (145) (1,042)

(G) - Planning Related (748) 379 (369) 0 (369)

(H) - Government Grants (11,192) 7,117 (4,188) 1,436 (2,752)

(I) - Maintenance (1,401) 142 (1,259) 131 (1,128)

(J) - ICT Development & Improvement (1,426) 624 (802) 144 (658)

(K) - Corporate Priorities & Improvements (2,497) 643 (1,854) 644 (1,210)

Sub Total Earmarked Reserve Balance (85,740) 41,245 (44,608) 32,096 (12,512)

(Hi) - Government Grants (Covid) (8,483) 6,928 (1,442) 1,168 (274)

(Hii) - NNDR Covid Grants (19,097) 19,097 0 0 0

(Ki) - Covid recovery resources (1,005) 445 (560) 560 0

Sub Total Covid Earmarked Reserve Balance (28,585) 26,470 (2,002) 1,728 (274)

Total Earmarked Reserve Balance (114,325) 67,715 (46,610) 33,824 (12,786)

Estimated movement
31/03/23 Estimated 

BalancesDetail

31/03/22 Actual 

Balances
Estimated movement

31/03/24 Estimated 

Balances

Appendix 10A - BCP Council - Earmarked Reserves

APPENDIX 10A

299



(A) - Financial Resilience Reserves

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

MTFP Mitigation Reserve (8,778) 8,778 0 0 0

MTFP Mitigation Reserve- annual review of reserves (1,914) 1,914 0 0 0

Regeneration Priorities (3,156) 3,156 0 0 0

Cleaner Greener Safer (439) 439 0 0 0

Outturn 2021/22 (6,805) 3,286 (3,519) 3,519 0

Covid 19 Financial Resilience Reserve (9,982) 9,982 0 0 0

Financial Services Capacity system development (50) 50 0 0 0

Cost of Living Step 1 (2,900) 0 (2,900) 2,900 0

Cost of Living Step 2 (8,409) 638 (7,771) 7,771 0

Redirected Reserves 0 (5,298) (5,298) 5,298 0

Outturn 2022/23 0 (10,124) (10,124) 10,124 0

Financial Resilience Reserves (42,433) 12,821 (29,612) 29,612 0

(B) - Transition and Transformation Reserves

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Transformation mitigation Reserve (14,149) 14,149 0 0 0

BCP Programme Resources Pay & Reward Strategy (185) 185 0 0 0

Transition and Transformation Reserves (14,334) 14,334 0 0 0

(C) - Asset Investment Strategy Rent, Renewals and Repairs

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Asset Investment Strategy Rent, Renewals and Repairs (2,990) 2,990 0 0 0

Designed to provide the Council with the ability to manage any emerging issues recognising the Council has been operating for two financial years, of which one was significantly impacted by Covid. Includes reserves to enable the management 

of the MTFP and resources which provide mitigation against the pandemic relating expenditure. 

Purpose: Resources set aside to support the one-off change costs of associated with creating the new council and meeting the Councils costs associated with the transformation programme. 

Purpose: Resources set a side as part of the process of managing annual fluctuations in the rent, landlord repairs and costs associated with the councils commercial property acquisitions as set out in the Non Treasury Asset Investment 

Strategy.

APPENDIX 10A

300



(D) - Insurance Reserve

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Insurance Reserve (3,500) 0 (3,500) 0 (3,500)

(E) - Held in Partnership for External Organisations

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Dorset Waste Partnership (202) 0 (202) 0 (202)

Dorset Adult Learning Service (652) 200 (452) 0 (452)

Stour Valley and Poole Partnership (1,849) 1,849 0 0 0

CCG Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health (78) 78 0 0 0

Flippers Nursery (188) 0 (188) 0 (188)

Adult Safeguarding Board (67) (50) (117) 67 (50)

Dorset Youth Offending Service Partnership (536) 100 (436) 100 (336)

Music and Arts Education Partnership (407) 0 (407) 0 (407)

Youth Programme (50) 0 (50) 0 (50)

Bournemouth 2026 - West Howe Bid (45) 0 (45) 0 (45)

Better Care Fund (270) 163 (107) 107 0

Aspire Adoption Partnership (90) 0 (90) 0 (90)

Local Safeguarding Partnership Board (33) 0 (33) 0 (33)

Held in Partnership for External Organisations (4,467) 2,340 (2,127) 274 (1,853)

Purpose: Reserve to enable the annual fluctuations in the amounts of excesses payable to be funded without creating an in-year pressures on the services. Subject to ongoing review by an independent third party.

Purpose: Amounts held in trust on behalf of partners or external third party organisations.

APPENDIX 10A

301



(F) - Required by Statute or Legislation 

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Building Regulation Account (139) 0 (139) 0 (139)

Bournemouth Library Private Finance Initiative (PFI) (683) (145) (828) (145) (973)

Carbon Trust 70 0 70 0 70

Required by Statute or Legislation (752) (145) (897) (145) (1,042)

(G) - Planning Related

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Local Development Plan Reserve (484) 115 (369) 0 (369)

Planning Hearing and Enforcement Reserve (73) 73 0 0 0

Other Planning Related Reserves (191) 191 0 0 0

Planning Related (748) 379 (369) 0 (369)

(H) - Government Grants

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Government Grants (11,192) 7,004 (4,188) 1,436 (2,752)

COVID 19 Government Grants (8,483) 7,041 (1,442) 1,168 (274)

NNDR Covid Grants (19,097) 19,097 0 0 0

Total Unspent Grants (38,772) 33,142 (5,630) 2,604 (3,026)

Purpose: Amounts which the council is required to hold as a reserve in line with current accounting practice or legislative requirements.

Purpose: Reserves designed to support planning processes and associated planning activity where expenditure is not incurred on an even annual basis.

Purpose: Amounts which the council is required to hold as a reserve in line with specific grant conditions.

APPENDIX 10A

302



(I) - Maintenance

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Corporate Maintenance Fund (251) 81 (170) 170 0

Other Maintenance Related Reserves (1,150) 61 (1,089) (39) (1,128)

Maintenance (1,401) 142 (1,259) 131 (1,128)

(J) - ICT Development & Improvement

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

ICT Development & Improvement (1,426) 624 (802) 144 (658)

(K) -Corporate Priorities & Improvements

31/03/22 Actual Estimated Movement 31/03/23 Estimated Estimated Movement 31/03/24 Estimated

£000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s

Capital Feasibility and Small Works Fund (16) 16 0 0 0

Local Elections Reserve (527) (170) (697) 527 (170)

Other Corporate Priorities & Improvements (1,954) 797 (1,157) 117 (1,040)

Covid recovery resources (1,005) 445 (560) 560 0

Corporate Priorities & Improvements (3,502) 1,088 (2,414) 1,204 (1,210)

Purpose: Amounts set a side to deliver various priorities, some of which will be of a historical natured inherited from the predecessor authorities.

Purpose: Reserves and sinking funds designed to support maintenance investments in specific services or assets.

Purpose: Resources set aside to meet various ICT improvement projects

APPENDIX 10A

303



T
his page is intentionally left blank

304



1      Appendix 11                

 

Budget 2023/24: Equality Impact Assessment 

1. BCP Council 2023/24 Budget Equality Impact Assessment Process 

The council is legally required by the Equality Act 2010 to evidence how it has rigorously considered its equality duties in the budget-setting process.  

For the 2023/24 budget setting process, a series of budget Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) panels were held from November 2022 through to January 
2023 to understand which of the budget savings proposals would impact on any group defined by a protected characteristic, as a customer or member of 
staff.  

Members are referred to the full text of s149 of the Equality Act 2010 which must be considered when making decisions on budget proposals.  

EIA panels were chaired by the Policy Team, independent from the service and proposals were presented by Service Directors, Service Heads and 
Service Unit Equality Champions.    

Assessments were made on how each proposal would impact each protected group. Consideration was given as to whether the impact would be positive,  
negative, cumulative or disproportionate for any particular group(s) when compared against any other protected characteristic. If a substantial negative or 
positive equality impact was identified consideration was given to the mitigating actions that could be taken to reduce, remove or maximise it. Further 
equality impact analysis and assessments will continue throughout the budget consideration process where relevant and during implementation where a 
budget proposal is accepted. 

Outcomes from panels are recorded in budget EIA conversation forms which have been used to prepare this report. Only proposals that identified a 
positive or negative impact for a protected group have been included. Full copies of all the conversation forms are available from the Policy and Research 
Team.  

Proposals were also considered against the six domains of the Equality Human Rights Commission (EHRC) measurement framework. The framework 
reflects the things or areas in life that are important to people and enable them to flourish: Education, Work, Living standards, Health, Justice and personal 
security, and Participation. Improvement in any of the domains reduces the equality gap. BCP council has identified this measurement framework as a key 
way of monitoring progress with equality, diversity and inclusion. 

This EIA is based on information made available for consideration during the budget process. It also includes outcomes of EIA panels held earlier in the 
year where the proposals had previously been discussed. It is important to note that some information may change as the budget process concludes. Full 
EIA’s will still need to be carried out for each of the savings proposals that proceed and include the outcomes of any subsequent service user consultation.  
These will need to be brought back to an EIA panel in due course.  

2. About the BCP Area 

The Place: Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) has a combined population of 400,300 and a £10bn economy supported by the tenth largest 
urban local authority in England. It’s a region that promotes and enables wellbeing in all its forms with 15 miles of south-facing sandy beaches and 19 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest making up nearly a fifth of the area, as well as being home to the second largest natural harbour in the world. This 
promotes a healthy work life balance, shaping people’s everyday lives. The outstanding natural environment is something residents cherish about living in 
BCP with a strong sense of belonging to the local area. Yet, like many places BCP has areas of contrast, including some of the most affluent and most 
deprived areas in England. 

305

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149


2      Appendix 11                

 

There are three world-class universities with about 22,000 students; a multiple site college catering for 11,000 students and collaborating with over 2,000 
businesses delivering one of the most successful apprenticeship programmes in the country; and 98 state-funded schools, comprised of 66 primary, 25 
secondary, 5 special and 2 AP/PRU1 schools as well as a long-established language school sector. 

The People: The local population is ageing, with predictions that by 2028, 24% will be aged 65+. BCP Council is a member of the Dorset Armed Forces 

Covenant given the proportion of local residents identifying as current personnel or veterans. BCP also has a high proportion of unpaid carers. In the 2011 
census, 11% of the local population identified as unpaid carers with the majority providing up to 19 hours of care per week and it’s suspected this number 
will have risen since then. Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy is better in BCP than it is nationally and this has generally been improving. 
However, there are some areas where our populations health could be better. Deprivation is strongly linked with many health outcomes, with clear 
inequalities in life expectancy across the BCP area. 

The relationship between unemployment and health status is clear at ward level for BCP. Wards where levels of unemployment are significantly above the 
BCP average also have the lowest life expectancy. Areas with the highest unemployment rates are significantly more likely to include residents that have 
no or few qualifications, people with disabilities and mental ill-health, those with caring responsibilities, lone parents, some ethnic minorities, older workers 
and particularly young people.                                                                                                                                                                                 

The Economy: Around 61% of the total resident population are of working age with higher concentrations of employment in financial services (with the 

largest financial sector outside London), real estate, tourism & hospitality, arts, entertainment and creative industries, and healthcare. There is also a rich 
engineering and advanced manufacturing sector. The proportions of workforce educated to higher levels have fallen behind the national, while a fifth of our 
working age people have no Level 2 qualification, regarded a basic standard for numeracy, literacy, and employability.  

The pandemic had more profound effects on the BCP labour market than seen nationally particularly impacting businesses in the tourism and hospitality 
sector. Despite this, rapid adaptation and digital adoption allowed large parts of the economy to bounce back. BCP was among the top business survival 
rate nationally. With up to a third of the workforce expected to move into retirement, the area needs to invest in young people and create opportunities 
locally for them to enter the workforce. 

Cost of living: Wages are 8% lower than the average earnings in England. This is most notable for women who earn 16% less in BCP compared to the 

England average. Average house prices and rental costs are significantly higher than average wages and this has only been exacerbated by rising 
inflation, making housing affordability a key issue for the area 

BCP Council Staff: As at 31 May 2022 BCP Council had 4,600 permanent employees (excluding school staff). In terms of age, 69% were between 25 
and 64; 58% were 45 and of these, 4% over 65 and3% of staff were under 25. Women make up 66% of the workforce. The provision of additional equality 
monitoring data is optional. The following data is from information voluntarily input to the council’s employee system but this is not a complete profile of 
council staff: 
 
Disabled staff account for 4%; 67% of staff state that they are not disabled; the status of the remaining 29% is unknown. The ethnic origin of 6% of staff 
was identified as being black or minority ethnic; 1% Other White; 65% White British and 28% were unknown or preferred not to say. In terms of religion, 
7% declared they were Agnostic; 26% Christian; 14% of no Religion and 2% had other religions or beliefs and 50% preferred not to say. Monitoring data 
shows that 47% of the workforce identify as Heterosexual, 2% identify as Gay or Lesbian; 50% prefer not to declare their sexual orientation or it is 
unknown. There are insufficient numbers to determine the number of people who identify as Trans and data on Pregnancy and Maternity is not currently 
recorded.   

                                                 
1 Alternative Provision and Pupil Referral Units 
 

306



3      Appendix 11                

 

 
4. Summary of equality Impacts by Protected Group  

Both individual and cumulative impacts have been considered for each protected characteristic. The cumulative impact has also been considered where a 

person may fall into two or more groups that may be negatively impacted. The cumulative impact of these budget proposals shows that low-income 

households and individuals will be most negatively impacted, followed by older age groups and disabled people. Conversely, older people and those who 

fit within the protected characteristic of disability are most likely to benefit most from the proposals overall. 

People with low socio-economic status, older and disabled people would be impacted mostly in relation to those proposals which affect their ability to 

participate in normal day to day activities and areas of life, such as access to day services, community transport and discretionary concessions.  Such 

changes when coupled with increased council tax and proposed increases to car parking charges plus escalating increases in the cost of utilities and 

living; will undoubtedly negatively impact on the quality of life they currently have The profile of our elderly population suggests that it is likely that more 

women will be impacted than men. Therefore, the severity of impact the changes will differentiate between men and women. 

Disabled people are also likely to have an older age profile as the onset of conditions that would fit within the definition of a disabled person as defined 

within the Equality Act 2010 would be additionally impacted by the proposals to change the level of supported employment and the provision of day centre 

meals which these members of this group are able to access. 

On the other hand, an area which is likely to improve the lives of our more vulnerable adults is the proposed expansion of the shared lives schemes.  

Enabling adults from this group to live more independently in the community would also reduce health inequalities as it would increase opportunities to 

engage and participate in areas of community life where there is under representation and contribute to improved mental health through the reduction of 

social isolation.  

The increased cost of living and pressures on household budgets across BCP area is well documented and it is important to note that the cumulative 

impact of the proposals will add to the financial burden of some residents within the BCP Council area, increasing the pressure on some of our residents in 
lower socio-economic groups. The removal of grants, cultural activities, and free attractions in the three towns will reduce opportunities for inclusion and 

participation.  These activities tend to strengthen communities as it brings groups of different ages, ethnic origins, religions and beliefs and sexual 

orientations together. Community based activities and events also have a positive contribution on, and promote feelings of belonging, participation, and 

social inclusion. They also help to reduce anti-social behaviour and make residents feel safer and are opportunities for the Council to improve engagement 

and access communities that are seldom heard.  

A reduction of the role of economic development funding, reduced grants for certain areas or our community and the cessation of some festivals could all 

negatively impact on our local businesses and community organisations and employment within these areas, as well as visitors and aspects of the local 

economy.  Loss of trade with falling footfall generated by the free events in local areas has the potential to have a detrimental effect on small and medium 

local businesses.  

The impact of staff is not known at this time as there have not been any definitive decisions on which proposals will be taken forward. 

 

 

307



4      Appendix 11                

 

5. Setting the Council Tax  

This year the Council is seeking to increase Council Tax.  

Most of the council’s money is spent providing life changing support for some of the most vulnerable – including older people, people with disabilities and 
children who need our care and protection. Like other local authorities across the country, BCP Council is facing significant pressures on its budget. The 
cost of living is affecting fuel prices, food, and energy costs, which means services like waste collection, street lighting, and the resources that keep our 
most vulnerable adults and children safe, are all becoming more expensive to run. 

It is likely that some of our residents on lower earnings in unprotected groups will be affected negatively by the increase. With 10% of households in the 
BCP area experiencing fuel poverty, an increase in Council Tax will negatively impact on households already struggling financially which is not necessarily 
limited to just lower socio-economic groups given the recent rises to the cost of living.  

Positive Impact: Increasing council tax will enable the council to continue to support the most vulnerable in our communities and provide the services 

everyone in the community uses. 

Mitigating Actions: There are several schemes in place to assist residents on lower incomes with their Council Tax bills. These include:  

Council Tax Support: Residents on lower incomes can apply for assistance with their Council Tax bill by applying for Council Tax Support, further 
information is available on the Councils website https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Benefits-support-and-advice/Benefitssupport-and-advice.aspx  

Single Person Discount: If you're the only person over 18 in your home, you may be entitled to a 25% reduction on your Council Tax.  

Council Tax Discounts and exemptions: Further details of ways in which council tax could be reduced for qualifying households is available on the website 
including student exemptions. https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Council-Tax/Council-Tax-discounts-andexemptions/Council-Tax-discounts-and-
exemptions.aspx  

Discretionary Reduction and Help with Paying Council Tax Bill: Section 13A (1c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows local authorities to, in 
exceptional circumstances, reduce the Council Tax liability for a charge payer. Statutory exemptions and discounts must first have been exhausted.  

However, it is likely that some of our residents on lower earnings in unprotected groups will be affected negatively by the increase. A single person 
discount is available for those qualifying households. Single Person households make up 34% of all households in the BCP. 44% of those are aged 65+ 
and 8% are white ethnic minority or Black and other Asian Minority Ethnic.  

 

For further information please contact the Council’s Policy Team via bcpequalities@bcpcouncil.gov.uk   

 

308

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Benefits-support-and-advice/Benefitssupport-and-advice.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Council-Tax/Council-Tax-discounts-andexemptions/Council-Tax-discounts-and-exemptions.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Council-Tax/Council-Tax-discounts-andexemptions/Council-Tax-discounts-and-exemptions.aspx
mailto:bcpequalities@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


5      Appendix 11                

 

Table of Budget Proposal Impacts on Protected Groups 

Click on a heading below to navigate to 
the associated Equality Impact 
Assessment.  To return to this table 
click on the EIA number in the title.  

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 a

n
d

 

M
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

M
il

it
a
ry

 

v
e
te

ra
n

s
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

 i
n

 

C
a
re

 

C
a
re

 L
e
a
v
e
rs

 

C
a
re

rs
 

S
o

c
io

 

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 
S

ta
tu

s
 

L
o

c
a
l 

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

o
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

s
 

1. Revised Leadership Structure                

2. Food Safety standards review in line 
with food Safety Standard Rules (List 1)  

               

3. Reduction in grant support for central 
advice services and council for 
community and voluntary sector (List 2)  

              

4. Bringing Service in house (List 1)               

5. Phased reduction in Cultural Grants 
over a 5-year period (List 2) 

               

6. Reshape Cultural Compact Activity with 
Partners (List 1) 

               

7. Leisure Centres – (List 1)                
8. Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Club 

alternative management model 
(excluding skills and learning) (List 1) 

               

9. Pricing increases across the Poole 
Leisure Estate (List 1)  

               

10. Seek community management of 
Littledown Leisure Centre Paddling Pool 
(outdoors) if not secured close (List 2)  

               

11. Reduce Sports grants by 10% a year for 
5 years (List 1) 

               

12. Innovative cost reduction and income 
generation for Christmas Tree 
Wonderland and Poole Maritime 
Festival (List 1) 

               

13. Harmonisation of beach huts fees and 
charges (List 1)  

              

309



6      Appendix 11                

 

Click on a heading below to navigate to 
the associated Equality Impact 
Assessment.  To return to this table 
click on the EIA number in the title.  

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 a

n
d

 

M
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

M
il

it
a
ry

 

v
e
te

ra
n

s
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

 i
n

 

C
a
re

 

C
a
re

 L
e
a
v
e
rs

 

C
a
re

rs
 

S
o

c
io

 

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 
S

ta
tu

s
 

L
o

c
a
l 

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

o
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

s
 

14. Highway Network Management Street 
Works (List 1) 

               

15. Reshape Park Operations (List 1)                
16. Seek community management / transfer 

of paddling pools and if not secured 
close (List 2) 

               

17. Green bin waste income - increased 
charge (List 1) 

               

18. Temporary Accommodation Grant 
Funding (List 1) 

               

19. Telecare Income Generation (List 1)                
20. Cease Neighbour notification letters 

(List 1) 
               

21. Car Parking Charges (List 1)                
22. Minor Parking Harmonisation Charges 

(List 1)  
               

23. National Concessionary Fare Scheme - 
remove discretionary elements (List 2) 

               

24. Review Community Transport offer (List 
2) 

               

25. Capital investment in alternative to 
School Crossing Patrols at specific 
locations (List 1) 

               

26. Dimming of street lighting in residential 
areas (List 1)  

              

27. Reduction of Economic Development - 
Reduce Budget non staffing (List 2) 

               

28. Smart Places – Reduce budget (List 2)                

29. Day Opportunity Strategy 
Implementation (List 1) 

               

30. Expand Shared Lives (List 1)                

310



7      Appendix 11                

 

Click on a heading below to navigate to 
the associated Equality Impact 
Assessment.  To return to this table 
click on the EIA number in the title.  

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

R
e
a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

C
iv

il
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 a

n
d

 

M
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

O
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

M
il

it
a
ry

 

v
e
te

ra
n

s
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

 i
n

 

C
a
re

 

C
a
re

 L
e
a
v
e
rs

 

C
a
re

rs
 

S
o

c
io

 

E
c
o

n
o

m
ic

 
S

ta
tu

s
 

L
o

c
a
l 

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 

o
r 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 

o
rg

a
n

is
a
ti

o
n

s
 

31. Work in partnership with Tricuro to 
reduce contract value (List 1) 

               

32. Alternative meals provision (bring future 
savings forward) (List 1) 

               

33. Employment support service (List 1)                
34. Reprovision of some carers services 

(List 1) 
               

35. Education - Revised Delivery Models 
(List 1) 

               

36. Targeted Family Support - Clinical 
psychology (List 1) 

               

 

 

  

311



8      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 1 – Revised Leadership Structure 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Sex: 75% of the current posts are occupied by females and 25% occupied by males so the proposals are likely to impact more on 

women. 

Once the proposal has been agreed a more accurate equality profile of the people impacted by the decision will be provided.  

Level of Impact The proposals may create some additional leadership posts that could provide the opportunity to increase the diversity of our 
senior leadership team which has been under scrutiny by the Equality Action Commission and contribute to the achievement of 
one of the Equality Footprint actions. 

Any recruitment for the newly created posts is subject to the Independent Observer process as all are at the requisite level or 
grade. 

The proposals provide an opportunity for targeted recruitment which may impact on the profile of the Leadership structure 
contributing towards BCP Council’s aim for it to be more representative of the Communities it serves. 

This proposal will not directly impact on service users.  

Mitigating actions Whilst the specific implications of the proposal are currently unknown future mitigating actions could include:  

 Redeployment 

 Early retirement 
 Applications for voluntary redundancy can be made 

 Applicants are entitled to submit up to 3 preferences in order. 

 Mental Health support 

Date discussed 25 January 2023 

Budget EIA 2 - Food Safety standards review in line with food Safety Standard Rules (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Race: The businesses impacted are more likely to be operated by Ethnic Minority Groups. It will impact residents and businesses 

where English is not the first language. Reduced ability for minority businesses to comply with legal requirements, due to lack of 
understanding, with potential for reduction in food safety standards and resultant escalation to legal action.  

Socio-economic status: Research shows that areas of lower social economic status  have a higher density of takeaway 

premises, which as a category, has demonstrated lower compliance with food safety standards, and that ethnic minority groups are 
more likely to live in the most deprived neighbourhoods in England. 

Local business or community organisations: Businesses and residents where IT access and/or IT skills impacts accessibility of 

information - Reduced ability for residents and businesses to access and/or understand food safety advice and engage with our 
services, where there are language and/or IT barriers. 

EHRC: This may impact on the health of the community and businesses being able to operate. 

312

https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/7/e023554
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829219308305
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-ethnicity/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest


9      Appendix 11                

 

Level of Impact A reduction in inspection of the food businesses is likely to result in a decline of food safety standards in a number of food retailers. 
Hence there is potential for increased risk of unsafe food reaching the marketplace with consequential impact on the wider 
community within the BCP Council area and beyond. 

Ethnic minority groups are more likely to live in the most deprived neighbourhoods which have a higher density of takeaway 
premises that tend to demonstrate lower compliance with food safety standards. Hence, ethnic minority groups will be 
disproportionately impacted by the reduction in the food safety programme with consequential impact on food safety standards. 
Mitigations will include better signposting in relevant languages, together with more focused prioritisation of higher risk food 
retailers for inspection and intervention. 

Mitigating actions  More signposting  

 Advice & Information  

 Inspection of Food Businesses 

 Work with Partner Organisations 

 Oversight & audit by the Food Standards Agency  

Date discussed 29 November 2022 

Budget EIA 3 - Reduction in grant support for central advice services and council for community and voluntary sector (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Older age population - higher proportion of clients from ages 65+ 

Disability: 55% of clients has a disability or long-term limiting illness. 49 clients in Q2 supported with health and community care 
issues. 

Marriage and civil partnership: 172 clients supported in Q2 with relationship and family issues 

Pregnancy and maternity: 172 clients supported in Q2 with relationship and family issues 

Race: 87 clients supported in Q2 with immigration and asylum issues. 

Sex: 66% of clients in Q2 were female 

Socio-economic status: 682 clients in Q2 supported with benefits and tax credits issues. £19,144 value of debt written off. The 

services mostly accessed in the deprived wards.  

Local business or community organisations: In relation to CAN, the community and voluntary sector groups and organisations 

that are supported cover a wide range of different groups, some of whom may provide support to groups of protected 
characteristics.  

Level of Impact Significant impact – will affect those in crisis. 

For CA there is likely to a reduction in service provision which will increase waiting times for residents seeking support. It is fair to 
assume that for some residents the delay will result in their situation worsening and could lead to negative outcomes such as 
eviction, repossession, loss of benefits, marital difficulties, domestic abuse etc. 

For CAN, there is likely to be a reduced service provision to the community and voluntary sector, which in turn may result in groups 
closing or other difficulties such as inadequate governance arrangements. The closure of groups may impact upon residents who 
are receiving support from that organisation. 

313



10      Appendix 11                

 

There is likely to be increased demand on the council as a result of the reduction in service provision for both grants. The reduction 
in the CA grant will negatively impact a number of protected characteristics and other communities of interest. The reduction in the 
CAN grant will negatively impact council departments such as Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care who look to the 
community and voluntary sector to provide support to residents who don’t meet the threshold for service level intervention. The 
reduction to CAN also impacts on the Council’s ability to be an ‘enabling council’ as it is looking to the community to take on more 
responsibilities but at the same time removing the support from CAN to support this activity. 

Mitigating actions The only partial mitigating factor is that the proposals are for a reduction rather than completed removal of the two grants, given 

that they are non-statutory functions.  Further information will be obtained on AFC and Care leavers.  

Other organisations exist that provide the services CAB offer. E.g. debt advise service. 

Date discussed 29 November 2022 

Budget EIA 4 – Bringing Service in house (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Race: All the protected groups may be affected by this as they intersect the race/ethnic protected group itself. The nature of the 

work the grant supports is to understand where these intersections lay and mitigate the work according to the impact of race and 
ethnicity. Removal of the grant will directly impact Black and Minority Ethnic groups. 

Local business or community organisations: This may impact on the ability of the organisation to continue functioning.  

EHRC: This may negatively impact on our ethnically diverse communities by limiting their ability for participation and it may also 
impact on justice and personal security.  

Level of Impact As key partners in delivering strengths-based community engagement interventions across BCP, we have identified that there is a 
need to work with our ethnically diverse communities more effectively and innovatively. Removing this limited grant project will 
impact on the organisation but the success of the much larger National Lottery funded project that we are currently in the process 
of applying for will enable the organisation to extend their services, reach more communities and improve our partnership working 
whilst reducing duplication.  

If the National Lottery funded project is unsuccessful it will have a detrimental effect on the work that can be delivered in supporting 
the Council and its equalities objectives. It will also impact the delivery of community engagement especially amongst both 
communities that we currently do not engage effectively with and those ethnically diverse communities that we need to build 
relationships with. It will affect our Hate Crime work and Engagement work. It could impact on support services for ethnically 
diverse communities across BCP. It may also affect work with the Council to deliver more effective and appropriate work delivering 
our services, policies and procedures and acting as a critical friend 

Mitigating actions BCP Council and its partners, are working on a new funding project that has the capacity to replace the funding for objectives 3, 4 
and 5 of the original Council contract. This funding application to the National Lottery is for an Ethnically Diverse Communities 
Project, totalling £750,000 over a 5-year period. The funding application is currently being co-produced by partners and 
communities across BCP to go to England National Lottery Committee panel in January 2023. 

Date discussed 29 November 2022 

314



11      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 5 – Phased reduction in cultural grants over a 5-year period (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Disability, Race, Religion or belief and sexual orientation: There may be equality impacts for these specific groups as projects 

designed to connect with them through outreach programmes may not be funded.  

Local business or community organisations: There would also be a significant number of jobs and freelancer roles lost in the 

local economy. There is also a risk some community groups may fold. 

EHRC: A reduction in cultural grants could impact on those activities that enhance the normal educational offer. There will be 

missed opportunities for social inclusion, participation and the loss of activities could impact mental health and living standards. 

Level of Impact The organisations would have to reduce their cultural activity under this proposal. The work they co-create with diverse and 
underserved communities, including all protected groups, is a very significant part of their activity.  

Under the proposals they would likely retain their core “cash cow” activities, such as cinema and blockbuster concerts, for 
example, but reduce the expensive outreach, learning and participation work, which is key to what makes them socially beneficial 
organisations. This work is how they inclusively engage and co-create with communities, underserved, under-represented and all 
protected groups.  

Protected groups would therefore be hardest hit and more marginalised by reductions in grants. There would be significant impact 
also on the wider cultural economy and ecosystem, which could result in the closure of small businesses supporting the creative 
sector. This may have significant impact on the Lighthouse and it’s ability to continue running. This in turn would impact on the 
BSO and other groups that use the facilities such as the disabled theatre group.  

Mitigating actions None. 

Date Discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 6  - Reshape Cultural Compact Activity with Partners (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Reshaping cultural compact activities around education will impact on young people. 

Disability: Ceasing cultural compact activities around education will impact on those with disabilities including mental health. Also 

see race below. 

Race and religion & belief: Will not be able to build upon the Your Shout programme of research and development of ethnically 

and disability led cultural organisations, aiming to enable these to develop and curate more diverse and inclusive programmes. 
Examples of these which the Compact has enabled to deliver in 2022 were The World of Love Festival and Reggae Weekender. 
The next major commission was extensive cultural network mapping, to ensure that the Compact knows what community cultural 
groups are out there to reveal the “invisible city” of underserved and under-represented cultural groups highlighted by the 2019 
Cultural Enquiry.  

Socio-economic status: Lack of cultural attractions may impact on the free events that families on low incomes can attend. 

Local business or community organisations: Lack of events drawing visitors/residents into the town may impact on local 

businesses  

EHRC: Could impact on social inclusion and, participation which in turn may impact on mental health. 

315



12      Appendix 11                

 

Level of Impact The Compact has a diverse board and strong policies of equality and inclusion for all communities, residents, visitors and protected 
groups. Reshaping the BCP Cultural Compact may eliminate BCP’s growing reputation as a place where great culture can happen. 
The Compact is a multi-sector body, bringing together sectors such as the NHS, Education, Business, Tourism and young people, 
bringing in investment and joining up sector priorities and plans so that BCP can thrive as a place where people can benefit from 
cultural participation. 

Mitigating actions No mitigating actions for the results of ceasing on the protected groups. 

Date Discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 7  - Leisure Centres – 2 Riversmeet – Review of pricing (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Socio-economic status: Raising fees may impact on those already experiencing financial pressures due to the cost-of-living 

crisis.  

EHRC: May be detrimental to Health if price rise excludes users from participating in exercise.  

Level of Impact Impact on the organisations and their delivery of services: Two Riversmeet will need to review the pricing across all offers. 

The Centre has the ability to offer new and enhanced services to support additional income generation. 

Impact on equalities and inclusion: Two Riversmeet will aim to increase further the offer for users therefore increasing the ability 
to be inclusive to local residents and users. Price increases may impact negatively on users but even within the savings required 
all costs associated with supplies and utilities are increasing which require us to budget accordingly. 

Mitigating actions No mitigating actions identified.  

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 8 - Bournemouth Indoor Bowls Club alternative management model (excluding Skills and Learning) (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Most bowls players are older so older people will be impacted more.  

EHRC: May impact on both a persons ability to participate and their health.  

Level of Impact The site would still operate to provide access for Adult Skills and Learning and Mini Monkeys so those organisations would be able 
to continue their services unaffected.  

Disadvantages bowls players who are members and pay to play users, Poole Indoor bowls club and Christchurch and East Dorset 

club have capacity to take on these players and needs to continue? 

Mitigating actions The Council have managed to secure reduced joining rates for those who wish to use one of these other sites. 

Date Discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 9 - Pricing increases across the Poole Leisure Estate (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Socio-economic status: Increasing the cost of services to users would impact on families already experiencing difficulties due to 

cost of living rises.  

316



13      Appendix 11                

 

EHRC: May be detrimental to Health if price rise excludes users from participating in exercise. 

Level of Impact The possible option of price rises to provide the saving required would impact users of some of their services though the addition in 
the region of £1 to cost of the activity. The overall price still remains in line with other centres and Everyone Active would retain the 
Access to Leisure option with no price increase for those signed up to the scheme (those who meet certain criteria re 
finances/disabilities) 

Mitigating actions Since identifying this as a possible savings option, some discussions have taken place with Everyone Active and they have 

suggested they could reduce the Service fee by the amount required and keep the Dolphin Leisure Centre option or open? if they 

were given approval to increase their prices. Proposals for pricing have been sent through and are being reviewed. 

Date Discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 10 - Seek community management of Littledown Leisure Centre Paddling Pool (outdoors) if not secured close (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Young children will lose the facility.  

Pregnancy and maternity: Would impact young families who use the facilities.  

Sex: More women than men will be impacted as more women use the service.  

Socio-economic status: May affect those unable to access leisure facilities outside of their local area due to economic reasons. 

EHRC: May impact on participation, health and living standards.  

Level of Impact The closure of the outdoor paddling pool would reduce the option of free outdoor leisure provision. 

Mitigating actions There are no mitigating actions being put in place. 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 11 - Reduce Sports grants by 10% a year for 5 years (List 1)  

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: The removal of this grant is likely to impact young people more as their sporting organisations would have accessed the grant.  

Disability: It is not known how many disabled sport organisations would be affected by reducing the grant as there have been no 

applications over the last 3 years.  

Socio-economic status: It is possible that those from the most deprived areas of the borough will be affected however, there 

have been no recent applications for the funding. 

Local business or community organisations: Poole sports council as the main recipient of the fund are likely to experience 

negative impacts as a result of reducing funding. 

EHRC: may have implications for health, participation and education.  

Level of Impact Reduces the available funding for individuals and organisations but retains whilst still retaining the ability to provide some financial 
support 

317



14      Appendix 11                

 

Mitigating actions The proposal is for a reduction in grant and not the total removal. As there has been not take up of the grant over the last 3 years, 
there is no mitigating action as the grant can still be accessed.  

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 12 – Innovative cost reduction and income generation for Christmas Tree Wonderland & Poole Christmas Maritime Light Festival 
(List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Socio-economic status: As this is a free event this is likely to impact on those families on low incomes. 

Local business or community organisations: Traders would be impacted on loss of income. Feedback from Dorset Police is 

that the attractions, particularly in Bournemouth, have made the area a safer place in the late evening as the illuminations deter 
anti-social behaviour around the town centres, gardens and the Quay. This could also impact on trade.  

EHRC: Reduced contribution is unlikely to negative impact on any of the domains.  

Level of Impact There would be little or no impact as the attractions would still be delivered. These attractions are free in complete contrast to 
similar Christmas Illuminations offerings in other towns and cities – e.g., Longleat, Blenheim Palace, Kew Gardens which are 
ticketed, making these events, particularly CTW, unique in inclusivity for all regardless of level of income. They are both easily 
accessible in public open space being level with no steps to negotiate making them both buggy and wheelchair friendly. For 
anyone with neurodiverse needs information is provided on the website to ensure that the attraction can be enjoyed by all.  

Mitigating actions Mitigating actions will depend on what option is chosen. 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 13 - Harmonisation of beach huts fees and charges 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Disability: The Seafront Service enables access to beach huts for a range of other Council services including: Youth Services; 

Fostering Services; Carer Support; and Access to Resources (total 6 huts).  The Council also supports access by external 
organisations including the NHS and Royal Life Saving Society.  There are two charitable organisations that rent a hut on an annual 
basis and may be affected by the fee proposals within this report.  There are no direct public health implications related to this report 
however, some beach hut tenants may feel their well-being is being impacted by the proposed changes which should be considered 
as part of decision making  
Socio-economic groups: Whilst research shows that the majority of tenants and those on the waiting list are from more affluent 
demographics, the pricing strategy may affect affordability for some beach hut tenants.  Harmonisation of prices also means that 
the strategy may have a proportionately higher impact in some areas.  Beach huts are available for hire from the Council or private 
tenants for shorter term or daily bookings for those unable to afford to rent on a longer term or annual basis.   

EHRC: This will impact on living standards, health and participation. 

Level of Impact There are no specific implications for equality groups related to the proposed changes however, the pricing proposal may affect 
affordability for some beach hut tenants.  Shorter term options are available for those unable to afford to rent on a longer-term 
basis.   

318



15      Appendix 11                

 

Mitigating actions To help mitigate the impact, it is proposed that the changes to pricing are implemented over time and the Council considers the 
removal of restrictions on sub-letting to widen the private hire market enabling more people to access the service more often on a 
short-term basis.    

Date discussed 13 October 2022 

Budget EIA 14 - Highway Maintenance - 10% reduction in Highway Maintenance (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Deterioration of footpaths may impact on elderly ability as more hazards may be faced. Deterioration of footpaths may impact 

on young children as they cycle on the pavement and may encounter more hazards. 

Disability: Deterioration of footpaths may impact on disabled as more hazards may be faced. Impacts both physical and visual 

impairments.  

Pregnancy and maternity: Deterioration of footpaths may impact on pregnant and young parents with pushchairs as more 

hazards may be faced.  

Sex: Women may be impacted more from a walking perspective or pushing pushchairs. Deterioration of main commuter routes 

may impact men more as they tend to drive/cycle more than other groups.  

Socio-economic status: May impact those with a lower socio-economic status as they are less likely to own cars.  

Local business or community organisations: Uneven highways may be detrimental to business by discouraging customers. 

EHRC: May impact on living standards, work, and participation.  

Level of Impact This will impact on all BCP highway asset users such as pedestrians, cyclists, drivers and vehicle passengers. There are likely to 
be differential impacts across the protected groups depending on the aspect of the network which is being considered. However, 
the scale of the differential impacts is not quantifiable at this stage, as it is currently not possible to accurately define the impact 
that the proposals will have on the network. 

Mitigating actions The movement away from measurement-based intervention levels to investigatory levels allows Inspectors greater flexibility 
through a risk assessment process to identify defects which may result in a negative impact on highway users, and which pose the 
greatest risk. This enables greater flexibility for Inspectors to identify defects such as those outside schools, residential homes, or 
GP surgeries. Improvements through the Transformation Programme will enable swifter action on the receipt of public reports.  

Date discussed 21 November 2022 

Budget EIA 15 – Reshape Park Operations (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Older people may be affected with accessibility issues.  

Disability: People with disability may be adversely affected if access to open areas is reduced.  

Pregnancy and maternity: People with pushchairs may have accessibility issues. 

EHRC: No impact on any domain identified.  

319



16      Appendix 11                

 

Level of Impact Very low risk. Reducing grass cutting will mean that some areas are left to grow longer. This may mean that certain groups have 
less access to some open spaces.  

Mitigating actions None required. 

Date discussed  21 November 2022 

Budget EIA 16 - Seek community management / transfer of paddling pools and if not secured, close (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Paddling pools are part of the broad offer of green spaces in providing a range of facilities, particularly for early years. Young 

– preschool groups who use the pools for recreation.  

Sex: More women than men will be impacted as more women use the service.  

Disability: Those with disabilities particularly around mental health and neurodivergent characteristics that use the facilities, 

Pregnancy and maternity: Parents who use the facilities with their children.  

Children in care: Children in care who use the facilities. 

Socio-economic status: This is a free amenity and people on a low income may be disadvantage by not have access to it.  

Local business or community organisations: Redhill and Hamworthy Park sites act as ‘Green Heart parks’ providing a range of 

facilities for the local community that would otherwise see café facilities lose their trading viability. 

EHRC: May impact on participation, health and living standards. 

Level of Impact This is going to have a high impact on the communities that the paddling pools serve. Some of the impact concerns protected 
groups which has been highlighted but the loss of a community resource could impact on the overall health and wellbeing (both 
physical and mental) of the pool users.  

Closure of the pools could also impact on the cafes that service the sites and reduce parking income.  

Mitigating actions To try and hand over the pools to community groups to run.  

Date Discussed 21 November 2022 

Budget EIA 17 - Green bin waste income - increased charge (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Socio-economic: An increase in the Green Bin Waste income will impact on those with lower incomes at a time when there is an 

increased cost of living.  

Profile data – is not available for garden waste customers. Garden waste subscribers are anecdotally and via mapping 
predominately determined by in the first instance the size of their garden and therefore volume of waste to be disposed of.   

Level of Impact Low but combined with other increases could be higher.  

Mitigating actions Homeowners are able to take waste for free to recycling centres.  For those without transport they could home compost or share a 
bin with a neighbour – no vehicle required  

Date Discussed 22 July 2022 

320



17      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 18 - Temporary Accommodation Grant Funding (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

 

Age: 55% of people in temporary accommodation are those under 25 so this will impact on young people 

Disability: 7% have ill health or a disability. 3% have a learning disability.  

Socio-economic status: Most homeless clients using temporary accommodation are receiving benefits.  

Race: Proposals may impact on a particular group as it relates to social and temporary housing.  

EHRC: Will impact on living standards, justice and personal security and Health.  

Level of Impact A blanket increase of for the service charges regardless of accommodation type. This will mean larger accommodation affordability 
is subsidised by smaller. However, this is fair as clients don't get to choose where they are placed.  

The introduction of a new method for charging users for utilities may have a disproportionate impact on a specific racial group in 
accordance with the profile of residents who live in that area. A full EIA will be carried out once the chosen method has been 
selected. It is intended to implement the fairest method for charging users. 

Mitigating actions Mitigating actions include:  

 Assessment of suitability before going into temporary accommodation e.g. bedroom sizes, affordability, disabilities. 

 Affordability part of suitability  

 Ensure cost is equal for every client going in 

Date discussed 29 November 2022 

Budget EIA 19 - Telecare Income Generation (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Most users are older so the increase will impact those over 65. 

Disability As most users are elderly it is likely that they will have mobility issues. No data is held as to whether younger people 

with a disability use the service.  

Sex: Because of the age profile of BCP residents it is likely that more users of the service are women.  

Socio-economic status: This is an optional service that users choose to buy. The proposed increase sits within the charge range 

of similar services provided by other organisations. It may affect users who have limited funds. 

EHRC: Could be detrimental to health, justice and personal security and living standards.  

Level of Impact An increase in service charges could lead to 30% of current users withdrawing from the service. The loss of income from these 
users is covered in the increase.  

This will disproportionately impact on vulnerable people who may be more at risk through not being able to afford the service.  

Mitigating actions Service users do have the option to search for competitive alternatives.  

Date discussed 29 November 2022 

 

321



18      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 20 - Cease Neighbour notification letters on planning applications and harmonising press notices procedure 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Older residents may be negatively impacted as they may be less mobile and unable to leave the house.  

Disability: This may include housebound residents, for example those with physical or visual impairment. 

EHRC: Might impact on people’s ability to participate. 

Level of Impact Low.  

Mitigating actions Although such an approach accords with national legislation the use of site notices to notify interested residents of a planning 
application in their locality rather than writing to residents directly could result in residents being unaware of an application.  

To mitigate this it is proposed to enhance the circulation of the weekly list of planning applications by sending it to councillors and 
residents’ groups as well as promote it to interested residents. As the Council and the Planning System becomes more digitally 
enabled it is expected that there will be further ways to optimise notification over time. 

Consideration will also be given to the language notices will be written in. This will be dependent on the profile of the ward. 

Date discussed 21 November 2022 

Budget EIA 21 - Parking Charges Changes (List 1)  

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Disability: The proposed changes impact all Town Centre, District and car park users, however the impact on blue badge holders 

will be less on-street due to the free parking their blue badge entitles them to; off-street all disabled tax-exempt vehicle (DTEV) 
permit holders are able to purchase a £25 permit which enables them to park unrestricted in all BCP surface car parks.  

All payment options through the cashless mobile phone and car park Pay & Display machines remain available. 

To maintain access to parking the Blue Badge and Parent and Child bays are actively monitored by the enforcement team and 
PCNs issued to any unauthorised vehicles. 

Socio-economic status: Some residents parking zones are in areas where there is high demand for on-street parking owing to a 

lack of off-street parking provision. Some of these areas are in areas of deprivation meaning residents that own a vehicle in these 
areas have no choice but to purchase a permit to park their vehicle near their home. Some residents may need to own their 
vehicles for work purposes and potentially as a means to care for relatives if the use of public transport is impractical. The actual 
maximum cost increase for permit holders for resident on-street parking areas is of the order of £20 per annum.  

EHRC: Increased car parking charges could impact on work, living standards and participation.  

Level of Impact Increasing Car parking charges will impact everyone especially at a time when the cost of living is increasing.  

Mitigating actions Disability: The proposed changes impact all service users, however blue badge holders will not be impacted on-street due to the 

free parking their blue badge entitles them to; off-street all disabled tax-exempt vehicle (DTEV) permit holders (£25 annual fee) are 
able to park unrestricted in all BCP surface car parks. No 20% increase to DTEV permits is included in this proposal. The rationale 
for this is that this protected group is less likely to be able to switch to alternative transport modes or car share.  

322



19      Appendix 11                

 

Socio-economic status: It is acknowledged that this group are negatively impacted through the cost increase, however, the 
permits still provide a heavily discounted parking option for both residents and non-residents compared with daily rate parking 
charges. 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 22 – Minor Harmonisation Charges 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Disability: The proposed changes impact all Town Centre, District and car park users, however the impact on blue badge holders 

will be less on-street due to the free parking their blue badge entitles them to; off-street all disabled tax-exempt vehicle (DTEV) 
permit holders are able to purchase a £25 permit which enables them to park unrestricted in all BCP surface car parks.  

All payment options through the cashless mobile phone and car park Pay & Display machines remain available. 

To maintain access to parking the Blue Badge and Parent and Child bays are actively monitored by the enforcement team and 
PCNs issued to any unauthorized vehicles. 

Discounted parking permits are available for both residents and non-residents. 

Socio-economic status: Some residents parking zones are in areas where there is high demand for on-street parking owing to a 

lack of off-street parking provision (designated car parks). Some of these areas are in areas of deprivation meaning residents that 
own a vehicle in these areas have no choice but to purchase a permit to park their vehicle near their home. Some residents may 
need to own their vehicles for work purposes and potentially as a means to care for relatives if the use of public transport is 
impractical.  

Discounted parking permits are available for both residents and non-residents. 

EHRC: This could impact on work, living standards and participation 

Level of Impact In some areas charges for on-street parking are less than the off-street charges. As a general principle it is recommended that the 
on-street charges are higher where there are nearby car parks to encourage their use first and to discourage persons from hunting 
for spaces on street which can increase congestion.   

It is also recommended that all high seasons are harmonised through either the eradication of seasons leaving year-round fixed 
tariffs or by adjusting the existing so that there are only two seasons: high and low. High = 1 March to 31 October and Low = 
remainder of year. 

It is also recommended that the daytime tariffs charges for car parks apply 24/7. At present some car parks are free to use 
overnight and some have fixed overnight charges. The latter causes customers difficulties when they arrive  before a daytime 
tariff begins because they are forced to pay an overnight charge and then also the daytime tariff. 

There are currently over 200 different parking related permit types. This places a huge administrative burden on the parking team. 
Many of the permit types contradict the Corporate Plan and specifically Climate Change Mitigation by offering parking at certain 
locations for a charge that is far cheaper than the sustainable transport alternatives. There is also inconsistency in the level of 
charge across the legacy Council areas.  

323



20      Appendix 11                

 

Mitigating actions Disability: The proposed changes impact all service users, however blue badge holders will not be impacted on-street due to the 
free parking their blue badge entitles them to; off-street all disabled tax-exempt vehicle (DTEV) permit holders (£25 annual fee) are 
able to park unrestricted in all BCP surface car parks.  

Socio-economic status: It is acknowledged that this group are negatively impacted through the cost increase, however, the 

permits still provide a heavily discounted parking option for both residents and non-residents compared with daily rate parking 
charges 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 23 - National Concessionary Fare Scheme - remove discretionary elements (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Travel by bus is higher at both ends of the age categories (those aged 16-24 and those aged 65 and over). Residents 

automatically qualify for a bus pass once they reach pensionable age (currently 66).  Older people will be impacted more.  

Disability: People with a disability are significantly more likely to travel by bus regularly compared to those without a disability. 

Residents with a qualifying disability are entitled to an England national concessionary travel scheme  (ENCTS} bus pass 
regardless of age. 

Carers: Carers will be negatively impacted by this decision as they will now need to pay to accompany a vulnerable adult on the 

bus.  

EHRC: This will impact on living standards and participation for those who are affected.  It could also impact on their health.  

Level of Impact The removal of Companion Passes will impact on residents with this concession if their travelling companion is unable or unwilling 
to pay the required bus fare. This will result in some ENCTS bus pass holders being denied access to local buses and as a 
consequence, access to essential services and facilities and social contact. There could be a ‘knock-on’ impact on other services, 
for example social services should there be a need for support for people no longer getting out and about. 

The removal of the ‘All Day Local’ will impact on blind or partially sighted people if they had a specific reason to travel before 
9.30am or after 11pm on weekdays. It is expected those who can change their travel times will do so. However, some blind or 
partially sighted people will use their bus pass to travel to work or education/training. They would be required to pay a fare which, 
depending on their financial status, could be a financial burden due to the cost-of-living crisis. This could result in them travelling 
less often or not at all. 

The removal of the Taxi Tokens issued to a small number of Bournemouth residents in lieu of the ENCTS bus pass will result in a 
requirement for these people to pay for all their taxi fares. Depending on their financial status, this could be a financial burden due 
to the cost-of-living crisis. This could result in them travelling less often and therefore, reduce access to essential services and 
facilities and social contact.  

Similarly, the removal of cash payments issued to a small number of Christchurch residents in lieu of the ENCTS bus pass will 
result in a requirement for these people to pay for all their taxi fares. Depending on their financial status, this could be a financial 
burden due to the cost-of-living crisis. This could result in them travelling less often and as a consequence, reduce access to 
essential services and facilities and social contact. 

324



21      Appendix 11                

 

Mitigating actions Residents unable to use local bus services due to a change in the discretionary concessions are likely to be able to access 
community transport. Service provision currently varies across the BCP Council area but could include access to a voluntary car 
scheme, Dial-a-Bus, Dial-a-Ride or SEDCAT service. 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 24 - Review Community Transport (List 2)  

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Older people who are mentally or physically unable to access other forms of public transport and benefit from supported door 

to door transport. Young children also use the service. 

Disability: Those who are mentally or physically unable to access other forms of public transport and benefit from supported door 

to door transport. 

Sex: The majority of scheme members are female so it will impact on women more. 

Carers: The burden on carers, both formal and informal, would increase should the proposal be implemented. 

Socio-economic status: Poorer residents are less likely to have access to a car. 

EHRC: This will impact on certain residents ability for participation.  It could impact on their work, education and health.  There may 

even be implications for justice and personal security. 

Level of Impact It won’t be clear until the review has been completed whether there will be a negative or positive impact on service users. However 
if service provision is reduced there will be a negative impact on service users.   

This could impact those who use the community transport service and who are entirely dependent on it to access, shops, medical 
appointments, and the wider community.  

Mitigating actions It is intended to review the Community Transport Offer.  This will be achieved by consulting with the key stakeholders and users of 
the service to quantify demand for the service thereby informing decision making with regards to potential options for delivery of 
the service.  

If it transpires that wider proposed changes to bus services are proposed through the reduction of bus subsidy for example then 
the aforementioned consultation of key stakeholders and users of the service shall also need to account/consider any potential 
changes to bus services.  

The provision of community transport is provided pursuant to Section 63 of the Transport Act 1985. As part of the consideration of 
provision under the Transport Act the Council must have regard to its functions as a social services authority amongst other 
factors. 

Date Discussed 30 November 2022 

Budget EIA 25 - Capital investment in alternative to School Crossing Patrols at specific locations (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: As the main purpose of a SCP is to assist in enabling children to walk to school, this change is likely to impact children to a 

far greater extent than adults.  

325



22      Appendix 11                

 

Disability: The proposed changes impact any individuals with disabilities that could for example include physical or mental 
disabilities, learning difficulties, etc. Some individuals may be less able to cross a road because of the speed at which they can 
travel or the degree to which they can process risk and harm. This also affects those in wheelchairs, the deaf, hard of hearing, 
blind and partially sighted who all experience challenges when crossing a road. 

Pregnancy and maternity: Pregnant people often escort their other children to school and may be less mobile due to pregnancy 

and/or due to the impact of having given birth and/or sleep deprivation. This could arise at any time before or after pregnancy 
including whilst on maternity leave which is a specific category to consider. 

Sex: Children walking to school would be likely to be split equally between male and female in line with the broader population. It is 
possible that more women may have caring roles and so more adult females my use the current SCP sites than adult males and 
therefore more women may be impacted by this change. Males of all ages are known to be at greater risk of injury on our roads 
and this includes pedestrians.  

Socio-economic status: School crossing patrol services are not specific to areas of deprivation as they are introduced at 

locations where a road is difficult to cross, where there is significant demand to cross at that point and where the route lies on a 
popular choice for pedestrians wishing to travel to or from a school. In some more deprived areas, car ownership may be lower, 
and this may limit travel choices such that in these areas more people walk to school. In more deprived areas there could be a risk 
that in particular younger children are less likely to be accompanied on their journey to school by an adult although we are not 
aware of statistics to support that theory. 

EHRC: From a safety point of view, crossings will be operational outside of normal school hours and improve personal security. 

Negatively, children may miss the interaction with an adult outside of their family group and reduce participation.  

Level of Impact Loss of SCPs could impact child protection issues as they may not be spotted or reported. The loss may also impact on 
opportunities for community interaction. There may also be an increased chance of risk taking behaviour as no adult will be present 
to help prevent it. The loss of an individually tailored crossing service will that extra time and consideration to specific user needs 
won’t be available . There is evidence to suggest that pedestrians will go and use an SCP to safely cross whereas they may decide 
not to use a physical crossing but instead risk crossing the road at a point that is more direct for their particular route but less 
suitable in road safety terms. 

Mitigating actions Both Zebra and signal crossings have been designed to incorporate safety features such as tactile paving, being positively 
illuminated at night,audible sounds and tactile cones. With signal crossings - Toucans and Puffins - we have on crossing detection 
which will extend the red signal to traffic time to cater for slower moving pedestrians and/or mobility scooters. The Council also 
offers schools pedestrian training to years 1 and 4 that aims to equip children to safely cross roads in a range of circumstances. 

Date discussed 30 November 2022 

 

  

326

https://www.trafficchoices.co.uk/traffic-schemes/zebra-crossing.shtml
https://www.trafficchoices.co.uk/traffic-schemes/puffin-crossing.shtml


23      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 26 – Dimming of street lighting in residential areas  

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Elderly people may feel less safe which could increase the potential of social isolation and lack or engagement in community 

life. There may also be an increased risk of collision and road traffic accidents. Significant proportions of the night time economy is 
supported by student activity.  Reduction in lighting may increase the vulnerability of young people and females in particular given 
that greater amounts of alcohol is consumed.   
Disability:  Those with physical and mental impairments may feel less safe because they are vulnerable. There maybe an overall 
increase risk in the perception of crime.  
Gender Reassignment:  Those who have had their gender reassigned may feel less safe venturing out after dark.  
Pregnancy/Maternity: Pregnant people may feel more vulnerable if street lighting levels are lowered.    
Race: Some groups may feel more vulnerable to becoming victims of hate crime. 
Religion: Those with an obvious religious appearance (such as orthodox Jews or Muslim women) may feel vulnerable due to their 

faith.  
Sex:  Women may feel less safe if it is darker in the area they live. 
Sexual Orientation: Members of the LGBTQ community may feel vulnerable if outside after dark in an area with reduced lighting.  
Socio-economic status: Those living in deprived areas may feel less safe. In addition, those households without cars may feel 

less safe waking at night. It may discourage them from using bus services. They may not be able to afford taxis.  
Local business and Community organisations: local businesses and community organisations may experience a drop in 

businesses or membership, respectively if people do not feel safe going outside after dark.  
EHRC: Will impact on a persons personal security, ability to participate and potentially, of people feel unable to venture outside at 

night – work.  

Level of Impact Whilst it would appear that there would be a lot of impact from the introduction of reduced lighting, from experience in the 
Bournemouth area, there is very little noticeable change to the level of lighting when dimming to 75% output from 8pm to midnight 
and this has not resulted in any complaints from local residents.  

Mitigating actions It will be important to monitor the levels of crime being experienced and also the perception of crime to ensure there is no increase 
as a result of these measures.  

Date discussed 21/01/2022 

Budget EIA 27 - Reduction of Economic Development - Reduce Budget non staffing (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Children and Young People will be affected as the ability to work in partnership with schools and colleges will be reduced.  

Socio-economic status: It is not known what the impacts may be on those of a lower socio-economic status although withdrawing 

funding is likely to impact on this group. 

Local business or community organisations: A reduction in economic development budget will mean that the current services 

provided to businesses will stop and funding to other organisations. There will no longer be support to young enterprise, no 
business mentoring. A reduction in budget will also mean that business may not be able to access the services provided by the 
organisations that we will no longer be able to support. A reduction in budget may mean that some of the Community organisations 
that we support may cease to exist.  

327



24      Appendix 11                

 

EHRC: A reduction in economic development budget will impact on work, education and living standards.  

Level of Impact A reduction in funding will impact on our ability to work with schools and colleges and invest in our young people providing them 
with opportunities to experience activities that will aid their future working life.  

A reduction will impact on our local businesses as some of the support given to them will no longer be available.  

Mitigating actions No mitigating actions identified.  

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 28 - Smart Places – reduce budget (List 2) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: There may be an impact on older residents as the progression of Digital Inclusion will be stymied. This will impact on 

participation in everyday life, particularly for some older residents.  

Disability: There may be an impact on residents with disabilities as the progression of Digital Inclusion will be delayed.  

Socio-economic status: Smart Places have been focussing elements of their projects on some of the most deprived areas within 

the BCP Council area and this may now not be progressed as quickly as anticipated. 

Local business or community organisations: Will be impacted if the ability of staff to deliver the project is restricted through a 

reduction in funding.  

EHRC: This will impact on participation, health and living standards.  

Level of Impact The impact is the ability of not being able to progress the information going forward. Not able to deliver on Corporate Priorities and 
the Transformation programme. 

Mitigating actions The above financial arrangements enable the Smart Place programme to continue providing benefits to protected groups, helping 
to reduce demand on Council services. 

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 29 - Day Opportunity Strategy Implementation (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: As most day centre users are elderly this will impact our older residents  

Disability: Day centre users include vulnerable adults, who can be isolated and those with mild disabilities. Those with more 

severe disabilities tend to reside in care homes. 

Sex: Most day centre users tend to be more female, so any changes will impact women more. 

EHRC: Any impact is unknown at present as a decision has not been made on how the delivery of day opportunities will be carried 

out, However, there may be implications for participation, health (particularly mental) and living standards.  

Level of Impact Currently, the level of the impact is unknown. Once a decision has been made the full equality impacts can be addressed.  

Mitigating actions The Day Opportunities Strategy will address the mitigating actions required if a change in service delivery is undertaken.  

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

328



25      Appendix 11                

 

Budget EIA 30 – Expand Shared Lives (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Shared Lives carers can provide support to people with dementia (who tend to be older) in their neighbourhood enabling the 

person to remain in their own home. They can also offer support to family members so that the person does not have to leave their 
familiar surroundings 

Disability: Positive benefits for the client as the shared lives programme will allow them to be placed in an environment where their 

impairments can be adapted for. 

Race: Positive benefits for the client and the programme aims to place clients with carers of their own race where possible. 

Religion or belief: Positive benefits for the client because again, the programme aims to place clients with carers who share their 

beliefs. 

Care leavers: They can provide support for care leavers and provide a setting in which they can learn daily living skills in a very 

practical way, in preparation for moving on into greater independence.  

EHRC: This are likely to be positive impacts in terms of living standards, health, participation and justice and personal security.  

Level of Impact There is likely to be a positive impact on the wellbeing of clients.  

 They can provide an interim placement for people with mental health problems recently discharged from hospital and also help 
prevent readmission. 

 They can support parents with a learning disability and can help to teach parenting skills, which may prevent unnecessary 
admission of a child to care. 

 They can provide respite to unpaid family carers, an arrangement which can also help with long‐term succession planning for 
older family carers. The use of Shared Lives for short breaks is growing as people become more aware of the flexibility of the 
scheme. 

 People also sometimes use a Shared Lives scheme as a way of learning the skills they need to live independently and to help 
them put down roots in the area or community before moving into a place of their own. 

Mitigating actions Clients are placed with the best match as so this will address any specific equality needs of the client. Eg religion.  

Date Discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 31 - Work in partnership with Tricuro to reduce contract value (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Most clients who use this service are older and so will impacted by this decision. As yet, the impact is unknown as the details 

of the proposal have yet to be determined.  

Disability: Most clients who use this service have both physical and mental disabilities and so will impacted by this decision. As yet 

the impact is unknown as the details of the proposal have yet to be determined.  

Sex: Most clients are women and so will be adversely impacted. 

EHRC: Although the full proposals are unavailable currently, this is likely to impact on living standards, health, justice and personal 

security and participation. 

329

https://sharedlivesplus.org.uk/2020/06/08/resilient-shared-lives-should-be-at-the-heart-of-a-rebuilt-care-system/


26      Appendix 11                

 

Level of Impact Not known at this stage. 

Mitigating actions Not known at this stage. 

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 32 – Alternative meals provision (bring future savings forward) (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Adult Social Care Clients tend to be older, and they will be disproportionately affected.  

Disability: Adult Social Care Clients tend to have mobility and disability issues and will be disproportionately affected.  

Socio-economic status: Clients using the service may have to source meals elsewhere at a greater cost.  

EHRC: Will impact on work, living standards, participation and health.  

Level of Impact Adult social care clients and carers are disproportionately older women and will usually have a disability, but otherwise there is no 
specific impact relating to those with protected groups.  

Mitigating actions Clients impacted have the protection of the Care Act and are entitled to a carers or client assessment which will seek to ensure 
eligible needs are met, that clients/carers are safeguarded and will, if necessary, ensure appropriate mitigation to prevent harm. 

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 33 – Employment support service (List 1)  

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: Those of working age are more likely to impacted by the decision.  

Disability: Adults with learning disabilities, but also other adults of working age with mental health needs or other long-term 

conditions. Service typically supports adults who want to develop skills for paid work or be engaged in unpaid voluntary roles but 
cannot be supported through DWP supported employment services as their needs too high or require a high degree of support to 
engage with volunteering.  

Care leavers: Withdrawal of this service would impact care leavers. The Care Act 2014 places a responsibility on local authorities 
to ensure services should be made available for young people when they move into adulthood. It cites employment support as one 
of the areas councils should consider providing.  

Socio-economic status: May impact those who have savings. Currently people not financially assessed to access COAST, but as 

part of a future day services offer they may have to make a financial contribution.  

Local business or community organisations: This will impact on Tricuro as COAST is supported employment service run by 

Tricuro. Approximately 130 people under Coast at present, mainly with learning disabilities. There are two elements to the service. 

EHRC: This will impact on providing vulnerable adults with work, it may subsequently impact their mental health, living standards 

and participation in society.  

330



27      Appendix 11                

 

Level of Impact The main impact is on a group of adults with learning disabilities, mental health needs or long term conditions. The service enables 
these adults to develop their skills for paid work. Removal of this service would impact their ability to access work. 

National Building the Right Support Guidance, the NHS long term plan for people with learning disability and autism, promotes 
supporting people into work as a key objective.  Decommissioning this service will negatively impact on the national return for BCP 
Council – Supporting people with learning disabilities into work KPI. 

Maintaining people in employment can reduce or delay the need for more expensive forms of care and support.  

This will impact on Fulfilled Lives objective within the corporate strategy to increase the proportion of adults with care and support 
needs in employment, training and volunteering by March 2023. 

Mitigating actions There will be a cost towards finding another service however other free alternatives are available and could be signposted towards.  

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 34 - Reprovision of some carers services (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Disability: The reprovision of the carers centre may have an impact on the Mental health of the carers as it may impact on their 

ability to socialise and their need to feel safe. 

Sex: Will impact more on older women as tend to be carers.  

Children in care: Whilst the profile of the carers centre users is not known it is likely some may be the carers of children in care.  

Socio-economic status: May impact on those carers on low incomes who may now need to travel further to a new centre.  

EHRC: This will impact on carers ability for participation and may impact on their health and living standards too.  

Level of Impact Adult social care carers are disproportionately older women and often report being in poor health, but otherwise there is no specific 
impact relating to those with protected groups. Clients impacted have the protection of the Care Act and are entitled to a carers or 
client assessment which will seek to ensure eligible needs are met and that carers are safeguarded. 

Mitigating actions The service will be moved to another building within the BCP council area.  

Date discussed 23 November 2022 

Budget EIA 35- Education - Revised Delivery Models 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: This service is aimed at children so will affect young people. However, the changes put in place do not appear to have any 

detrimental impacts, but instead improve the service offered to the children.  

Disability: This service is aimed at children who have special educational needs and so will affect young people. However, the 

changes put in place do not appear to have any detrimental impacts, but instead improve the service offered to the children by 
increasing the time given to assessments.  

Children in care: It is possible that children in care may need access to this service, however the proposals made would only 

appear to enhance the service provided.  

331



28      Appendix 11                

 

EHRC: The proposals for this service will have positive impacts as it will be assisting those with special educational needs access 

the right education for them.  

Level of Impact Low negative impact. High positive impact.  

Mitigating actions None required as no negative impacts have been identified.  

Date discussed 9 December 2022 

Budget EIA 36 - Targeted Family Support - Clinical psychology (List 1) 

Summary of Equality 
Impacts 

Age: The service is provided for all ages including children, children in care, foster carers, connected carers, adoptive parents. 

Children are therefor more likely to be impacted by the proposals. 

Disability: Whilst the profile of clinical psychology users is not available, some service users may have disabilities. 

Children in care: This service is used by Children in Care and therefore may impact them. 

Care leavers: This service is used by Care Leavers and once again any changes will impact them.  

EHRC: The review of Clinical Psychology provision should enable the Council to provide a service which helps improve Education, 

Living standards and participation.  

Level of Impact As the outcome of the pilot is unknown it is difficult to pre-empt the impact of any decision.  

Mitigating actions These will be addressed once the outcome of the pilot is known.  

Date discussed 1 December 2022 

 

332



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

Appendix 12  

 

   
BCP Pay Policy 2023/24  

  

Date: 04 January 2023  Policy Author: Liz Bowman, Reward Manager  

Review Date: December 2023 Version: 1  

Purpose/Introduction  

  

This policy is established to meet requirement of section 38(1) of the Localism Act 
(2011).  
  

The purpose of this policy is to provide transparency on the salaries of Chief Officers of 
the Council, how those salaries are set, and other issues related to the pay of Chief 
Officers.   
  

BCP Council has now been in existence following Local Government Reorganisation 
(LGR) since April 2019 and is made up of the following preceding authorities, 
Bournemouth Borough Council, Christchurch Council and Borough of Poole. The 
financial information published to meet legislative responsibilities is relating to the 
2022/23 salary information using a snapshot date of December 2022, and the audited 
2021/22 Statement of Accounts.   
  

Who the policy applies 

to  

  

Chief Officers - The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be 
designated Chief Officers:   
(a) Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service   

(b) Directors who report directly to the Chief Executive within the line management 
structure  
  

333



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

Appendix 12  

The policy  

  

The 2021/22 salaries of the Chief Executive and Chief Officers were set by the Leader 
and Deputy Leader of the BCP Shadow Authority on advice from the South West Local 

Government Employers Association and having regard for the Chief Executive and 
Chief Officers’ national pay scales.  

  

The salaries for these staff will be increased in line with national pay awards agreed by 
Joint National Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives and Chief Officers unless financial 
constraints prevent the required funding from being available. In this case, some lesser 
figure or no increase will be applied.  
  

The Chief Executive is employed on JNC conditions of service.  

  

Section 38(1) of the Localism Act requires the following information to be published 
annually as part of the policy (Appendix A):  
  
a The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) base salary, including pension 

contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure per annum (excluding 
expenses allowance).  
  

b The median full-time equivalent salary for staff, excluding employees paid on 
national scales known as Soulbury grade staff, youth workers and employees in 
schools with the pension contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure. 
The ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of Paid Service.   
  

c The lowest full time equivalent salary, with the pension contribution and the NI 

contribution with a total figure.  

The ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of Paid Service.  

 

d These ratios are published in line with the recommendations of the Hutton review 

of Fair Pay in the Public Sector. This review also recommends that local authorities 

define what they mean by ‘lowest salary’.  

  

e The lowest salary is defined as the full-time equivalent salary of employees in 
receipt of the lowest salary point of the salary and grading structure for the 
preceding councils’ employees who are not covered by Soulbury, Apprentices or 
Youth Workers national scales.    
  

f The salaries of Heads of Service / Service Directors, the posts that report into 
Corporate Directors, and other employees not covered by nationally agreed pay 
scales, are determined under the preceding councils’ job evaluated pay and 
grading structure.  

 
g An extract from the annual statement of accounts for 2021/22 is given in Appendix 

B for BCP Council which gives details of the payments made to Chief Officers in 
2021/22.  
 

h Whilst it is the Council’s policy to recruit on the minimum of a pay scale, due regard 
will be taken of the prevailing market rates.  
 

 

334



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

Appendix 12  

   
BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

  

i Incremental progression does not apply to Chief Officers.  

  

j No other fees are paid to Chief Officers, but they can make claims under the 
relevant authorities Business Travel and Subsistence arrangements.  
    

k Payments for working hours additional to contractual hours are not made.  

  

The Council publishes the total remuneration of Chief Officers and Service Directors 
as part of the annual statement of accounts on its public website.  

The decision to employ Chief Officers, who were previously employed by the Council 
and left with a severance or redundancy payment, will be based on the applicants’ 
suitability for the post.  No deductions will be made from the remuneration package, 
providing the employment is more than four weeks from the original date of 
termination.  If the employment is within four weeks of the original termination, the 
employee will have to reimburse any redundancy payments to the previous employer 
if they have been made to them.  

The Council’s policy is to usually employ Chief Officers under employment contracts, 
not under a contract for services.  

The decision to employ Chief Officers who are in receipt of a Local Government 
Pension Scheme pension (whether their previous service was with the same authority 
or not) is dependent on the applicant’s suitability for the pos t. The remuneration will 
be set in line with the Chief Executive and Chief Officers’ national pay scales, the going 
market rate and affordability.  

Special Severance payments will be approved according to the following process (as 
recorded in the scheme of delegation): 

 payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a vote of full 
council, as set out in the Localism Act 2011 

 payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000, must be personally 
approved and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, with a clear record 
of the Leader’s approval and that of any others who have signed off the 
payment 

 payments below £20,000 must be approved according to the local 
authority’s scheme of delegation. It is expected that local authorities should 
publish their policy and process for approving these payments 

 

The Council has adopted a range of clear policies, procedures, and guidance with 
regard to payments upon the termination of employment. The Scheme of Delegation 
details governance arrangements in regard to severance payments in line with the 
‘Statutory Guidance on the Making and Disclosure of Special Severance Payments by 
local authorities in England’ published 12 May 2022. This guidance forms part of the 
best value regime for local authorities in England as set out in section 3 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.  

In line with the 2015, Local Government Transparency Code, which was issued to 
increase democratic accountability through open access to information, sets a 

335



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

Appendix 12  

requirement for local authorities to publish specific data, Under the Account and Audit 
Regulations 2015 we publish: 

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least 
£50,000 in brackets of £5,000 

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose 
salary is at least £50,000, and 

 employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more who must also be 
identified by name 

 

In addition to this requirement, for all employees whose salary exceeds £50,000, 
there is a requirement to publish a list of responsibilities (for example, the services 
and functions they are responsible for, budget held and number of staff) and details 
of bonuses and benefits-in-kind. 

 

A new non-contractual pay supplement policy and governance arrangement has been 

introduced to ensure consistent approach across BCP Council. Governance 

arrangements are in line with the scheme of delegation  
 

The Scheme of Delegation outlines who has the authority to approve pay, 

supplements, enhancements, and allowances. These approvals have been reviewed 

and updated. 

    
BCP Pay Policy 2023/24  

  

336



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 

  

Appendix 12  

   

BCP Council will be reviewing the full pay and reward offer, including terms and 
conditions, through the year with a view to implementing within financial year 2023/24 
  

The policy in relation to employer discretions under the Local Government Pension 
scheme is given in Appendix C  
  

How to use the policy  

This policy will be published on the Council’s website to ensure that all staff, 
Councillors, residents and local businesses have access to it.  
  

Related Council policies and supporting documents:  

  

• Business Travel and Subsistence arrangements   

• The Council’s policy in relation to employer discretions under the Local 
Government Pension scheme   

• The Council’s policy in relation to employer discretion under the Local 
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary  

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006   

• Pay Supplements Policy 

• Scheme of Delegation 

  

Roles and 

responsibilities  
This policy is reviewed annually by the Corporate Management Board and any 

recommendations for change will be made to the Cabinet for approval  

Enforcement and 

sanctions  

  

  

Further information 

and evidence  
  

  

  

  

  

  

    

337



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24  

  
Appendix A  

Appendix 7  

– Salary Information 2022/23  

Section 38(1) of the Localism Act requires the following information to be published annually as part of the 

policy (Appendix A):  

a The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) base salary at snapshot date December 2022, including 

pension contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure per annum (excluding expenses 

allowance).  

Authority  Position   Base Salary   Pension  

Contribution  

NI  

Contribution  

Total   

Bournemouth  

Christchurch & Poole 

Council  

Chief  

Executive   

£193,404.00 
 

0 £26,295.58 
 

£219,699.58 

  

b The median full-time equivalent salary for staff at snapshot date December 2022, excluding employees 

paid on national scales known as Soulbury grade staff, youth workers and employees in schools with 

the pension contribution and the NI contribution with a total figure. The ratio between this salary and 

the salary of the Head of Paid Service.   

Authority  Median  

FTE Salary   

Pension  

Contribution  

NI  

Contribution  

Total   Ratio   

Bournemouth Christchurch 

& Poole Council  

£28,371.00 
 

£4,936.58 
 

£2,786.47 
 

£36,094.05 
 

1:6 
 

  

c The lowest full time equivalent salary at snapshot date December 2022, with the pension contribution 

and the NI contribution with a total figure. The ratio between this salary and the salary of the Head of 

Paid Service.  

Authority  Lowest  

FTE Salary   

Pension  

Contribution  

NI  

Contribution  

Total   Ratio   

Bournemouth Christchurch 

& Poole Council  

£17,338.00 
 

£3,016.81 
 

£571.44 
 

£20,926.25 
 

1:10 
 

  

  

   

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

338



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24  

  
Appendix B  

Appendix 7  

 

 

 

 

– DRAFT Statement of Accounts 2021/22   

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

    

  

 

 

 

339



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24  

  
Appendix C  

Appendix 7  

BCP (“THE COUNCIL”)  

POLICY IN RELATION TO EMPLOYER DISCRETIONS UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION 

SCHEME  

This document forms the Council’s policy in relation to the various discretions available to it in respect of 

the Local Government Pension Scheme. Part A records the Council’s policy in respect of Regulations 12, 

16, 30 and 31 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions)  

Regulations 2013 (“Benefits Regulations”), as required by Regulation 66 of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 (“Administration Regulations”). Part B refers to the other 

discretions available to the Council but for which it is not a requirement to publish a formal policy.  

References to specific Regulations are to the Benefits Regulations.  

This policy does not form part of employees’ terms and conditions of employment and the Council may repeal, 

review or amend its policy at any time.  

PART A  

Regulation  Policy  

Regulation 16 [R] –   

Power of employing authority to contribute to a 

shared cost APC scheme   

Whether, how much, and in what 

circumstances to contribute to a shared cost 

APC scheme.   

On the basis of cost implications, the Council will not 

enter into a shared cost APC scheme  

Sch 2, para 2 (2) & (3) [TP]   

Power of employing authority to apply 85 Year 

Rule before age 60   

 Whether to "switch on" the 85 Year Rule for a 

member voluntarily drawing benefits on or 

after age 55 and before age 60.   

Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, 

the actuarial reduction applied to benefits from 

pre 01/04/2014 membership where the 

employer has "switched on" the 85 Year Rule 

for a member voluntarily drawing benefits on 

or after age 55 and before age 60. 

On the basis of cost implications, only in 

exceptional circumstances would the Council 

switch on the 85 Year Rule and the consideration of 

this issue would be delegated to the Cabinet 

Member with the portfolio for Resources in 

consultation with the Executive Director and the 

Section 151 Officer.  

On the basis of cost implications, only in exceptional 

circumstances would  the Council  consider  waiving  

any  required  actuarial reduction to such benefits 

and the consideration of this issue would be 

delegated to the Cabinet Member with the portfolio 

for Resources in consultation with the Executive 

Director and the Section 151 Officer 

Regulation 30 (6)   

Flexible retirement   

Whether all or some benefits can be paid if an 

employee reduces their hours or grade 

(flexible retirement).   

Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial 

reduction on benefits paid on flexible 

retirement. 

The Council will consider requests for Flexible 

Retirement in accordance with the agreed Flexible 

Retirement Policy and Procedure.  

On the basis of cost implications, only in 

exceptional circumstances would the Council 

consider waiving any required actuarial reduction to 

such benefits and the consideration of this issue 

would be delegated to the Cabinet Member with the  

Portfolio for Resources in consultation with the 

Executive Director and the Section 151 Officer. 

340



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 
  

Appendix 7  

Regulation  Policy  

Regulation 30 (8) [R]   

Power of employing authority to waive actuarial 

reduction   

Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial 

reduction on benefits which a member 

voluntarily draws before normal pension age.  

On the basis of cost implications, only in 

exceptional circumstances would the Council 

consider waving any required actuarial reduction to 

such benefits and the consideration of this issue 

would be delegated to the Cabinet Member with the 

Portfolio for Resources in consultation with the  

Executive Director and the Section 151 Officer.  

Regulation 31 [R]   

Power of employing authority to grant additional 

pension   

Whether to grant additional pension to an 

active member or within 6 months of ceasing 

to be an active member by reason of 

redundancy or business efficiency (by up to 

£6,500 p.a.).  

The Council has elected not to use this discretion  

Reg D11 (2)(c) [C]    

Power of employing authority to grant early 

payment of benefits on compassionate grounds      

Whether to grant applications for the early 

payment of deferred pension benefits on or 

after age 50 and before NRD on 

compassionate grounds     

For members who ceased active membership 

before 1 April 1998     

The Council will only agree to the early payment of 

such benefits when there is no cost attached. Only 

in exceptional compassionate circumstances would 

any required actuarial reduction of such benefits be 

waived. The Council delegates the consideration for 

these issues to the Cabinet Member with the 

Portfolio for Resources, the Executive Director and 

the Section 151 Officer.  

  

PART B - where formulation of a written policy is not compulsory  

Regulation  Policy  

Regulation 9 (1) & (3) [R]   

Contributions payable by active members   

Employers determine the contributions payable by 

members by attributing each member to one of the 

contribution bands set out in Regulation 9 (2) [R].  

Employers have the capacity to re-attribute the 

specific pay band (upwards or downwards) where 

there is a material change in a member's contractual 

terms.     

  

  

The policy is set to review the bandings on 

an annual basis.  

  

  

  

Regulation 22 (7) (b) and (8) (b) [R]   

Facility to extend time limits for active members to not 

aggregate deferred periods of LGPS  

  

The Council will only agree to extend the  

12-month option period in exceptional  

Regulation  Policy  

341



BCP Pay Policy 2023/24 
  

Appendix 7  

membership   

Whether to extend the 12-month option period for a 

member to elect that deferred benefits should not be 

aggregated with a new employment or ongoing 

concurrent employment.    

circumstances. The Council delegates the 

consideration of this issue to the Head of 

HR.  

Regulation 100 (6) [R]   

Facility to extend time limits for active members to 

request a transfer of previous pension rights into the 

LGPS   

Where an active member requests to transfer 

previous pension rights into the LGPS, the member 

must make a request within 12 months of becoming 

an active member.  Employers, with agreement of 

Administering Authority, may allow a longer period 

than 12 months.   

JOINT DISCRETION WITH ADMINISTERING 

AUTHORITY   

The Council will only agree requests to 

transfer previous pension rights into the 

LGPS in exceptional circumstances and in 

consultation with Dorset Council. The 

Council delegates the consideration of this 

issue to the Head of HR.  

Reg 17 & 15(2A) [TP]     

Power of employing authority to determine whether 

to, how much and in what circumstances to 

contribute to a shared-cost Additional Voluntary  

Contribution (SCAVC) arrangement  

The Council will enter into a shared cost  

AVC (SCAVC) arrangement  

Reg 17 & 15(2A) [TP]     

Power of employing authority to determine whether 

to extend the time limit for a member to elect to 

purchase additional pension by way of a shared cost 

additional pension contribution (SCAPC) upon return 

from a period of absence  

Whether to extend the 30-day deadline for member 

to elect for a SCAPC upon return from a period of 

absence from work with permission with no 

pensionable pay (otherwise than because of illness 

or injury, relevant   child-related leave or reserve 

forces service leave)  

The Council will only agree to include a 

regular lump sum when calculating APP on 

a case-by-case basis. Each case will be 

considered the Head of HR or their 

nominated representative on its own merits.  

Reg 21(5A) and 21(5B) [R]     

Power of employing authority to determine whether,  

subject to qualification, to substitute a higher level of  

pensionable pay when calculating assumed 

pensionable pay (APP)  

The Council will agree to substitute a higher 

level of pensionable pay when calculating 

APP on a case-by-case basis. Each case 

will be considered the Head of HR or their 

nominated representative on its own merits.  

  

342



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Transforming Cities Fund End of Year Report 

Meeting date  8th February 2023 

Status  Public Report (Department for Transport (DfT) paper confidential) 

Executive summary  To inform Cabinet of progress to date regarding the Department for 
Transport (DfT) based Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) award, the 
associated DfT Year End Report for 2021/22 and Stakeholders 
Newsletter with details of work to date and progress into the next 
year. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Cabinet notes the progress to date regarding the TCF 

programme delivery, the DfT End of Year Report (April 
2022) and Stakeholders Newsletter. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

Cabinet has delegated authority to the Council Governance Board 
(CGB) under the Assurance Framework for Transforming Cities 
Fund, to allow maximum flexibility in meeting the strict DfT timeline 
for delivery and ensure that the authority is best placed to progress 
scheme delivery at pace. Cabinet previously agreed that a regular 
update should be provided and this report along with the associated 
DfT End of Year report and Stakeholders Newsletter is designed to 
inform Cabinet of progress to date. 

  

343

Agenda Item 9



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mike Greene - Portfolio Holder for Transport and 
Sustainability 

Corporate Director  Jess Gibbons – Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors Julian McLaughlin - Director of Transport and Engineering 

Gary Powell - Head of Engineering 

Claire Clark - TCF Programme Management Team 

Wards  Council-wide 

Classification  For Information 
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. On 11 March 2020, BCP and Dorset Councils were awarded £79 Million by the 
Department for Transport (DfT) as part of the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 
programme to build a new network of cycling, walking and bus infrastructure across 
the region. The TCF SE Dorset City Region is shown in Appendix A. and the 
Corridors are shown in Appendix C. Details relating to this process were set out in 
the Cabinet Report, Agenda Item No.12 on 9 October 2019. The purpose of this 
report is a year-end update providing information on progress in the first two full 
years1 of the TCF programme and is for information purposes only.  

2. The DfT require Quarterly Proformas to be submitted and an End of Year Report. 
Regular quarterly meetings are held with the DfT, including attendance from 
Programme Management Board (PMB) members and the Senior Responsible 
Officer (SRO).  

3. Representatives from DfT attended a site visit with officers and Cabinet Members 
from BCP and DC Councils, the DLEP and key Stakeholder representatives on 30th 
March 2022, including a tour of recently completed schemes, which was well 
received.  

4. The Governance Framework has been in operation since February 2020, enabling 
the programme to continue at pace. As the programme is a joint undertaking with 
Dorset Council, Councillors and Officers from both authorities are involved at each 
level of governance and delivery. The Governance Framework is included at the end 
of this report as Appendix D.  

5. For over two years, COVID-19 had a major impact both locally and nationally. The 
TCF Programme Management Team (PMT) has however been fully engaged in the 
delivery process and communicating effectively throughout this time. There are 
numerous ‘virtual’ meetings ongoing including BCP and DC Councillors Briefing 
sessions/workshops, bi-monthly CGB and Programme Steering Group (PSG) and 
Stakeholder meetings, along with regular communications, consultation, and other 

                                                 
1 2019/20 funding was awarded alongside DfT Award Letter 11th March 2020, in year 
spending was restricted to initial programme development and SOBC. 
 

344



programme meetings. Since the start of 2022, as guidance has progressively been 
relaxed and removed, face-to-face meetings and engagement has now commenced 
where appropriate from Spring 2022. 

6. Updates relating to Programme and Delivery are reported to the PMB and CGB on a 
quarterly basis. Delivery Teams are established for the corridors across the 
programme. Within that, a reporting structure is identified, along with the scope of 
works, lead responsibilities, consultation, construction, programme management 
and delivery, budget and resource requirements. A Procurement Strategy has been 
developed and in place. 

7. A Risk Register highlighting the Top Ten Risks across the programme is presented 
to the PMB, mitigation is discussed where necessary, and reported back to the PMT 
for action. PMT hold bi-monthly workshops to assess the risks. The Top Ten Risks 
are reported to CGB meetings to fully appraise the board of the risks and the 
mitigation proposed. 

8. Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) associated with the TCF programme are 
advertised following approval by SRO/CGB and any formal objections reported to 
the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Sustainability, as per current approval 
process. This enables the programme to progress at pace whilst still ensuring there 
is opportunity for open and public debate prior to any decisions being made. 

9. Since March 2020, we have made significant progress, with plans for the entire 
programme in place, and sustainable travel improvements at several locations either 
complete or underway. Further details are contained in the Stakeholder Newsletter 
recently sent out, as shown in Appendix B, which demonstrates progress to date 
and into the future financial year.  

10. Highlights of new sustainable infrastructure now in place and being used across 
south east Dorset include: 

a. A 2.3km stretch of new walking and cycle paths, three new crossings and 
bus stop improvements on Wimborne Road West and Leigh Road from 
the Canford Bottom roundabout to the junction with Brook Road – see 
video. 

b. Walking and cycling improvements through Upper Gardens in 
Bournemouth, from the Square, along the south-west side of the gardens 
to the entrance on Princes of Wales Road – see video. 

c. New and upgraded cycle paths and footpaths, crossings, wayfinding and 
lighting though Kings Park from Harewood Avenue to Ashley Road – see 
video. 

d. Cycle and walking improvements linking Rigler Road to Hinchliffe Road 
and Blandford Close via Holes Bay – see video. 

e. Major walking and cycling improvements on two junctions on Fernside 
Road and Garland Road in Poole – see video. 

f. A new shared footway/cycleway and improved bus stops and junctions on 
Ringwood Road between Longham mini roundabouts and Church Road. 

g. A series of bus, cycling and walking improvements in north Poole along 
Queen Anne Drive/Magna Road between Gravel Hill and Knighton Lane. 

345

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lAz8DKhUeRs&t=19s
https://youtu.be/WYQaJSLFOeo
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TDXvQVfDsv4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TDXvQVfDsv4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YyDiRMDtigg&t=1s


h. A new cycle track along Whitelegg Way and walking, cycling and bus 
improvements around Redhill Roundabout and Wimborne Road slip road. 

11. The TCF programme has also funded: 

a. The expansion of the Beryl Bike rental service in Christchurch with 275 
bikes now available to hire at 50 new locations and the launch of the 
service in the Dorset area with 122 new bikes available at 50+ locations 
across Wimborne, Colehill, West Parley, West Moors and Ferndown. 

b. The installation of 20 new wayfinding totems across Poole town centre.  

c. Around £212,000 worth of grants to 21 schools in the BCP Council area to 
fund new facilities to encourage active journeys to school – see video. 

12. Further details are contained in the Stakeholder Newsletter recently sent out, as 
shown in Appendix B, which demonstrates progress to date and into the future 
financial year.  

13. However, a combination of the escalating global costs of construction materials and 
labour due to the pandemic, as well as rising fuel costs and inflation, have had a 
considerable impact on the SED TCF programme.  In addition, changes to national 
design standards for cycling infrastructure that were introduced in July 2020, four 
months after the Transforming Cities Fund award, have raised the specification and 
quality of facilities required. Although welcome, they have significantly added to 
design and construction costs and have also resulted in longer construction periods 
due to the complexity of the schemes.  

14. These unforeseen financial increases, which are outside of BCP Council and Dorset 
Council’s control, mean the SED TCF budget is no longer sufficient to cover the full 
network of cycle, walking and bus infrastructure improvements originally planned.   

15. Following a comprehensive review of the six planned sustainable travel routes, we 
have submitted revised plans to the Department for Transport recommending the 
improvements that can continue to be constructed and funded through south east 
Dorset’s current TCF allocation and those that will need to be completed once 
further funding has been secured. We expect to agree the revised SED TCF 
programme, including an extension to the original March 2023 delivery timeframe, 
with central government within the next few weeks and will provide a more detailed 
programme update to members and stakeholders, when we will be in a position to 
confirm the planned next steps for each section of the network.  

16. We are committed to our original ambition of creating a fully connected network of 
sustainable travel routes across south east Dorset and are actively working to 
secure additional funding to facilitate this.   

Communications, Consultation, Stakeholder and Public Engagement 

17. It is recognised that a key element of the TCF process from the outset is the 
branding, communications, consultation and engagement with stakeholders and the 
public. A Communications Plan, Strategy and Protocol are in place, approved by 
CGB. BCP Council are leading on proactive and operational communications and 
media activity in conjunction with Dorset Council. In line with DfT requirements, the 
TCF branding is at the forefront of all communications and consultation.  

18. The TCF branding sits within the BCP Council Transforming Travel umbrella on the 
website and consultation platform and across all social media platforms. Bespoke 

346

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1KldVwU63mE
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/Docs/Transforming-Cities-Fund-Stakeholder-Newsletter-2022.pdf


Transforming Travel social media channels have now been set up to enable more 
directed communications. 

19. Further engagement and consultation have taken place over the last year, with face-
to-face public engagement now possible. Briefings with the Portfolio Holder, followed 
by Ward Members are held, prior to engagement with the Bus Operators. Comms 
support including press releases, social media, letters to residents, paid for 
advertising and newsletters also support these events. 

20. Construction has continued throughout 2021 and 2022, following the first scheme, 
Leigh Road in Dorset that commenced in January 2021, fully supported by a 
comprehensive comms programme. As detailed in the Stakeholder Newsletter, 
schemes either completed or still under construction are: Upper Gardens, Whitelegg 
Way, Kings Park, Queen Anne Drive/Magna Road, Fernside Road and Garland 
Road (quiet route), Wimborne Road (Dorset), Wimborne Road, Poole – Serpentine 
Road to the New Inn junction, Ringwood Road (Dorset), Longham minis and Rigler 
Road to Hinchcliffe Road and Blandford Close. 

21. Trip End grants for schools enabled £212,000 of LTP contributions to be distributed 
between 22 schools and their facilities were successfully implemented during the 
summer of 2021. Follow on comms, BLOGS and videos for the Transforming Travel 
YouTube Channel were subsequently produced, involving teachers, parents and 
school children. Funding of around £115,000 for Businesses is currently going 
through the application and award process.  

22. Other schemes delivered with comms support include Wayfinding and the expansion 
of the Beryl Bike Hire scheme to Dorset.    

Summary of financial implications 

23. The local authority is liable for the local contributions as detailed in the SOBC. This 
equates to an LTP Contribution of £6.1M (combined BCP and Dorset Council) 
phased over the life of the Programme, to deliver schemes locally that continue to 
promote walking, cycling and bus usage, complementing the TCF Programme. In 
addition, there are third party contributions that equate to just under £15M included 
in the SOBC.  

Summary of legal implications 

24. The Council’s Constitution allows the Leader and Cabinet to delegate functions to 
the appropriate officers. Considering the timescales and the shared delivery with 
Dorset Council across the programme, the governance needs to be agile to enable 
delivery at pace. Delegation of functions to the CGB facilitates this and has been 
working well.  

Summary of human resources implications 

25. Based on existing levels of funding within the BCP Council area of the SE Dorset 
City Region, TCF has increased the capital investment by circa 3-4 times in coming 
years. 

26. Trebling or quadrupling the amount of capital investment from TCF has led to a 
significant demand for resource. The Council has existing consultancy and 
contractor frameworks in place to assist with filling this resource gap. The TCF 
programme also requires additional corporate support time, ie. finance, consultation, 
comms, procurement & legal. Where necessary, additional resource has been 

347



brought in to support these corporate support functions. All resources will contribute 
to capital assets and are therefore chargeable to the TCF Programme and were 
covered within the SOBC and subsequent award.  

Summary of public health implications 

27. The programme is designed to promote sustainable travel which should reduce 
harmful emissions, provide healthy choices, provide better connected communities, 
thereby improving health and wellbeing. 

28. The programme should also improve road safety, thereby creating a safer 
environment for all. 

Summary of equality implications 

29. The proposals all promote sustainable travel and as such will likely enhance the 
lives of persons with protected characteristics. 

30. Equalities screening commenced in January 2021 for the six sustainable travel 
routes. A summary will be specific to each individual route and provided at a later 
stage, including findings of the capturing evidence and full EIA report and Action 
Plan as applicable. 

31. An overarching programme EqIA Screening Document was presented to the EIA 
Panel in December 2021 and received a positive amber rating. Additional 
information was then included in an appendix to further evidence the consultation 
and engagement aspects of the programme to date. Corridor section specific EqIAs 
are being developed to ensure consideration of protected characteristics during the 
design process. The Panel have approved the template/framework of these in 
principle to be continued throughout the programme. 

Summary of risk assessment 

32. Proposed schemes along the TCF corridors were developed in line with TCF 
objectives and the outputs of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Travel 
Survey (October 2018 to January 2019). These schemes have since been further 
developed and consulted upon at a local level. Risk assessments are further 
incorporated and quantified within the required Outline and Full Business Cases for 
the corridors. 

33. To ensure that local views are considered when developing the programme, 
consultation and engagement has been and will continue to be fully undertaken as 
part of the process of developing schemes from feasibility to detailed design. This 
will provide maximum flexibility for local views while keeping to the DfT 
guidance/expectation. 

34. A robust communications strategy is in place to promote the programme. 

Background papers 

South East Dorset Transforming Cities Fund Strategic Outline Business Case – available via 
email on request 

South East Dorset Transforming Cities Fund Local Assurance Framework – available via 
email on request 

348



DfT End of Year Report (April 2022) - confidential 

 

Appendices   

1. Appendix A – Plan of TCF SE Dorset City Region 

2. Appendix B – Stakeholder Newsletter 

3. Appendix C – Proposed Cycle and Sustainable Corridors, indicating delivery to 
date   

4. Appendix D – TCF Governance Framework 

 

349



This page is intentionally left blank

350



 

 

 

 

  

Appendix A- Plan of TCF SE Dorset City 
Region

351



352



 

 

 

 

  

 

Appendix B - Stakeholders Newsletter

353



Welcome! 
South east Dorset’s Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) programme has been making 

great progress this year with sustainable travel improvements at ten locations already 

complete or currently underway. Projects such as Leigh Road, Upper Gardens, 

Kings Park and Whitelegg Way now offer safer sustainable transport routes with new 

facilities for walkers, cyclists and bus passengers.

Of course, the pandemic and on-going 

fuel-cost and inflationary pressures have all 

had a financial impact on the programme. 

Despite this we remain committed to our 

ambition of creating a fully connected network 

of sustainable travel routes across south east Dorset and have been pressing on 

with delivery of the new infrastructure to transform local travel as quickly and 

efficiently as possible.

Thank you for your continued support in helping us to create safer, greener, healthier 

journeys for everyone in the region.  We hope that you enjoy this newsletter and that 

it gives you an overview of the real progress we are making in achieving the TCF 

programme’s aims.

Edition 2 – December 2022greener | healthier | better connected

Stakeholder newsletter 

South East Dorset’s Transforming Cities 

Fund Programme Update 

Delivered in partnership by BCP Council and Dorset Council and funded through the Transforming Cities Fund.354



Work to date 
Read about all the work on the ground, which has either been completed, is under construction or is 

about to commence.

TCF Route   Bournemouth Railway Station to / from 

Jumpers Common, Christchurch

Project – Kings Park  

Completed

A new cycling and walking route 

through Kings Park including 

separate walking and cycling 

paths from the Ashley Road 

entrance to the new toucan 

crossing on Harewood Avenue.

Project – Ashley Road  

Due to start summer 2023

Plans for a new toucan crossing and 

repositioning of existing crossing on Ashley 

Road, near the entrance to Kings Park 

currently at design stage.

Phase 2 – due to start summer 2023

Widening of the existing footway on eastern side of Prince 

of Wales Road and Queens Road creating shared space for 

pedestrians and cyclists with new crossing points on Prince 

of Wales Road, Queens Road and Branksome Wood Road.

More information on Upper Gardens project

Project – Leven Avenue and Benellen Avenue   

Due to start summer 2023

Walking and cycling improvements along Glenferness 

Avenue, Leven Avenue and Benellen Avenue to link with 

the Upper Gardens improvements, along with speed limit 

reduction to 20mph.

More information on Leven and Benellen Avenue project

Project – Sevenoaks Drive  

Due to start summer 2023

Plans for cycle, junction and lighting 

improvements currently at design stage. 

Jeff Mostyn, Chairman of AFC 
Bournemouth on the new cycle and 

walking path in Kings Park.

The new segregated 

cycling and walking 

paths through Kings 

Park, Bournemouth.

Click here for 

more information

on our six TCF 

sustainable 

transport routes

Watch the Kings Park video

Watch the Upper Gardens video

TCF Route   Bournemouth Town Centre to / from Ferndown

Project – Upper Gardens  

Phase 1 – Completed 

A new shared cycle and walking route from Bournemouth 

Square to the gardens’ entrance on Prince of Wales Road. 

Widened and resurfaced cycle / footpath with improved 

lighting for greater security.

“I cycle on this path to get to work every week and am 

really pleased with the improvements that have 

been put in place. It’s a much smoother ride, 

and the enhanced lighting also really makes a 

difference.” Peter Brown, cycling commuter

The shared cycling and 

walking path in Upper Gardens 

Bournemouth, beside the 

new artwork created by local 

schoolchildren and Bournemouth 

artist May Summers-Perkins. 

Artist’s impression of the proposed raised 

table at the Leven Avenue / Benellen 

Avenue / Walsford Road junction.

“We are delighted that the new cycling and walking facility in Kings Park 

is now open to the public and without question it is a vast improvement 

on the old route.” Jeff Mostyn, Chairman of AFC Bournemouth

More information on Kings Park project

355

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Bournemouth-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown/Upper-Gardens-Cycle-and-Walking-Improvements.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Bournemouth-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown/Benellen-Avenue-to-Glenferness-Avenue.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://youtu.be/TDXvQVfDsv4
https://youtu.be/WYQaJSLFOeo
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Bournemouth-Station-to-Jumpers-Common/Kings-Park-Cycle-and-Walking-Improvements.aspx


Project – Ringwood Road, Poole – Hunt Road to Mountbatten Roundabout    

Due to start spring 2023

Phase 1 – Mountbatten Roundabout improvements

  Traffic light improvements to introduce bus 

priority through the junction and improve 

traffic flow. 

Phase 2 – Ringwood Road improvements

  A series of walking and cycling improvements 

on Ringwood Road in Poole from Hunt Road 

to Mountbatten Roundabout. A public 

information event took place in June 2022.

More information on Ringwood Road, Poole project

TCF Route   Poole Town Centre to / from Ferndown and Wimborne

Project – Fernside Road and Garland Road, Poole  

The new shared cycling and 

walking paths along Holes Bay, 

behind Cornerstone Academy.

Cllr Mike Greene with Harley, Patryk, 
Sophia and Sam Davidson (Principal) 

of Cornerstone Academy.

TCF Route   Poole Town Centre 

to / from Wareham Road, Holton Heath

Project – Rigler Road to Hinchcliffe 
Road and Blandford Close

 

The new parallel crossing on St Mary’s 
Road near the Garland Road junction.

Artist’s impression of the new 

sustainable travel improvements on 

Ringwood Road, Poole.

Project – Glenferness Avenue   

Due to start autumn 2023

Planning application for the new bridges over the 

railway line on Glenferness Avenue approved.

A series of walking and cycling improvements 

planned along Glenferness Avenue.

More information on Glenferness Avenue project

Completed

A new four-way junction at Fernside Road, Hunt Road 

and St Mary’s Road with new toucan crossings on all 
arms. A new parallel crossing over Garland Road next to 

St Mary’s Road junction.  
 

“The improvements on these two junctions were very 

much needed as they are busy junctions and most of our 

pupils need to cross there. Now our parents and children 

can walk and cycle to school much more safely.”

Emma Hemsil, Assistant Head of St Mary’s Catholic 
Primary School

Artist’s impression of the new cycling 

and walking bridges across the railway 

line on Glenferness Avenue. 

Watch the Rigler Road to Blandford 

Close and Hinchliffe Road video

Largely complete

 
A new shared path including crossing point from 

Rigler Road through the Holes Bay development 

site linking to Blandford Close and Hinchliffe Road. 

New shared cycling and walking path along 

Holes Bay behind Cornerstone Academy. A final small 

section to link in Hinchliffe Road is due to start summer 

2023 once protected migratory birds have left.

“Our pupils often used the old bridleway to get to school 

and it was less than ideal, especially in the winter months, 

where it would get very muddy. The new path is an 

excellent improvement and has made it much easier for 

pupils to safely cycle and walk to school.”

Ms Sam Davidson, Principal of Cornerstone Academy

Watch the Fernside Road and Garland Road video

356

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Poole-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown-and-Wimborne/Ringwood-Road-Hunt-Road-%E2%80%93-Mountbatten-Roundabout.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Bournemouth-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown/Glenferness-Avenue.aspx
https://youtu.be/YyDiRMDtigg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ftU6BODYDVU


Project – Wimborne Road, Ferndown – 

Trickett’s Cross Roundabout to Canford Bottom Roundabout

Phase 1 – Trickett’s Cross Roundabout to 

West Moors Rd – completed 

A new widened shared path, improved bus 

stops and a new crossing near Trickett’s 

Cross Roundabout.

Phase 2 –  West of Cobham Road to Canford Bottom 

Roundabout – completed

  New cycle and walking path, improved bus 

shelters and new light-controlled crossing 

near Stapehill Road.

Phase 3 – Cobham Road junction to West Moors Road 

Under construction – due to complete by winter 2023.

Project – Ringwood Road, Ferndown – 

Longham Mini Roundabouts to Trickett’s Cross Roundabout  

Phase 1 – Longham Mini Roundabouts to south 

of Church Road – completed

  A new widened, shared walking and 

cycling path with an upgraded junction and 

crossing layout at Casterbridge Road 

(next to the Angel Inn).

Phase 2 – Victoria Road to Trickett’s Cross

  Under design and due to start late 

spring 2023.

 

More information on the Ringwood Road, 

Ferndown project

Project – Leigh Road – 

Wimborne Road West, Wimborne and Colehill 

  The first TCF project to complete, with 2.3km of 

new separated walking and cycle paths, reduced 

speed limit, improved bus stops and three new 

pedestrian and cycle crossings. 

  A small section around the junction to Lonsdale 

Road will be completed by Dorset Council and 

Barratt Homes when they complete the new 

layout for access to the development.

“The cycling and walking paths are fantastic, 

I’m really pleased to see this investment. 

It feels so much safer, with plenty of space 

for everyone to use. The dedicated walking 

and cycle paths and reduced speed limit are 

both very welcome safety improvements 

and will really encourage people to travel 

actively in the area.” 

 Mark Samways, local business owner

Click here for 

more information

on our six TCF 

sustainable 

transport routes

Watch video on Wimborne Road, Ferndown project

Watch the completion video of Leigh Road – Wimborne Road West project

The new shared cycling and walking 

path, and bus stop improvements on 

Ringwood Road, Ferndown.

The new cycling and walking 

route under construction on 

Wimborne Road, Ferndown.

New walking and cycling paths 

and parallel crossing on Leigh 

Road and Wimborne Road West 

from Wimborne to Colehill / 

Canford Bottom.

Councillor Ray Bryan of Dorset Council, Sarah Leeming of 

Sustrans and Mike Carhart-Harris, a local resident, keen 
runner and cyclist at the completion of the Leigh Road / 

Wimborne Road West cycling and walking improvements.

Improvements include new bus 

service infrastructure as well 

as cycling and walking lanes.

357

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Poole-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown-and-Wimborne/Ringwood-Road-Ferndown.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Poole-Town-Centre-to-Ferndown-and-Wimborne/Ringwood-Road-Ferndown.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/sustainable-travel-network.aspx
https://youtu.be/kYS8xFnNKXQ
https://youtu.be/lAz8DKhUeRs


TCF Route    Poole Town Centre to / from Merley, Poole

Project – Wimborne Road, Poole – 

Serpentine Road to the New Inn junction – under construction
 

Phase 1 – Serpentine Road Roundabout 

to Kings Close – mostly complete 

Roundabout improvements with three 

new parallel crossings and new shared 

use paths.

Phase 2 – New Inn junction improvements – 

due to start January 2023.

Phase 3 – New cycle lanes between Heckford 

Road and New Inn junction with 

improvements to Garland Road / 

Tatnam Road Junction – due to 

start summer 2023. Artist’s impression of improvements on 

Wimborne Road, Poole at the Garland 

Road / Tatnam Road Junction.

Project – New Inn Junction to Trigon Road Footbridge 

Due to start summer 2023
Improvements to Darbys Lane junctions with Dorchester Road and Heath Avenue.

Project – Magna Road from Knighton Lane 

to Bear Cross Roundabout  

Due to start summer 2023

More information on the Gravel Hill to Bear Cross Roundabout project

Improvements on Wimborne 

Road Poole include upgraded 

bus service infrastructure.

More information on  

Wimborne Road, Poole project

TCF Route   Merley Poole to / from Christchurch

 Project – Queen Anne Drive and Magna Road up to Knighton Lane  
Completed

  New 3.7km shared walking and cycling path, 

new junction layouts, toucan crossings 

and light-controlled crossings. 

  Improved bus shelters with raised access 

and textured paving for disabled and 

sight impaired users.

“Walking and cycling is more 

environmentally friendly and it gets your 

muscles working. Also, if the traffic is 

bad and you aren’t going anywhere too 

far, you can actually get there quicker 

if you walk or cycle there, rather than 

driving in the car.” 

 Jess aged 10 and her sister Abi, 
who both cycle to school

Jess and Abi 

love cycling on 

the new, safe 

cycling and 

walking facilities 

on Queen Anne 

Drive, Merley.

New shared cycling and walking 

route on Magna Road from Merley to 
Knighton Lane, Bearwood.

Watch video about Queen Anne Drive project

Watch the Wimborne Road Poole video

358

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Merley-Poole-to-Christchurch/Gravel-Hill-to-Bear-Cross-Roundabout-Poole.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Poole-town-centre-to-Merley-Poole/Wimborne-Road.aspx
https://youtu.be/eTisfSEFPJ0
https://youtu.be/en7NwLhShC8


Project – Whitelegg Way, Bournemouth

Completed

  New segregated cycle lanes on either side of 

Whitelegg Way.

  Improved bus stop shelters.

  New toucan and raised table crossings.

  Improved walking paths and street lighting.

  Reduced speed limit.

More information on 

Whitelegg Way project

Project – Northbourne and Redhill Roundabouts and Castle Lane West 

Due to start spring 2023

  2.5km of new walking, cycling and bus improvements planned around Northbourne and 

Redhill Roundabouts and Castle Lane West to the Broadway Roundabout.

  Public information event held November 2022.

  Ground investigation work currently underway and expected to last until March 2023.

More information on Northbourne and Redhill Roundabouts and Castle Lane West project

Segregated cycle lane and 

junction improvements on 

Whitelegg Way, Bournemouth.

New cycle and walking lanes 

and bus shelter improvements on 

Whitelegg Way, Bournemouth.

Dorset councillors and Beryl Bike staff 
at the launch of the rental service.

Over 1,200 bikes, 500 

e-scooters and 20 e-bikes 

are now available for hire 

across the whole of south 

east Dorset.

Our TCF support and funding for 

active travel projects

Beryl Bikes  
This summer saw the launch of the Beryl Bike 

rental service in the Dorset area with 122 new 

Beryl Bikes now available to hire at 50+ Beryl 

Bays across Wimborne, Colehill, West Parley, 

West Moors and Ferndown.

359

https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Merley-Poole-to-Christchurch/Whitelegg-Way-Bournemouth.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Merley-Poole-to-Christchurch/Whitelegg-Way-Bournemouth.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/sustainable-travel-network/Merley-Poole-to-Christchurch/Redhill-Roundabout-Broadway-Roundabout.aspx


Stay up-to-date with our regular south east 

Dorset TCF programme communications

Receive our Transforming Travel e-newsletter

Sign up to receive our regular update e-newsletter

Follow us on social media

@TransformingTravel @ttravelinfo

Subscribe to our regularly updated YouTube channel

Transforming Travel – Transforming Cities Fund

Our latest press stories and news releases

All the latest news 

The Transforming Travel Blog

Read our regular Transforming Travel blog posts

Our Transforming Travel website

transformingtravel.info

Email us on

BCP Council TCF team transformingtravel@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Dorset Council TCF team transformingtravel@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

360

https://bcpcouncil.us19.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=a8a5b42a486fe4c6b83f98b58&id=c98d9a6853
https://bcpcouncil.us19.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=a8a5b42a486fe4c6b83f98b58&id=c98d9a6853
https://www.facebook.com/TransformingTravel
https://www.facebook.com/TransformingTravel
https://twitter.com/ttravelinfo
https://twitter.com/ttravelinfo
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC5n-xvnvfSAmJO_JmmGZwnA
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC5n-xvnvfSAmJO_JmmGZwnA
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/have-your-say/Stay-up-to-date-with-the-latest-news.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/have-your-say/Stay-up-to-date-with-the-latest-news.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/Blog/Transforming-Travel-blog.aspx
https://www.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/News/News-Features/Transforming-Travel/Blog/Transforming-Travel-blog.aspx
http://www.transformingtravel.info/
http://www.transformingtravel.info/
mailto:?subject=
mailto:?subject=
mailto:?subject=
mailto:?subject=


 

 

 

 

  

 

Appendix C - Proposed Cycle and
Sustainable Corridors - Including 
Delivery to Date

361



Type Corridor Designation Corridor connection Description

Sustainable Transport

Connectivity Corridors

S5 Poole to Ferndown Connecting Poole town centre and rail station with the key

employment location of Ferndown

S6 North Poole/North

Bournemouth

Enabling improved connections on Castle Lane East and West to

link up with Wessex fields employment are and Bournemouth

Hospital

Cycle Freeways

C1 Lansdowne to

Christchurch

This key east-west route connects an important employment area

in Bournemouth town centre east via Boscombe to Christchurch

via Wessex Fields (another employment area) which includes

Bournemouth Hospital. This route has employment sites at both

ends and passes through densely populated residential areas;

C2 Bournemouth to

Ferndown

Links Bournemouth town centre, the university campuses,

Bournemouth Airport and Aviation Park and the key employment

area at Ferndown Industrial Estate. This route links to employment

sites and passes through densely populated residential areas

C3 Wareham to Poole Connecting local commuter route with Poole town centre, Port of

Poole and nearby employment sites completing the final gaps in

the existing cycle route between the two locations;

C5 Merley to Poole Links significant residential area to key industrial estates, Poole

Town centre and Rail station

362



Proposal Type Description

Wayfinding Create a comprehensive network of information totems and signs to enable people to intuitively follow walking and

cycling routes both along and to the Connectivity and Cycleway Corridors, key employment/education sites and places

of interest/destinations.

HGV Traffic Management

System

HGV traffic management system at Longham Bridge (to avoid HGVs becoming stuck on this key freight route into/out of

the conurbation).

Expansion of Bike share

Scheme

Expansion of bike share scheme into the Christchurch area (note Bournemouth and Poole already have a scheme) and

the introduction of E-bikes across the region.

Trip End improvements The improvement to workplace/education sites ‘end of trip’ facilities in the vicinity of the Connectivity Corridors and

Cycleways to encourage active travel

Bus priority measures This will include bus priority measures at key traffic signal locations to improve journey times.

Smart ticketing via app This app will enable users to purchase a multi-modal trip ticket and access a region-wide journey planner app

Bus infrastructure and public

realm improvements

This scheme is the upgrade or introduction of shelters, Real Time Information (RTI) and accessibility kerbs at locations

that complement the Connectivity Corridors

Safer routes to schools This scheme will aim to improve infrastructure in the vicinity of schools to encourage active travel

363



S6
-5

C2
-6

S6-4

C2
-8

S6-6

C1-1

C1-2

C5
-5

S5
-2

S5-13

S5-20S5
-8

S5-14

S5
-3

S5-18

C2-7

C2
-4

C2-1

S5
-6

C5
-3

C2
-5

C5
-1

C2
-3

S5-9

S6-1 B

S5-4

S6-1 A

S5-1
1

S5-1

S5-21

S5-19

C1-4

C3-2

S5-16

C5
-4

S6-1 C

S5-15

S5-7

S6-7b

C5-2

S6-3

S5-5

S5-17

S5-12

C1-3
S6-7c

C3-3
C2

-2

S6-2 eS6-2 b

C3
-2

C3-2

C1-2

C3-2

C3-5

S5-20

S5
-8

S5-18

S5-14
S5-13B

S5-1
1

S5-21

S5-9

S5-15 / S5-16S5-17 S5-1
0B

File
:

Dr
aw

n B
y:

Da
te 

Mo
dif

ied
:

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown
copyright and database right 2023.

P R O J E C T  T IT L E

F IG U R E  X0 0.7 1.4 2.1 2.80.35
Kilometres

F IG U R E  N o :

T IT L E :

B C P  T C F  P ro g ra m m e

2 3 .0 1 .2 0 2 3

Key
BCP TCF Programme
Section Status

C o m p le te
C o n s tru c tio n  N o t S ta rte d
C o n s tru c tio n  U n d e rw a y
D e s ig n  S ta g e

364



 

 

 

 

  

 

Appendix D- TCF Governance 
Structure

365



TCF GOVERNANCE 
STRUCTURE

IN ACCORDANCE WITH SOBC WITH A FEW 
ADDITIONS 

Proposed Members of 

specific group 

Councils Governance Board – CGB 

Cllr Approval/Portfolio Sign Off 

Link with Assurance Framework Review Board 

 Delegation to CGB from Cabinet for sign off  

TCF Programme Management Board - PMB 

Link with Assurance Framework Review Board 

Complimented by regular PMB Ops communications/updates from 

PMT 

Frequency

All relevant Councillors for 

BCP and DC 

Bi Monthly 

Monthly

BCP Cabinet/DC Cabinet

For information purposes - To take place as per current arrangement

at BCP/DC. 

TCF Programme Management Team - PMT 

As required 

by 

democratic 

services 

Weekly 

(2 hour 

meeting)

Julian McLaughlin (SRO & 

Chair), Cllr Greene, Cllr 

Broadhead, Cllr Bryan, Cllr 
Gibson, Jack Wiltshire 

Gary Powell, Richard 
Pincroft, Marc Griffin, Kate 
Tunks, Bob Askew, Liam 

Creedon, Lisa Stuchberry, 
Paul Whittles, Pete Wake

Marc Griffin, Bob Askew, 
Claire Clark, Chris Smith, 
Annie Tomlinson, Claire 

Corrie, Emma Sadiwskyj-
Frewer, Wayne Sayers, 

Simon Philp, Lynne Wait, 
Eliza Hylands, James Adler, 
Joseph Rose, Laura Russ, 

Sue Fox

Key Stakeholder 

representatives and Delivery 

Partners 

TCF Programme Delivery Team - PDT 

As required 

by Delivery 

Team 

Leads

Links to contacts proposed

for workshop in early April

found here

TCF Programme Steering Group - PSG 
As required 

by PMB 

366

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/sites/Bournemouth&PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/BCP%20projects/Transforming%20Cities%20Fund%20-%20Master%20folder/Governance/TCF%20Initial%20Design%20Workshop%20v4.docx?web=1


Document is Restricted

367



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject  BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Outline Business Case for Chapel 
Lane  

Meeting date  8 February 2023 

Status  Public with confidential appendix  

Executive summary  BCP FuturePlaces Ltd, (“FuturePlaces”) a wholly owned Urban 
Regeneration Company (URC) was set up with the fundamental 
purpose to drive “Place Making”, regeneration, and property market 
transformation both across key sites owned by the Council and the 
wider area to support the aspirations set out in the Council’s Big 
Plan.  

The FuturePlaces business plan approved by Cabinet in June 2022 
lists the key sites the company has been tasked with progressing 
the regeneration of including part of the Chapel Lane Car Park.  

This report sets out the outline business case (OBC) and highlights 
that FuturePlaces’ recommended use for this site is that it is 
retained and developed out by the Council as a build to rent mixed-
use residential scheme comprising ground floor commercial space 
and up to 27 new homes.  

This option meets the Council’s strategic objectives and 
delivers against the Big Plan: Rejuvenate Poole and Act at 
Scale by delivering new homes for local people and providing 
new ground floor commercial space to support the regeneration 
and revival of Poole Town Centre and High Street by securing 
additional flexible contemporary space to support employment.   

Whilst the OBC considers the overall viability of the recommended 
option based on high level assumptions, the FBC will confirm the 
exact design, time, cost, and quality expectations as well as the 
proposed delivery pathway and overall affordability. It is only at 
FBC stage that firm consideration can be given as to whether it is 
still best to progress with the redevelopment proposal and the 
necessary commitment and funding approvals sought from the 
Council. 

It is anticipated that upon completion of the scheme the new homes 
will be let by the Council’s wholly owned company Seascape 
Homes and Property Ltd. 

Cabinet is required to review the options outlined in the OBC and 
consider if the recommended option is the most appropriate and 
affordable in order to approve the progression of the regeneration 

487

Agenda Item 10



of this site in accordance with the recommended use identified and 
progress with the preparation of an FBC. 

 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

a) Approves the Outline Business Case for Chapel Lane 
Car Park North as set out in the confidential appendix A 
to this report endorsing the recommended option 
contained therein; 

b) Agrees to pay FuturePlaces for its development advice 
services and costs associated with the preparation of 
the outline business case totalling £31k, and to include 
the scheme in the Council’s Capital Investment 
Programme; 

c) Agrees to move the project to Full Business Case stage 
and commit costs estimated at £753k;  

d) Agrees to declare the asset surplus to requirements 
and appropriate the land for planning purposes to 
enable development. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

To contribute to the Council’s Corporate vision, specifically helping 
to create dynamic places, investing in the homes our communities 
need, revitalising and re-inventing our high streets and local centres 
in line with the vision set out in the Big Plan. 
 

FuturePlaces was formed to ensure BCP Council has the capacity, 
expertise, and resources to drive investment in regeneration and 
unlock value from major Council owned sites; it will also enable 
BCP Council to ensure that we deliver new homes and create well 
designed, local neighbourhoods.  
 

  

488



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead, Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Economy, and Strategic Planning 

Corporate Director  Graham Farrant, Chief Executive 

Report Authors Sarah Longthorpe, Director of Delivery - Regeneration 

Wards  Poole Town 

Classification  For Decision  
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. BCP Council’s Big Plan sets the ambition for the BCP area to be world class – one 
of the best coastal places in the world in which to live, work, invest and play. The Big 
Plan sets out five key aims that, if achieved, would deliver changes across the whole 
area supporting the creation of over 13,000 jobs across the local economy, the 
growth of businesses and prosperity of local communities.  

2. The Council’s Big Plan sets out the need to ‘act at scale’ by intensifying 
development in town centres and unlocking land on redundant brownfield sites, such 
as Holes Bay.  In theory, the Council is in a strong position to drive investment in 
regeneration.  In practice, it lacks the capacity to deliver at the necessary scale and 
pace to meet the challenges of growth and has insufficient in-house expertise in 
urban development and place making.  

3. FuturePlaces Ltd was created in 2021 with the aim of achieving a step change in the 
scale, pace, and ambition of regeneration across the BCP area. The Council now 
has the potential to deploy the resources and expertise needed to deliver 
regeneration at scale, in a way that was more difficult for its predecessor authorities. 

4. FuturePlaces business plan, approved by Cabinet in June 2022 sets out the 
Stewardship proposition and strategic objectives of the company alongside its 
delivery plan, ways of working, governance, and funding structures. 

5. The business plan listed 16 sites alongside thematic studies and cross cutting 
projects and prioritised 5 delivery projects sites including this site. 

6. The project gateway process is based on HM Treasury Green book guidance and 
requires that Cabinet/Council approve the OBC stage before an FBC is progressed. 
In accordance with the HM treasury green book guidance an OBC comprises 5 
aspects, these are:  

 Strategic Case – demonstrate case for change 

 Economic Case – consider value for money 

 Commercial Case – assess the commercial viability 

 Financial Case – determine affordability 

 Management case - delivery 

489



7. In summary, an OBC brings together feasibility work to validate that a project is 
feasible and worth pursuing to detailed design. Feasibility work includes 
consideration of appraising the site feasibility, constraints, commercial viability, 
planning policy and any other material considerations and planning obligations. The 
OBC purpose is to appraise options and highlight a recommended option that seeks 
to optimise the site and is acceptable in planning terms, whilst also including the 
anticipated outcomes, the funding strategy, and details the balance of costs, 
benefits, and risk foreseeable at that stage.  

8. An OBC outlines the procurement strategy and seeks approval to commence the 
tender process. It is also important to note that approval of the OBC will support the 
necessary works to develop a full business case (FBC). 

9. The purpose of the next stage, the FBC, is to finalise the design and business case. 
It will confirm the final time, cost, and quality expectations of the project as well as 
the proposed delivery pathway and check it is still in line with the OBC expectations. 
It is at this stage that firm consideration can be given as to whether it is still best to 
progress with the redevelopment proposals and further approvals can be sought. 

10. At this stage members are required to consider the regenerative benefits of the 
recommended option alongside the financial commitment required to complete the 
FBC work in order to decide whether to endorse this approach. 

Options Appraisal 

11. The OBC provides a full summary of the options considered including ‘Do nothing’ 
and ‘Do minimum’ options and sets out the reasons for recommending its preferred 
option. 

12. FuturePlaces was set up to promote a long-term stewardship approach to the 
development of the Councils assets and has developed options on that basis. 

13. However, in light of the current financial position of the Council as reported to 
Cabinet on 7 September, FuturePlaces has undertaken additional work to consider 
an option at the OBC stage that considers the short-term capital receipt realisation 
from a disposal at this point in time in order to assist and inform the Council’s budget 
decision making process. 

14. The Council has the option to not approve the proposed OBC. The risks associated 
with not progressing are highlighted in the risk assessment section of the OBC and 
summarised in this report. This option would not stimulate regeneration activity and 
the Council would not realise best value from its asset base. 

15. Members are required to consider and determine if the recommended option is the 
best route for the Council to progress having considered its alignment with the 
Councils strategic objectives and Big Plan and the overall affordability through to 
delivery. 

Chapel Lane Car Park (North) Recommended Option Overview 

16. Chapel Lane car park lies to the west of Poole High Street. There are two car parks 
(North & South) separated by a road.  The OBC identifies a recommended option 
that focuses on a redevelopment of the north part of the car park only, with the 
retention of the south car park for public car parking.  

17. The recommended option is to create a mixed-use development that will also 
enhance North Street as an access route to the high street and Poole Station and 

490



increase the use of the public realm improvements to Hunger Hill. The scheme will 
incorporate a mix of Class E ground floor commercial space with active frontage to 
provide affordable high quality flexible work/sell/maker space and new homes 
above. The scheme could provide a small quantum of c587sqm of commercial 
space and up to 27 new homes. It assumes that both the commercial and residential 
elements are retained in Council ownership and let at market rents. It is envisaged 
that the new homes will be leased to the Council’s wholly owned company 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited and let at market rent via Assured Shorthold 
Tenancies (ASTs). 

18. The recommended option meets the Council’s strategic objectives and delivers 
against the Big Plan: Rejuvenate Poole and Act at Scale by delivering new homes 
for local people and providing new ground floor commercial space to support the 
revival of Poole town centre and High Street by securing additional flexible 
contemporary space to support employment.   

19. It should be noted that at this OBC stage the rental assumptions in the 
recommended option are in line with the current market levels. The need and 
rationale for more commercial space is outlined in the OBC however at this concept 
design stage there is still an element of flexibility, and this space could be 
repurposed for additional residential units if required. This will be further clarified and 
confirmed as part of the FBC.  

20. The recommended option identifies a loss of 42 public car parking spaces and its 
associated income. It is expected that this income would be displaced to nearby 
Council car parks and the OBC highlights the overall regenerative benefits to the 
town centre of developing part of this site in order to support the decision to close 
the northern section of the car park. The benefit-cost ratio (BCR) of the 
recommended option ranges from 1.93 – 2.81. A BCR of above 1 is considered 
acceptable. 

21. It should be noted that in this OBC the best BCR is derived from the Do Nothing and 
Do Minimum options as this site is currently an income generating car park, 
however, this would not deliver against any strategic objectives, nor provide any 
placemaking or regenerative benefits.  

22. The OBC proposes that the south car park is retained and improved in the medium 
term and updated in due course to be a pilot ‘green car park’. This could include: 

 introduction of permeable surface spaces to create a sustainable drainage 
system (SUD) to support town centre ground water management approach;  

 structural planting to enhance setting and encourage pollution mitigation and 
bio- diversity net gain;  

 EV charging points and; 

 enhanced sensitive lighting approach will improve security. 

23. The OBC including a site plan is attached at confidential appendix A. 

Consultation 

24. FuturePlaces has consulted internally with the following councillors on the OBC – 
Cllr Steve Baron, Lead Member for Poole Rejuvenation and with the Poole Town 
Ward councillors, with no objections received to-date.  

491



25. FuturePlaces held an all members briefing on 6 September 2022 and consulted on 
the OBC. 

26. FuturePlaces will consult with housing development colleagues on the strategic 
housing need across BCP and the potential mix and build to rent tenure of this 
scheme and will continue to engage as this is firmed up at FBC stage to ensure it 
continues to align with the Council’s strategic housing objectives. 

27. Officers have consulted internally with members of the Corporate Property Group on 
14 September 2022 on the requirement to declare the site surplus to requirements 
to enable this redevelopment.  

28. Currently there is no documented process to declare BCP Council assets surplus to 
service requirements, although a piece of work is underway with the Estates and 
Legal teams to progress. 

29. A previous Capital Strategy and Corporate Asset Management Plan from the legacy 
Bournemouth Borough Council included a process for “The Identification of Under-
Used Property Assets and Procedures for their Re-Use or Disposal”.  Under this 
process, a property is considered under-used if the return from the site (either in 
terms of its contribution towards Council objectives or financially) is significantly 
below that which could be achieved from:  

a. an alternative use  

b. disposing of the site and investing the income, or  

c. intensifying the existing use. 
  

30. The Corporate Property Group concluded that the disposal of part of the Chapel 
Lane Car park would support the delivery of new homes and the Big Plan 
regeneration objectives of the Council and endorsed this proposal. 

Summary of financial implications 

FuturePlaces – General 

 

31. The approach to funding the company approved by Cabinet on 22 June 2022 means 
that FuturePlaces is funded in the first instance by a loan. The Council approved a 
£8m working capital loan facility to FuturePlaces in order that the company may 
manage its cashflow, particularly prior to a scheme being including in the Council’s 
Capital Investment Programme (CIP) and thereby enabling FuturePlaces to invoice 
for work undertaken to date. 

32. The initial risk of incurring expenditure on the OBC resides with FuturePlaces. 
FuturePlaces must assure itself that it is able to provide expert advice that results in 
the presentation of a viable and deliverable business case to the Council, that will be 
approved by Members and thereby triggering payment of the development advice.   

33. Each scheme’s supporting business case must consider the options available and 
outline its recommended option, setting out the anticipated outcome, the funding 
strategy, and details of any pertinent risks. The OBC stage will likely include high 
level estimates and assumptions but the necessary due diligence and evidence to 
provide robust data must be completed as part of the Full Business Case (FBC).  

34. Payment shall only be made for development advice once a scheme has been 
approved and included in the Council’s CIP. Payment will cover costs incurred to 

492



date by FuturePlaces including external costs, staff costs and a contribution to 
overheads in accordance with the mechanism outlined in the company business 
plan approved by Cabinet on 22 June 2022.  

35. The commissioning team has verified that the third-party services have been 
procured in accordance with the Council financial regulations including PCR 2015 
and that the costs relate to these projects and the nature of the services and advice 
sought is appropriate and necessary to inform the OBC. 

36. The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) does not contain any revenue 
budgets to fund advice from FuturePlaces as all costs are expected to be 
capitalizable. Should FuturePlaces require payment outside of the current funding 
method, a budget shall need to be explicitly requested, and approved, for inclusion 
in the Council’s MTFP. 

37. Should costs incurred by the Council for capital schemes which subsequently do not 
complete as intended, the costs would need to be written off to the Council’s 
revenue account. No provision has been made in the Council’s MTFP for such an 
event and therefore any write off would create a financial pressure in the year it 
occurred. 

38. The costs associated with the preparation of each OBC and the ongoing financial 
commitments and risks developing the FBC regarding the Council are outlined 
below.  

Chapel Lane  
 

39. The scheme has been assessed based on the high-level data included in the 
FuturePlaces OBC. Greater detail, following further due diligence, will be made 
available at FBC. 

40. Alternative options and outcomes are considered in the OBC but have been 
discounted. These include: 

a) Do nothing: whilst ensuring car parking income is retained, it is assumed this will 
be displaced to other town centre car parks. Furthermore, wider regenerative 
benefits are not achieved. 

b) Disposal: a quicker return is likely (c£0.4m) but control of the timing and outcome 
would be lost. 

41. The recommended option in the FuturePlaces Chapel Lane business case 
indicatively requires the Council to borrow £7.6m in total over 50 years using 
prudential borrowing.  

42. The intention is to retain the predominately residential site and to earn rental income 
from the housing and commercial units. The OBC makes broad assumptions on the 
residential and commercial income rates and includes allowances for voids, which 
are in line with current market expectations. 

43. All assumptions will be firmed up at the FBC stage with any challenges they currently 
present addressed (policy, financial, planning, design, delivery). 

44. Financial challenges specific to this scheme include managing increasing 
construction costs, changes to borrowing costs particularly interest rates, and the 
wider economic effect on rental income that can be achieved. The current modelling 
indicates a viability gap of c£100k per annum between the annual cost of operations 
and servicing debt, compared to the income it is forecast to generate. 

493



45. Consequently, Members need to assure themselves that these challenges can be 
overcome and are not insurmountable before agreeing to commit further sums. 

46. Accepting the project risks and cost of progressing a FBC, the Council will, upon 
consideration of the FBC need to satisfy themselves that any borrowing is in 
accordance with the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, and 
predominately the requirement to demonstrate that is affordable. 

47. FuturePlaces development advice costs to date regarding the OBC total £31k with a 
further £753k forecast to complete the FBC. Should Council approve the 
recommendations in this report £31k would become payable to FuturePlaces 
immediately. 

48. If the FBC does not demonstrate a viable scheme which the Council can progress, 
and it is therefore aborted, then any costs incurred to date would need to be written 
off to the Council’s revenue account, potentially £784k in this case.  

Summary of legal implications 

49. Cabinet is requested to recommend the approval of the OBC in relation to the Chapel 
Lane Car Park site and authorise FuturePlaces to progress to FBC. Cabinet is also 
asked to declare this asset surplus and appropriate the land for planning purposes to 
enable redevelopment and to agree to pay FuturePlaces its costs associated with 
this proposal. 

50. Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council a general power to 
appropriate Council-owned land that is no longer required for the purpose for which 
is it held for any purchase for which the Council has a statutory power to acquire 
land. Section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 authorises the Council 
to acquire land for planning purposes where the Council believes the acquisition will 
facilitate the development or improvement of the land and achieve or promote the 
economic, social, or environmental well-being of any part of its area.   

51. Section 233 of the TCPA further permits the appropriation of land for planning 
purposes where that land is to be sold or leased to a 3rd party to secure the best use 
of the land and any buildings or works upon it or to secure such development of the 
land as is needed for proper planning purposes.  That section also requires the 
Council to obtain the best consideration reasonably obtainable for the land.  

52. In reaching a decision, Cabinet members should consider whether the expenditure 
associated with this next phase is prudent having regard to the Council’s general 
fiduciary duties. It must also reach a decision by reference to all relevant 
considerations, disregarding irrelevant ones and be satisfied that the course of action 
is a rational course of action for the Council. The OBC sets out the detailed rationale 
for this proposal as well as the forecast costs and potential benefits of moving the 
proposal onto the next phase.  

53. Consideration should also be given to any risks associated with this proposal and 
again these are outlined in the OBC and should be addressed in detail in the full 
business case in the event that approval is given to progress to this stage.  

54. Legal advice in relation to any procurement issues arising in progressing the 
development of a full business case should be sought at the relevant time.  

494



Summary of human resources implications 

55. FuturePlaces has its own employment terms and conditions and payroll 
arrangements.  Therefore, there are no human resources implications for the 
Council. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

56. As a Council owned company, FuturePlaces will be required to provide its 
operational response to the Council’s climate change emergency declaration.    

57. FuturePlaces will contribute to the Council’s Climate Emergency action plan by 
ensuring new development is resource efficient, adopts low carbon technology and 
leads to sustainable communities which are resilient to climate change and 
contribute to Biodiversity Net Gain either on site or through natural capital and 
landscape strategies.  

58. FuturePlaces will be tasked, through the Commissioning Contract, with pursuing a 
low carbon approach to development: minimising the carbon impact of new 
developments, ensuring walkable neighbourhoods, and providing good access to 
public transport services.    

59. FuturePlaces will play a key role in ensuring that opportunities are taken to reduce 
our city region’s carbon footprint by providing sustainable transport choices and 
delivering low carbon, energy efficient buildings. They will aim to lead by example 
developing cleaner supply chains building local capacity to take forward the carbon 
reduction agenda. Cleaner supply chains and building the capacity to deliver carbon 
reduction locally.  

60. Within the constraints of commercial viability and value for money, FuturePlaces will 
aim to deliver the best possible standards of low-carbon, energy efficient buildings 
taking account of the established BREEAM classifications. FuturePlaces is 
recommending the retention and redevelopment of both civic centre buildings, rather 
than demolition, in recognition of the significant level of embedded energy in the 
buildings. 

Summary of Levelling Up Goals and Support  

61. This scheme will support the government’s Levelling Up agenda (Levelling Up the 
United Kingdom: Executive Summary), in particular it supports the Levelling Up 
‘Medium Term Mission’ to restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, 
especially in those places where they have been lost: 

 Pride in Place: By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with 
their town centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have 
risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between top performing and other 
areas closing.   

 Housing: By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the 
number of first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s 
ambition is for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 
50%, with the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas. 

 Crime: By 2030, homicide, serious violence and neighbourhood crime will 
have fallen, focused on the worst affected areas. 

62. In addition, the Council has adopted the following ‘Levelling Up’ Goals with its three 
priority goals being 8 - Good health and well-being, 12 – Building homes and 

495

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1095544/Executive_Summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1095544/Executive_Summary.pdf


sustainable communities & 14 - Achieve equality through diversity & inclusion, all of 
which will be supported by accelerating regeneration. 

  Summary of public health implications 

63. By accelerating regeneration and investment there will be a better prospect of 
sustaining jobs and prosperity across the BCP area, improving housing and high-
quality open spaces, with well designed, walkable, inclusive neighbourhoods that 
help promote health and well-being.  

64. FuturePlaces will aim to produce developments that place a premium on quality-of-
life considerations including safe, walkable neighbourhoods with good local 
amenities and access to quality green and open space.  

Summary of equality implications 

65. As a company wholly owned, by the Council operating under the Teckal exemption 
FuturePlaces will be bound by the same obligations in relation to equalities as the 
Council itself and full Equalities Impact Assessments will be undertaken as 
developments are progressed.   

66. At this OBC stage an EIA conversation/screening document has been completed for 
this site and reviewed by the EIA panel.  The panel found the assessment 
proportionate and good to proceed subject to minor changes or mitigating actions as 
part of the development of the full business case.  A copy is attached at appendix B. 

67. It concludes that the proposal will benefit the location in terms of regeneration and 
will support BCP FuturePlaces stewardship approach ensuring the delivery of 
housing and the creation of sustainable, well-designed, and inclusive local 
neighbourhoods. 

Summary of risk assessment 

68. The recommended option would require the Council to take on all the associated 
design, planning, construction, and rental risks. The key risks associated with the 
proposal are summarised below:  

a. Design & Planning stage through consideration of title and legal due 

diligence and third-party access rights. 

 
b. Planning risks through failure to achieve consent for proposed projects.  

 
c. Construction Risk through procuring and managing assumptions against 

industry inflation. 

 
d. Market risks through a downturn in the property market affecting local 

property rental values. 

 
e. Reputational risks through FuturePlaces creating difficulties for the Council 

e.g., developing a position contrary to planning policy.  
 

69. These risks will be updated and reviewed as part of the FBC risk assessment 
with mitigating actions identified. 

 

496



Background papers 

Appendices   

Appendix A – Confidential - Chapel Lane Car Park North OBC  
Appendix B – EIA Screening Tool 
 
 

497



This page is intentionally left blank

498



Document is Restricted

499

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

557

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

559

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – EIA Screening tool 
 

EIA Assessment: Conversation Screening Tool - Chapel Lane North  

 What is being reviewed?   

An Outline Business Case (OBC) setting out 
recommendations for the future use of Chapel Lane 
(south) car park in Poole Town Centre.  
  
The OBC has been prepared by the Council’s wholly 
owned Urban Regeneration Company - BCP FuturePlaces 
Limited.  

What changes are being 
made?   

Chapel Lane car park lies to the west of Poole High 
Street. There are two car parks – north and south - 
separated by the road and linked to the high street via a 
pedestrianised section of Chapel Lane.   
  
The OBC proposes a mixed-use development on the north 
car park to enhance North Street and provide an access 
route to both the High Street and Poole station.  
  
The scheme will consist of a mix of class E space at 
ground floor with active frontages which will create 
affordable high quality flexible works/sell/maker space in 
the vicinity of the High Street and transport connections.  
  
Upper parts, facing Hunger Hill, will provide town centre 
rental homes for local people.  A building to the rear will 
include additional class E workspace on the upper levels.  

Service Unit:   Regeneration Delivery  

Participants in the 
conversation:   

Corporate Management Board  
Corporate Property Group   
Sarah Longthorpe - Director of Delivery Regeneration,   
Gail Mayhew, Managing Director, BCP FuturePlaces  
Craig Beevers, COO BCP FuturePlaces  
Andrew Burrell, Director of Development and Design BCP 
FuturePlaces,   
Rob Dunford, Corporate, Business Case and Commercial 
Manager, Steve Cox Programme Manager BCP Future 
Places.   

Conversation date/s:   

July 2021 – August 2022.  
This project is one of the 14 initially allocated to BCP 
FuturePlaces in summer 2021.   
The proposals have been discussed at several BCP 
FuturePlaces Company Board meetings and at the 
Council’s Big Plan Delivery Board.  The project has also 
featured in several Cabinet Reports and as part of the 
company’s annual Business Plan.   

Do you know your current or 
potential client base? Who are 
the key stakeholders?   

BCP Council  
BCP FuturePlaces  
Residents and visitors  

581



Do different groups have 
different needs or 
experiences?   

BCP FuturePlaces Limited is committed to a stewardship 
approach to the delivery of regeneration and the creation 
of well-designed sustainable and inclusive local 
neighbourhoods.  
The stewardship approach adopted by FuturePlaces 
supports the 6 domains identified as part of the 
measurement framework for Equality and Human Rights 
(measurement-framework-interactive.pdf 
(equalityhumanrights.com), in particular:  
  
Living standards – To enjoy an adequate standard of 

living, with independence and security, and be cared for 
and supported when necessary  
  
Health – To be healthy, physically and mentally, being 
free in matters of sexual relationships and reproduction, 
having autonomy over care and treatment, and being 
cared for in the final stages of your life  
  
Justice and personal security – To avoid premature 

mortality, live in security, and know you will be protected 
and treated fairly by the law  
  
Participation – To participate in decision making and in 

communities, to access services, to know that your 
privacy will be respected, and to be able to express 
yourself.  

Will this change affect any 
service users?   

The proposals will impact users positively in terms of 
employment and housing availability.  
However, the redevelopment of the south car park will see 
a reduction in the number of car parking spaces.  

What are the benefits or 
positive impacts of the change 
on current or potential users?   

Development of the site will make a strong contribution to 
the rejuvenation of Poole, bringing new commercial 
activity and housing to better connect the recently 
improved public realm at Hunger Hill through to Poole 
High Street.  
  
Delivery of housing and commercial property will 
contribute positively to the ambition to create 13,000 new 
jobs, 15,000 new homes and towards securing £3bn 
investment into BCP.   
  
BCP Housing Strategy 2021-26 requires 2,637 new 
homes per annum to meet Government targets. 
Affordability ratios (median house price to median 
residence-based earnings) in BCP continue to be 
problematic. Current ratio is 11.3 compared to 9.8 in the 
Southwest and 8.92 in England and Wales. BCP is ranked 
70th least affordable council area (out of 329).   

582

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/measurement-framework-interactive.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/measurement-framework-interactive.pdf


Increasing supply will help to reduce ratio and the 
proposed retention of the flats for private rental will retain 
the homes for local people.   
  
The project will also help to support the Heritage Action 
Zone objectives through creating high quality affordable 
residential and business space in the vicinity of the High 
Street.  
  
Significant quantities of office space in Poole have been 
lost through Permitted Development Rights (PDR) and 
there is a significant lack of space for start-ups and 
entrepreneurial businesses.   

What are the negative impacts 
of the change on current or 
potential users?   

There are no negative impacts in terms of the overall 
development proposals.  
  
However, the car parks are popular with shoppers due to 
easy, level accessibility to Poole High Street and the 
Outline Business Case proposes the retention of the 
Chapel Lane (south) car Park.  There is ample alternative 
town centre car parking within very close proximity at the 
Dolphin Centre and Hill Street.   

Will the change affect 
employees?   

No.   

Will the change affect the 
wider community?   

The site is to the south of a busy road interchange where 
the A350 meets West Quay Road and the B3068 at 
Hunger Hill. The car parks are highly visible from this 
approach to the town centre.  The setting has recently 
been enhanced by the Hunger Hill £9.6M public realm 
scheme which transformed excess street space into a 
landscaped park.  It is a short walk south from Poole 
railway station and a similar distance southwest from the 
Dolphin shopping centre. Poole Quay is around half a mile 
to the south.  
  
The north car park represents a significant opportunity to 
create a better connection with the High Street along 
North Street to ‘re-stitch’ the urban fabric consolidating 
development within the vicinity of the High Street and 
bringing additional activity and residences to support 
overall regeneration.  Equally, the scheme will create a 
new visible gateway to Poole Old Town and the High 
Street.  
  
The Brewhouse and Kitchen pub sits adjacent to the north 
car park but is cut off from neighbouring commercial 
properties and the high street by the car park.  
  
The change will affect the community positively by 
continuing to regenerate the town centre and contributing 
to housing targets for the area.  The type and tenure of the 

583



housing will meet or exceed planning requirements and 
public consultation will be undertaken as part of the Full 
Business Case development.  
  
The proposals will provide good accessibility to green 
spaces to improve physical and mental health and 
wellbeing.  
  
Chapel Lane benefits from direct access to new public 
open space to encourage people to engage with the 
natural environment, encouraging informal interaction 
and improving community cohesion.  
  
Safe links to the new open space will encourage children 
to play outside and interact informally with other children 

to improve self-esteem and build resilience.  
  
The new housing development will be designed to have 
higher accessibility standards, be adaptable to residents 
as they get older and their needs change, due to age 
and/or reduced mobility.   
  
New active frontage will create a much-improved sense of 
place and enhance the safety and accessibility for 
pedestrians whilst visually linking the Brewhouse and 

Kitchen with the other properties on North Street; 
increasing opportunities for the community to interact, 
reducing loneliness and improving wellbeing.  
  
The site also has the potential to spearhead significant 
improvement to pedestrian and cycling access to Poole 
railway station via Vanguard Road, which is currently 
poorly signposted, feels unsafe and is underused.   

What mitigating actions are 
planned or already in place for 
those negatively affected by 
this change?   

The reduction in the number of car parking spaces will be 
offset by encouraging greater use of suitable nearby 
alternative car parks which are programmed to undergo 
upgrading works in 2022/23. It could also help to 
encourage modal shift to bus, cycling or walking, in line 
with the Big Plan “Transforming Travel” ambition to create 
a sustainable travel network and “a town to walk in”.  
  
As part of the Full Business Case development, work will 
be undertaken to review the current car parking provision 
across both north and south car parks along with 
consultation with transport colleagues to ensure that 
current users are not disadvantaged.  
  

Summary of Equality 
Implications:   
   
   

The proposals will benefit Poole Town Centre in terms of 
regeneration, creating a sustainable, well-designed and 
inclusive local neighbourhood and much improved sense 
of place.  

584



     
BCP FuturePlaces stewardship approach will include 
active frontage to encourage activity and vibrancy along 
with office space and residential accommodation which 
will create new job opportunities and contribute to BCPs 
housing targets.  
  
The potential negative impacts in determining the 
proposed use will be further considered and addressed as 
part of the Full Business Case development.  

  
  

585



 

586



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: Reforms to National 
Planning Policy and Implications for the emerging 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan 

Meeting date  8 February 2023 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Government is currently consulting on changes to national planning 
policy to incentivise the preparation of local plans as the means to 
deliver more homes to meet its national targets. Government is 
aware that local plans delayed by contentious issues such as 
housing targets and allocations within the Green Belt are delaying 
plan making and resulting in less homes being built. 

The implications for the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Local Plan are significant. The proposals strengthen the 
Council’s position in demonstrating that the government’s standard 
methodology figure of 2,800 homes per year is not achievable. The 
proposed changes to national policy suggest that a lower housing 
target can be found sound at examination, where local constraints 
and circumstances are considered. This allows the Council to 
prepare a draft plan without having to release Green Belt for 
housing development or plan for densities out of character with the 
current built environment. 

In accordance with the Local Development Scheme the intention 
remains to publish a draft local plan in Autumn 2023, test it through 
examination and adopt it in late 2024. 

There is new emphasis too on place making and protecting the 
character of places. An up-to-date local plan will provide greater 
protections to residential areas at risk from speculative high density 
flatted development as the Council will not be required to 
demonstrate a five-year land supply.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 Cabinet supports the consultation response set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report and delegates authority to the 
Director of Planning to submit it to government subject to 
minor changes. 

Reason for It is important the Council responds to the consultation. The 
constitution through the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, 

587

Agenda Item 11



recommendations delegates to each Chief Officer authority "To determine whether 
and how to respond on behalf of the Council to any local, county, 
sub-regional, regional or national consultation on matters affecting 
the Council subject to prior consultation with an Executive Member 
where it relates to an Executive function”.  

The Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Development, Growth and Regeneration requested this 
consultation response be a matter for Cabinet approval.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead - Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holder for Development, Growth and Regeneration  

Corporate Director  Jess Gibbons, Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors Steve Dring, Interim Planning Policy Manager 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision  
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan is being produced to set a 
new overarching and cohesive development strategy for the area. It will set out 
how much, where and what type of development will take place across the area, 
giving the Council control over development decisions. The Local Plan will be 
critical in helping to deliver the Council’s Big Plan and will help raise the quality of 
development. In July 2022 Cabinet agreed the timetable for Local Plan 
preparation. Work is on target to meet this timetable and publish a draft of the 
local plan in Autumn 2023. 

2. On 22 December 2022 the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DHLUC) launched a consultation on its latest Planning Policy 
Reforms, which runs to 2 March 2023. The consultation seeks views on 
government’s proposed approach to: 

i. updating the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); 

ii. preparation of National Development Management Policies;  

iii. developing policy to support levelling up; and 

iv. how national planning policy is currently accessed by users. 

3. There are 58 questions in the consultation. The proposed BCP Council response 
is at Appendix 1. Officers recommend Cabinet supports most of the proposed 
changes, with some clarification sought on various technical aspects.  

4. The government is clear that it intends to make the proposed changes to the 
NPPF in Spring 2023, almost immediately after the consultation ends, so there is 
a strong likelihood many of the current proposed changes will go ahead 
unaltered. Some of the other proposals such as the national set of development 

588



management policies will take longer to materialise through changes to planning 
legislation in the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill that is currently being 
considered by Parliament.  

5. The proposed changes to the NPPF are aimed at encouraging local authorities to 
prepare a local plan. Government analysis has showed an up-to-date local plan 
coincides with higher housing delivery, and that too many local authorities are 
underdelivering housing due to difficulties in preparing local plans. Government 
therefore have proposed a series of changes to smooth the way to prepare and 
submit plans for examination under the current planning system by June 2025. 
Even the examination process will be less rigorous.  

6. The proposed changes also place a greater emphasis on the quality of 
development giving local authorities more power to refuse development. There 
are new rewards in the housing delivery test for local authorities that grant many 
permissions, such as BCP Council, but where the market has failed to deliver. 
There are also penalties for developers who do not have a good track record of 
building out planning permissions. For example, on 1 April 2021 there were 6,991 
homes (net) with planning permission but not yet built in the BCP Council area. 
Of these 1,658 homes were under construction. However, by 1 April 2022 only 
696 homes were completed against a combined current local plan target of 1,689 
homes for 2021/22. There was a similar position in the previous year. Whilst the 
Council continues to grant permissions, delivery from the private sector lags 
behind. The role of BCP Future Places will be important in improving delivery of 
homes on some major sites over the next few years.  

7. The consultation also proposes that local authorities will no longer have to 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites provided there is an 
up-to-date local plan (less than 5 years old). This is an important change as it will 
give the public greater confidence that new development will be plan led and 
remove the speculative nature of development proposals seen in recent times. 
More support is also proposed to communities preparing neighbourhood plans so 
that these plans will provide greater protections from speculative development for 
longer.  

8. With such a strong emphasis on plan making, the proposals have some 
significant positive implications for the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Local Plan.  

Implications for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan  

9. The amended NPPF will come into place in Spring 2023, and this will not cause 
delay to the timetable for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan. 
The next stage in the Local Plan process is to publish the publication version 
(draft plan) in Autumn 2023. Following this we plan to submit the local plan for 
examination throughout 2024 and adopt the plan at the end of 2024.  

10. There are three proposed changes that provide officers greater confidence to 
prepare, publish and submit the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local 
Plan for examination. Firstly, is greater clarification that the standard methodology 
for identifying housing need is only the starting point for setting a housing target, 
and more detail will be provided as to the circumstance where a locally derived 
housing target will be accepted. Secondly, the government proposes that local 
authorities do not have to review Green Belt boundaries to release land to meet 
housing or other development need. Thirdly, it will no longer be necessary to plan 

589



to meet housing needs by building at densities which would be significantly out-
of-character with the existing area. 

11. As set out in the response to Question 7 of the consultation, the standard 
methodology which is used to calculate housing needs sets a figure of 2,800 
homes per annum for the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area. This is 
extremely challenging to meet given the land available. Officers also remain 
concerned that the methodology used to calculate the figure for our area is based 
on historic data when abnormally high international migration levels were 
apparent in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area. The Office of 
National Statistics (ONS) have subsequently amended predictions related to 
migration data, but this is not reflected in the standard method calculation.   

12. Whilst waiting for the government announcements the Planning Policy Team 
spent the autumn reviewing available sites and preparing three development 
options to address the areas housing needs. These options are: 

 Option 1 Urban intensification  

 Option 2 Urban intensification with some settlement extensions  

 Option 3 Urban intensification with extensive settlement extensions  

13. Through the internal governance arrangements, the Local Plan Advisory Group 
and the Local Plan Delivery Board have provided a clear direction of travel for 
officers preparing the draft local plan. In light of these government proposals both 
groups have advised officers to focus the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
Local Plan on Option 1 and not consider the release of Green Belt to meet 
housing needs. 

14. With an urban focus and protection of the Green Belt, the challenge for the local 
plan will be to set policy that protects existing family homes within the urban area 
and provides new family homes or family friendly apartments. The government 
consultation provides greater emphasis on placemaking and protecting the 
existing character of the urban area. This will provide the Council with greater 
flexibility to protect streets of family houses with a strong character, and to focus 
higher density flats in potential areas of change where the urban form has a less 
strong character.  

15. Officers will continue to prepare the plan to timetable. This will include continuing 
with some informal public engagement during 2023 to ensure the draft plan has 
community support.  

Options Appraisal 

16. There are no options to discuss, this is a consultation response.  

Summary of financial implications 

17. There are no financial implications. 

Summary of legal implications 

18. There are no legal implications. 

Summary of human resources implications 

19. There are no human resource implications. 

590



Summary of sustainability impact 

20. There is no sustainability impact of this consultation response. The Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Local Plan will be assessed for its sustainability impact 
when it comes before Cabinet.  

Summary of public health implications 

21. There are no public health implications. 

Summary of equality implications 

22. There are no equality implications. 

Summary of risk assessment 

23. There are no risks associated with a consultation response. 

Background papers 

The government consultation paper that the consultation response is based upon is at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-
to-national-planning-policy/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-

planning-policy   

Appendices   

Appendix 1: BCP Council Consultation Response 

 

591

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-planning-policy


This page is intentionally left blank

592



Appendix 1: BCP Council Consultation Response 

Q Question and BCP Council response 

1 Do you agree that local planning authorities should not have to continually 

demonstrate a deliverable 5-year housing land supply (5YHLS) as long as the 

housing requirement set out in its strategic policies is less than 5 years old? 

Yes, agree. A local plan takes a considerable amount of time and effort and should 

not be considered out of date within its first 5 years as an out-of-date local plan soon 

after adoption undermines the public support achieved in agreeing the draft plan and 

confidence in a plan led system. The removal of the need to demonstrate a 5 year 

land supply will encourage local authorities to be pro-active in producing a local plan 

and reviewing the local plan within 5 years to ensure it remains in date.  

2 Do you agree that buffers should not be required as part of 5YHLS calculations 

(this includes the 20% buffer as applied by the Housing Delivery Test)? 

Yes, agree, the buffers should no longer be required. The highest 20% buffer in 

effect requires a local authority to demonstrate a 6-year land supply. Local 

authorities are penalised for the under delivery of the private sector housebuilders 

that is beyond the Council’s control. On 1 April 2021 there were 6,991 homes (net) 

with planning permission but not yet built in the BCP Council area. Of these 1,658 

homes were under construction. However, by 1 April 2022 only 696 homes were 

completed against a combined strategic local plan target of 1,689 homes for 

2021/22. The implication of this under delivery requires the Council to add a 20% 

buffer to its supply of sites, yet the supply of planning permissions is an already very 

healthy 6,991 homes compared to the annual target of 1,689 homes per annum. 

3 Should an oversupply of homes early in a plan period be taken into 

consideration when calculating a 5YHLS later on or is there an alternative 

approach that is preferable? 

Yes, agree. It is unfair where a local authority that achieves more homes than set by 

the local plan in early years is subsequently penalised for lower delivery later in the 

plan period. The early delivery of homes within the plan period should be 

incentivised. Alternatives could include; (i) remove the need for a local authority to 

demonstrate a 5 year land supply from a point 5 years after adoption if the local plan 

housing target has been met in years 1-5; or (ii) for the oversupply in years 1-5 to be 

top sliced from the annual local plan housing target thereafter, ensuring the lower 

revised housing target resembles the overall cumulative housing growth planned and 

agreed.    

4 What should any planning guidance dealing with oversupply and undersupply 

say? 

No comment 

593



Q Question and BCP Council response 

5 Do you have any views about the potential changes to paragraph 14 of the 

existing Framework and increasing the protection given to neighbourhood 

plans? 

We support these potential changes as they will provide greater confidence to 

communities that the hard work that went into preparing a neighbourhood plan will 

ensure that the area remains protected from speculative growth for 5 years rather 

than 2 years post adoption.  

6 Do you agree that the opening chapters of the Framework should be revised to 

be clearer about the importance of planning for the homes and other 

development our communities need? 

Yes, agree with the suggested textural changes to the opening chapters of the 

NPPF. 

7 What are your views on the implications these changes may have on plan-

making and housing supply? 

We fully support the proposed changes to plan making. These changes would free 

us up to swiftly prepare a local plan and deliver a suite of new sites. These sites are 

currently held up due to an unrealistic housing target set by the flawed standard 

method.  

The current standard methodology is outdated as it is based on past household 

projections from 2014 that were higher than subsequent household projections in 

2016 and 2018. To continue to base housing need on the 2014 projections 

perpetuates a lack of trust from local communities, which proves difficult for local 

authorities to gain the support it needs to agree a draft local plan.  

To make matters worse in the BCP area, an unusually higher than normal in-

migration from 2009-2014, is transposed into the 2014 projections and led to the 

doubling of the housing need in the Bournemouth area. This is because international 

migration was significantly higher during this period from migrants moving to the UK 

from countries in the expanded EU including Poland.  This short-term increase in 

international migration perpetuated a high level of population growth in the 

population projections and related 2014 household projections. Subsequently, ONS 

revised their methodology as they recognised that the original methodology 

overestimated the numbers moving to the UK and underestimated numbers leaving 

the UK and this was reflected in the 2018 household projections. ONS recognised 

that Bournemouth in particular was an area that saw one of the largest population 

revisions downwards as a result of their corrections to their population estimate 

methodology. ONS suggested that areas that saw this revision downwards tended to 

have large student populations as is the case here.  

This ONS overestimation of migration and has severely hampered the previous 

Bournemouth Borough Council and now BCP Council from preparing a local plan as 

the standard methodology is exaggerated and flawed.  

594



Q Question and BCP Council response 

Current local plans set a cumulative target of 1,689 homes per annum in the BCP 

Council area. The Standard Method target is 2,800 homes per annum. Historic 

completions are 1,263 homes over the 16 year period since 2006/07. The 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan is expected to increase delivery 

from a starting point of 1,263 homes per year to 2,800 homes per year, (note only 

696 homes were built in 2021/22). 

The BCP Council area has sea on one side, and Green Belt surrounding the 

landward side, both fluvial and coastal flooding and several designated sites such as 

the Dorset Heathlands. These constraints restrict development opportunities. 

The standard method therefore sets a target that is unachievable, yet the current 

planning system is set up to ensure the Council must increase density and release 

Green Belt to attempt to meet the flawed standard methodology figure. This is 

unrealistic and has caused delay to plan making. Allowing the local authority to 

determine a realistic housing target that respects local constraints will allow us to 

swiftly prepare a local plan. This local plan will include a suite of new urban 

allocations that are unnecessarily held up in the quest to meet unachievable targets 

and the high risk of submitting a plan that would fail at examination.  

8 Do you agree that policy and guidance should be clearer on what may 

constitute an exceptional circumstance for the use of an alternative approach 

for assessing local housing needs? Are there other issues we should consider 

alongside those set out above? 

Yes, guidance is needed as there is none at present. We have undertaken our own 

needs assessment that has used the 2014 ONS household projections. Our locally 

derived needs assessment prepared by Iceni Projects indicates a need of 1,600 

homes per year. This is significantly different from the standard method figure of 

2,800 homes per year that is the starting point for plan making in the BCP area. Iceni 

adjusted migration figures to cover a longer, more representative period of time, and 

thereby correct the abnormally high international migration numbers used for the 

2014 ONS household projections (discussed in answer to Q7). 

Currently we know that submitting a plan using our own derived housing target is 

highly risky. We need agreement that a locally derived figure is acceptable in 

principle before submitting a local plan for examination, to avoid lengthy abortive 

work. Without this guidance we fear the plan failing on day 1 of an examination. This 

is delaying plan making. Therefore, guidance would give authorities like ourselves 

confidence that we can meet the tests and reduce the risk in submitting the plan for 

examination. 

9 Do you agree that national policy should make clear that Green Belt does not 

need to be reviewed or altered when making plans, that building at densities 

significantly out of character with an existing area may be considered in 

assessing whether housing need can be met, and that past over-supply may 

be taken into account? 

595



Q Question and BCP Council response 

Yes agree, the Green Belt is such an emotive issue that it inevitably leads to delays 

in plan making over what may be a very small proportion of the overall number of 

homes and other development set out in a local plan. These delays cause other 

suitable sites to be held up and not built as they need allocation through a local plan. 

To speed up plan making the choice should come down to the local authority. We 

need to produce a Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan swiftly to bring 

3 legacy local plans together to simplify policy from over 300 policies to around 50 

policies and to allocate new sites. However, the issue of the flawed standard method 

(see above) and whether Green Belt is released to meet the housing need is causing 

significant delay. This proposal will enable us to submit a local plan for examination 

by the end of the year and unlock development opportunities across the BCP area.  

Yes agree, as densification is also an emotive issue and these proposals would allow 

more freedom for us to explore family housing options within the urban area that 

create well designed places and are acceptable to local residents rather than having 

to focus on a larger number of 1-2 bed flats to satisfy the numbers game.  

Yes agree, past oversupply should be taken into account to ensure local authorities 

and not unfairly penalised for a past proactive approach to delivery.  

10 Do you have views on what evidence local planning authorities should be 

expected to provide when making the case that need could only be met by 

building at densities significantly out of character with the existing area? 

This will come down to several pieces of evidence; (i) the housing mix needed for an 

area (the proportion of family housing to other forms of housing); (ii) an urban 

character assessment and / or design code that defines the character of an area; 

and (iii) the site’s suitability/sustainability for walking, cycling and public transport. 

Taken in combination this evidence should provide a story of how the local authority 

is planning to meet housing needs that is proportionate to the character of the area.  

We are preparing a townscape character appraisal to support our emerging 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan. This will define streets that are 

potential areas of change where character can be changed as and streets where a 

strong character should be protected. We will seek to demonstrate how the areas of 

change can deliver family housing that would otherwise require release of Green Belt 

to deliver. We can also protect family homes in areas of strong character. These 

policies will give us greater flexibility to require family housing (including family 

suitable flats) within the urban area, without the need for Green Belt release.  

11 Do you agree with removing the explicit requirement for plans to be ‘justified’, 

on the basis of delivering a more proportionate approach to examination? 

Yes, agree. The removal of this requirement will provide greater freedom to enable 

local authorities to choose how to demonstrate how their strategy will be effective.   

596



Q Question and BCP Council response 

12 Do you agree with our proposal to not apply revised tests of soundness to 

plans at more advanced stages of preparation? If no, which if any, plans 

should the revised tests apply to? 

No comment, as it is not relevant to the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and 

Poole Local Plan as it has yet to reach an advanced stage.  

13 Do you agree that we should make a change to the Framework on the 

application of the urban uplift? 

No, disagree, this uplift seems a blunt instrument and does not recognise local 

circumstances. The BCP Council area is only just outside the largest 20 towns and 

cities and if a 35% uplift were added to our housing target on the basis of our size, it 

would again lead to a delay in plan making due the constraints mentioned above, 

e.g., it would force us to release Green Belt to meet housing need which is at odds 

with the aims of the proposed changes. The uplift should be applied to those towns 

and cities with substantial areas of brownfield land and supported by government 

investment to overcome viability concerns and provide supporting strategic 

infrastructure. It should also have the support of the local authority.  

14 What, if any, additional policy or guidance could the department provide which 

could help support authorities plan for more homes in urban areas where the 

uplift applies? 

Policy or guidance may not necessarily help, other than to allow local authorities in 

the top 20 to demonstrate how their specific constraints would not allow them to 

deliver the uplift. The key is to target the uplift to local authorities that support it and 

are seeking financial investment to unlock large brownfield sites and provide 

supporting infrastructure.  

15 How, if at all, should neighbouring authorities consider the urban uplift 

applying, where part of those neighbouring authorities also functions as part 

of the wider economic, transport or housing market for the core town/city? 

As with our response to Q13 and Q14 there needs be local support for the uplift from 

neighbouring authorities and targeted government investment.  

16 Do you agree with the proposed 4-year rolling land supply requirement for 

emerging plans, where work is needed to revise the plan to take account of 

revised national policy on addressing constraints and reflecting any past over-

supply? If no, what approach should be taken, if any? 

Yes, agree with this interim approach to reduce the 5 year land supply to 4 year land 

supply for local authorities such as BCP Council that has progressed a Local Plan 

through its early Issues and Options stages.  

However, we would like clarity on the reference to ‘policies map’ in proposed NPPF 

para 226. Whilst we have consulted on potential housing sites and shown these on a 

597



Q Question and BCP Council response 

map base as part of the Regulation 18 issues and options consultations, the Policies 

Map itself will not be produced until later this year in the Regulation 19 Publication 

stage. Presumably para 226 can be amended to be clearer that the 4 year land 

supply is where a Council has consulted upon allocations and illustrated these on a 

map rather than refer to the ‘policies map’ as one doesn’t have to produce a Policies 

Map at Regulation 18 stage? 

17 Do you consider that the additional guidance on constraints should apply to 

plans continuing to be prepared under the transitional arrangements set out in 

the existing Framework paragraph 220? 

No comment as the transitional arrangements do not affect the Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole Local Plan. 

18 Do you support adding an additional permissions-based test that will ‘switch 

off’ the application of the presumption in favour of sustainable development 

where an authority can demonstrate sufficient permissions to meet its housing 

requirement? 

Yes, but we consider further thought is needed on the mechanics. It would appear 

that the starting point for plans over 5 years old would be the standard method. As 

highlighted in our response to Q7 and Q8 this figure of 2,800 homes per year is 

vastly out of kilter with our locally derived figure of 1,600 homes per year that takes 

into account corrected ONS assumptions about international migration. If the 

standard method is used to derive the annual local housing need for the purposes of 

this test, it would not provide any benefit to local authorities with a local plan over 5 

years old that are preparing a new local plan.  

 

To repeat our response to Q2, delivery is falling well behind permissions granted in 

the BCP Council area: 

On 1 April 2021 there were 6,991 homes (net) with planning permission but not yet 

built in the BCP Council area. Of these 1,658 homes were under construction. 

However, by 1 April 2022 only 696 homes were completed against a combined 

strategic local plan target of 1,689 homes for 2021/22. 

For this reason, we suggest using the last adopted local plan target as the starting 

point for local housing need for plans over 5 years old. 

19 Do you consider that the 115% ‘switch-off’ figure (required to turn off the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development Housing Delivery Test 

consequence) is appropriate? 

No, we disagree. The 115% penalises local authorities that have granted 

permissions, and the market hasn’t delivered. The extra 15% is no different to the 

use of buffers on 5-year supply that these amendments seek to remove. The switch 

off figure should be 100%. 

598



Q Question and BCP Council response 

20 Do you have views on a robust method for counting deliverable homes 

permissioned for these purposes? 

The net number of homes granted per year would appear the simplest and fairest 

option based on the planning permissions granted in that year. This could be easily 

collated by local authorities and submitted via DELTA. Local authorities monitor all of 

their outstanding commitments for 5-year land supply requirements (planning 

permissions) but individual approaches may be inconsistent, e.g. expired 

applications or demolitions in year.  

21 What are your views on the right approach to applying Housing Delivery Test 

consequences pending the 2022 results? 

We suggest amending the 2022 results to trial the proposed additional permissions 

based test.  

22 Do you agree that the government should revise national planning policy to 

attach more weight to Social Rent in planning policies and decisions? If yes, 

do you have any specific suggestions on the best mechanisms for doing this? 

Yes, agree but we would need more support from government grant due to the 
higher cost of delivery. We have 2,150 households currently on the housing register 
and the fact that they qualify to be on the register means that low cost home 
ownership products are unaffordable. Social rented is needed but it comes at a cost. 
a developer contribution is typically 45% of the market value of any affordable 
property. A social rented would be 55-60% of the market value because the rent 
values for social rent are permanently capped under the target rent regime.  
 
We continue to struggle to secure cross subsidy on brownfield sites that make up our 
supply in an urban area. Within the BCP area we reviewed the 172 applications of 10 
or more homes granted permission between 2017 and 2022. Of these, 67 
applications were not required to provide affordable housing as they were Prior 
Approval applications, student accommodation, etc.. That left 105 applications where 
the policy was applicable and the applicant submitted viability assessments which 
were subject to a separate assessment by the District Valuer:  
 

 12 sites were delivered at 100% affordable housing (e.g. provided by 
Registered Providers). 

 3 sites delivered affordable housing on site through cross subsidy (2 of these 
were on strategic green belt releases) 

 On 68 sites the District Valuer concluded that there was no viability to provide 
an affordable housing contribution 

 On 22 sites a financial contribution for offsite provision was negotiated and 
agreed. 

 
This highlights the difficulty in achieving affordable housing through cross subsidy by 
market housing. Over a 5-year period of 172 major applications we were only able to 
secure on-site affordable housing through cross subsidy on 3 sites; with 22 
developers providing a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision. This is in an 
area of buoyant house prices and land values. Therefore, to require more costly 

599



Q Question and BCP Council response 

social rented affordable housing, whilst needed will be more of a challenge in viability 
terms and an increase in government grant to help make development viable is 
essential.  

23 Do you agree that we should amend existing paragraph 62 of the Framework to 

support the supply of specialist older people’s housing? 

Yes, agree. With an ageing population we have already implemented such policy in 

the Poole Local Plan 2018 and will be including similar targeted housing policy in the 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan. Such properties also help free up 

family housing which are difficult to deliver in a restricted, urban environment.  

One difficulty we find is that specialist providers work on a speculative basis making 

planning applications on any site they can secure, rather than engaging at a site 

promotion stage. This makes it more difficult to plan walkable neighbourhoods and 

locate specialist housing near to existing services, removing the need for the car and 

helping us to tackle traffic congestion.  

24 Do you have views on the effectiveness of the existing small sites policy in the 

National Planning Policy Framework (set out in paragraph 69 of the existing 

Framework)? 

We suggest a change to the definition of deliverable in the NPPF to help local 

authorities allocate smaller sites, in particular existing housing where there will 

always be a supply of sites suitable for intensification coming forward due to 

changing personal circumstances. However, in plan making there is no way to 

demonstrate that such sites have a reasonable prospect of becoming available in the 

plan period. 

As an urban green belt authority 93% of completions over the past 15 years have 

come forward as windfall development. These sites aren’t local plan led and 

allocated (hence they are windfall).  

Much of this windfall could be replicated on many sites, for example demolish 1-2 

houses and build 4-8 flats. These are the bread and butter sites for many local 

SMEs. But identifying which 1-2 house plot will come forward next is difficult in an 

urban area as it depends upon the owners particular circumstances at the time. So, 

being proactive and identifying sites in a 3-5 year local plan process is difficult due to 

the time taken. There is little benefit to landowners promoting sites through the local 

plan process when a planning application is quicker.   

Through the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan we are 

undertaking a townscape character appraisal to identify streets where strong 

character should be protected and areas of change where character is weaker. 

These areas of change will provide the opportunity allocate smaller sites due to 

multiple land ownerships. This may provide a way to positively promote some 

smaller sites, although we wont be able to demonstrate a site is available.  

We would therefore suggest that the definition for developable in the NPPF is less 

restrictive. Currently the test is that such sites are development if there is ‘a 

reasonable prospect that they will be available’. The guidance should be made clear 

600



Q Question and BCP Council response 

that all housing has the reasonable prospect that it will become available as personal 

circumstances can change and it shouldn’t be for the local authority to have to 

attempt to demonstrate these sites can become available.  

25 How, if at all, do you think the policy could be strengthened to encourage 

greater use of small sites, especially those that will deliver high levels of 

affordable housing? 

As in response to Q24, it would help local authorities to allocate smaller sites that 

involve the redevelopment of existing housing if the definition of developable was 

broadened.  

Currently for a site to be developable and capable of allocation in a local plan there 

has to be a ‘reasonable prospect that it will become available’ within the plan period. 

Due to personal circumstances changing quickly and sites becoming available this is 

impossible to predict and allocate. The word ‘reasonable’ therefore makes it difficult 

for local authorities to justify. It is unclear if the proposed removal of the ‘justified’ test 

of soundness will help, but a clearer recognition of this form of housing supply in the 

NPPF would help.  

26 Should the definition of “affordable housing for rent” in the Framework 

glossary be amended to make it easier for organisations that are not 

Registered Providers – in particular, community-led developers and 

almshouses – to develop new affordable homes? 

Yes, we would support such a change where there are safeguards put in place to 

ensure the housing is truly affordable in perpetuity and the system does not become 

a loophole to subsequently sell the homes on the open market.  

27 Are there any changes that could be made to exception site policy that would 

make it easier for community groups to bring forward affordable housing? 

No comment. As an urban authority we haven’t had much interest in exception sites 

which is a policy more suited to rural areas.  

28 Is there anything else that you think would help community groups in 

delivering affordable housing on exception sites? 

No comment 

29 Is there anything else national planning policy could do to support community-

led developments? 

No comment 

30 Do you agree in principle that an applicant’s past behaviour should be taken 

into account into decision making? 

601



Q Question and BCP Council response 

Yes, agree that past behaviour should be recognised, either as a material 

consideration in the determination of an application, or that a local authority can 

refuse to register applications from such applicants. Whilst this will be difficult in 

practice it is an issue that needs addressing: 

(i) There are applicants who secure planning permission and then submit a 

subsequent application to attempt to secure additional density / floors. The backstop 

of a permission makes it more difficult for a local authority to demonstrate harm from 

the additions and this playing of the system undermines the confidence of the local 

community that fought to agree a suitable development in their area. This delays 

building out the originally approved scheme.  

(ii) There are also applicants who once securing permission trade land on the 

market. The next buyer then submits a new planning application and negotiates 

down the planning benefits due to the higher land value. This trading of sites 

prevents sites being delivered and squeezed to the point that they are no longer 

viable. This trading must be discontinued and should be considers as part of any 

changes to primary legislation. If sites are developed within a certain time period 

after a permission the Council should be able to step in and ensure the site is 

developed. As proposed the local authority also refuses to register further 

applications from that applicant.  

(iii) There are applicants that will submit concurrent planning applications on the 

basis that one may get refused and head to appeal - then submitting another fresh 

application for something a bit smaller in the hope it gets approved - this then 

undermines the appeal scheme as you are then effectively only considering the 

difference between what’s been approved and what’s been refused.  

31 Of the two options above, what would be the most effective mechanism? Are 

there any alternative mechanisms? 

Both would be effective mechanisms, but it would be more appropriate to refuse to 

register the application at the first opportunity to avoid the resource implications for 

the local authority and the anxiety for the local community.  

32 Do you agree that the 3 build out policy measures that we propose to 

introduce through policy will help incentivise developers to build out more 

quickly? Do you have any comments on the design of these policy measures? 

Yes, agree. The proposals will incentivise build out rates. However, we would like to 

see the proposals go further to cover the (i) submission of multiple planning 

applications on the same site to secure greater intensification, (ii) concurrent 

applications on a site and (iii) land trading, as referred to in our answer to Q30, 

issues which stall sites and prevent housing being built out. 

For simplicity, we suggest that the new Development Commencement Notice is 

linked to the CIL Form 6 Commencement Notice, if possible, to reduce admin issues. 

602



Q Question and BCP Council response 

33 Do you agree with making changes to emphasise the role of beauty and 

placemaking in strategic policies and to further encourage well-designed and 

beautiful development? 

Yes, agree. It would provide a ‘strategic policy hook’, to which other more detailed 

polices and planning documents can be attached. ‘Beautiful development’ can be 

defined and clarified locally, through design codes and design policies (including for 

Conservation Areas). This would strengthen and clarify the planning position. It 

would also help to elevate the issue and encourage strategic and early thought on 

how this will be achieved. 

The standard and quality of design will only improve if developers are required to 

improve. Although there are many that already support good design, for many 

others, it is an ‘add on’ or ‘nice to have’ and not part of their culture to approach their 

proposals in this way. To achieve well-designed and beautiful development, requires 

design-led thinking, rather than quantum of development led-thinking. A good 

quantum of development can often still be achieved with a design-led approach.  

34 Do you agree to the proposed changes to the title of Chapter 12, existing 

paragraphs 84a and 124c to include the word ‘beautiful’ when referring to ‘well-

designed places’, to further encourage well-designed and beautiful 

development? 

Chapter 12 – Yes, agree.  It helps to elevate the issue.  

Paragraphs 84a – Yes, agree. It reinforces and keeps consistency of wording.  

124e (rather than c) – Suggest change to “the importance of securing well-

designed, and beautiful, attractive and healthy places.” 

This would then be consistent with other wording in the NPPF. Do not need 

‘attractive’ and ‘beautiful’. 

35 Do you agree greater visual clarity on design requirements set out in planning 

conditions should be encouraged to support effective enforcement action? 

Yes, agree. Note though that it can be most effective and maintain the strength and 

integrity of a design if details are provided as part of the planning application. This is 

not always possible or appropriate and this is where conditions are useful. Greater 

visual clarity on design requirements e.g., a more detailed design of windows to 

confirm the depth of the window reveal, would help prevent and save time for 

enforcement investigation and action, as the specifications would be clearer. It would 

also help interested parties to understand what is to be delivered on the ground and 

manage expectations – which could save time and resources.  

The level of design clarity does need to be proportionate to the proposal being 

considered. 

36 Do you agree that a specific reference to mansard roofs in relation to upward 

extensions in Chapter 11, paragraph 122e of the existing framework is helpful 

603



Q Question and BCP Council response 

in encouraging LPAs to consider these as a means of increasing 

densification/creation of new homes? If no, how else might we achieve this 

objective? 

No, disagree. The proposed additional wording on mansard roof extensions appears 

to be an overly specific focus. Mansards may be an appropriate design solution to 

increasing density in some cases and on certain properties and if done well, but they 

can also be poorly designed and result in top heavy and incongruous buildings. The 

wording as proposed would increase pressure on the local planning authority to allow 

mansards when these may not be appropriate under local circumstances.  

Reference to upward extensions is sufficient and then locally appropriate options can 

be considered. Existing points a) to e) cover how to achieve the objective of 

increased density. 

37 How do you think national policy on small scale nature interventions could be 

strengthened? For example, in relation to the use of artificial grass by 

developers in new development? 

Permitted Development legislation could be reviewed as this currently encourages 

home owners to hard surface over their front gardens resulting in loss of grass, trees, 

hedges and other biodiversity contradicting the current message within national 

planning about protecting and enhancing existing biodiversity. Some of what we 

might gain on new sites is too easily lost on others. This is also contrary to the 

'building beautiful' aspiration as the loss of boundary walls/hedges and soft 

landscaping has a detrimental impact on the character of the local built environment. 

The current Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) proposals have been watered down since 

they were first put forward and need to be reconsidered so that all development can 

contribute very cost effective on-site net gain.  

We assessed planning applications over recent years against the new exemption 

thresholds. This indicates that BCP Council can expect approximately 14% of all 

applications received will result in the use of the national BNG metric to deliver 10% 

net gain. We have therefore produced our own guidance note to deliver net gain on 

all sites, but are not using the 10% metric, but keeping it simple and instead just 

providing some suggestions such as bird boxes, etc. The exemptions will prevent the 

local authority from requiring grass lawns instead of plastic and that the grass is 

retained for 30 years.  

38 Do you agree that this is the right approach making sure that the food 

production value of high value farm land is adequately weighted in the 

planning process, in addition to current references in the Framework on best 

most versatile agricultural land? 

Yes, agree.  

39 What method or measure could provide a proportionate and effective means of 

undertaking a carbon impact assessment that would incorporate all 

604



Q Question and BCP Council response 

measurable carbon demand created from plan-making and planning 

decisions? 

Tools being developed such as a land impact tool could provide a high level carbon 

impact assessment of plans at an area level. 

40 Do you have any views on how planning policy could support climate change 

adaptation further, specifically through the use of nature-based solutions that 

provide multi-functional benefits? 

The main issue is how to measure the contribution of the cumulative effects 

assessment of small scale interventions, such as SuDs, or rainwater harvesting, and 

how we can enable them to prevent the need for large scale flood defence 

infrastructure. 

41 Do you agree with the changes proposed to Paragraph 155 of the existing 

National Planning Policy Framework? 

Yes, agree. 

42 Do you agree with the changes proposed to Paragraph 158 of the existing 

National Planning Policy Framework? 

Yes, agree. 

43 Do you agree with the changes proposed to footnote 54 of the existing 

National Planning Policy Framework? Do you have any views on specific 

wording for new footnote 62? 

Yes, agree to both footnotes: 

54 new - Design Bulletin 32, which was withdrawn in 2007. This is a helpfully specific 

reference and will assist discussions between Planners, urban designers and 

highway engineers. 

62 new – wind energy development. 

44 Do you agree with our proposed Paragraph 161 in the National Planning Policy 

Framework to give significant weight to proposals which allow the adaptation 

of existing buildings to improve their energy performance? 

Yes, agree. And useful cross reference to the historic built environment chapter. 

45 Do you agree with the proposed timeline for finalising local plans, minerals 

and waste plans and spatial development strategies being prepared under the 

current system? If no, what alternative timeline would you propose? 

Yes, agree. We plan to submit the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan 

by the end of 2023, which is a well before the June 2025 deadline. We should be in a 

605



Q Question and BCP Council response 

position to adopt the plan by the end of 2024, again ahead of the December 2026 

deadline.  

Completing our plan under these transitional arrangements will enable us to replace 

3 legacy Council plans of over 300 policies with a single plan and harmonise 

processes which will have significant benefits to our planning team, developers and 

the public. It will also provide a clear spatial vision that will help local communities 

prepare neighbourhood plans.  

The Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan will also deliver a new suite of 

policies to unlock housing and other development opportunities, protect areas of 

strong character from speculative development, boost economic growth and help us 

achieve our sustainability goals.   

46 Do you agree with the proposed transitional arrangements for plans under the 

future system? If no, what alternative arrangements would you propose? 

We do not expect this to affect us as intend to submit the Bournemouth, Christchurch 

and Poole Local Plan before June 2025.  

However, would these arrangements present difficulties for local authorities that wait 

for the future system to be launched in late 2024? 30 months is an ambitious 

timetable for a new system and there is a potential for delay if the Planning 

Inspectorate are under high demand to examine multiple plans all submitted in a 

similar time-period.  

47 Do you agree with the proposed timeline for preparing neighbourhood plans 

under the future system? If no, what alternative timeline would you propose? 

Whilst we do not disagree, we query whether there will be any issues for a local 

community if the local authority submits a local plan close to the June 2025 deadline. 

The local community will not have much time to ensure their neighbourhood plan is 

aligned with strategic policies.  

48 Do you agree with the proposed transitional arrangements for supplementary 

planning documents? If no, what alternative arrangements would you 

propose? 

No, disagree with all supplementary planning documents expiring at the end of 2027.  

We seek clarification as have a number of joint mitigation strategies that deal with 

mitigation of designated nature conservation sites and are essential to enabling us to 

grant planning permissions for housing, i.e. heathlands, nitrate/phosphates, etc.  

As these are prepared jointly with neighbouring authorities they are best prepared as 

supplementary planning documents unless local plan timetables are aligned to avoid 

inconsistency. The current SPDs demonstrate how the cost of mitigation is identified, 

how it will be secured and then implemented, providing the competent authority with 

the assurance the permission can be granted with no adverse effect on the 

designated site.  

606



Q Question and BCP Council response 

We may have 3 options: 

(i) To include the mitigation detail in the emerging Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole Local Plan Local Plan which risks delay in 

meeting our 2023 submission deadline, adds unnecessary complexity to 

the local plan and risks inconsistency with our neighbouring authorities 

where we have a joint mitigation strategy;  

(ii) Having adopted the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan 

Local Plan in 2024, we jointly prepare a Supplementary Plan with 

neighbouring authorities to cover these mitigation requirements, which 

may be difficult to resource if these authorities are busy preparing a 30 

month new style plan and would be costly and time consuming for an 

examination; or  

(iii) Having adopted the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan 

Local Plan in 2024 we retain the SPDs and use them as guidance and a 

material consideration after they expire in 2027.  

We welcome some advice in this regard.  

49 Do you agree with the suggested scope and principles for guiding National 

Development Management Policies? 

Yes, agree there is a huge benefit for everyone of introducing National Development 

Management Policies (NDMP). 

However, there could be some difficulty if a NDMP has a cost associated with it and 

is published after a Local Plan has been adopted alongside a local plan viability 

assessment, e.g. a NDMP for net zero buildings is introduced.  

50 What other principles, if any, do you believe should inform the scope of 

National Development Management Policies? 

No comment. 

51 Do you agree that selective additions should be considered for proposals to 

complement existing national policies for guiding decisions? 

Yes agree.  

52 Are there other issues which apply across all or most of England that you 

think should be considered as possible options for National Development 

Management Policies? 

Most authorities will have to deal with flood risk in a similar manner, in particular the 

application of the sequential and exemption tests.  

607



Q Question and BCP Council response 

53 What, if any, planning policies do you think could be included in a new 

framework to help achieve the 12 levelling up missions in the Levelling Up 

White Paper? 

No comment. 

54 How do you think that the framework could better support development that 

will drive economic growth and productivity in every part of the country, in 

support of the Levelling Up agenda? 

No comment. 

55 Do you think that the government could go further in national policy, to 

increase development on brownfield land within city and town centres, with a 

view to facilitating gentle densification of our urban cores? 

Yes, government should go further to overcome viability issues on brownfield sites 

through investment and improving powers for local authorities to step in an ensure 

vacant land with planning permission is developed where landowners are not actively 

trying to deliver growth.    

56 Do you think that the government should bring forward proposals to update 

the framework as part of next year’s wider review to place more emphasis on 

making sure that women, girls and other vulnerable groups in society feel safe 

in our public spaces, including for example policies on lighting/street lighting? 

Yes, agree that an emphasis on these groups could be beneficial. Promotion of good 

design and the Council’s equalities duties will also pick up this issue.  

There should also be consideration for how developers could be required to put right 

poor design that was not revealed until the development was built, where it would be 

unsafe for vulnerable people. For example, an independent safety audit 12 months 

after completion. Equally a Design and Access Statement should cover this aspect 

when the planning application is submitted.  

57 Are there any specific approaches or examples of best practice which you 

think we should consider to improve the way that national planning policy is 

presented and accessed? 

No comment. 

58 We continue to keep the impacts of these proposals under review and would 

be grateful for your comments on any potential impacts that might arise under 

the Public Sector Equality Duty as a result of the proposals in this document. 

No comment. 

 

608



CABINET 

 

Report subject Options to support the health of those facing homelessness 

Meeting date February 2023 

Status Public Report 

Executive summary The Cost-of-Living Crisis means that for many the risk of homelessness 
is increasing, the most vulnerable in our society are balancing heating 

vs food vs rental payments.   The most devastating outcome is for those 
that lose their homes to end up sleeping rough.  These individuals often 

have complex needs sometimes leading to entrenched negative 

behaviours and health issues. 

At this time of crisis BCP Council wants to ensure we are supporting the 

most in need in our communities.   We know that homeless individuals 
find it easier to work with and trust voluntary sector organisations.  As a 

Council we want to enable our communities to do more to support those 
that are homeless. 

This report sets out options for Cabinet to consider in order to increase 

the level of funding available to support homelessness charities in the 
BCP area.   The aim of this funding is to increase the support those 

facing homelessness receive with a particular focus on health. 

These options require a £50,000 annual revenue grant for 5 years and a 

one-off Capital grant of £250,000. The grants will be outcome based 
and the recipients would need to demonstrate each year that their work 

directly reduces the number of people rough sleeping in the BCP area 
and the health issues they experience. 

Recommendations It is recommended that Cabinet allocate £50,000 revenue funding 
and a one off £250,000 capital funding to support the voluntary 
sector to provide health support to homeless individuals. 

It is recommended that Cabinet consider the options set out in this 
report and agree which to implement to allocate these funds: 

1) Provide Hope Place CIC with a £50,000 annual revenue grant for 
5 years and a one-off Capital grant of £250,000 

2) Open a Homelessness Grant Fund of £50,000 revenue per 
annum and one off £250,000 Capital grant 

3) Do nothing 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To support the Council’s Homelessness Strategy and work to reduce 
homelessness across the authority area. 

609

Agenda Item 12



Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Karen Rampton (Portfolio Holder for Homes and Adults) 

Lead Member Councillor Hazel Allen (Homelessness)  

Corporate Director  Jess Gibbons – Chief Operations Officer 

Report Authors 
Jess Gibbons – Chief Operations Officer 
Ben Tomlin – Interim Director of Housing 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  Decision 
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1) In March 2022, Cabinet (Appendix 1) approved an open tender process to secure a provider to refurbish 

St Stephens Hall and provide Homelessness Health Services from the building.    The Cabinet report, 

conditional upon the appointment of an operator, approved the acquisition of the St Stephen’s Church 

Hall.  Under Part 2 a purchase price of £440,500, including stamp duty and legal fees, was agreed by 

Cabinet. 

 
2) The tender ran from May to July.   One bid was received from Hope Place CIC, no other bids were 

received.  While Hope Place CIC scored 50% in the tender exercise the decision was taken by the Chief 
Operations Officer not to award the contract due to a lack of reassurance that the building refurbishment 

and ongoing revenue activity could be delivered within the budget or that alternative funding would be 
secured (Appendix 2). 

 

3) The Officer Decision Report confirms that as the tender process was not successful the Council would 
not proceed to acquisition of St Stephen’s Church Hall. 

 
4) In September 2022 Hope Place CIC commenced discussion with St Stephen’s Hall Trustees to secure a 

full repair and maintenance lease of St Stephen’s Hall to continue their goal of delivering homeless health 
support services from this location. 

Hope Place Community Interest Company 

5) Hope Place CIC is a Community Interest Company which has been established to seek to provide a 
gateway to a full range of homeless health and community services under one roof.   Hope Place CIC is 

made up of Directors from a variety of backgrounds including business, charity, health and faith-based 
organisations all with a common purpose to help solve inequality through tackling homelessness. 

 
6) Hope Place CIC’s vision is to create Hope Place, at St Stephen’s Hall.  Hope Place will be an inspirational 

space where individuals without a secure home can access both professional services around health and 

housing and community support and friendship to get well, stay well and live well. 
 

7) The Directors of Hope Place CIC are Kris Gumbrell, Brewhouse, and Kitchen; Julie Berti – CEO and Co-
Founder of Hope Housing Training and Support; Alistair Doxat-Pursar – Chief Executive, Faith works 

Wessex; Rev Dr Gareth Sherwood – CEO YMCA Bournemouth; Dr Maggie Kirk – Health bus/Crescent 
Providence Surgery; and Annabel Wathen – Director of Operations. 

 

8) The majority of Directors of Hope Place CIC are well known within the Homelessness Sector, but as a 
newly formed organisation Hope Place CIC does not yet have a track record in the successful delivery of 

homelessness health services.   Due to being a new organisation it does not yet have a set of published 
accounts. 

 
 

 

610



BCP Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

9) At the core of BCP Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is a focus on improving health. Poor 
health, both mental and physical health, can lead to an increased risk of homelessness and likewise 

health can be affected by the risk of losing a home. People can lose their jobs due to being unable to 
work, exacerbating potential mental health conditions such as stress, anxiety, and depression. BCP 

Council data shows that 45% of all homeless applicants suffer from mental and physical health problems. 
 

10) The most severe form of homelessness is rough sleeping and there are often further related concerns 

such as substance dependency. Long term rough sleeping leads to a vastly reduced life expectancy (an 
average of around 46 years, even less for women at 43 years), so effective health intervention is literally 

a matter of life and death. The risks involved are numerous, including the very real threat of assault, 
prolonged exposure to cold and damp, overheating and dehydration, and lack of a balanced diet as well 

as other aspects such as stress, worry and other mental distress. On top of this there can be further risks 
such as those relating to overdose and blood-borne disease for those who also battle with dependency.  

 
11) In the BCP area there are existing services run by a variety of organisations, already in place to respond 

to this large and critical need, including the Health Bus, blood-borne virus clinics, specialist substance 
misuse workers, a hospital pathway, the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) who focus on joining up health 
and homeless services, and the new Hope Place CIC.  These groups and services could provide 
enhanced services to the homeless with additional funds. 

 

BCP Grant making processes 

12) There are two forms of grant making within BCP Council.  The first are grants allocated under outcome-
based Service Level Agreements, for example the grants we provide to Cultural Organisations and 

support infrastructure organisations within the Voluntary Sector.   
 

13) The second are competitive grants, where organisations can submit applications for grant funding aligned 

to the purpose of the fund.  Bids under this competitive process may be assessed by a panel including 
professional experts and those with lived experience related to the funds purpose. 

 
14) A competitive grant process could be delivered in partnership with Dorset Community Foundation, the 

leading Grant Giving Charity in Dorset, who would manage the process with a dedicated team and panel. 
They have a dedicated grant making team and application, assessment and evaluation process which 

has previously been used for the Living Legacy Grants and round 1 and 2 of the Household Support Fund 

for grants to community food settings.  An administrative fee of 6-7% for Dorset Community Foundation 
would need to be applied.  

  

611



 

Options to increase funding to homelessness charities in the BCP area 

15) Three options have been considered in the development of these proposals.  These are set out in Table 
1 below.  Officers advise that Option 2 provides a prudent mitigation to the risks associated with grant 
funding and on that basis would advise that this is the preferred option for Cabinet to adopt. 

Table 1:  Options to increase funding to homelessness voluntary sector organisations in the BCP area 

 Option Opportunities Challenges 

1. Provide Hope 

Place CIC with a 
£50,000 annual 

revenue grant for 
5 years and a 

one-off Capital 
grant of £250,000 

Enables the voluntary sector to 

establish a Homeless Inclusion 
Health Centre (a ‘Health Hub’) at St 

Stephens Hall, supporting the BCP 
Homelessness Strategy and 

Cabinet decisions in May 2021 to 
develop a Homeless health hub. 

Delivering support to those who are 

homeless or at risk of 
homelessness. 

By Hope Place CIC securing a 
lease for St Stephens Hall, BCP 

Council no longer needs to allocate 
£440,500 capital to purchasing this 
building. 

Hope Place CIC is formed by 

several Voluntary Sector 
organisations experienced in 

working with the homeless coming 

together with individuals with 
experience from the private sector.   

The organisation can secure 
further funding from sources the 

Council cannot reach to support 
homelessness health work; if they 

were to set up a charitable arm 

their funding reach would be 
extended. 

Voluntary Sector organisations 

that are not part of Hope Place 
CIC but have experience and 

deliver positive work to support 
the health of the homeless in 

BCP cannot access this grant.  
There is a risk these 

organisations could challenge 

the Council for not providing 
them with an opportunity to 
secure funding. 

Hope Place CIC, while 

experienced as individuals, as a 
new organisation does not have 

a track record of delivering 
services for the homeless.  

Hope Place CIC does not yet 

have a set of published 
accounts. 

Evidence would be required to 
ensure capital funding is spent 
on capital assets. 

It is difficult to ensure that a 

direct grant would achieve best 
value for the Council due to the 
lack of competition.  

Alternative solutions may be 

available from other providers, 
which would not be tested. 

2. Open a 
Homelessness 

Grant Fund of 
£50,000 per 

annum for 5 
years and 
£250,000 Capital 

Aligns to the BCP Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy.   

Provides equal opportunity to 
voluntary organisations working in 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and / 
or Poole directly with 

homelessness individuals 
supporting their health and 
wellbeing. 

Applications could be welcomed 
from voluntary sector organisations 

Does not directly support the 
May 2021 and March 2022 

Cabinet ambition of delivering a 
Homelessness Health Hub at St 
Stephens Hall. 

Evidence would be required to 

ensure capital funding is spent 
on capital assets. 

 

612



for a maximum of £50,000 per 
annum.   Applicants would need to 
demonstrate their experience of 
improving health outcomes for the 
homeless community in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and/or 
Poole and demonstrate how this 
grant will support them to achieve 
more at this critical time. 
 

Avoids the risk of challenge from 
homelessness charities. 
 
Demonstrates best value and 
enables alternative options to be 
presented. 
 
Funding could be allocated to 
several different projects spreading 
the benefits of the funding. 
 
 

If the grant scheme is operated 
within the Council, Officer time 

will be required to manage the 
funding application process and 

the grant making panel.The 

process grant process from 
development through to award 

would take approximately 3 
months. 

 

 

3. Do nothing Reduces BCP Council funding 
commitments for 2023/24. 

 

During the cost-of-living crisis 

BCP Council wants to ensure 

we are supporting the most in 
need in our communities.   We 

know that homeless individuals 
find it easier to work with and 

trust voluntary sector 
organisations.  As a Council we 

want to enable our communities 
to do more to support those that 

are homeless.   Doing nothing 

would not support these 
ambitions. 

 
Summary of financial implications 
 

16) BCP Council’s annual revenue budget to support general fund housing services, principally those 
associated with homelessness amount to £2.7m. 

 

17) BCP Council’s Cabinet decision in March 2022 approved an increase in the capital budget for the 
purchase and refurbishment of the property for the purposes of delivering a Health Hub service to a 

maximum sum of £800,000. 
 

18) The £800,000 capital investment funding was to be funded via prudential borrowing over an assumed 50-
year life of the asset, subject to an exploration of third-party capital grants and charitable donations. 

 

19) Council in November 2022 agreed to increase the Councils debt threshold to £1.334bn. In doing so it 
agreed not to support any further debt being undertaken which would require the general fund budget of 

the council to finance the revenue implications of taking on that additional debt. This proposal requires 
the general fund budget of the council to finance the revenue implications of the capital investment in the 

homeless health hub, therefore it is not consistent with the current decision of council. However, as the 
commitment was made in March 2022 then it was before the current policy of council was adopted. If 

councillors agree with this approach, then the non-self-financing borrowing will form part of similar 

borrowing arrangements which were part of the council's futures fund and will create a revenue pressure 
in future years. 

 

613



20) Council can legally only borrow to finance capital expenditure. The proposals set out above include the 

option of giving a capital grant to a third party financed by borrowing. In order to be able to support this 
approach the Council would need to agree in advance with the third-party how the capital grant will be 

applied and have subsequent verification that it was spent as intended. Careful consideration would need 
to be given to the schedule of works as if the asset life was deemed less than 50 years it would alter the 

profile of revenue expenditure.  
 

21) The December finance report to Cabinet makes provision for £50k per annum in revenue funding to 

support the operation of a homeless health hub. 
 

22) Good practice would advocate an open transparent process to enable all voluntary organisations to be 
given the opportunity to bid for the resources the council intends to make available and in doing so the 
ability to demonstrate the achievement of Value for Money in the use of public resources.  

Summary of legal implications 

23) Cabinet previously approved the acquisition of St. Stephen’s Hall for the setting up of a multi-disciplinary 

health hub dealing with homelessness and coordinating health and community related services.  In March 

2022, Cabinet (Appendix 1) approved an open tender process to secure a provider to refurbish St 

Stephens Hall and provide Homelessness Health Services from the building.    The Cabinet report, 

conditional upon the appointment of an operator, approved the acquisition of the St Stephen’s Church 

Hall.  Under Part 2 a purchase price of £440,500, including stamp duty and legal fees, was agreed by 

Cabinet. 

 

24) The tender ran from May to July.   One bid was received from Hope Place CIC, no other bids were 

received.  While Hope Place CIC scored 50% in the tender exercise the decision was taken by the Chief 
Operations Officer not to award the contract due to concern that the building refurbishment and ongoing 

revenue activity could not be delivered within the budget or that alternative funding may not be secured 

(Appendix 2). 
 

25) Hope Place CIC are now planning to deliver homelessness health support from St Stephen’s Hall, 
independently from the Council and subject to being awarded a full repairing lease for 25 years or more 

by the owners. 

 
26) Option 1 in this report would provide funding to Hope Place CIC in the event they are successful in 

obtaining the lease.  Under this Option agreement is sought for a £250,000 capital grant towards 
refurbishment of the building and a total of £250,000 revenue grant to be paid over a period of five years 

in equal annual instalments to Hope Place CIC. 

 
27) The Council has various statutory powers to award grants. Under section 137 Local Government Act 

1972 a Local Authority may make grants to voluntary bodies and charities where no specific grant making 

power exists in other legislation and where the grant will benefit any part of its area or its inhabitants. The 
expenditure must be commensurate with the benefit to be accrued. In addition, by virtue of section 1 of 

the Localism Act 2011, the Council can do anything which it considers is likely to benefit the promotion 
of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of its area. This includes the incurring of expenditure, 

giving financial assistance to any person or organisation and entering into arrangements or agreements 

with any person or organisation.  
 

28) The Council has a fiduciary duty to ensure best value. The Council must also adhere to public law 

principles in all its decision making. It must ensure that decisions it makes are lawful, rational, fair, 
procedurally proper, and proportionate.  To ensure compliance with its fiduciary duty and its public law 

obligations grants should be awarded via an application process including satisfying the Council’s best 

value duty.  There is a risk to the Council of legal challenge if Option 1 is progressed. This is because the 
Council will not be able to demonstrate that it has satisfied best value considerations nor that the awarding 

of a grant is to Hope Place CIC is fair to other organisations who might also be able to deliver a similar 
service with the benefit of grant funding.    

 

614



29) Option 2, by virtue of a grant application process and grant funding panel provides a mechanism to ensure 

that the Council is securing best value use of Council resources in pursuit of improving the health of those 
that are homeless in BCP. This option mitigates the risk of any legal challenge and can be used to 

demonstrate best value. If this option were pursued, either in house or via administration by Dorset 

Community Foundation, appropriate eligibility criteria, application processes and checks would be in 
place to ensure financial due diligence.  

Summary of human resources implications 

30) None in addition to the May 2021 report. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

31) None 

Summary of public health implications 

32) Directly supports the health of the homeless and those rough sleepers. 

Summary of equality implications 

33) The award of this grant will support some of the most vulnerable in our Community, individuals that 
are homeless, sleeping rough and have multiple health and support needs. 

Summary of risk assessment  

Table 2 below sets out the risks associated with each option proposed in this report.    

Table 2:  Option risks 

Option 1:  Hope Place CIC Funding Option 2:  Homelessness 

health grant 

Option 3: do nothing 

Hope Place CIC as a newly formed 
organisation is not yet able to 
demonstrate a track record of 
successfully delivering health support 
to the homeless. 

Hope Place CIC as a newly formed 
organisation does not yet have a set of 
published accounts. 

This Option does not include a 
mechanism to demonstrate best value 
spend, although a previous 
competitive tender process was 
completed to which Hope CIC were 
the sole bidder for the delivery of 
health support to the homeless at St 
Stephen’s Hall. 

This Option opens the Council to risk 
of challenge due from other 
homelessness charities within the BCP 
area who have not been able to 
access funding to support their 
homelessness work. 

Does not directly support the 
May 2021 Cabinet ambition of 

delivering a Homelessness 
Health Hub at St Stephens 
Hall. 

There is a risk some 

applications will not be 
successful in securing funding. 

 

BCP Council wants 
to support and 
enable our 
communities and 
voluntary sector to do 
more to support 
those facing 
homelessness.   
Doing nothing would 
not support our 
Homelessness 
Strategy and 
ambition of being an 
enabling council. 

 

Appendix 1 – Cabinet Report May 2022 

Appendix 2 – Officer Decision Report following the Homeless Health Hub tender exercise 

615



This page is intentionally left blank

616



CABINET 

 

Report subject  UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 

Meeting date  8th February, 2023 

Status  Public   

Executive summary  The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a central pillar of the 
UK Government’s Levelling Up agenda. BCP Council has been 
allocated nearly £4.2m for the ‘main’ UKSPF, and a further £1.7m 
for the Multiply programme. 

On 5 December 2022 the Government approved the BCP Council 
Investment Plan (IP). Now that the IP has been approved, this 
report seeks Cabinet approval to formally accept the funding and 
deliver the 17 proposed interventions of the UKSPF.  

Recommendations Cabinet recommends that Council: 

 i) Accepts the £4.2m UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) grant allocation from Government. 

ii) Delegates authority to the Director of Economic 
Development in consultation with the Director of 
Finance and Portfolio Holder for regeneration to 
utilise the grant in line with the Council’s UKSPF 
Investment Plan and the associated Government 
guidance, ensuring oversight, governance and 
monitoring of the programme by March 31 2025. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The UKSPF funding will enable BCP Council to provide better 
green spaces and community facilities, improved accessibility to 
facilities and community interaction, improved education and skills 
(including numeracy) and business start-up and growth support. As 
such, the UKSPF will help our residents, businesses and 
communities deliver the Corporate Strategy, Big Plan and our 
Levelling Up aspirations. 

  

617

Agenda Item 13



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Philip Broadhead – Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holder for Development, Growth and Regeneration; and 
Councillor Toby Johnson, Lead Member for Levelling Up and Skills 

Corporate Director  Adam Richens, Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance 

Report Authors Adrian Trevett, Head of Economic Development  

Matthew Robson, Senior Economic Development Officer  

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Ti t l e:   

Background 

1. The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a central pillar of the UK 
Government’s Levelling Up agenda. It provides £2.6 billion of new funding for 
local investment, with all areas of the UK receiving an allocation from the Fund. 
UKSPF replaces the former European Structure & Investment Funds (ESIF) 
which has been funding business support and skills and employment (prior to 
BREXIT). UKSPF is now the only source of funding that enables councils to 
continue providing free advice and guidance to businesses. 

2. The UKSPF will support the UK Government’s wider commitment to level up all 
parts of the UK by delivering on each of the levelling up objectives: 

 Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private 
sector, especially in those places where they are lagging 

 Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those 
places where they are weakest 

 Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in 
those places where they have been lost 

 Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places 
lacking local agency 

3. BCP Council has been allocated nearly £4.2m for the ‘main’ UKSPF, and a 
further £1.7m for the Multiply programme for improved numeracy skills. In total, 
this is £5.9m for the 3 financial years from April 2022 to March 2025. This 
report relates solely to the UKSPF.  

4. For UKSPF, this funding is roughly £500k in year 1, £1m in year 2 and £2.7m in 
year 3 - comprising both revenue and capital funding. There is a requirement 
for a minimum capital spend of 10% in year 1, 13% in year 2 and 20% in year 
3.  

5. There was a delay in receiving the funding, which was originally expected in 
October 2022, so some funding allocated for year 1 may be delayed to year 2 
(currently tbc). 

6. To access the funding allocation, BCP Council, along with all other eligible 
councils, was required to draft and submit an Investment Plan (IP) to 

618



government for approval.  The intention to submit an IP was outlined in this 
report (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Cabinet, 22/06/2022 10:00 
(bcpcouncil.gov.uk) which was approved by Cabinet in June 2022. The IPs 
outline how councils propose spending their allocations across the 3 
Investment Priorities of Local Business; Communities and Place; and People 
and Skills. Within the 3 Investments Priorities were 41 standard targeted 
interventions or projects (provided by Government), to address local needs. 
Councils were asked to decide which of the 41 standard interventions to take 
forward.   

7. A BCP Council UKSPF internal team was formed included representatives from 
Communities, Adult Skills and Learning and Economic Development – working 
with colleagues from Destination Management and Climate. The BCP Council 
internal team created a draft list of prioritised interventions (from the standard 
41 provided) to address local needs. The list was based on evidence from the 
following plans and strategies: ‘Big Plan’; ‘Corporate Strategy’; ‘Economic 
Development Strategy’, ‘High Streets and District Centres Strategy’; 
‘Community Engagement & Consultation Strategy’; ‘Community & Voluntary 
Sector Volunteering Strategy’; ‘H&W Board Strategy’; Future Parks work; 
CAN’s State of the Sector report; ‘draft Business Support Plan’; Tourism 
research and studies; Climate action work; ‘National Skills Strategy (Skills for 
Jobs and Levelling Up)’; ‘Dorset Skills Action Plan’; and the emerging ‘BCP 
Skills Plan’. 

8. The draft list of proposed interventions was discussed with local stakeholders 
through establishing a Local Partnership Group (LPG) – a requirement from 
Government.  BCP Council’s Local Partnership Group (LPG) comprised BCP 
Council, Dorset LEP, Dorset Chamber, Dorset Growth Hub and Community 
Action Network (representing the Community and Voluntary Sector). The LPG 
advised their networks of the proposed draft interventions and asked for any 
comments and feedback. The Council also advertised the proposed draft 
interventions via the Council’s business e-newsletter. The consultation exercise 
demonstrated that the draft list of proposed interventions was appropriate and 
should be taken forward in the IP.  

9. The Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Development, 
Growth and Regeneration was regularly updated as discussions progressed.   

10. It was confirmed at the Big Plan Delivery Board on 13 May 2022 (and 
subsequently at CMB on 19 July 2022) that the c£4.2m would be divided 
across the 3 prescribed Investment Priorities funding the following 17 standard 
interventions: 

 Local Business - £2.5m. Lead - BCP Council Economic Development 
(Lead officer - Adrian Trevett) 

 Communities and Place - £1m. Lead - BCP Council Communities (Lead 
officer - Cat McMillan) 

 People and Skills – £700k (in year 3). Lead – BCP Council Skills & 
Learning (Lead officer - Lesley Spain) 

 

 

 

619

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5011/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5011/Public%20reports%20pack%2022nd-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


Local Business final interventions (7): 

 E16: Investment in open markets and improvements to town centre retail and 
service sector infrastructure, with wrap around support for small businesses. 
**  

 E17: Funding for the development and promotion (both trade and consumer) 
of the visitor economy, such as local attractions, trails, tours and tourism 
products more generally.  

 E20: Research and development grants supporting the development of 
innovative products and services.  

 E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems and supporting 
businesses at all stages of their development to start, sustain, grow and 
innovate, including through local networks.  

 E28: Export Grants to support businesses to grow their overseas trading, 
supporting local employment.  

 E29: Supporting decarbonisation and improving the natural environment 
whilst growing the local economy. Taking a whole systems approach to 
invest in infrastructure to deliver effective decarbonisation across energy, 
buildings and transport and beyond, in line with our legally binding climate 
target. Maximising existing or emerging local strengths in low carbon 
technologies, goods and services to take advantage of the growing global 
opportunity.  

 E31: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.  

 

** Note – E16 for town centres is currently included but may be changed to E1 for 
public realm improvements in town and district centres.   

Communities & Place final interventions (5): 

 E3: Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community 
gardens, watercourses and embankments, along with incorporating natural 
features into wider public spaces.  

 E9: Funding for impactful volunteering and/or social action projects to 
develop social and human capital in local places.  

 E11: Investment in capacity building and infrastructure support for local civil 
society and community groups.  

 E12: Investment in community engagement schemes to support community 
involvement in decision making in local regeneration.  

 E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through 
measures to improve energy efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate 
change.  

 

 

 
 

620



Skills final interventions (5): 

 E33: Employment support for economically inactive people: Intensive and 
wrap-around one-to-one support to move people closer towards mainstream 
provision and employment, supplemented by additional and/or specialist life 
and basic skills (digital, English, maths and ESOL) support where there are 
local provision gaps. 

 E34: Courses including basic skills (digital, English, maths (via Multiply) and 
ESOL), and life skills and career skills provision for people who are unable to 
access training through the adult education budget or wrap around support 
detailed above. Supplemented by financial support for learners to enrol onto 
courses and complete qualifications.  

 E36: Intervention to increase levels of digital inclusion, with a focus on 
essential digital skills, communicating the benefits of getting (safely) online, 
and in-community support to provide users with the confidence and trust to 
stay online.  

 E37: Tailored support to help people in employment, who are not supported 
by mainstream provision to address barriers to accessing education and 
training courses. 

 E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled 
workforce to achieve the government’s net zero and wider environmental 
ambitions.  

11. At CMB on 19 July the following recommendations were agreed: 

 The 17 interventions to be included in the UKSPF Investment Plan  

 Delegate authority to the Director – Economic Development to submit the 
Investment Plan before the 1 August 2022 deadline 

 That updates and further information will be provided via a Members 
Briefing in September 2022 (to be confirmed) 

 That a report will be presented to Cabinet once the Council is in receipt of 
its UK Shared Prosperity Fund allocation to formally accept the funding, in 
line with the Council’s financial regulations   

12. With this approval from officers, the Portfolio Holder and the LPG, the 17 
interventions were finalised to be included in the BCP Council Investment Plan 
which was submitted to Government on 26 July 2022. At this stage an 
indicative amount of funding per intervention was confirmed by the 3 
Investment Priority Lead Officers alongside projected outputs and outcomes.   

13. Specifics on projects were not requested at IP stage – the IP only detailed 
high-level proposals and outcomes based on local context. Full details of how 
each of the interventions will be delivered (and by whom) will now be devised 
by the 3 lead officers, subject to agreement through the governance process 
outlined below. This will be in accordance with procurement rules and financial 
regulations.  

14. On 5 December 2022 the Council were notified by Government that the IP was 
agreed. An MOU was signed by the S151 officer and returned to Government 
enabling the Council to receive the first tranche of funding.   

621



15. Joint projects with neighbouring authorities were encouraged as this will deliver 
economies of scale. BCP Council has been in regular dialogue with Dorset 
Council and the Dorset LEP, and these will be continued. BCP Council will also 
investigate opportunities for joint working with neighbours to the east of the 
area. 

Governance 

16. The Council are required to submit quarterly monitoring reports (signed off by 
the S151 Officer) to Government. An internal officer Delivery Group containing 
the Head of Economic Development; Senior Economic Development Officer; 
Head of Community Engagement and Community Safety; Principal Learning 
Manager (Skills & Learning); Head of Climate; and, Academy Director (National 
Coastal Tourism Academy) will meet prior to this submission to oversee the 
programme and ensure targets are on track. The Portfolio Holder will also be 
updated throughout the programme. 

17. The LPG will meet 4 times a year to review the quarterly monitoring reports 
before submission (and on an ad hoc basis if/when a major change is required) 
to provide further oversight and governance.  

18. Once the LPG have reviewed and approved the quarterly monitoring reports, 
these will be presented to the BCP Council UKSPF Strategic Board. The 
Strategic Board will comprise the Director of Economic Development and 
Director of Communities. The Director of Skills will join the Strategic Board in 
year 3 (when the Skills related interventions commence). The Strategic Board 
will be required to make formal decisions on the delivery of the programme.       

19. An all Member briefing on UKSPF was scheduled for 14 September 2022. This 
unfortunately had to be cancelled due to the sudden and sad passing of Her 
Majesty The Queen. The slides that were due to presented were instead 
circulated to all members for information and to raise any questions or queries. 
The rescheduled all Member briefing was held on 17 January 2023. 

Options Appraisal 

20. To support the recommendations and accept the UKSPF allocation would 
enable BCP Council to provide better green spaces and community facilities, 
improved accessibility to facilities and community interaction, improved 
education and skills (including numeracy) and business start-up and growth 
support. 

21. To not support the recommendations will mean these benefits would not be 
realised to the detriment of residents and businesses.  

Summary of financial implications 

22. The breakdown of funding per intervention and Capital/Revenue split can be 
found in the appendix. 

23. The funding for year 1 has now been provided along with a £20k contribution 
for developing the IP – this £20k will be used to pay the consultant for support 
in developing the IP and for continued support with developing the detailed 
projects. 

24. Government will pay each lead local authority annually in advance in years 2 
and 3. In 2023-24 (year 2) and 2024-25 (year 3), Government will pay towards 
the start of the financial year, taking into account performance in the preceding 

622



year. Government will consider withholding the next annual instalment until 
they have received credible plans setting out how the lead local authority will 
utilise underspends in the next year and/or appropriate milestones and spend 
have been achieved for the previous year. No funding will be provided for 
activity after 31 March 2025 and Government will expect underspends in the 
final year of the programme (2024/25) to be repaid to DLUHC. 

25. Each lead local authority can use up to 4% of their allocation by default to 
undertake necessary Fund administration, such as project assessment, 
contracting, monitoring and evaluation and ongoing stakeholder engagement. 
Setting up the Fund may need a larger administration budget in the first year 
than in later years. This is acceptable so long as the percentage is not 
exceeded overall. BCP Council does not intend to seek more than the 4% - any 
resource implications will be funded from this 4%. 

26. Delivery of projects was possible from April 2022 (at risk). BCP Council has not 
started any projects pre- IP sign-off due to the associated risks.  

27. All project spend will be in line with BCP Council’s Financial Regulations  and 
procurement rules. Spend will be on short-term contracts for the duration of the 
programme (there will be no ongoing pressure on the Council once UKSPF 
finishes). 

28. Match funding is not required as part of the UKSPF - but this is encouraged. 
The main source of match funding that is proposed is via match funded 
business grants. Financial Regulations will be fully adhered to (including 
Subsidy Control) and a robust governance process will be put in place for all 
grant awards.   

Summary of legal implications 

29. Lead Local Authorities must design their project selection and contracting 
processes so they have mechanisms to recover funding where beneficiaries do 
not comply with fund parameters, UK law or any local requirements. If Cabinet 
formally accept the funding, BCP council will require partnership agreements 
and contracts. Legal (and procurement) will be formally instructed for support to 
safeguard the Council.  

30. Government will ask each lead Local Authority to notify any current or 
emerging operational or financial risks, or issues, and any contingency 
measures put in place. A full risk and issues register (and other Project 
Management reports) will be created for the UKSPF which will be presented to 
the Delivery Group, LPG and Strategic Board. All project spend will be in line 
with BCP Council’s Financial Regulations. 

Summary of human resources implications 

31. BCP Council will be able to use up to 4% of their allocation (£168k) to 
undertake necessary Fund administration, such as project assessment, 
contracting, monitoring and evaluation and ongoing stakeholder engagement.  

32. Any resource implications will be funded from this 4% and will be hired on a 
contractual basis that runs in line with the funding, thereby not creating any 
long-term pressure on the Council.  

 

623



Summary of sustainability impact 

33. Sustainability is a key consideration in the BCP Council UKSPF IP and each 
Investment Priority includes a sustainability intervention:   

a. E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through 
measures to improve energy efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and 
climate change.  

b. E29: Supporting decarbonisation and improving the natural environment 
whilst growing the local economy. 

c. E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled 
workforce to achieve the government’s net zero and wider environmental 
ambitions.  

34. A Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) has been completed and there were no 
objections to the proposal.  

Summary of public health implications 

35. The UKSPF will deliver positive economic and social interventions by improving 
community facilities, opening up opportunities to the wider community and 
ultimately improving skills, employment, creating flexible and secure well-paid 
jobs, which will enhance the health and wellbeing of all. 

Levelling Up 

36. The chosen 17 interventions above will deliver the UK Government’s Levelling 
Up commitment and specifically missions 1, 2, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of the Levelling Up 
White Paper. Further details are available in the list of outputs and indicators for 
England here.     

Summary of equality implications 

37. The UKSPF IP was presented at the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Panel 
(see appendix) on 23 June (before submission of the IP). The summary from the 
EIA report is as follows: 

38. The proposed overarching interventions in the Investment Plans will benefit all 
members of the community (including those with protected characteristics) and 
will help improve equality - in line with the 6 domains of areas of life that can 
impact equality - education; work; living standards; health; justice and personal 
security; and participation.  Examples include better green spaces, better 
community facilities and accessibility to facilities, improved community 
interaction and participation, improved education and skills (including numeracy) 
and business start-up and growth support.  

39. The panel requested a few minor areas which have been incorporated into the 
final report.    

Summary of risk assessment 

40. The risks associated with the Skills Plan comprise:  not being able to secure full 
member support, which may lead to disjointed/lack of delivery in certain 
locations; and a reputational risk associated with non-delivery of the plan. By 
working with key stakeholders from the start, we can manage a wider portfolio of 

624

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-interventions-outputs-and-indicators


actions and encourage partners to implement (as they are also key 
beneficiaries). 

Background papers 

41. None  

 

 

625



Appendix 1 – Allocation including capital and revenue split  

Intervention 
UKSPF 

Allocation  
Capital 
2022-23 

Revenue 
2022-23 

Capital 
2023-24 

Revenue 
2023-24 

Capital 
2024-25 

Revenue 
2024-25 

E3: Creation of and improvements to local 
green spaces 

£400,692     £30,000 £146,377 £50,000 £174,315 

E9: Impactful volunteering and/or social 
action projects 

£291,808       £149,904   £141,904 

E11: Capacity building & infrastructure 
support local groups 

£165,000 £45,000   £30,000 £30,000 £30,000 £30,000 

E12: Community engagement schemes, 
local regeneration 

£72,500   £8,000   £38,000   £26,500 

E13: Community measures to reduce the 
cost of living 

£70,000       £35,000   £35,000 

  £1,000,000             

E16: Open markets & town centre retail & 
service sector 

£310,000 £30,000   £35,000 £10,000 £225,000 £10,000 

E17: Development & promotion of visitor 
economy  

£150,000   £15,000   £45,000 £30,000 £60,000 

E20: R&D grants supporting innovative 
product & service development 

£270,000   £25,000 £25,000 £25,000 £125,000 £70,000 

E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial 
ecosystems 

£1,115,429   £301,154   £309,027   £505,248 

E28: Export grants to grow overseas trading 
etc. 

£270,000   £25,000   £50,000   £195,000 

E29: Supporting decarbonisation & 
improving natural environment 

£250,000   £50,000 £15,000 £35,000 £75,000 £75,000 

E31: Support relevant feasibility studies £130,000   £10,000   £10,000   £110,000 

  £2,495,429             

E33: Employment support for economically 
inactive people 

£140,000           £140,000 

E34: Courses including basic, life & career 
skills 

£140,000           £140,000 

626



E36: Increase levels of digital inclusion, 
essential digital skills 

£140,000           £140,000 

E37: Tailored support for the employed to 
access courses 

£140,000           £140,000 

E39: Green skills courses £140,000           £140,000 

  £700,000             

 Totals £75,000 £434,154 £135,000 £883,308 £535,000 £2,132,967 

 

Annual 
Totals £509,154 £1,018,308 £2,667,967 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

627



Appendix 2 - EIA 

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment: conversation screening tool  

 
 

[Use this form to prompt an EIA conversation and capture the output between officers, stakeholders and interested groups. This 
completed form or a full EIA report will be published as part of the decision-making process] 
Policy/Service under 
development/review: 

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF or the Fund) and Multiply  

What changes are being made to 
the policy/service? 

The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is a central pillar of the UK Government’s Levelling Up agenda. It 
provides £2.6 billion of new funding for local investment, with all areas of the UK receiving an allocation from 
the Fund.  

UKSPF replaces the former European Structure & Investment Funds (ESIF) which has been funding business 
support and skills and employment. ESIF funding is ceasing following BREXIT. 

BCP Council, as Lead Authority, has been allocated £4,195,429 for the ‘main’ UKSPF, and a further 
£1,723,218 for the Multiply programme (numeracy skills). In total, this is £5,918,647 for the 3 financial years 
from April 2022 to March 2025. 

To access the funding, BCP Council must develop Investment Plans (IP) for both UKSPF and Multiply in 
conjunction with local stakeholders through establishing or designating a Local Partnership Group 

(LPG).  The IPs will detail how funding will target local priorities, against measurable goals.  

In terms of the UKSPF, BCP Council will be able to choose from investment across three investment priorities 

of communities and place, local business and people and skills. It has been agreed that the c£4.2m will be 

divided across the 3 investment priorities as follows: 

 Communities and Place - £1m 

628



 Local Business - £2.5m 

 People and Skills – £700k (only for year 3 as existing funding to be used in years 1 and 2)  

With regards to Multiply, the funding should be used to help people improve their ability to understand and 

use maths in daily life, home, and work. Multiply will offer a range of options such as free personal tutoring, 

digital training and flexible courses that fit around people’s lives and are tailored to specific needs, 
circumstances, sectors and industries. 

BCP Council suggested which of the 41 UKSPF interventions areas to prioritise based on local needs and 
evidence (Government guidance, local strategies and plans, etc).  

Evidence for the Community & Place Priority includes – ‘Big Plan’, ‘Corporate Strategy’, ‘Community 
Engagement & Consultation Strategy’, ‘Community & Voluntary Sector and Volunteering Strategy’, ‘H&W 
Board Strategy’, Future Parks work and CAN’s State of the Sector report. 

Evidence for the Local Business Priority includes – ‘Big Plan’, ‘ED Strategy’, ‘High Streets and District Centres 
Strategy’, ‘draft Business Support Plan’, Tourism research and studies and Climate action work. 

Evidence for the Skills Priority includes – ‘National Skills Strategy (Skills for Jobs and Levelling Up)’, ‘Dorset 
Skills Action Plan’ and the emerging ‘BCP Skills Plan’.    

The proposed 17 Interventions have been shared with the Local Partnership Group (LPG) comprising BCP 

Council, Dorset LEP, Dorset Chamber, Dorset Growth Hub and Community Action Network.  Members of the 
LPG have shared the proposed intervention with their networks for comments and feedback.  

On 23 June 2022, the LPG met, and a summary of all the feedback received was presented to the Group. 
The feedback did not raise any issues and therefore the Group recommended that the following 17 
interventions are included in the Investment Plan:   

Communities & Place final interventions (5): 

 E3: Creation of and improvements to local green spaces, community gardens, watercourses and 
embankments, along with incorporating natural features into wider public spaces.  

629



 E9: Funding for impactful volunteering and/or social action projects to develop social and human 
capital in local places.  

 E11: Investment in capacity building and infrastructure support for local civil society and community 
groups.  

 E12: Investment in community engagement schemes to support community involvement in decision 
making in local regeneration.  

 E13: Community measures to reduce the cost of living, including through measures to improve energy 
efficiency, and combat fuel poverty and climate change.  
 

Local Business final interventions (7): 

 E16: Investment in open markets and improvements to town centre retail and service sector 
infrastructure, with wrap around support for small businesses. **  

 E17: Funding for the development and promotion (both trade and consumer) of the visitor economy, 
such as local attractions, trails, tours and tourism products more generally.  

 E20: Research and development grants supporting the development of innovative products and 
services.  

 E23: Strengthening local entrepreneurial ecosystems and supporting businesses at all stages of their 
development to start, sustain, grow and innovate, including through local networks.  

 E28: Export Grants to support businesses to grow their overseas trading, supporting local 
employment.  

 E29: Supporting decarbonisation and improving the natural environment whilst growing the local 
economy. Taking a whole systems approach to invest in infrastructure to deliver effective 
decarbonisation across energy, buildings and transport and beyond, in line with our legally binding 
climate target. Maximising existing or emerging local strengths in low carbon technologies, goods and 
services to take advantage of the growing global opportunity.  

 E31: Funding to support relevant feasibility studies.  
 
** Note – E16 for town centres included but may use E1 for public realm etc.   

 
Skills final interventions (5): 
 

630



 E33: Employment support for economically inactive people: Intensive and wrap-around one-to-one 
support to move people closer towards mainstream provision and employment, supplemented by 
additional and/or specialist life and basic skills (digital, English, maths* and ESOL) support where 
there are local provision gaps. 

 E34: Courses including basic skills (digital, English, maths (via Multiply) and ESOL), and life skills and 
career skills provision for people who are unable to access training through the adult education budget 
or wrap around support detailed above. Supplemented by financial support for learners to enrol onto 
courses and complete qualifications.  

 E36: Intervention to increase levels of digital inclusion, with a focus on essential digital skills, 
communicating the benefits of getting (safely) online, and in-community support to provide users with 
the confidence and trust to stay online.  

 E37: Tailored support to help people in employment, who are not supported by mainstream provision 
to address barriers to accessing education and training courses.  

 E39: Green skills courses targeted around ensuring we have the skilled workforce to achieve the 
government’s net zero and wider environmental ambitions.  

These interventions, along with a profile of the spend and deliverables, will be included in the IP to be 
submitted at the end of July 2022.  Full details of how each of the interventions will be delivered (specific 

projects) will be considered at a later date (once the IP has been agreed with government). Further EIAs may 
be needed on a project-by-project basis if/once the IP is approved.   As such, this EIA relates to the principle 
of the UKSPF and submission of the IP.  

Service Unit: Development Services 

Persons present in the conversation 

and their role/experience in the 
service:  

Adrian Trevett – Economic Development Manager 

Matt Robson – Senior Economic Development Officer  

Lesley Spain – Principal Learning Manager, Skills and Learning  

Cat McMillan - Head of Community Engagement and Community Safety 

Conversation dates: March – June 2022 

631



Do you know your current or 

potential client base? Who are the 
key stakeholders? 

BCP Residents  

BCP Council Businesses (including Community and Voluntary organisations) 

Business Clusters and networks  

BCP Council 

Do different groups have different 
needs or experiences in relation to 
the policy/service?  

BCP Council is fully committed to responding to the needs of different groups including those with protected 
characteristics though the UKSPF:  

The proposed overarching interventions will benefit all members of the community (including those with 
protected characteristics) and will help improve equality (in line with the 6 domains of areas of life that can 
impact equality - education; work; living standards; health; justice and personal security; and participation).   

 
For example, the community & place priority area will deliver improvements to green spaces, support 

volunteering, reduce the cost of living and will support community engagement schemes. These will help 
those that need access to green spaces and leisure facilities (including those with disabilities, the elderly, and 

families with young children).and improve overall mental health for all of the community. These interventions 

will also increase participation. 
 

The local business priority area will support our residents to start-up and grow their businesses, increase 
exporting and improve innovation, support our tourism industry, support our town centres and 

support/promote low carbon. Furthermore, it is accepted that SMEs (who will be the main beneficiaries of the 
business support) are more likely to be owned by women and ethnic minorities. The business support 

interventions will also help businesses and individuals that have struggled over the last few years due to 
Covid bounce back (more women and young men lost their jobs due to Covid). People at risk of redundancy 

(or those made redundant) are often older and choose to use their experience and expertise to start-up a new 
business. The business support will be available to previous members of the armed forces who wish to retrain 

and use their experience to set up a new business. Higher skilled and more productive businesses enable 
higher wages and a better quality of life for our residents. 

632



The people and skills priority area and Multiply will support our economically inactive residents, improve 
numeracy skills, increase digital inclusion, support people in employment and improve green skills and 
education.   

Specific project details will be finalised on a project-by-project basis at a later date. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect any of these service users?  

 

 

The UKSPF will only have a positive impact on service users as detailed above.  

 
Specific project details will be finalised on a project-by-project basis at a later date. 

[If the answer to any of the questions above is ‘don’t know’ then you need to gather more evidence and do a full EIA. The best way to do 
this is to use the Capturing Evidence form] 

What are the benefits or positive 

impacts of the policy/service change 
on current or potential service 
users?  

Specific benefits and positive impacts will depend on the proposals and objectives outlined on a project-by-
project basis at a later date.  

However, as discussed above, there will be ‘general’ positive impacts that benefit all members of the 
community through better places and a more vibrant economy.  

What are the negative impacts of the 
policy/service change on current or 
potential service users? 

This will be considered on a project-by-project basis. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect employees?  

There will be no effect on employees as a result of this Strategy. 

Will the policy or service change 
affect the wider community?  

Yes, positively for the reasons outlined above. 

What mitigating actions are planned 
or already in place for those 

N/A 

633



negatively affected by the 
policy/service change?  

Summary of Equality Implications:  
 

The proposed overarching interventions in the Investment Plans will benefit all members of the community 
(including those with protected characteristics) and will help improve equality - in line with the 6 domains of 
areas of life that can impact equality - education; work; living standards; health; justice and personal security; 
and participation.  Examples include better green spaces, better community facilities and accessibility to 
facilities, improved community interaction and participation, improved education and skills (including 
numeracy) and business start-up and growth support.  

Whilst this EIA only covers the broad interventions,  subsequent scheme documents will provide details of the 
specific projects that will be actioned. This will detail specific projects to target key groups – for example 

retraining and reskilling unemployed members of our community, better community and leisure facilities and 
improvements to town and district centres. 

 

For any questions on this, please contact the Policy and Performance Team by emailing performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  
 

Ti t l e:   

634

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget Setting 2023/24
	Appendix 1 - The Rent Increase Effect on Residents
	Appendix 2 - Service Charges for 2023-24
	Appendix 3 - Income and Expenditure Statement 2023-24
	Appendix 4 - HRA Balances for 2023-24
	Appendix 5 - Capital Programme for 2023-24 to 2027-28
	Appendix 6 - Major Capital Programme for 2023-24
	Appendix 7 - BCP Homes Delivery Plan 2023-24

	7 Mainstream Schools and Early Years Funding Formulae 2023/24
	8 Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 2023/24
	Appendix 1 - Letter from Lee Rowley to the Council Leader
	Appendix 2 - Outstanding Policy Document 26012023
	Appendix 3 - Analysis of Budget Engagement Exercise
	Appendix 4 - Council Tax Charges 23-24
	Appendix 5 - 202223 December Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring
	Appendix 5a - 2022-23 Budget variances greater than £100,000
	Appendix 5b - 2022-23 General Fund Summary
	Appendix 5c and 5d - 2022-23 HRA Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring
	Appendix 6 - Absolute MTFP
	Appendix 6a - List One and List Two Savings Schedules 26012023
	Appendix 7a - CIP Individual project listing - Final
	Appendix 7b - CIP Narrative by Directorate Final 27012023
	Appendix 7c - IT  IS Capital Infrastructure Investment Plan Overview 2324 Final
	Appendix 8 - AMP
	Appendix 9 - Treasury Management Strategy
	Appendix 9a - Treasury Management Policy
	Appendix 9b - Summary of proposed CFR debt
	Appendix 10 - s25 CFO Reserves Strategy Report 2023-24 - 27012023 Final
	Appendix 10a - Reserve Summary
	Appendix 11 - ENIA
	Appendix 12 -  Chief Officer Pay Policy 202324

	9 Transforming Cities Fund End of Year Report
	Appendices for Transforming Cities Fund End of Year Report - Updated for 8th February
	SED TCF End of Year Report 2021-2022 CONFIDENTIAL

	10 BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Outline Business Case for Chapel Lane
	20221220 DRAFT Outline Business Case (OBC)_ChapelLane
	Appendix G Chapel
	Appendix H Chapel Lane Concepts - compressed
	Appendix B Chapel Lane EIA

	11 Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: Reforms to National Planning Policy and Implications for the emerging Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Local Plan
	Appendix 1 for Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: Reforms to National Planning Policy

	12 Options to support the health of those facing homelessness
	13 UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF)

